EXAMPLE 1

NON-CODING RNA AND ADDICTION

Topic Editors Andre Pietrzykowski, Matthew Reilly, Da-Yu Wu, Leonard Lipovich, Marissa A. Ehringer and Jonathan Pollock





FRONTIERS COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

© Copyright 2007-2013 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, as well as all content on this site is the exclusive property of Frontiers. Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Articles and other user-contributed materials may be downloaded and reproduced subject to any copyright or other notices. No financial payment or reward may be given for any such reproduction except to the author(s) of the article concerned.

As author or other contributor you grant permission to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

Cover image provided by Ibbl sarl, Lausanne CH

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-151-2 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-151-2

ABOUT FRONTIERS

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

FRONTIERS JOURNAL SERIES

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing.

All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

DEDICATION TO QUALITY

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view.

By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

WHAT ARE FRONTIERS RESEARCH TOPICS?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area!

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

NON-CODING RNA AND ADDICTION

Topic Editors:

Andre Pietrzykowski, Rutgers University, USA Matthew Reilly, National Institutes of Health/National Institute on Alcohol Abuse & Alcoholism, USA Da-Yu Wu, National Institute on Drug Abuse, National Institutes of Health, DHHS, USA Leonard Lipovich, School of Medicine, Wayne State University, USA Marissa A. Ehringer, University of Colorado, USA Jonathan Pollock, National Institute on Drug Abuse, USA



Discovery of microRNAs, short, non-coding post-transcriptional regulators of gene expression, unraveled a completely new level of regulation of biological processes. Exponentially growing microRNA research provides evidence for microRNA involvement in almost every biological process, either physiological or pathological.

Non-coding RNA and addiction. Image created by Prof. Andrzej Pietrzykowski

Excitement about microRNA doesn't stop there. Since microRNAs do not encode proteins, their genes belong to a non-coding part of a genome, which was thought, up to recently, to play no role, despite the fact that non-coding elements constitute a whopping portion of human genome (99%). Therefore, fundamental role of microRNA in biology sheds some new light on mysterious genetic "dark matter". Moreover, microRNA-related pathways are attractive targets for new therapeutics.

Addictions are chronic disorders of the brain reward system. Addictions permeate history of humankind impacting profoundly whole societies and individuals. Alcohol is probably the oldest and most popular drug of abuse, with recent addition of narcotics and nicotine. However, the list is still growing: people can get addicted to "natural reinforcers" like sex or food (the latter being a particular problem in modern Western societies), or even activities (gambling, shopping, internet browsing etc).

Mechanisms of addictions are poorly understood, but at least some core molecular pathways seem to be common. Recently, several pioneering papers on role of microRNA in various

addictions have been published. They elucidate an important role of specific microRNAs in mechanisms of action of alcohol, cocaine, morphine and nicotine. This is likely just a tip of an iceberg, and many important papers will be probably coming soon defining microRNAs specific to a particular drug, and/or showing further microRNA involvement in several aspects of addiction.

Work involving microRNA is not without challenges. One particular is an accurate determination of genes targeted by microRNA. A proper selection of target genes is of great importance as it sets further research aimed to determine ramifications of microRNA regulation by a drug of abuse, including the physiological perturbations of that regulation. Lately, several bioinformatic tools have been created to address this issue.

Here, we provide an overview on microRNA, addictions and bioinformatical target selection. We will outline possible future directions of this field, emphasizing where the research should go to quickly achieve a translational level, ultimately developing novel therapeutic strategies for these debilitating diseases.

Table of Contents

06	Coinciding Revolutions: How Discovery of Non-Coding DNA and RNA Can Change Our Understanding of Addiction			
	Andrzej Z. Pietrzykowski			
<i>09</i>	Role of Non-Coding RNAs in the Neuroadaptation to Alcoholism and Fetal			
	Alcohol Exposure			
	Matthew Reilly			
10	MicroRNAs and Fetal Brain Development: Implications for Ethanol Teratology During the Second Trimester Period of Neurogenesis			
	Rajesh C. Miranda			
17	Understanding Alcoholism Through microRNA Signatures in Brains of Human Alcoholics			
	Yury O. Nunez and R. Dayne Mayfield			
30	Big (Sequencing) Future of Non-Coding RNA Research for the Understanding of Cocaine			
	Da-Yu Wu			
33	Global Approaches to the Role of miRNAs in Drug-Induced Changes in Gene Expression			
	Jodi E. Eipper-Mains, Betty A. Eipper and Richard E. Mains			
50	MicroRNAs and Drug Addiction			
	Purva Bali and Paul J. Kenny			
58	Micro RNAs in Opioid Addiction: Elucidating Evolution			
	Emily J. Wood and Leonard Lipovich			
<i>62</i>	Let-7 microRNAs and Opioid Tolerance			
	Ying He and Zaijie Jim Wang			
<i>69</i>	Morphine and microRNA Activity: Is There a Relation with Addiction?			
	Raquel E. Rodríguez			
80	Non-Coding RNAs Regulating Morphine Function: With Emphasis on the In Vivo and In Vitro Functions of miR-190			
	Hui Zheng, Ping-Yee Law and Horace H. Loh			
<i>89</i>	Connecting ncRNA Cigarette Smoking Studies with Tobacco Use Behaviors and			
	Health Outcomes			
	Marissa A. Ehringer			
92	Cigarette Smoke Exposure-Associated Alterations to Non-Coding RNA			
	Matthew A. Maccani and Valerie S. Knopik			

- **100** Bioinformatic Challenges of Big Data in Non-Coding RNA Research Christina H. Liu, Da-Yu Wu and Jonathan D. Pollock
- 102 Bioinformatic Resources of microRNA Sequences, Gene Targets, and Genetic Variation

Wenbo Mu and Wei Zhang

110 The Emerging Role of Non-Coding RNAs in Drug Addiction Gregory C. Sartor, Georges St. Laurent and Claes Wahlestedt

Coinciding revolutions: how discovery of non-coding DNA and RNA can change our understanding of addiction

Andrzej Z. Pietrzykowski*

Laboratory of Adaptation, Reward, and Addiction, Department of Animal Sciences, Department of Genetics, Rutgers University, New Brunswick, NJ, USA *Correspondence: andrepi@aesop.rutgers.edu

Edited by:

William Cho, Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Hong Kong

"Omnia mutantur, nihil interit" (Everything changes, nothing perishes)

-Ovid, Metamorphoses, AD 8

The twenty-first century started with the Big Bang-the first ever sequencing of the human genome in 2000/2003 (Lander et al., 2001; Venter, 2003), and since then our scientific Universe started to expand with the speed of light. This year (2012) the Supernova exploded-the Encode project, a series of thirty papers, trashed the "junk DNA" concept. The project indicates that the vast majority (99%) of the human genome, although non-coding, is not "junk" but is biologically active and essential to maintain fundamental processes in a cell (Bernstein et al., 2012). One of the earlier stellar breakthroughs was the discovery of microRNA, a short RNA species crucial for regulation of gene expression (Lee et al., 1993). With discoveries like these, it becomes more and more obvious that our biological Universe is much more complex and dynamic than we have ever imagined. It is very probable that many biological rules and regulations still await discovery. This is particularly important for our understanding of the mechanisms underlying the development of chronic diseases, like addiction. Addiction is a persistent, neurobiological disease affecting primarily the brain's reward system, which consists of a circuitry of several interconnecting brain regions, including the prefrontal cortex, nucleus accumbens, ventral tegmental area, amygdala, paraventricular nucleus, and others (Koob and Le Moal, 2001). The reward system is one of the most important physiological features of the brain. We use it constantly, unconsciously, to make countless decisions essential to complete simple and complex tasks, by performing risk/benefit ratio analyses. This powerful motivator drives human and animal behavior, allows an individual to thrive and ultimately, for a species to propagate.

Some drugs target the reward system and can drastically change the behavior of individuals vulnerable to addiction, which is characterized as the refocusing of all activities on one goalthe continued intake of the drug. The drug's effect on the CNS is so powerful that the individual will continue to use it despite any associated adverse consequences. Neurobiological models of addiction try to explain how chronic or frequent exposure to addictive drugs hijacks the elements of the brain reward circuitry and causes transition from voluntary drug-taking to habitual and compulsive drug-seeking (Hyman and Malenka, 2001). During this transition, neuronal adaptations occur, which perpetuate and intensify the disease. Escalating drug intake due to *tolerance* causes incessant transition of the allostatic set-point, which fails to maintain system stability. Usually, drug addiction and alcohol addiction are described separately, but at the biological level both addictions have common core changes in the reward system

through similar neuronal adaptations. However, in either type of addiction, many molecular underpinnings are still unknown.

Recently, several papers described the involvement of different non-coding RNAs, primarily microRNA, in unraveling novel molecular mechanisms of this debilitating disease. We put together this Special Issue of Frontiers in Genetics to provide our readers with a comprehensive overview of current research on non-coding RNA in both drug and alcohol addiction. We invited leaders in this dynamic new field to write a series of reviews, and other prominent scientists to share their views of this subject through a series of editorials. This special issue is divided into five chapters: alcohol, nicotine, cocaine, morphine, and bioinformatics.

Alcohol is a simple product of yeast fermentation, and is fairly easy to obtain. People have been using alcohol probably from the beginning of recorded history. Alcohol addiction (alcoholism) is the oldest and most widespread type of addiction. In this special issue, Nunez and Mayfield (2012) describe microRNA signatures in the brains of alcoholics and the process of microRNA modulation of epigenetic nuclear mechanisms. Miranda (2012) discusses teratological consequences of microRNA disregulation by alcohol during fetal development. The editorial by Reilly (2012) explains how studying microRNA can provide new perspectives and treatments of alcoholism and Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder (FASD).

Nicotine is primarily inhaled during the smoking of dried tobacco leaves (Nicotiana tabacum), but also can be consumed in other forms. Nicotine addiction has spread quickly around the world in the post-Columbian era, becoming a major, presentday health issue in many countries. According to Maccani and Knopik (2012), detrimental effects of nicotine start very earlyin utero. They describe in their review how maternal cigarette smoking during pregnancy alters expression of selected microR-NAs in placenta. They also discuss the effect of cigarette smoking on microRNA and long non-coding RNA (lncRNA) expression in the epithelium of airways, which is important in the pathogenesis of cancer. Their review indicates that environmentally regulated epigenetic changes affect health throughout the course of one's life, while an editorial by Ehringer (2012) describes the presence of "critical periods" during which the environmental effect is particularly strong.

Morphine is the most abundant alkaloid found in opium (opiate), a product of the poppy fruit (*Papaver somniferum*). Morphine has been used for centuries to treat pain. However, morphine and related products have very potent addictive properties. Currently, addiction to morphine and related drugs is rising, mainly in affluent countries. Several microRNAs have been shown to be important in morphine actions. In this Special Issue,

Rodriquez (2012) summarizes the regulation of miR-133b by morphine and its possible involvement in morphine addiction and cancer. He and Wang (2012) describe the role of let-7, the first identified human microRNA, in regulation of morphine receptors important during the development of opioid tolerance. Zheng et al. (2012) center their review on microRNA-23b and -190. They also propose that a non-coding RNA relevant to opioid addiction can belong to one of two groups: (1) directly regulated by opioids, or (2) not-regulated by opioids but controlling pathways leading to addiction. Wood and Lipovich (2012), in their editorial, stress the importance of a systematical examination of the evolutionary conservation of microRNAs and their targets in opioid research.

Cocaine is an alkaloid obtained from the leaves of the coca plant (*Erythroxylum* family). Chewing raw coca leaves seems to be non-addictive, probably because of a very small content (<1%) of cocaine in the leaves. Coca in this form is a mild stimulant and analgesic and also a source of nutrients. However, purified cocaine has strong addictive properties. Currently, cocaine addiction is on a rise, and cocaine addicts can be found in many corners of the world. Wu (2012) in his editorial emphasizes advantages of a novel approach to study cocaine addiction using next-generation sequencing. The powerful results of this great methodology are appreciated by the review by Eipper-Mains et al. (2012). The review by Bali and Kenny (2012) describes their elegant studies implicating the regulation of CREB, MeCP2, and BDNF pathways by specific microRNAs (miR-132 and -212) in the behavioral response to cocaine.

We added a special chapter on *bioinformatics* because wet lab experimental approaches to microRNA research are initiated or complemented by bioinformatical experiments. There are several challenges to ensure synergism between next-generation techniques and bioinformatic analyses as emphasized in the editorial by Liu et al. (2012). The review by Mu and Zhang (2012) provides a comprehensive comparison of several bioinformatical resources important in addiction research. This special chapter also contains an article by Sartor et al. (2012), which draws our attention not only to the importance of microRNA but also to its "longer" brother—the lncRNA, in persistent neuronal maladaptation associated with addictive behaviors.

REFERENCES

- Bali, P., and Kenny, P. J. (2012). Noncoding RNAs and cocaine. *Front. Gene.* 3.
- Bernstein, B. E., Birney, E., Dunham, I., Green, E. D., Gunter, C., and Snyder, M. (2012). An integrated encyclopedia of DNA elements in the human genome. *Nature* 489, 57–74.
- Ehringer, M. A. (2012). Connecting ncRNA cigarette smoking studies with tobacco use behaviors and health outcomes. *Front. Gene.* 3:49. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00049
- Eipper-Mains, J. E., Eipper, B. A., and Mains, R. E. (2012). Global approaches to the role of miRNAs in drug-induced changes in gene

expression. Front. Gene. 3:109. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00109

- He, Y., and Wang, Z. J. (2012). Let-7 microRNAs and opioid tolerance. *Front. Gene.* 3:110. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00110
- Hyman, S. E., and Malenka, R. C. (2001). Addiction and the brain: the neurobiology of compulsion and its persistence. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 2, 695–703.
- Koob, G. F., and Le Moal, M. (2001). Drug addiction, dysregulation of reward, and allostasis. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 24, 97–129.
- Lander, E. S., Linton, L. M., Birren, B., Nusbaum, C., Zody, M. C.,

Research trying to understand involvement of various types of non-coding RNA in the development of addictions is at its early stages. Not all of the addictive substances have been yet screened. Moreover, an addiction can occur not only to exogenous chemicals but also to other cues like gambling, food, internet etc. Future research should look into the misregulation of gene expression by non-coding RNA in all the different types of addiction (Pietrzykowski, 2010). Nevertheless, the work discussed in this Special Issue has already left a strong legacy: there is no doubt that non-coding RNAs play absolutely essential roles in processes controlled by addictive drugs. Thus, to truly understand addictions, one must study non-coding RNA.

Research in non-coding RNA will probably increase exponentially, because we are now at a really advantageous situation in biological history-an intersection of several revolutions. The technical revolution provides the increasing ability to perform a deep, accurate, and fast sequencing of entire genomes. The bioinformatical revolution provides more and more sophisticated tools to analyze gigabytes of information delivered by sequencing. The genome structure revolution has started to disentangle intertwined genomic three-dimensional networks of interactions between genes and gene regulatory regions. Inevitably, we have started to experience the conceptual revolution: we realize that the regulation of gene expression is a multilevel interactive process, much more complex than we initially thought, and that messenger RNA can regulate each other via miRNA sequestering as proposed in the ceRNA (complementary endogenous) theory (Salmena et al., 2011), and that circulating exosomes can contain gene regulatory material, like microRNA and lncRNA, enabling a brand new cell-to-cell communication route (Valadi et al., 2007). Hopefully, these coinciding revolutions will ultimately provide fundamental breakthroughs and create radical new treatment approaches to addiction disorders, benefiting the entire society.

We hope you will find this Special issue of Frontiers in Genetics truly engaging and share our enthusiasm that we are living in one of the most exciting time in scientific history, on a cusp of a cosmic scale of discovery in biological sciences.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Preparation of this review was supported by National Institutes of Health grants AA01748 and AA017920.

Baldwin, J., et al. (2001). Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. *Nature* 409, 860–921.

- Lee, R. C., Feinbaum, R. L., and Ambros, V. (1993). The, C. elegans heterochronic gene lin-4 encodes small RNAs with antisense complementarity to lin-14. Cell 75, 843–854.
- Liu, C. H., Wu, D. Y., and Pollock, J. D. (2012). Bioinformatic challenges of big data in non-coding RNA research. *Front. Gene.* 3:178. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00178
- Maccani, M. A., and Knopik, V. S. (2012). Cigarette smoke exposure-associated alterations

to non-codingRNA. *Front. Gene.* 3:53. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012. 00053

- Miranda, R. C. (2012). MicroRNAs and fetal brain development: implications for ethanol teratology during the second trimester period of neurogenesis. *Front. Gene.* 3:77. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00077
- Mu, W., and Zhang, W. (2012). Bioinformatic resources of microRNA sequences, gene targets, and genetic variation. *Front. Gene.* 3:31. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00031
- Nunez, Y. O., and Mayfield, R. D. (2012). Understanding alcoholism through microRNA signatures in brains of human

alcoholics. Front. Gene. 3:43. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00043

- Pietrzykowski, A. Z. (2010). The role of microRNAs in drug addiction: a big lesson from tiny molecules. *Int. Rev. Neurobiol.* 91, 1–24.
- Reilly, M. (2012). Role of non-coding RNAs in the neuroadaptation to alcoholism and fetal alcohol exposure. Front. Gene. 3:70. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00070
- Rodriquez, R. E. (2012). Morphine and microRNA activity: is there a relation with addiction? *Front. Gene.* 3:223. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00223
- Salmena, L., Poliseno, L., Tay, Y., Kats, L., and Pandolfi, P. P. (2011). A ceRNA hypothesis: the Rosetta

Stone of a hidden RNA language? *Cell* 146, 353–358.

- Sartor, G. C., Laurent III, G. S., and Wahlestedt, C. (2012). The emerging role of non-coding RNAs in drug addiction. *Front. Gene.* 3:106. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00106
- Valadi, H., Ekstrom, K., Bossios, A., Sjostrand, M., Lee, J. J., and Lotvall, J. O. (2007). Exosome-mediated transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs is a novel mechanism of genetic exchange between cells. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 9, 654–659.
- Venter, J. C. (2003). A part of the human genome sequence. *Science* 299, 1183–1184.
- Wood, E. J., and Lipovich, L. (2012). MicroRNAs in opioid addiction:

elucidating evolution, narrowing nomenclature. *Front. Gene.* 3:241. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00241

- Wu, D. Y. (2012). Big (sequencing) future of non-coding RNA research for the understanding of cocaine. *Front. Gene.* 3:158. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00158
- Zheng, H., Law, P, Y., and Loh, H. H. (2012). Non-coding RNAs regulating morphine function: with emphasis on the *in vivo* and *in vitro* functions of miR-190. *Front. Gene.* 3:113. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00113

Received: 10 October 2012; accepted: 07 November 2012; published online: 23 November 2012. Citation: Pietrzykowski AZ (2012) Coinciding revolutions: how discovery of non-coding DNA and RNA can change our understanding of addiction. Front. Gene. **3**:271. doi: 10.3389/fgene. 2012.00271

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Non-Coding RNA, a specialty of Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2012 Pietrzykowski. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.

Role of non-coding RNAs in the neuroadaptation to alcoholism and fetal alcohol exposure

Matthew Reilly*

Division of Neuroscience and Behavior, National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism, National Institutes of Health, Rockville, MD, USA *Correspondence: reillymt@mail.nih.gov

The control of gene expression is a fundamental process in all of biology. Understanding the mechanisms by which genes are turned off and on in a temporally and spatially mediated fashion, represents an area where major scientific advances are likely to occur in the next decade. This is because the control of the timing and location of gene expression is arguably one of the most critical regulation points in determining cellular identity and function and when gene regulation is perturbed disease states can arise. Classic gene expression control mechanisms such as *cis*-acting elements in gene promoters and trans-acting factors (transcription factor proteins) have been well studied. However, the recent discovery of gene expression regulation mediated by RNA molecules that are transcribed from DNA but do not code for protein, has set into motion a revolution in molecular biology. These novel RNAs are classified broadly as non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs) and include both small (microRNAs or miRNAs) and large classes (long non-coding RNAs or lncRNAs) that function to alter the expression of genes to which they bind and modify chromatin states. Yet, there remains much to be understood about the biology of ncRNAs and how this contributes to susceptibility to disease.

Like all complex traits, alcoholism is influenced by multiple genetic and environmental factors. In addition, there is significant heterogeneity found with alcoholism making it a daunting task to identify the specific genes associated with the disease. Although progress has been made in identifying some of the genetic variants, explaining the entire phenotypic variation associated with alcoholism is far from complete. Most of the recent efforts in understanding the genetic vulnerability to alcoholism have focused on genotype-phenotype associations. For example, in the last several years there has been an explosion in Genome-Wide Association Studies (GWAS), which seek to correlate common genetic variation (represented by Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms or SNPs) with a particular trait or disease. Success of GWAS has varied across different complex traits, where most studies have found that individual SNPs account for a very small proportion of the variance. This is true for GWAS studies of alcoholism and alcohol-related phenotypes, where genome-wide significance has rarely been achieved. There are several prevailing hypotheses that have been put forth to explain the small effect sizes observed with GWAS and other approaches. These include arguments for the contribution of untested rare variants, sample power issues, and "phantom heritability." It is clear, however, that new perspectives for understanding genetic vulnerability to alcoholism are warranted, and the burgeoning area of microRNAs appears to be a fruitful area of investigation. This is because determining the role of microRNAs in disease will offer both mechanistic and potential therapeutic insight.

Gene expression changes after alcohol exposure are well documented. In particular, a vast network of expression changes are found in the brain (and other tissues) following both acute and chronic alcohol exposure. These neuroadaptations are thought to underlie tolerance and dependence on alcohol as well as mediating the toxic effects of alcohol on neurodevelopment. Studies examining the effects of alcohol on microRNA expression are just beginning. Applying this new information on microRNAs to genome-wide studies of gene expression changes after alcohol exposure represents both a significant challenge and tremendous opportunity for unraveling the genetic vulnerability to alcohol dependence. In this special issue of Frontiers in Genetics two important areas relevant to microRNA biology and alcohol are presented. The first article presents recent studies on microRNAs in post-mortem human brain samples from alcoholics compared to non-alcoholics. This is the first study to profile changes in the expression of microRNAs in brain samples from alcoholics. These changes in microRNAs are correlated with previously identified gene expression changes to provide a glimpse into the possible mechanisms by which alcohol neuroadaptation alters the brain. The second article in this special issue examines the effects of fetal alcohol exposure on micro-RNA expression. This exciting area has important implications for understanding and treating Fetal Alcohol Syndrome and Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders. Collectively, these studies highlight the emerging role of microRNAs in neurobiology in general and alcohol neuroadaptation specifically. Because microRNAs can finetune gene expression in subtle yet critical ways, harnessing these endogenous master regulators holds tremendous promise for the identification of novel drug targets and eventually the development of new therapeutics to treat alcoholism.

Received: 19 March 2012; accepted: 12 April 2012; published online: 15 June 2012. Citation: Reilly M (2012) Role of non-coding RNAs in the neuroadaptation to alcoholism and fetal alcohol exposure. Front. Gene. **3**:70. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00070

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Non-Coding RNA, a specialty of Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2012 Reilly. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.

MINI REVIEW ARTICLE published: 16 May 2012 doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00077



MicroRNAs and fetal brain development: implications for ethanol teratology during the second trimester period of neurogenesis

Rajesh C. Miranda*

Texas A&M Health Science Center, Bryan, USA

Edited by:

Matthew Reilly, National Institutes of Health/National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism, USA

Reviewed by:

Peter G. Clote, Boston College, USA Ricardo Silva, Universidad Simón Bolívar, Venezuela

*Correspondence:

Rajesh C. Miranda, Department of Neuroscience and Experimental Therapeutics, College of Medicine, Texas A&M Health Science Center, Medical Research and Education Building, 8447 State Highway 47, Bryan, TX 77807-3260, USA e-mail: miranda@medicine. tamhsc.edu

Maternal ethanol consumption during pregnancy can lead to a stereotypic cluster of fetal craniofacial, cardiovascular, skeletal, and neurological deficits that are collectively termed the fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD). Fetal ethanol exposure is a leading non-genetic cause of mental retardation. Mechanisms underlying the etiology of ethanol teratology are varied and complex. This review will focus on the developing brain as an important and vulnerable ethanol target. Near the end of the first trimester, and during the second trimester, fetal neural stem cells (NSCs) produce most of the neurons of the adult brain, and ethanol has been shown to influence NSC renewal and maturation. We will discuss the neural developmental and teratological implications of the biogenesis and function of microRNAs (miRNAs), a class of small non-protein-coding RNAs that control the expression of gene networks by translation repression. A small but growing body of research has identified ethanol-sensitive miRNAs at different stages of NSC and brain maturation. While many miRNAs appear to be vulnerable to ethanol at specific developmental stages, a few, like the miR-9 family, appear to exhibit broad vulnerability to ethanol across multiple stages of NSC differentiation. An assessment of the regulation and function of these miRNAs provides important clues about the mechanisms that underlie fetal vulnerability to alterations in the maternal-fetal environment and yields insights into the genesis of FASD.

Keywords: microRNA, fetal alcohol spectrum disorders, FASD, miR-9, neural stem cells, cerebral cortical development

Heavy ethanol exposure during pregnancy can lead to fetal growth retardation, and to a constellation of craniofacial, cardiovascular, skeletal, and brain growth defects (Clarren et al., 1978; Clarren, 1986) that are collectively termed "Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder" (FASD; Lemoine et al., 1968; Jones et al., 1973). Brain defects can include, microencephaly, the loss of the corpus callosum, and the emergence of heterotopias. FASD is a leading, non-genetic cause of mental retardation. Epidemiological studies (SAMHSA, 2009) show that 6.8% of pregnant women report continued ethanol consumption into the third trimester of pregnancy. Moreover, 2-5% of school-aged children in the US are estimated to exhibit symptoms associated with fetal ethanol exposure (May et al., 2009). Importantly, nutrition (Thomas et al., 2009; Keen et al., 2010), and drugs of abuse like nicotine (Chen et al., 1998, 1999) also contextually enhance or mitigate effects of prenatal ethanol exposure. It is important to understand the genesis of fetal vulnerability to disrupters of the maternal-fetal environment.

NEURAL STEM CELLS AND NEUROGENESIS; SECOND TRIMESTER BRAIN VULNERABILITY

The gestational period spanning the end of the first trimester through the second trimester of fetal development is a specific window of vulnerability, because during this period, neural stem cells (NSCs) produce the majority of adult neurons. The enormous rate of proliferation and maturation amplifies effects of early perturbations in the maternal-fetal environment, so that relatively minor disruptions in genetic and epigenetic instructions that guide stem cell maturation will significantly alter the structure and function of the mature brain.

CEREBRAL CORTICAL NEUROGENESIS, AN EXAMPLE OF ETHANOL VULNERABILITY

Most neurons of the adult human cerebral cortex are generated near the end of the first trimester through the second trimester of fetal development (Bystron et al., 2008). The human brain adds \sim 2,500 new neurons every minute during this developmental window (Noback et al., 2005), indicating an enormous rate of NSC mitosis (mouse mitotic cycles can shorten to 8 h/cycle; Caviness et al., 1995). Newly generated neuroblasts of the ventricular zone (VZ), migrate directly to the cortical plate, or to the sub-ventricular zone (SVZ), where they may undergo additional mitosis before migrating to the cortical plate (Noctor et al., 2004).

Ethanol exposure during neurogenesis has been shown to decrease the thickness and cell proliferation rate within the VZ, while increasing the thickness and increasing proliferation within the SVZ (Miller, 1989; Miller and Nowakowski, 1991). Ethanol also disrupts the laminar organization of the emerging cortical plate (Kotkoskie and Norton, 1988), and consistent with autopsy observations in human FASD children, ethanol exposure during the period of neurogenesis also promotes the formation of subpial heterotopias (Mooney et al., 2004).

These studies showed that the neurogenic window constituted a critical period of vulnerability, but did not specifically identify NSCs as an ethanol target. We found that ethanol exposure did not kill NSCs (Prock and Miranda, 2007), showing that ethanol is not toxic to NSCs, compared to its toxicity to maturing neurons (Luo et al., 1997; Cheema et al., 2000; Bonthius et al., 2002). Ethanol promoted neuroepithelial cell proliferation, while simultaneously depleting the numbers of cells expressing NSC markers like ABCG2, CD133, and Sca-1 (Santillano et al., 2005). Ethanol also promoted asymmetrical cell division and the appearance of radial glial-like cells (Santillano et al., 2005). Radial glia are precursors of neuroblasts that exit the VZ (Tramontin et al., 2003; Noctor et al., 2004), and also serve as a conduit for neuronal migration out of the VZ into the intermediate SVZ, and from the SVZ into the emerging cortical plate (Anton et al., 1997; Hansen et al., 2010). These data suggest a mechanism (Figure 1) for the premature depletion or "thinning" of the VZ and its NSCs, and the corresponding increase in thickness and cell proliferation of the SVZ that was observed in in vivo experiments (Miller, 1989). Moreover, as predicted from the observed appearance of radial-glia-like precursors, ethanol-treated NSCs exhibited increased migration during their early differentiation (Camarillo and Miranda, 2008), providing a mechanism for the appearance of subpial heterotopias

that have been observed in the brains of FASD children and in experimental models (Mooney et al., 2004). It is likely that NSCs are heterogeneous, and that NSCs from different brain regions may exhibit varied responses to ethanol. For example, while we observed increased maturation of cerebral cortical NSCs in response to ethanol, others showed that, in neural crest models, ethanol stalls cells in G1 (Luo et al., 1999), and retards NSC maturation (Zhou et al., 2011).

These data collectively show that ethanol action on NSCs during the critical period of neurogenesis explains many neural defects associated with *in utero* ethanol exposure. A question that arises is, *"what mechanisms mediate ethanol's, effects on NSCs?"* One answer may be, *"microRNAs."*

MicroRNAs ARE TARGETS OF ETHANOL

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are 17–25 nucleotide long, non-proteincoding RNAs that are coded within the genomes of all plants and animals and are important for the renewal and maturation of stem cells (Yi and Fuchs, 2011). MiRNAs are initially transcribed as long primary transcripts (pri-miRNAs) and processed within the nucleus by Drosha/DGCR8 to generate shorter "pre-miRNAs" (Lee et al., 2003; Han et al., 2006). Pre-miRNAs are translocated to the cytoplasm where the Dicer enzyme complex further processes them into mature double-strand RNA molecules (Zhang et al., 2002). One strand, the "guide strand" is preferentially loaded onto



the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC), to destabilize mRNA transcripts or repress translation (Lim et al., 2005).

In 2007, we obtained the first evidence showing that miRNAs mediate ethanol's teratogenic effects (Sathyan et al., 2007). We screened 218 mouse miRNAs for ethanol sensitivity in fetal NSCs. While 38% of sampled miRNAs were expressed in fetal NSCs, only a few, miR-9, -21, -153, -335, were significantly decreased by ethanol exposure. Subsequent reports have expanded the list of ethanol-sensitive miRNAs. Wang et al. (2009) showed that ethanol exposure between the latter half of the first trimester to the middle of the second trimester-equivalent period in mice, altered \sim 3% of assessed mature miRNAs in whole brain RNA samples obtained at the end of the second trimester-equivalent period. Recently, Guo et al. (2011) showed that differentiated neurons exposed to a "chronic intermittent ethanol" paradigm exhibited significant alterations in ~11% (42 out of 385) of detected miRNAs.

ARE SPECIFIC TYPES OF miRNAs SUSCEPTIBLE TO ETHANOL EXPOSURE?

In these early stages, it is difficult to identify unique principles that connect ethanol exposure to miRNA expression. The variety of experimental models and exposure conditions lend additional complexity to the assessment of miRNA changes. However, the accumulated data permit some conclusions.

- a. Ethanol appears to influence a relatively small subset of expressed miRNAs. The apparent absence of a global effect on miRNAs suggests that ethanol does not generally target the miRNA processing machinery during development.
- b. Ethanol appears to influence miRNAs that are a normal constituent of the cellular repertoire for a given stage of differentiation. None of the published screens has identified a miRNA that was uniquely expressed following ethanol exposure, but undetectable under control conditions. Therefore, ethanol is unlikely to promote lineage transformation of NSCs via a miRNA-dependent mechanism. For example, miR-124 which is sufficient to direct NSCs toward a neuronal lineage (Makeyev et al., 2007; Visvanathan et al., 2007) and is uniquely expressed in neurons (Smirnova et al., 2005), has not been identified as an ethanol-sensitive target in any of the published screens, whereas miR-9 which is ethanol-sensitive, is expressed by cells belonging to both neuronal and glial lineages (Smirnova et al., 2005). These data lend themselves to the prediction that ethanol regulation of miRNAs is unlikely to mediate transformation of a committed neuron to a glial cell, but may subtly bias miRNA expression to favor development along a specific lineage.
- c. The numbers of ethanol-sensitive miRNAs appear to increase with developmental stage. It is possible that the sheer number of ethanol-sensitive miRNAs increases with differentiation stage (from ~4% in our observations of fetal NSCs to ~11% in the observations of Guo and colleagues in differentiated neurons). This increase may reflect increasing complexity and diversity of miRNAs that is recruited during neuronal maturation (Guo et al., 2011).
- d. MicroRNAs exhibit developmental stage-specific sensitivity to ethanol. Because miRNAs play an important role in cell and tissue maturation, it is likely that each stage of NSC differentiation

requires expression of new miRNAs. Therefore, new ethanolsensitive miRNAs are likely to emerge as a function of tissue differentiation stage. A comparative analysis of our data on NSCs with data obtained with more differentiated cells and neural tissue (Wang et al., 2009; Guo et al., 2011) suggests that this hypothesis is generally true. MiRNAs like miR-335 and miR21 which are ethanol-sensitive in NSCs, and important for regulating NSC fate (Sathyan et al., 2007), are no longer observed to be ethanol-sensitive at the end of the second trimester-equivalent period, coincident with the depletion of NSC number, the disappearance of the VZ and the relative increase in the size of the SVZ. Instead other ethanolsensitive miRNAs emerge, including miR-10a/10b (Wang et al., 2009), which serve as negative regulators of the Hox gene family (Woltering and Durston, 2008). The Hox family plays an important role in neuronal migration (Geisen et al., 2008), and elevated levels of miR-10 promote tumor cell invasion (another migratory behavior) by translation inhibition of HoxD10 (Liu et al., 2012). These data collectively suggest that ethanolmediated elevations in miR-10a/b, during a critical window for neuronal migration, may dysregulate neuronal migration, whereas regulation of miR-21 and miR-335 at earlier time periods regulate NSC behavior.

e. Some miRNAs are ethanol-sensitive over multiple developmental windows. MiR-9 for example exhibits sensitivity to ethanol at multiple stages of development, from the embryo and fetus to the adult (Sathyan et al., 2007; Pietrzykowski et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2009; Balaraman et al., 2012; Tal et al., 2012). While ethanol decreased miR-9 expression in early development models in the mouse and fish (Sathyan et al., 2007; Balaraman et al., 2012; Tal et al., 2012), ethanol induces miR-9 expression at later developmental stages (Wang et al., 2009) and in the adult (Pietrzykowski et al., 2008). The functional implication of a presumptive developmental switch in ethanol regulation of miR-9 is unclear. Moreover, though miR-9 is targeted by ethanol throughout development, it is likely that downstream effects on translation will change simply because the transcriptome itself is significantly altered during NSC maturation.

ASSESSMENT OF miRNAs FOR CLUES ABOUT MECHANISMS OF ETHANOL TERATOLOGY

Tal et al. (2012) reported that zebrafish exposed to between 4 and 24 h post-fertilization (hpf) exhibited decreased miR-9. Loss of miR-9 resulted in increased daylight-related hyperactivity in juvenile fish, recapitulating increased hyperactivity in FAS children (Mattson et al., 2001). These data suggest common mechanisms for ethanol teratology emerged early in vertebrates, and that some ethanol-sensitive miRNAs mediate behavioral deficits associated with fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD).

MiR-9 plays a significant role in early neural tube patterning (Leucht et al., 2008), telencephalic neurogenesis, and early differentiation (Packer et al., 2008; Shibata et al., 2008, 2011). Importantly, a murine double knockout of miR-9-2 and miR-9-3 genes (miR-9-2/- $3^{-/-}$) results in FAS-like phenotypes, fetal growth retardation and microencephaly (Shibata et al., 2011). Moreover, miR-9-2/- $3^{-/-}$ mice exhibited decreased cortical plate thickness at the end of the neurogenic period. Shibata and colleagues showed

that miR-9 acts directly as a negative regulator of Foxg1, a gene that has been shown to prevent NSC differentiation and promote proliferation (Martynoga et al., 2005). Consistent with that finding, Shibata et al. additionally observed evidence for increased NSC proliferation in GD12.5, miR-9-2/ $-3^{-/-}$ mouse brain (i.e., at the beginning of the second trimester-equivalent period). This group also discovered that, during the later half of the second trimester-equivalent period (i.e., after GD16.5, or the tail-end of the neurogenic window), Foxg1 expression was no longer suppressed in miR-9-2/- $3^{-/-}$ mutant mice. They suggested that this latter refractory period for Foxg1 regulation was due to a compensatory, miR-9-depletion-mediated, increase in the expression of the RNA-binding protein, ELAVL2 which in turn, stabilized Foxg1 mRNA transcripts. These data coincide well with our findings that ethanol depleted the expression of miR-9 while promoting NSC proliferation and induced expression of ELAVL2 mRNA in murine NSCs (Santillano et al., 2005; Sathyan et al., 2007), and further suggests that miR-9 plays a critical role in early second trimester ethanol teratology in coordination with other ethanolsensitive miRNAs (Figures 2A,B). Added support for miR-9 as a mediator of ethanol neuro-teratology comes from the analysis of human familial mutations of the Foxg1 locus. Mutations in cis-regulatory elements of the Foxg1 locus are associated with

fetal growth retardation, microcephaly, and mental retardation (Kortum et al., 2011), i.e., features associated with FAS.

MECHANISMS OF ETHANOL AND TERATOGEN REGULATION OF miRNAs

Two early reports (Sathyan et al., 2007; Balaraman et al., 2012), suggest that GABA_A receptors (GABA_AR) and nicotinic Acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs) mediate some ethanol effects on miRNA expression. Moreover, several of the ethanol-sensitive miRNAs are localized with chromosomal regions that are susceptible to epigenetic modification. Therefore ligand-gated ion channel receptors and epigenetic modifications are potential mediators of ethanol's effects on fetal miRNAs (**Figure 2C**).

GABA_AR AND nAChRs

We previously observed that one miRNA, miR21 was regulated by ethanol in a GABA_AR dependent manner, i.e., the non-competitive GABA_AR antagonist, picrotoxin, prevented the ethanol-mediated decrease in miR21 (Sathyan et al., 2007). However, another miRNA, miR-335 was not regulated by a GABA_AR-dependent mechanism. These data suggest that GABA_A-dependent mechanisms selectively target a sub-population of ethanol-sensitive miRNAs. All of the tested ethanol-sensitive NSC miRNAs are



(nAChRs) and GABA_A receptors (GABA_ARs)

and would be projected to attenuate terminal neuronal maturation and

also regulated in a nAChR-dependent manner, since the nonselective nAChR antagonist, mecamylamine attenuated the general miRNA-inducing effects of nicotine (Balaraman et al., 2012). In fact nicotine and ethanol appear to behave as functional antagonists in regulating sensitive NSC miRNAs suggesting that these agents, which are often co-abused during pregnancy (SAMHSA, 2009), may also target common miRNA-regulated gene networks. One model for miRNA regulation that emerges from these admittedly limited studies is that nAChRs serve as general regulators, while GABAARs are more selective regulators of ethanol-sensitive NSC miRNAs. The nAChR-dependence of ethanol-sensitive miRNAs is particularly intriguing, since recent evidence shows that the dominant a4b2 nAChR isoform predominantly localizes to the endoplasmic reticulum (Richards et al., 2011), in proximity to sites for miRNA-mediated translation control. Therefore nAChRs may well share translation control with some miRNAs at the endoplasmic reticulum.

MIRNA REGULATION BY EPIGENETIC MECHANISMS

Table 1 | Methylation-sensitive ethanol miRNAs

Ethanol has recently been shown to alter methylation patterns in differentiating NSCs (Zhou et al., 2011) and therefore, ethanol may regulate miRNAs by epigenetic mechanisms as well. A comparison of miR-21 and miR-335 provides important insights into the role of epigenetic mechanisms in miRNA expression. We found that these miRNAs served as functional antagonists to each other, and that miR21 was regulated by GABAAR-dependent mechanisms but miR-335 was not. A comparison of the chromosome structure associated with the miR-21 and miR-335 gene loci points to an alternate mechanism for miR-335 regulation. The mammalian-specific miR-335 is coded as an intronic miRNA, within the MEST/Peg1 imprinted gene locus, which contains GC-rich regions, termed CpG islands (Table 1). The miR-335/Peg1 locus is part of a network of imprinted genes that controls fetal growth. Loss of this locus is associated with fetal growth retardation in a mouse model (Lefebvre et al., 1998), while hypermethylation of the paternal allele in humans is associated with the Russell-Silver syndrome (Kagami et al., 2007), characterized by growth retardation and mild mental retardation. Therefore expression of the miR-335/Peg1 locus is controlled epigenetically, whereas the miR21 locus, which is not associated with such methylation-sensitive chromatin, appears to be controlled by alternate mechanisms. Moreover, transcription at the Peg1/miR-335 locus is shut down as the growth of organs slows down with development (Lui et al., 2008; Finkielstain et al., 2009), further supporting a role in organogenesis. The Peg1/miR-335 locus has been implicated in early cortical development (Sansom et al., 2005). We showed that miR-335 is pro-apoptotic and decreases NSC proliferation, and conversely, miR-335 suppression (equivalent to the effect of ethanol exposure) resulted in increased NSC proliferation and resistance to apoptosis (Sathyan et al., 2007). Therefore, the brain effects of the miR-335 locus may also be susceptible to epigenetic programming.

Emerging evidence from the field of cancer biology shows that the three mammalian miR-9 genes are also susceptible to epigenetic programming. MiR-9-1, miR-9-2, and miR-9-3, can be independently targeted in a variety of cancers for hyper-methylation and consequently, inactivation (Trankenschuh et al., 2010; Tsai et al., 2011; Heller et al., 2012; Minor et al., 2012). Consequently, ethanol may also regulate the expression of miR-9 genes via epigenetic mechanisms (Figure 2C). Moreover, since ethanol appears to suppress miR-9 during early fetal development, but induce miR-9 at later developmental periods, it is possible that temporal alterations in methylation of miR-9 genes may account for the switch in ethanol's effects. A human genome map¹ of other known ethanolsensitive miRNAs shows that several ethanol-sensitive miRNAs are either bracketed by, or proximal to CpG islands, and therefore presumptive targets for DNA methylation and epigenetic programming (Table 1).

CONCLUDING THOUGHTS

Teratogens including ethanol have complex effects on developing tissues and cells, making the search for cohesive principles, elusive. The significant promise of research on miRNA involvement

¹UCSC genome browser, http://genome.ucsc.edu

MiRNA/parent gene	miRNA locus (human)	Predicted CpG island length	Reference for ethanol sensitivity
miR-9 family			Pietrzykowski et al. (2008); Sathyan et al. (2007); Tal et al. (2012); Wang et al. (2009)
miR-9-1/C1orf61	chr1:156,390,133-156,390,221	99 bp	
miR-9-2/LINC00461/CR599257	chr5:87,962,671-87,962,757	Multiple, from 22 to 165 bp	
miR-9-3/CR612213.1-1.1	chr15:89,911,248-89,911,337	131 bp	
miR-335/MEST/Peg1	chr7:130,135,952-130,136,045	66 and 177 bp	Sathyan et al. (2007)
miR-10b	chr2:177,014,591-177,015,580	18 bp	Wang et al. (2009)
miR-339/C7orf50	chr7:1,062,569-1,062,662	40 bp	Wang et al. (2009)
miR-152/COPZ2	chr17:46,114,527-46,114,613	44 bp	Guo et al. (2011); Wang et al. (2009)
miR-503/MGC16121	chrX:133,680,358-133,680,428	40 bp	Guo et al. (2011)
miR-219-1	chr6:33,175,612-33,175,721	78 bp	Guo et al. (2011)
miR-219-2	chr9:131,154,897-131,154,993	147 bp	Guo et al. (2011)

Locations and size of presumptive CpG islands based on UCSC genome browser maps (http://genome.ucsc.edu.)

in fetal ethanol effects, is that we will finally be able to develop cohesive models for the susceptibility of developing biological systems to alterations in the maternal-fetal environment, including the effects of ethanol exposure. Moreover, since the maternal-fetal environment is often complex, and the developing fetus may be exposed to multiple prenatal stressors (teratogens, drugs of abuse, nutrition deficiencies etc.), it is likely that the miRNA profile of developing cells will be the product of such complexity. In this context, it is particularly interesting to note that drugs like ethanol

REFERENCES

- Anton, E. S., Marchionni, M. A., Lee, K. F., and Rakic, P. (1997). Role of GGF/neuregulin signaling in interactions between migrating neurons and radial glia in the developing cerebral cortex. *Development* 124, 3501–3510.
- Balaraman, S., Winzer-Serhan, U., and Miranda, R. C. (2012). Opposing actions of ethanol and nicotine on microRNAs are mediated by nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in fetal cerebral cortical-derived neural progenitor cells. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2012.0.1793.x. [Epub ahead of print].
- Bonthius, D. J., Tzouras, G., Karacay, B., Mahoney, J., Hutton, A., McKim, R., and Pantazis, N. J. (2002). Deficiency of neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS) worsens alcohol-induced microencephaly and neuronal loss in developing mice. *Brain Res. Dev. Brain Res.* 138, 45–59.
- Bystron, I., Blakemore, C., and Rakic, P. (2008). Development of the human cerebral cortex: Boulder Committee revisited. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 9, 110–122.
- Camarillo, C., and Miranda, R. C. (2008). Ethanol exposure during neurogenesis induces persistent effects on neural maturation: evidence from an ex vivo model of fetal cerebral cortical neuroepithelial progenitor maturation. *Gene Expr.* 14, 159–171.
- Caviness, V. S. Jr., Takahashi, T., and Nowakowski, R. S. (1995). Numbers, time and neocortical neuronogenesis: a general developmental and evolutionary model. *Trends Neurosci.* 18, 379–383.
- Cheema, Z. F., West, J. R., and Miranda, R. C. (2000). Ethanol induces Fas/Apo [apoptosis]-1 mRNA and cell suicide in the developing cerebral cortex. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 24, 535–543.
- Chen, W. J., Parnell, S. E., and West, J. R. (1998). Neonatal alcohol and nicotine exposure limits brain growth and depletes cerebellar Purkinje cells. *Alcohol* 15, 33–41.

- Chen, W. J., Parnell, S. E., and West, J. R. (1999). Effects of alcohol and nicotine on developing olfactory bulb: loss of mitral cells and alterations in neurotransmitter levels. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 23, 18–25.
- Clarren, S. K. (1986). Neuropathology in fetal alcohol syndrome, in *Alcohol and Brain Development*, ed. J. R. West (Oxford University Press, New York), 158–166.
- Clarren, S. K., Alvord, E. C. Jr., Sumi, S. M., Streissguth, A. P., and Smith, D. W. (1978). Brain malformations related to prenatal exposure to ethanol. *J. Pediatr.* 92, 64–67.
- Finkielstain, G. P., Forcinito, P., Lui, J. C., Barnes, K. M., Marino, R., Makaroun, S., Nguyen, V., Lazarus, J. E., Nilsson, O., and Baron, J. (2009). An extensive genetic program occurring during postnatal growth in multiple tissues. *Endocrinology* 150, 1791–1800.
- Geisen, M. J., Di Meglio, T., Pasqualetti, M., Ducret, S., Brunet, J. F., Chedotal, A., and Rijli, F. M. (2008). Hox paralog group 2 genes control the migration of mouse pontine neurons through slit-robo signaling. *PLoS Biol.* 6, e142. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0060142
- Guo, Y., Chen, Y., Carreon, S., and Qiang, M. (2011). Chronic intermittent ethanol exposure and its removal induce a different miRNA expression pattern in primary cortical neuronal cultures. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2011.01689.x. [Epub ahead of print].
- Han, J., Lee, Y., Yeom, K. H., Nam, J. W., Heo, I., Rhee, J. K., Sohn, S. Y., Cho, Y., Zhang, B. T., and Kim, V. N. (2006). Molecular basis for the recognition of primary microRNAs by the Drosha-DGCR8 complex. *Cell* 125, 887–901.
- Hansen, D. V., Lui, J. H., Parker, P. R., and Kriegstein, A. R. (2010). Neurogenic radial glia in the outer subventricular zone of human neocortex. *Nature* 464, 554–561.

and nicotine that are commonly co-abused, target an overlapping cohort of miRNAs in fetal NSCs (Balaraman et al., 2012). Clearly, research on miRNAs and teratology is in its infancy; but as outlined in this review, the possibilities for understanding and ultimately, for therapeutic intervention in teratology are enormous.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The research described here was made possible in part, by a grant from NIAAA, R01AA013440 to Rajesh C. Miranda.

- Heller, G., Weinzierl, M., Noll, C., Babinsky, V., Ziegler, B., Altenberger, C., Minichsdorfer, C., Lang, G., Dome, B., End-Pfutzenreuter, A., Arns, B. M., Grin, Y., Klepetko, W., Zielinski, C. C., and Zochbauer-Muller, S. (2012). Genome-wide microRNA expression profiling identifies miR-9-3 and miR-193a as targets for DNA methylation in non-small cell lung cancers. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 18, 1619–1629.
- Jones, K. L., Smith, D. W., Ulleland, C. N., and Streissguth, P. (1973). Pattern of malformation in offspring of chronic alcoholic mothers. *Lancet* 1, 1267–1271.
- Kagami, M., Nagai, T., Fukami, M., Yamazawa, K., and Ogata, T. (2007). Silver-Russell syndrome in a girl born after in vitro fertilization: partial hypermethylation at the differentially methylated region of PEG1/MEST. J. Assist. Reprod. Genet. 24, 131–136.
- Keen, C. L., Uriu-Adams, J. Y., Skalny, A., Grabeklis, A., Grabeklis, S., Green, K., Yevtushok, L., Wertelecki, W. W., and Chambers, C. D. (2010). The plausibility of maternal nutritional status being a contributing factor to the risk for fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: the potential influence of zinc status as an example. *Biofactors* 36, 125–135.
- Kortum, F., Das, S., Flindt, M., Morris-Rosendahl, D. J., Stefanova, I., Goldstein, A., Horn, D., Klopocki, E., Kluger, G., Martin, P., Rauch, A., Roumer, A., Saitta, S., Walsh, L. E., Wieczorek, D., Uyanik, G., Kutsche, K., and Dobyns, W. B. (2011). The core FOXG1 syndrome phenotype consists of postnatal microcephaly, severe mental retardation, absent language, dyskinesia, and corpus callosum hypogenesis. J. Med. Genet. 48, 396–406.
- Kotkoskie, L. A., and Norton, S. (1988). Prenatal brain malformations following acute ethanol exposure in the rat. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 12, 831–836.
- Lee, Y., Ahn, C., Han, J., Choi, H., Kim, J., Yim, J., Lee, J., Provost, P., Radmark, O., Kim, S., and Kim, V. N. (2003).

The nuclear RNase III Drosha initiates microRNA processing. *Nature* 425, 415–419.

- Lefebvre, L., Viville, S., Barton, S. C., Ishino, F., Keverne, E. B., and Surani, M. A. (1998). Abnormal maternal behaviour and growth retardation associated with loss of the imprinted gene Mest. *Nat. Genet.* 20, 163–169.
- Lemoine, P., Harouseau, H., Borteryu, J. T., and Menuet, J. C. (1968). Les enfants des parents alcooliques: Anomalies observees apropos de 127 cas. *Ouest Med.* 21, 476–482.
- Leucht, C., Stigloher, C., Wizenmann, A., Klafke, R., Folchert, A., and Bally-Cuif, L. (2008). MicroRNA-9 directs late organizer activity of the midbrain-hindbrain boundary. *Nat. Neurosci.* 11, 641–648.
- Lim, L. P., Lau, N. C., Garrett-Engele, P., Grimson, A., Schelter, J. M., Castle, J., Bartel, D. P., Linsley, P. S., and Johnson, J. M. (2005). Microarray analysis shows that some microR-NAs downregulate large numbers of target mRNAs. *Nature* 433, 769–773.
- Liu, Z., Zhu, J., Cao, H., Ren, H., and Fang, X. (2012). miR-10b promotes cell invasion through RhoC-AKT signaling pathway by targeting HOXD10 in gastric cancer. *Int. J. Oncol.* 40, 1553–1560.
- Lui, J. C., Finkielstain, G. P., Barnes, K. M., and Baron, J. (2008). An imprinted gene network that controls mammalian somatic growth is down-regulated during postnatal growth deceleration in multiple organs. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 295, R189–R196.
- Luo, J., West, J. R., Cook, R. T., and Pantazis, N. J. (1999). Ethanol induces cell death and cell cycle delay in cultures of pheochromocytoma PC12 cells. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 23, 644–656.
- Luo, J., West, J. R., and Pantazis, N. J. (1997). Nerve growth factor and basic fibroblast growth factor protect rat cerebellar granule cells in culture against ethanol-induced cell death. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 21, 1108–1120.

- Makeyev, E. V., Zhang, J., Carrasco, M. A., and Maniatis, T. (2007). The MicroRNA miR-124 promotes neuronal differentiation by triggering brain-specific alternative pre-mRNA splicing. *Mol. Cell* 27, 435–448.
- Martynoga, B., Morrison, H., Price, D. J., and Mason, J. O. (2005). Foxg1 is required for specification of ventral telencephalon and regionspecific regulation of dorsal telencephalic precursor proliferation and apoptosis. *Dev. Biol.* 283, 113–127.
- Mattson, S. N., Schoenfeld, A. M., and Riley, E. P. (2001). Teratogenic effects of alcohol on brain and behavior. *Alcohol Res. Health* 25, 185–191.
- May, P. A., Gossage, J. P., Kalberg, W. O., Robinson, L. K., Buckley, D., Manning, M., and Hoyme, H. E. (2009). Prevalence and epidemiologic characteristics of FASD from various research methods with an emphasis on recent in-school studies. *Dev. Disabil. Res. Rev.* 15, 176–192.
- Miller, M. (1989). Effects of prenatal exposure to ethanol on neocortical development: II. Cell proliferation in the ventricular and subventricular zones of the rat. J. Comp. Neurol. 287, 326–338.
- Miller, M. W., and Nowakowski, R. S. (1991). Effect of prenatal exposure to ethanol on the cell cycle kinetics and growth fraction in the proliferative zones of fetal rat cerebral cortex. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 15, 229–232.
- Minor, J., Wang, X., Zhang, F., Song, J., Jimeno, A., Wang, X. J., Lu, X., Gross, N., Kulesz-Martin, M., Wang, D., and Lu, S. L. (2012). Methylation of microRNA-9 is a specific and sensitive biomarker for oral and oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinomas. *Oral Oncol.* 48, 73–78.
- Mooney, S. M., Siegenthaler, J. A., and Miller, M. W. (2004). Ethanol Induces Heterotopias in Organotypic Cultures of Rat Cerebral Cortex. *Cereb. Cortex* 14, 1071–1080.
- Noback, C. R., Strominger, N. L., Demarest, R. J., and Ruggiero, D. A. (eds) (2005). "Development and growth of the nervous system," in *The Human Nervous System* (New York: Humana Press), 101–128.
- Noctor, S. C., Martinez-Cerdeno, V., Ivic, L., and Kriegstein, A. R. (2004). Cortical neurons arise in symmetric and asymmetric division zones and migrate through specific phases. *Nat. Neurosci.* 7, 136–144.

- Packer, A. N., Xing, Y., Harper, S. Q., Jones, L., and Davidson, B. L. (2008). The bifunctional microRNA miR-9/miR-9* regulates REST and CoREST and is downregulated in Huntington's disease. J. Neurosci. 28, 14341–14346.
- Pietrzykowski, A. Z., Friesen, R. M., Martin, G. E., Puig, S. I., Nowak, C. L., Wynne, P. M., Siegelmann, H. T., and Treistman, S. N. (2008). Posttranscriptional regulation of BK channel splice variant stability by miR-9 underlies neuroadaptation to alcohol. *Neuron* 59, 274–287.
- Prock, T. L., and Miranda, R. C. (2007). Embryonic cerebral cortical progenitors are resistant to apoptosis, but increase expression of suicide receptor DISC-complex genes and suppress autophagy following ethanol exposure. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 31, 694–703.
- Richards, C. I., Srinivasan, R., Xiao, C., Mackey, E. D., Miwa, J. M., and Lester, H. A. (2011). Trafficking of alpha4* nicotinic receptors revealed by superecliptic phluorin: effects of a beta4 amyotrophic lateral sclerosisassociated mutation and chronic exposure to nicotine. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 31241–31249.
- SAMHSA. (2009). The NSDUH Report: Substance Use among Women during Pregnancy and Following Childbirth, Vol. NSDUH09-0521. Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Office of Applied Studies.
- Sansom, S. N., Hebert, J. M., Thammongkol, U., Smith, J., Nisbet, G., Surani, M. A., McConnell, S. K., and Livesey, F. J. (2005). Genomic characterisation of a Fgfregulated gradient-based neocortical protomap. *Development* 132, 3947–3961.
- Santillano, D. R., Kumar, L. S., Prock, T. L., Camarillo, C., Tingling, J. D., and Miranda, R. C. (2005). Ethanol induces cell-cycle activity and reduces stem cell diversity to alter both regenerative capacity and differentiation potential of cerebral cortical neuroepithelial precursors. *BMC Neurosci.* 6, 59. doi:10.1186/1471-2202-6-59
- Sathyan, P., Golden, H. B., and Miranda, R. C. (2007). Competing interactions between micro-RNAs determine neural progenitor survival and

proliferation after ethanol exposure: evidence from an ex vivo model of the fetal cerebral cortical neuroepithelium. J. Neurosci. 27, 8546–8557.

- Shibata, M., Kurokawa, D., Nakao, H., Ohmura, T., and Aizawa, S. (2008). MicroRNA-9 modulates Cajal-Retzius cell differentiation by suppressing Foxg1 expression in mouse medial pallium. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 10415–10421.
- Shibata, M., Nakao, H., Kiyonari, H., Abe, T., and Aizawa, S. (2011). MicroRNA-9 regulates neurogenesis in mouse telencephalon by targeting multiple transcription factors. J. Neurosci. 31, 3407–3422.
- Smirnova, L., Grafe, A., Seiler, A., Schumacher, S., Nitsch, R., and Wulczyn, F. G. (2005). Regulation of miRNA expression during neural cell specification. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 21, 1469–1477.
- Tal, T. L., Franzosa, J. A., Tilton, S. C., Philbrick, K. A., Iwaniec, U. T., Turner, R. T., Waters, K. M., and Tanguay, R. L. (2012). MicroRNAs control neurobehavioral development and function in zebrafish. *FASEB J.* 26, 1452–1461.
- Thomas, J. D., Abou, E. J., and Dominguez, H. D. (2009). Prenatal choline supplementation mitigates the adverse effects of prenatal alcohol exposure on development in rats. *Neurotoxicol. Teratol.* 31, 303–311.
- Tramontin, A. D., Garcia-Verdugo, J. M., Lim, D. A., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2003). Postnatal development of radial glia and the ventricular zone (VZ): a continuum of the neural stem cell compartment. *Cereb. Cortex* 13, 580–587.
- Trankenschuh, W., Puls, F., Christgen, M., Albat, C., Heim, A., Poczkaj, J., Fleming, P., Kreipe, H., and Lehmann, U. (2010). Frequent and distinct aberrations of DNA methylation patterns in fibrolamellar carcinoma of the liver. *PLoS ONE* 5, e13688. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0013688
- Tsai, K. W., Liao, Y. L., Wu, C. W., Hu, L. Y., Li, S. C., Chan, W. C., Ho, M. R., Lai, C. H., Kao, H. W., Fang, W. L., Huang, K. H., and Lin, W. C. (2011). Aberrant hypermethylation of miR-9 genes in gastric cancer. *Epigenetics* 6, 1189–1197.
- Visvanathan, J., Lee, S., Lee, B., Lee, J. W., and Lee, S. -. K. (2007). The microRNA miR-124 antagonizes the

anti-neural REST/SCP1 pathway during embryonic CNS development. *Genes Dev.* 21, 744–749.

- Wang, L. L., Zhang, Z., Li, Q., Yang, R., Pei, X., Xu, Y., Wang, J., Zhou, S. F., and Li, Y. (2009). Ethanol exposure induces differential microRNA and target gene expression and teratogenic effects which can be suppressed by folic acid supplementation. *Hum. Reprod.* 24, 562–579.
- Woltering, J. M., and Durston, A. J. (2008). MiR-10 represses HoxB1a and HoxB3a in zebrafish. *PLoS ONE* 3, e1396. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0001396
- Yi, R., and Fuchs, E. (2011). MicroR-NAs and their roles in mammalian stem cells. *J. Cell. Sci.* 124(Pt 11), 1775–1783.
- Zhang, H., Kolb, F. A., Brondani, V., Billy, E., and Filipowicz, W. (2002). Human Dicer preferentially cleaves dsRNAs at their termini without a requirement for ATP. *EMBO J.* 21, 5875–5885.
- Zhou, F. C., Balaraman, Y., Teng, M., Liu, Y., Singh, R. P., and Nephew, K. P. (2011). Alcohol alters DNA methylation patterns and inhibits neural stem cell differentiation. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 35, 1–12.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 20 March 2012; accepted: 23 April 2012; published online: 16 May 2012.

Citation: Miranda RC (2012) MicroR-NAs and fetal brain development: implications for ethanol teratology during the second trimester period of neurogenesis. Front. Gene. **3**:77. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00077

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Non-Coding RNA, a specialty of Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2012 Miranda. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.

Understanding alcoholism through microRNA signatures in brains of human alcoholics

Yury O. Nunez and R. Dayne Mayfield *

Waggoner Center for Alcohol and Addiction Research, University of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX, USA

Edited by:

Matthew Reilly, National Institutes of Health/National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism, USA

Reviewed by:

Walter Lukiw, Louisiana State University, USA Zhaohui Wang, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, USA

*Correspondence:

R. Dayne Mayfield, Waggoner Center for Alcohol and Addiction Research, University of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX 78712, USA. e-mail: dayne.mayfield@ mail.utexas.edu Advances in the fields of genomics and genetics in the last decade have identified a large number of genes that can potentially influence alcohol-drinking behavior in humans as well as animal models. Consequently, the task of identifying efficient molecular targets that could be used to develop effective therapeutics against the disease has become increasingly daunting. One of the reasons for this is the fact that each of the many alcoholresponsive genes only contributes a small effect to the overall mechanism and disease phenotype, as is characteristic of complex traits. Current research trends are hence shifting toward the analysis of gene networks rather than emphasizing individual genes. The discovery of microRNAs and their mechanisms of action on regulation of transcript level and protein translation have made evident the utility of these small non-coding RNA molecules that act as central coordinators of multiple cross-communicating cellular pathways. Cells exploit the fact that a single microRNA can target hundreds of mRNA transcripts and that a single mRNA transcript can be simultaneously targeted by distinct microRNAs, to ensure fine-tuned and/or redundant control over a large number of cellular functions. By the same token, we can use these properties of microRNAs to develop novel, targeted strategies to combat complex disorders. In this review, we will focus on recent discoveries of microRNA signatures in brain of human alcoholics supporting the hypothesis that changes in gene expression and regulation by microRNAs are responsible for long-term neuroadaptations occurring during development of alcoholism. We also discuss insights into the potential modulation of epigenetic regulators by a subset of microRNAs. Taken together, microRNA activity may be controlling many of the cellular mechanisms already known to be involved in the development of alcoholism, and suggests potential targets for the development of novel therapeutic interventions.

Keywords: human postmortem brain, alcohol dependence, alcoholism, gene expression, miRNA, non-coding RNA

INTRODUCTION

As highlighted by the World Health Organization: "The harmful use of alcohol is one of the world's leading health risks. It is a causal factor in more than 60 major types of diseases and injuries and results in approximately 2.5 million deaths each year" (World Health Organization, 2011). Alcoholism, also known as alcohol dependence, is understood as a complex, chronic brain disease with critical biological, behavioral, and socioeconomic components (Leshner, 1997). Heritable factors among the critical biological components are reported to account for about 50% of the risk for alcohol use disorders (AUD), which underscores the impact of genetic elements on disease etiology (Gorini et al., 2011). Nevertheless, the molecular mechanisms underlying genetic adaptations due to excessive alcohol consumption are not fully understood.

The chronic use of alcohol provokes long-term changes in gene and protein expression that allow neurons to adapt through homeostatic alterations in distinct signaling pathways. Among the principal transduction pathways altered by alcohol consumption are those involving receptor tyrosine kinases (which are commonly activated by interaction with growth factors such as

EGF, GDNF, BDNF, and insulin among others), serine-threonine kinases (which are mostly intracellular such as PKA, PKC, ERKs, AKT, GSK3, and mTOR, but can also be receptors, e.g., $TGF\beta R$), and protein-protein interactions among scaffolding proteins and associated binding partners (examples of scaffolding proteins affected by ethanol are RACK1, PSD95, and Homer2; Ron and Messing, 2011). These signaling pathways are often implicated in the regulation of a variety of transcription factors that consequently affect the expression and activity of many genes (Miranda et al., 2010). Expression profiling studies in postmortem brains of human alcoholics have shown that the transcriptional reprogramming that takes place is brain area-specific and may reflect both preexisting differences in gene expression and alterations in response to alcohol consumption (Mayfield et al., 2008; Gorini et al., 2011). In addition, epigenetic reprogramming, primarily mediated by direct methylation of DNA and acetylation, methylation, and phosphorylation of histone proteins, appears to contribute to the altered gene expression observed in alcoholics and animal models of alcohol consumption (Miranda et al., 2010).

The discovery of microRNAs (miRNAs) and their mechanisms of action is revolutionizing our understanding of gene regulation

(Ambros, 2001; Filipowicz et al., 2008). These short (~17-24 nucleotides long) non-coding RNAs act as post-transcriptional modulators of gene expression by binding to miRNA-recognition elements (MREs) in their target genes. This direct targeting generally results in either suppression of translation or degradation of the targeted mRNA transcript, or both (Filipowicz et al., 2008; Breving and Esquela-Kerscher, 2010). There are instances, however, when miRNAs can increase the expression of a target gene by enhancing mRNA translation (Vasudevan et al., 2007). miR-NAs are highly abundant in the brain and play important roles in multiple biological processes such as neuronal differentiation (Cheng et al., 2009), brain development (Fiore et al., 2008), synapse formation and plasticity (Schratt et al., 2006), and neurodegeneration (Schaefer et al., 2007; Bushati and Cohen, 2008). miRNAs also appear to mediate the cellular adaptations induced by exposure to a number of drugs of abuse, including nicotine (Huang and Li, 2008), cocaine (Chandrasekar and Dreyer, 2009), opioids (He et al., 2010), and alcohol (Sathyan et al., 2007; Pietrzykowski et al., 2008; Miranda et al., 2010; Lewohl et al., 2011). In subsequent sections, we discuss major biological processes now known to respond to fluctuations in levels of specific miRNAs, several of which were upregulated in the brain of human alcoholics. We also uncover general patterns of miRNA regulation that may be common to a variety of addiction disorders.

ALCOHOL-INDUCED UPREGULATION OF MIRNAS IN THE HUMAN BRAIN

Our group recently published the first comprehensive study describing the impact of alcohol on microRNA levels in the brain of human alcoholics (Lewohl et al., 2011). For this, we conducted miRNA and mRNA microarray studies in prefrontal cortex (PFC) of postmortem human brain samples and developed an integrative statistical analysis highlighting differentially expressed miRNAs that inversely correlated with respective differentially expressed mRNA targets. The report uncovered a majoritarian effect of alcohol on activation of miRNA expression levels and highlighted about 35 human miRNAs that were upregulated in the alcoholic brain samples (Table 1). Interestingly, mRNAs that were predicted to be targeted by this group of upregulated miRNAs were significantly over-represented among the alcohol-downregulated mRNAs, while no such over-representation was detected among the set of alcohol-upregulated mRNAs. This result supports a role for miRNA-dependent inhibition of gene expression in the PFC of human alcoholics. Furthermore, we found that the alcoholupregulated miRNAs were apparently regulating their putative target genes in a combinatorial fashion (multiple miRNAs targeting the same mRNA). Such a paradigm could be exploited by the cells to either ensure inhibition of the putative targets at any cost (redundancy) or to achieve fine-tuned regulation of specific mRNA expression levels (fine-tuning).

A recent publication by Yadav et al. (2011) described alcoholinduced changes in miRNA expression levels in human-derived neuroblastoma cells. Although the limited model used by these authors is far from reproducing the physiological environment of the alcohol-exposed human brain, their results are informative and corroborate the role of several of the upregulated miRNAs described by our group (Table 1, column A). Interestingly, Yadav and colleagues also found mostly upregulated miRNAs after alcohol exposure. In fact, after we subset their reported differentially expressed miRNAs for those with p < 0.01(based on our more stringent statistical analyses of only using the lowest p values and reporting adjusted p values to account for multiple testing), only 20 upregulated miRNAs remain statistically significant. Out of these 20 upregulated miRNAs from ethanol-treated cells, six matched upregulated family members in the alcoholic human brain from our studies (miR-369-3p, miR-34c-5p, miR-203, miR-146a, miR-194, and let-7 family members, Table 1, column B). This is statistically highly significant (p = 0.00022), as it is expected that only one miRNA would be common between the two lists by chance (as empirically determined after 100,000 Monte Carlo simulations). This underscores the importance of miRNA upregulation due to alcohol exposure and suggests a consistent involvement of multiple miRNAs in mediating neuroadaptations that could potentially contribute to alcohol dependence.

Cell death-related genes were among the functionally enriched transcripts being targeted by miRNAs in our studies in PFC of human alcoholics (Liu et al., 2006b; Lewohl et al., 2011). A study from the Bakalkin group, also using postmortem PFC of human alcoholics, provides additional support for our findings. These authors found that dysregulation of the cell death machinery by inhibition of the intrinsic apoptotic pathway "may reflect molecular adaptations that counteract alcohol neurotoxicity in cells that survive after many years of alcohol exposure and withdrawal" (Johansson et al., 2008). Although the Yadav group found opposite miRNA-mediated effects inducing neuronal death in cell cultures treated with ethanol for relatively short periods of time (3-72 h), their results do not contradict the neuroadaptive phenomenon we and others observe in chronic alcoholics, but seemingly describe initial effects of acute alcohol exposure as previously documented in animal models (Heaton et al., 1999; Rajgopal et al., 2003; Nowoslawski et al., 2005). Collectively, these findings support the notion that miRNA-mediated neuroadaptations may develop after an initial, also miRNA-mediated, activation of cell death pathways that occurs during the early stages of alcohol abuse.

Our study using postmortem human brains also found that the magnitude of alcohol-related changes in miRNA levels was constrained over a narrow range of only 20-30%, with only a few miRNAs varying outside of this range (Lewohl et al., 2011). We reason that the small changes detected in miRNA, as well as mRNA expression, in PFC of human alcoholics could be due to an increased expression that is localized to a specific cellular compartment, e.g., the neuronal synapse. Such compartmentalized, enhanced differential expression would become diluted as RNA is extracted from total, unfractionated tissue. Alternatively, a larger differential expression may not be compartment-specific but cell type-specific (e.g., differential expression of immune signaling genes in glial cells or differential expression of neuronal genes in specific neuronal subtypes) and similarly become diluted when RNA is extracted from total tissue containing combined cell subpopulations. Both of these possibilities will be discussed further in the following sections.

Table 1 | Upregulated human miRNAs in alcohol-exposed tissue.

(A) Lewohl et al. (2011). Alcoholic human brain	(B) Match between (A) and Yadav et al. (2011) [†]	(C) Validated functions of family members [‡]
let-7f	miRNA family match	Neurotransmitter receptor availability, LPS-induced TLR/NFkB/IL1/TNF signaling
let-7g	mining lamity match	Neurotransmitter receptor availability, EFS-induced rEnymrkbyiET/TMF signaling
miR-1	-	Neurotransmitter receptor (nAChR) availability, repression of HDAC4/epigenetic gene activation
miR-7	-	Repression of α-synuclein/neurodegeneration, neurite outgrowth
miR-15b	-	Lymphocyte differentiation
miR-18a	-	Angiogenesis
miR-34c-5p	miRNA family match	Epigenetically regulated
miR-92a	-	Lymphocyte differentiation, angiogenesis, synaptic signaling, biomarker for TBI
miR-101	-	Repression of EZH2/epigenetic gene silencing
miR-135b	-	-
miR-140	-	Endocytotic recycling of neurotransmitter receptors, upregulated by nicotine and LPS
miR-144	-	-
miR-146a	miRNA match	LPS-induced TLR/NFkB/IL6 signaling
miR-152	_	TLR/IL6/IL12/TNFα/INFβ signaling, repression of DNMT1/epigenetic gene silencing,
		epigenetically regulated
miR-153	_	Repression of Jagged/Notch signaling, repression of α -synuclein/neurodegeneration
miR-194	miRNA match	Upregulated by LPS exposure
miR-196a	_	Virus-induced inflammation, epigenetically regulated
miR-196b	_	-
miR-203	miRNA match	JAK/STAT/IL6/INF γ signaling, repression of Bmi-1/epigenetic gene silencing, epigenetically regulated
miR-301a	_	-
miR-339-5p	_	-
miR-369-3p	miRNA match	$TNF\alpha$ signaling
miR-374b	_	=
miR-376c	_	-
miR-380	_	-
miR-423-5p	_	-
miR-454-3p	_	-
miR-515-3p	_	-
miR-519b-3p	_	_
miR-553	_	-
miR-580	-	_
miR-586	_	-
miR-652	-	_
miR-665	_	_
miR-802		

[†] Empirical probability of the match p = 0.00022; average number of matches/100,000 simulations = 1.04824.

^{*}Validated functions discussed in this review. See text for details and bibliographic references.

HUMAN ALCOHOL-RESPONSIVE MIRNAS AND NEUROINFLAMMATION

Inflammation plays critical roles in the pathogenesis of multiple disorders of the central nervous system (CNS; Weiner and Selkoe, 2002; Hunot and Hirsch, 2003) and has recently been implicated as a mechanism of alcoholism-induced neuropathology (Crews et al., 2011; Kelley and Dantzer, 2011; Yakovleva et al., 2011). An important player eliciting activation of immune functions in the CNS in response to alcohol is Toll-like receptor (TLR) 4, which contributes to ethanol-induced activation of nuclear factor kappa B (NF κ B) and consequently activates transcription of

pro-inflammatory chemokines, cytokines, oxidases, and proteases. TLRs have well-established roles in pathogen detection and initiation of an innate immune response that consequently specifies adaptive responses during infection (O'Neill, 2006).

The role of innate, immune-related genes in alcohol dependency is supported by genetic association studies in humans (Pastor et al., 2000, 2005; Edenberg et al., 2008; Saiz et al., 2009), gene expression microarray studies in postmortem brains of alcoholics (Liu et al., 2006b; Ökvist et al., 2007), and transcriptome metaanalysis in rat brains (Mulligan et al., 2006). Furthermore, recent behavioral studies in mutant mice indicated that deletion of genes involved in aspects of the neuroimmune response to alcohol (B2m, Ctss, Il1rn, Cd14, and Il6) could reduce ethanol consumption in mice (Blednov et al., 2012). Based on these and additional related findings, a hypothesis is developing in part of the alcohol research community that the neurobiology of addiction is due to altered brain signaling driven by immune signaling.

Implications of miRNAs as players in the development of the immune system and the regulation of multiple immune functions are also coming to age (Sonkoly et al., 2008; Belver et al., 2011; O'Neill et al., 2011; Turner et al., 2011). Multiple profiling studies have confirmed the hypothesis that TLR signaling can modulate miRNA expression and this generally depends on NF κ B. In all cases described, TLR activation exclusively induces upregulation of miRNAs (O'Neill et al., 2011). Interestingly, this is the same effect (miRNA upregulation) we observe in our own miRNA profiling studies in brain of human alcoholics. In this section, we address a series of recent findings that uncover a potential connection between a group of upregulated miRNAs in postmortem brains of human alcoholics and neuroinflammatory processes triggered by alcohol. We summarize this evidence in a hypothetical model presented in **Figure 1**.

About 30% of the 35 miRNAs upregulated in the PFC of human alcoholics (miR-15, miR-34, miR-92, miR-140, miR-146, miR-152, miR-194, miR-196, miR-203, miR-369, let-7) are modulators of immunity and several of them appear to be involved in regulating TLR signaling. Particularly interesting is the miR-146 family, which is upregulated by bacterial endotoxin lipopolysaccharides (LPS) and controls TLR/NFkB signaling through negative feedback loops involving downregulation of IL1 receptor-associated kinase 1 (IRAK1) and TNF receptor-associated factor 6 (TRAF6) protein levels (Taganov et al., 2006; Zhao et al., 2011). TRAF2 has also being implicated as a miR-146 target (Hou et al., 2009). It was suggested that miR-146 regulatory circuit likely fine-tunes TLR and cytokine signaling, rather than totally abrogating the signal, and that expression of miR-146 may be critical in preventing excess inflammation (Sonkoly et al., 2008). Collectively, IRAK1, IRAK2, and TRAF6 represent important components of the myeloid differentiation primary-response protein 88 (MYD88)-dependent pathway for NFkB activation downstream of TLRs (O'Neill et al., 2011). Correspondingly, several reports have implicated IRAK and TRAF6 transducers in alcohol actions in the brain (Vallés et al., 2004; Guasch et al., 2007; Oliva et al., 2011).

let-7 family members, on the other hand, have been reported to directly target expression of TLR4 and regulate responsiveness to LPS (Chen et al., 2007; Androulidaki et al., 2009) and to form an epigenetic switch together with NFκB and interleukin 6 (IL6) that links inflammation to persistent cell transformation (Iliopoulos et al., 2009). The reported upregulation of let-7 miRNAs in human alcoholics could be understood as necessary to turn off expression of TLRs in glial cells and avoid excessive inflammation due to hyper-responsiveness to LPS insult. This potential regulatory loop could contribute to tolerance and dependency in chronic alcoholics. Furthermore, Blednov and colleagues recently demonstrated that LPS-triggered activation of immune signaling mediated by CD14 [a key component of the LPS-sensing co-clustering complex that also includes Hsp70, Hsp90, CXCR4, GDF5, and TLR4 (Triantafilou and Triantafilou, 2002)] promotes alcohol consumption and alters certain aspects of alcohol reward and aversion in mice (Blednov et al., 2011). Our finding that chemokine receptor CXCR4 is downregulated in brain of human alcoholics and is the most significantly miRNA-over-targeted transcript (Lewohl et al., 2011) supports a role for miRNAs in the regulation of LPS-activated TLR4-transduced immune signaling in chronic alcoholics. CXCR4 has also being recently implicated in opiate-induced hypernociception (White and Wilson, 2010) and polymorphisms in SDF1 (the CXCR4 ligand) associated with several phenotypes, including alcohol consumption (Xiao et al., 2008).

MicroRNA miR-203 is the upregulated miRNA in human alcoholics with the highest over-representation of targets among inversely correlated differentially expressed mRNA transcripts from the same samples (Lewohl et al., 2011). This miRNA has been suggested to regulate IL6 and IFNy signaling through targeting of the Suppressor of Cytokine Signaling 3 (SOCS3; Sonkoly et al., 2007). SOCS3 is part of a negative feedback loop in cytokine signaling that inhibits the activation of transcription factor STAT3, part of the JAK-STAT signaling cascade that is the basis of the signal transduction mechanism for many cytokine receptors. Upregulation of miR-203 may hence lead to increased and/or longer inflammatory response. Furthermore, miR-203 is predicted to target above mentioned CXCR4 (component of the LPS-sensing complex), which is the alcohol-downregulated mRNA most significantly over-targeted by miRNAs in human alcoholics (Lewohl et al., 2011). These appear to represent compensatory effects that, on one hand, aim at downregulating responsiveness to the LPS insult while, on the other, aim at maintaining required levels of neuroimmune activity. These results support the notion that CXCR4 and miRNAs regulating its expression are important players modulating alcohol actions in the brain of human alcoholics.

The family miR-148/152 was recently reported to inhibit TLRtriggered MHCII expression and functional maturation of dendritic cells (DCs). By targeting CaMKIIa, miR-152 inhibited the production of cytokines, including IL12, IL6, TNFa, and IFNB, and negatively regulated the innate response (Liu et al., 2010). Coincidently, miR-152 was also upregulated in fetal brain from mice exposed to ethanol during gestation (Wang et al., 2009). Interestingly, Kash et al. (2009) recently found a significant decrease in the total levels of CaMKIIa in the central extended amygdala after ethanol exposure in mice. CaMKIIa expression enhances the extent of desensitization of NR2B-containing NMDA receptors in heterologous cells (Sessoms-Sikes et al., 2005) and regulates ethanol sensitivity of BK channels (Liu et al., 2006a), which suggested the possibility that reduced levels of CaMKIIa could be acting in a general fashion to modulate the ethanol sensitivity of channels in the extended amygdala (Kash et al., 2009). Coincidently, another miRNA, miR-9, also implicated in controlling the activity of the TLR signaling pathway through direct targeting of the NFKB1 gene in human monocytes and neutrophils (Bazzoni et al., 2009; O'Neill et al., 2011), was demonstrated to regulate ethanol sensitivity of BK channels by selectively destabilizing splice variants that contained miR-9 recognition elements, therefore making the BK channels less sensitive to alcohol (Pietrzykowski et al., 2008). We did not detect changes in miR-9 expression in



FIGURE 1 | Hypothetical model for neuroimmune-related actions of miRNAs in brain of human alcoholics (e.g., in microglia). Bacterial lipopolysaccharides (LPS) from commensal bacteria, for example, could leak into the bloodstream due to gut leakiness induced by alcohol consumption. A compromised blood brain barrier due to high ethanol concentration in the blood will consequently allow LPS to reach the brain and trigger TLR signaling cascades that activate nuclear factor kappa B (NFkB) and induce the transcription of a variety of pro-inflammatory genes (e.g., cytokines), as well as miRNA genes. Newly synthesized pro-inflammatory factors are secreted to unleash a systemic neuroinflammatory response and to maintain a positive feedback loop in same activated cell. These second round of pro-inflammatory factor production is achieved through the expression of alternative cytokine receptors in the activated cell, which signal back to the nucleus through the JAK/STAT pathway to induce production of additional pro-inflammatory factors (e.g., interferons) and miRNA genes. To avoid over-amplification of these signals and excessive inflammation due to hyper-responsiveness to LPS

insult, specific miRNAs (e.g., members of the miR-146, miR-152, and let-7 families) are consequently upregulated in order to suppress TLR4/CXCR4 signaling through inhibition of multiple cascade transducers such as IL1 receptor-associated kinases (IRAKs), TNF receptor-associated factor 6 (TRAF6), and TLR4/CXCR4 themselves, among others. As a compensatory reaction, other miRNAs (e.g., miR-203) that activate the alternative JAK/STAT pathway are also upregulated in an effort to maintain the immune-activated state of the specific cell subtype while promoting a benign, contained inflammatory response. Concomitantly, immune-activated cells implement miRNA-mediated epigenetics mechanisms, such as DNA methylation and histone methylation and/or acetylation) that ensure chromatin modification and global changes in gene expression that allow for long-term homeostatic changes and cellular adaptations under the particular environmental conditions. Expectedly, miRNAs that target epigenetic factors are also activated in order to control and/or fine-tune the ongoing remodeling of the cellular epigenome.

our postmortem human brain study, but such differences among human alcoholics and animal models are plausible due to neurodevelopmental differences between species, stage of alcohol insult, and experimental protocol differences, to name a few. As suggested by O'Neill et al. (2011) miRNAs might also play a role in "controlling the switch from a strong early pro-inflammatory response to the resolution phase of the inflammatory process." This would also support a case for miRNA and mRNA expression profile discrepancies depending on the stage of the inflammatory response in the particular samples under study.

Evidence is also accumulating for novel mechanisms by which miRNAs can directly regulate mRNAs by facilitating or preventing interaction with RNA-binding proteins. An example of this that also underscores the fact that mRNA stability can be affected by environmental factors, is miR-369-3p (one of the upregulated miRNAs in human alcoholics), which associates directly with the AU-rich elements (AREs) in TNFa mRNA by base pairing and mediates translational activation of TNFa only under growth arrest conditions (Vasudevan and Steitz, 2007; Vasudevan et al., 2007). This effect was dependent on the recruitment of the RNA-binding proteins fragile-X mental retardation-related protein 1 (FXR1) and argonaute 2 (AGo2) and could be reversed when cells were actively proliferating, in which case miR-369-3p would switch roles to represses TNFa. Discovery of such sensitive and complex switch-like regulatory mechanisms emphasizes the extreme fine-tuning capabilities encoded into the biology of miRNAs.

The specific functions of other miRNAs upregulated in human alcoholics, which have also been implicated in immune signaling, remain unknown. Among these are miR-140 and miR-194, both upregulated in in vivo studies in mouse lung after LPS exposure (Moschos et al., 2007); miR-92, which is upregulated in CD4+CD8+ double positive thymocytes in comparison to other stages of T lymphocyte development (Sonkoly et al., 2008); miR-15b, which is upregulated in CD8+ cells when compared with CD4+ T cells or double positive thymocytes (Sonkoly et al., 2008); and miR-196, which have sequence-predicted targets within the hepatitis C virus genomic RNA and is upregulated by antiviral cytokine INFβ (Sonkoly et al., 2008). This highlights the fact that we are just starting to understand the regulatory roles of miR-NAs in general. Often, a single miRNA is found to be involved in multiple cellular functions. For example, (1) miR-92a and cluster member miR-18a block angiogenesis when overexpressed in endothelial cells (Bonauer et al., 2009; Doebele et al., 2010), (2) increased miR-92a in plasma levels in patients with traumatic brain injury (TBI) is a good biomarker for the severity of the disease (Redell et al., 2010), and (3) family member miR-92b is involved in synaptic signaling (Ceman and Saugstad, 2011). These diverse functions provide evidence for versatile and complex systemic roles of miRNAs.

HUMAN ALCOHOL-RESPONSIVE MIRNAS, NEUROTRANSMITTER SIGNALING, AND SYNAPTIC PLASTICITY

Alcohol, as well as other drugs of abuse, produce long-term changes within the brain reward circuits and these changes are thought to lead to drug tolerance, reward dysfunction, escalation

of drug intake, and eventually compulsive use (Russo et al., 2009). Research on the reward circuit has been centered on dopaminergic neurons in the ventral tegmental area (VTA) of the midbrain and their projections to the limbic system, in particular the nucleus accumbens (NAc), dorsal striatum, amygdala, hippocampus, and regions of PFC (Robison and Nestler, 2011). Nevertheless, other neurotransmitter systems seem also to contribute to brain reward responses since animals can still exhibit positive hedonic responses in the absence of dopamine (Hyman et al., 2006). Ethanol as well as opioids, cannabinoids, and nicotine are thought to produce reward partially through non-dopaminergic mechanisms, e.g., μ opioid receptors expressed on NAc neurons, which appear to bypass dopamine inputs from the VTA (Hyman et al., 2006). Studies examining the effect of selective agonist and antagonist drugs have indicated that multiple neurotransmitters, including dopamine, serotonin, acetylcholine, glutamate, GABA, and various peptides, are involved in activation of reward circuits and the production of multiple forms of neuronal plasticity that can convert drug-induced signals into long-term alterations in behavior (Bardo, 1998; Hyman et al., 2006). At the molecular level, complex gene expression mechanisms coordinate long-lasting alterations in dendrite and synapse structure and function. Among these mechanisms, the local control of mRNA translation in neuronal dendrites can account for the tight spatial regulation of plasticity at the level of individual dendrites or spines (Sutton and Schuman, 2006; Schratt, 2009). Recent evidence discussed below indicates that miRNAs play extensive roles in the regulation of these local processes and the development of addictive animal behaviors. We summarize this evidence in a hypothetical model presented in Figure 2.

Members of multiple miRNA families upregulated in the brain of human alcoholics have been collectively found enriched (let-7, miR-1, miR-7, miR-92, miR-135, miR-146, miR-339, miR-376, and miR-380) or depleted (miR-34, miR-101, miR-144, miR-153, miR-301, and miR-652) in rodent synapses (Lugli et al., 2008; Siegel et al., 2009; Eipper-Mains et al., 2011). miR-92 in particular, had been implicated in the regulation of FXR1P, which is an RNA-binding protein found in dendrites and involved in miRNA biogenesis (Ceman and Saugstad, 2011). Lugli et al. (2008) suggested that the miRNAs expressed within dendrites and within dendritic spines were expected to contribute to the regulation of local protein synthesis. Since the main effect of miRNA upregulation in human alcoholic brain is suspected to be downregulation of targeted-gene expression and/or inhibition of protein translation (Lewohl et al., 2011) and blockade of de novo protein synthesis in dendritic spines attenuates formation of long-term memory due to impairment of dendritic growth and remodeling (Schratt, 2009; Eipper-Mains et al., 2011), it might suggest that the observed alcohol upregulation of these synapse-localized miRNAs could have a major impact in the development of new addiction-promoting, long-term memories. Hence, early or accelerated upregulation of alcohol-responsive miRNAs in the brain might preempt development of addiction and could represent a potential therapeutic strategy.

miR-7 and miR-153 have both been recently implicated in the regulation of α -synuclein (Doxakis, 2010). α -synuclein plays a role in activity-dependent maintenance of SNARE complex levels in



FIGURE 2 | Hypothetical model for synaptic-related actions of miRNAs in brain of human alcoholics (e.g., in neurons). Ethanol can directly or indirectly affect multiple neurotransmitter receptors at the neuronal synapse and activate reward circuits conducive to multiple forms of neuronal plasticity, which in turn, convert the drug-induced signals into long-term alterations in behavior (e.g., alcohol dependency). The receptors affected on a particular synapse depend on the neuronal subtype and the specific subset of receptors expressed. For simplicity, several receptors such as GABAR, NMDAR, AChR, μ OR, DRD, and β 2AR, were diagramed as co-localized on the same synapse in the cartoon, but this is probably not the case in reality. miRNAs transported to and enriched in the synapses are locally processed by resident miRNA-ribonucleoprotein (miRNP) complexes (containing Dicer and FXR1P among other factors) and exert predominately inhibitory effects on mRNA targets also present at the specific synapses. Members of miRNA families,

pre-synaptic terminals (Burre et al., 2010; Greten-Harrison and Polydoro, 2010; Burgoyne and Morgan, 2011) and is involved in dopaminergic neurotransmission and neurodegenerative disorders (Doxakis, 2010). Importantly, there is a large body of evidence linking α -synuclein accumulation to alcohol dependency in humans as well as in rodents (Bönsch et al., 2005; Liang and Carr, 2006; Foroud et al., 2007; Taraskina et al., 2008; Aho et al., 2009). Furthermore, miR-7 has also been implicated in the control of neurite outgrowth *in vitro*, during neuronal differentiation of human neuroblastoma cell lines (Chen et al., 2010). On the other hand, miR-153 has been implicated in the teratogenic effects of alcohol in mice, although in this case, due to downregulation of the such as let-7, miR-1, miR-101, miR-140, and several others, downregulate the activity of neurotransmitter receptors by directly targeting respective mRNAs or by interfering with synaptic endocytosis (e.g., through targeting of dynamin and α -synuclein mRNAs). In addition, synaptic miRNAs implement negative feedback loops (through targeting of dicer and FXR1 mRNA, among other miRNA biogenesis-related factors) that auto-regulate their own availability. Such feedback loops ensure a balanced homeostatic control of a variety of synaptic functions. Concomitantly, cells implement miRNA-mediated epigenetics mechanisms, such as DNA methylation and histone methylation and/or acetylation, that ensure chromatin modification and global changes in gene expression that allow for long-term homeostatic changes and cellular adaptations under the particular environmental conditions. Expectedly, miRNAs that target epigenetic factors are also activated in order to control and/or fine-tune the ongoing remodeling of the cellular epigenome.

combinatorial function of three miRNAs (miR-21, miR-335, and miR-153). Simultaneous downregulation of these three miRNAs allowed their shared target, Jagged1 (a Notch receptor ligand), to accumulate and induce cell cycle and neuroepithelial maturation (Sathyan et al., 2007).

The Smalheiser group has found that dicer and the Ago homolog eIF2c, both involved in miRNA biogenesis, were expressed in mouse brain synaptic fractions and enriched at postsynaptic densities (PSDs; Lugli et al., 2005; Smalheiser and Lugli, 2009). The findings that NMDA and calcium stimulation of synaptoneurosomes induced calpain-dependent activation of dicer led the authors to propose a model in which (i) glutamate or other neurotransmitter activity at synapses causes a local increase of intracellular calcium levels within the post-synaptic neuron; (ii) this calcium increase needs to be sufficient to activate calpain: (iii) calpain liberates active dicer and eIF2c from the PSDs. Furthermore, the authors postulated that the acute effects of calpain on dicer act as a highly localized, phasic, high-threshold trigger that leads to formation of small RNAs near synapses, which once formed should be relatively long-lasting and subsequently independent of ongoing dicer activity (Lugli et al., 2005). Recent studies in Drosophila and rodents have confirmed the importance of components of the RISC complex at the synapse, which was necessary for the establishment of certain forms of short and long-term memories in these models (Ashraf et al., 2006; Batassa et al., 2010). Remarkably, we found that dicer was downregulated in the PFC of human alcoholics and that, equal to CXCR4, it was the mRNA most significantly over-targeted by upregulated miRNAs (Lewohl et al., 2011), which suggest a relevant role for dicer-miRNA feedback loops in the mediation of and/or neuroadaptation to alcohol actions.

Several of the synaptically modulated miRNA families have been involved in the regulation of neurotransmitter signaling, which is mechanistically related to stimulation of reward circuits and the formation of associative, synapse-specific memories (Hyman et al., 2006). For example, the let-7 family, one of the miRNA families differentially expressed in PFC of human alcoholics, could be modulating the activity of a variety of neurotransmitter receptors. Several members of this family have been reported to regulate receptors such as the μ opioid receptor, the β2adrenergic receptor, and the dopamine D3 receptor (Pillai, 2005; Chandrasekar and Dreyer, 2009; He et al., 2010). While investigating mechanisms contributing to opioid tolerance in mice, He et al. (2010) identified let-7 family members (let-7a, let-7c, and let-7g were used as representative members) as mediators of translocation and sequestration of µ opioid receptor mRNA into P-bodies, which led to translation repression without affecting the mRNA levels. A similar mechanism for repression of translational initiation of let-7 targets in human cells had previously been reported (Pillai, 2005). The μ opioid receptor is largely distributed along reward circuits, where it mediates the reinforcing activities of morphine and several non-opioid drugs such as alcohol, cannabinoids, and nicotine. The non-opioid drugs act at their own receptors [GABAA and NMDA receptors for alcohol, CB1 and CB2 receptors for cannabinoids, and nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (nAChR) for nicotine] and are likely to induce the release of endogenous opioid peptides that, in turn, activate the µ receptors. This type of receptor seems to function as a convergent molecular gate in the initiation of addictive behaviors (Contet et al., 2004). In addition, Wang et al. (2011) demonstrated that let-7f targeted β2-adrenergic receptor (β2AR) mRNA and repressed expression of the native ADRB2 protein in the human cell line H292. Interestingly, another microRNA that is also upregulated in human alcoholics, miR-15, belongs to one of the only two other groups of miRNAs that have predicted binding sites within the 3' UTR of the β2AR mRNA (Wang et al., 2011). Recent evidence supports a role for β -adrenergic receptors in retrieval of cocaine-associated memories, mediated by norepinephrine acting at central β -adrenergic receptors in rats (Otis and Mueller,

2011). With this work, Otis and Mueller also demonstrated that propranolol, a commonly prescribed β -blocker, can be used as an adjunct to exposure therapy for the treatment of cocaine addiction. In addition, activation of β 2AR also appears to be required for some of the key neurochemical changes that characterize chronic opioid administration in mice (Liang et al., 2007). Yet another let-7 family member, let-7d, was reported to be downregulated by cocaine in rat mesolimbic brain slices, and overexpression of this miRNA in hybrid NG108-15 cells downregulated the dopamine D3 receptor (Chandrasekar and Dreyer, 2009). It is well known that drugs of abuse induce persistent structural and functional changes in the mesolimbic dopaminergic system that lead to high-risk, drug-seeking behaviors, and relapse (Chandrasekar and Dreyer, 2011).

On the other hand, support for an involvement of miR-101 (another miRNA upregulated in the PFC of human alcoholics) in the modulation of GABAergic transmission in response to alcohol consumption can be found in a recent study conducted by the Tabakoff group (Saba et al., 2011). After analyzing gene expression profiles induced by alcohol-drinking in panels of recombinant and isogenic inbred mice, Saba and colleagues found that guanine nucleotide binding protein beta 1 subunit (Gnb1) was the only transcript that changed expression in all groups of high and low alcohol-drinking mice and, in addition, localized within a guantitative trait loci for alcohol consumption. Gnb1 expression level was inversely related to the level of alcohol intake. Based on differential detection of Gnb1 transcript variants, protein levels, and 3' UTR sequence analysis, the authors suggested that miR-101 could be regulating the amount of GB1 protein. GB1 protein can initiate a cascade of intracellular signaling events leading to the internalization of GABAA and other receptors (Saba et al., 2011). Although subsequent studies investigating the direct interaction between miR-101 and the Gnb1 transcripts are necessary for validation, we are enthusiastic about the emergence of seemingly interconnected patterns spanning multiple animal species.

Additional evidence for a role of miRNAs in the regulation of endocytotic recycling of neurotransmitter receptors is found in the work of the Li group, who found that miR-140* is upregulated by nicotine treatment and directly binds to dynamin (Dnm1) mRNA to inhibit its expression (Huang and Li, 2008). Dynamin-1 is involved in scission of clathrin-coated vesicles and it is essential for endocytotic synaptic vesicle recycling only during the application of a strong or sustained stimulus when exocytosis of neurotransmitter-filled vesicles is extreme and rapid retrieval of vesicles is required to maintain the synaptic vesicle pool (Ferguson et al., 2007; Etheridge et al., 2009). Proteomic studies of synaptosomal fractions from superior frontal gyrus and occipital cortex of postmortem human brains identified dynamin-1 protein as differentially regulated between alcoholics and controls (decreased expression in alcoholics) and provided evidence for differential alteration of multiple protein isoforms in a brain region-specific manner (Etheridge et al., 2009). Furthermore, our group has demonstrated that dynamin-1 establishes a strong physical interaction with the large conductance voltage- and calciumactivated potassium channel (BKCa), another major player in alcohol actions (Gorini et al., 2010). Interestingly, multiple miRNAs upregulated in human alcoholics, including miR-101, miR-135b, miR-140, miR-203, miR-34c-5p, miR-376, miR-454, miR-519b-3p, miR-580, and miR-586 (Lewohl et al., 2011), are predicted to target dynamin family members, which underscore the role that these proteins and respective targeting-miRNAs play in mediating alcohol actions.

Acetylcholine (ACh) could be another neurotransmitter signaling pathway regulated by miRNAs in human alcoholic brains. miR-1 is a conserved muscle-specific microRNA that regulates aspects of both pre- and post-synaptic function at neuromuscular junctions (Simon et al., 2008). Using *C. elegans* as model system, Simon et al. (2008) demonstrated that miR-1 regulates the expression level of two nAChR subunits, thereby altering muscle sensitivity to ACh. Alcohol has been reported to enhance the function of naturally expressed $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nAChRs and to inhibit the activity of naturally expressed $\alpha 7$ nAChRs (Narahashi et al., 1999). Furthermore, activation of nAChRs was reported to selectively reduce alcohol consumption in outbred Wistar rats (Dyr et al., 1999), while mutations in transmembrane domains of $\alpha 2$ channel subunits can enhance actions of alcohols on neuronal nicotinic receptors (Borghese et al., 2002).

Taken together, our analysis of potential effects of alcoholresponsive miRNAs on neurotransmitter receptor-mediated signaling indicates that a variety of neurotransmitter-regulated pathways may be simultaneously changing in response to alcohol as well as other drugs of abuse, and that the activity of multiple key miRNA families may be contributing to this particular complex network of interactions. Direct effect of upregulated miR-NAs (as in the cohort of human alcoholic studied by Lewohl et al., 2011) over their putative neurotransmitter receptor targets is suggestive of a neuroadaptive response to counteract the drug-induced receptor activation characteristic in multiple types of addiction. On the other hand, since receptor endocytosis contributes to signal termination and desensitization of activated G protein-coupled receptors (Finn and Whistler, 2001; Li and van der Vaart, 2011), miRNA-driven downregulation of dynamin-1, which disrupts neurotransmitter receptor endocytosis, might contribute to the addictive effects of alcohol as well as other drugs of abuse.

HUMAN ALCOHOL-RESPONSIVE MIRNAS AND EPIGENETICS

The fact that epigenetic mechanisms underlie adaptation in adult organisms has become clear thanks to an explosion in research into mechanisms by which chromatin and histone modifications impact transcriptional regulation under a variety of environmental insults. These mechanisms have been demonstrated to play a role in drug addiction, as repeated exposure to drugs of abuse induce alterations in histone acetylation, phosphorylation, and methylation levels, as well as DNA methylation levels (Maze and Nestler, 2011; Robison and Nestler, 2011; Wong et al., 2011). In alcoholic patients, a significant increase in global DNA methylation influenced by reduced levels of DNA methyl transferase 3b (DNMT3b) has been reported and a possible subsequent derangement of epigenetic control suggested (Bönsch et al., 2004, 2006). Furthermore, several genomic loci such as nerve growth factor (NGF) and pro-opiomelanocortin gene (POMC) from blood cells and prodynorphin (PDYN) from brain tissue have been found hyper-methylated in human alcoholics (Bönsch et al., 2006; Muschler et al., 2010; Heberlein et al., 2011; Taqi et al., 2011). In this section, we focus on recent studies demonstrating that miRNAs can regulate epigenetic factors and vice versa (Sato et al., 2011), highlighting, in particular, epigenetic-related miRNAs upregulated in the brain of human alcoholics. We summarize this evidence in the hypothetical models presented in **Figures 1** and **2** (see nucleus).

miR-101 was reported to specifically repress expression of EZH2, a conserved catalytic subunit within the polycomb repressor complex 2 (PRC2), which is involved in histone methylation and consequent transcriptional silencing (Varambally et al., 2008; Friedman et al., 2009). Overexpression of miR-101 markedly attenuated cell proliferation and apparently configured the histone code of cancer cells to that associated with more benign cellular phenotypes (Varambally et al., 2008). Other miRNAs commonly silenced in a variety of cancers also target factors in the epigenetic pathway; for example, miR-203 targets Bmi-1, a component of the polycomb repressor complex 1 (PRC1) that working together with PRC2, plays an important role in stabilizing epigenetic gene silencing by binding to methylated chromatin (Wellner et al., 2009; Sato et al., 2011), and miR-152 targets DNA methyltransferase DNMT1 (Tsuruta et al., 2011). All these miRNAs have been postulated as tumor suppressors (TS-miRNAs) and all have in common that they specifically downregulate factors involved in altering the epigenetic landscape of cells. These studies and several others (Rodríguez-Paredes and Esteller, 2011; Tsai and Baylin, 2011) demonstrate that when the epigenetic machinery goes awry, cells have increased chances to become malignant and develop cancers. Therefore, it is reasonable to speculate that cells and tissues in non-complicated alcoholics, as well as in any non-complicated group of individuals chronically subjected to environmental stress, should have implemented defense mechanisms such as overexpression of TS-miRNAs in order to avoid early development of malignances.

On the other hand, miR-1 has been reported to repress histone deacetylase 4 (HDAC4) and to promote differentiation of myoblasts (Chen et al., 2006). HDAC4 is highly abundant in mouse brain (Kumar et al., 2005) and its subcellular localization (nuclear or cytoplasmic) in rat hippocampal neurons is specified by neuronal activity (Chawla et al., 2003). Interestingly, Pandey et al. (2008) found that the anxiolytic effects produced by acute alcohol were associated with increased HDAC activity and reduced histone acetylation in the rat amygdala, and suggested that HDAC inhibitors may be potential therapeutic agents in treating alcohol withdrawal symptoms. Nevertheless, somewhat contradictorily, the Nestler group has reported that HDAC inhibition potentiates cocaine's behavioral effects and that reducing acetylation through viral-mediated overexpression of HDAC4 in the NAc of mice decreased cocaine reward (Kumar et al., 2005). These authors also suggested that stimulation of gene transcription may be the predominant mechanism for cocaine-induced behavioral plasticity. These drug-specific or animal model-specific cellular activities and behaviors warn us about the potential risk of extrapolating results from one model into another, but also underscore the fine-tuning capabilities of these regulatory pathways.

Another subset of miRNA families upregulated in alcoholics, including miR-1, miR-34, miR-152, miR-196, and miR-203, is

regulated by epigenetic mechanisms (Sato et al., 2011), which could partly explain how environmental factors could be contributing to disease development. The respective transcriptional units for miR-34b/c and miR-203 both contain CpG islands, and the methylation levels of these CpG islands are inversely correlated with the expression level of the mature miRNA in various cancers, including CNS tumors (Kozaki et al., 2008; Furuta et al., 2010). miR-152 and miR-196a are also silenced by hypermethylation of CpG islands on the respective DNA loci (Hoffman et al., 2009; Tsuruta et al., 2011). It is interesting to note that several of the miRNAs that target factors involved in epigenetic remodeling could be conversely regulated by epigenetic mechanisms, suggesting that miRNAs are elements of epigenetic feedback regulatory loops that fine-tune activity of the pathway.

CONCLUSION

Given the complex etiology of alcohol abuse disorders and dependence, characterized by brain-wide pathophysiological alterations under continuous crosstalk, we reason that to better understand and treat alcohol abuse, we need to develop organ and systemwide models (even if initially incomplete and speculative to some extent) with the potential to capture the dynamism in such complexity. Once we discover main dynamic relationships conducive to stable states of the disease, we may be able to design strategies to detour or reverse disease progression, akin of chemical reactions transiting through multiple equilibrium states. From the analysis and hypothetical models presented here, the notion emerges that miRNAs are efficiently being upregulated in response to alcohol insult and consequently inducing organ and system-wide homeostatic changes that produce long-term adaptation under the specific cellular environment. Remarkably, miRNAs that localize to and display activity at synapses in neurons are also capable of eliciting distinct and specific activities in other cell types, such as innate immunity-related functions in microglial cells, among others. This underscores the impact that molecular efficiency, signaling crosstalk, and cellular economy plays in the adaptation and evolution of cellular systems, all of which are concepts we have already learnt over the many years of biological research.

REFERENCES

- Aho, L., Karkola, K., Juusela, J., and Alafuzoff, I. (2009). Heavy alcohol consumption and neuropathological lesions: a post-mortem human study. J. Neurosci. Res. 87, 2786–2792.
- Ambros, V. (2001). microRNAs: tiny regulators with great potential. *Cell* 107, 823–826.
- Androulidaki, A., Iliopoulos, D., Arranz, A., Doxaki, C., Schworer, S., Zacharioudaki, V., Margioris, A. N., Tsichlis, P. N., and Tsatsanis, C. (2009). The kinase Akt1 controls macrophage response to lipopolysaccharide by regulating microRNAs. *Immunity* 31, 220–231.
- Ashraf, S. I., McLoon, A. L., Sclarsic, S. M., and Kunes, S. (2006). Synaptic protein synthesis associated with

memory is regulated by the RISC pathway in *Drosophila*. *Cell* 124, 191–205.

- Bardo, M. T. (1998). Neuropharmacological mechanisms of drug reward: beyond dopamine in the nucleus accumbens. *Crit. Rev. Neurobiol.* 12, 37–67.
- Batassa, E. M., Costanzi, M., Saraulli, D., Scardigli, R., Barbato, C., Cogoni, C., and Cestari, V. (2010). RISC activity in hippocampus is essential for contextual memory. *Neurosci. Lett.* 471, 185–188.
- Bazzoni, F., Rossato, M., Fabbri, M., Gaudiosi, D., Mirolo, M., Mori, L., Tamassia, N., Mantovani, A., Cassatella, M. A., and Locati, M. (2009). Induction and regulatory function of miR-9 in human monocytes and neutrophils

Due to the versatility and wide-reaching regulatory power of miRNAs, we expect the future development of novel knockdown and/or overexpression strategies targeting the activity of specific miRNAs, in an effort to prevent or even reverse addiction. Yet, many issues need to be addressed in order to better understand how miRNAs perform their functions and how they could be exploited to combat alcohol abuse. We wonder, for example, whether minor sequence variations in members of miRNA families affect their target specificity and biological function, and whether miRNA family members exist to exert redundant control over specific targets, to fine-tune their post-transcriptional regulation, or to exert a combination of both types of control. We also wonder whether we could unleash the fine-tuning regulatory potential of miRNAs by exploiting the combinatorial capability of miRNA targeting.

On the other hand, the miRNA field would immensely benefit from the development of high throughput technologies and methods for reliable characterization and validation of miRNA targets that are lagging at this time, together with the development of bioinformatic platforms capable of effectively and efficiently integrating the complex combinatorial patterns hidden under the "miRNA code." Equally thrilling will be the discovery of small molecules that could specifically interact with and modulate the availability of select miRNAs in particular tissues, which would be invaluable to the clinical and therapeutic fields.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Dr. Jody Mayfield and Dr. Adron Harris for comments on the manuscript. Work in the Mayfield Laboratory is funded by grants from NIAAA (AA020926, AA019382, AA016648, AA012404, AA013518, AA013517). Yury O. Nunez is funded by postdoctoral fellowship under NIH/NIAAA Institutional Research Training Grant 5T32AA007471-24. The authors are grateful to the Australian Brain Donor Programs NSW Tissue Resource Centre for providing alcoholic and control brain tissue for analysis. The Centre is supported by the University of Sydney, National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia, Schizophrenia Research Institute, and NIAAA.

exposed to proinflammatory signals. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 5282–5287.

- Belver, L., Papavasiliou, F. N., and Ramiro, A. R. (2011). MicroRNA control of lymphocyte differentiation and function. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 23, 368–373.
- Blednov, Y. A., Benavidez, J. M., Geil, C., Perra, S., Morikawa, H., and Harris, R. A. (2011). Activation of inflammatory signaling by lipopolysaccharide produces a prolonged increase of voluntary alcohol intake in mice. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 25(Suppl. 1), S92–S105.
- Blednov, Y. A., Ponomarev, I., Geil, C., Bergeson, S., Koob, G. F., and Harris, R. A. (2012). Neuroimmune regulation of alcohol consumption: behavioral

validation of genes obtained from genomic studies. *Addict. Biol.* 17, 108–120.

- Bonauer, A., Carmona, G., Iwasaki, M., Mione, M., Koyanagi, M., Fischer, A., Burchfield, J., Fox, H., Doebele, C., Ohtani, K., Chavakis, E., Potente, M., Tjwa, M., Urbich, C., Zeiher, A. M., and Dimmeler, S. (2009). MicroRNA-92a controls angiogenesis and functional recovery of ischemic tissues in mice. *Science* 324, 1710–1713.
- Bönsch, D., Lederer, T., Reulbach, U., Hothorn, T., Kornhuber, J., and Bleich, S. (2005). Joint analysis of the NACP-REP1 marker within the alpha synuclein gene concludes association with alcohol dependence. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 14, 967–971.

- Bönsch, D., Lenz, B., Fiszer, R., Frieling, H., Kornhuber, J., and Bleich, S. (2006). Lowered DNA methyltransferase (DNMT-3b) mRNA expression is associated with genomic DNA hypermethylation in patients with chronic alcoholism. J. Neural Transm. 113, 1299–1304.
- Bönsch, D., Lenz, B., Reulbach, U., Kornhuber, J., and Bleich, S. (2004). Homocysteine associated genomic DNA hypermethylation in patients with chronic alcoholism. *J. Neural Transm.* 111, 1611–1616.
- Borghese, C. M., Ali, D. N., Bleck, V., and Harris, R. A. (2002). Acetylcholine and alcohol sensitivity of neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: mutations in transmembrane domains. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 26, 1764–1772.
- Breving, K., and Esquela-Kerscher, A. (2010). The complexities of microRNA regulation: mirandering around the rules. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 42, 1316–1329.
- Burgoyne, R. D., and Morgan, A. (2011). Chaperoning the SNAREs: a role in preventing neurodegeneration. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 13, 8–9.
- Burre, J., Sharma, M., Tsetsenis, T., Buchman, V., Etherton, M. R., and Sudhof, T. C. (2010). α-Synuclein promotes SNARE-complex assembly in vivo and in vitro. *Science* 329, 1663–1667.
- Bushati, N., and Cohen, S. M. (2008). MicroRNAs in neurodegeneration. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 18, 292–296.
- Ceman, S., and Saugstad, J. (2011). MicroRNAs: meta-controllers of gene expression in synaptic activity emerge as genetic and diagnostic markers of human disease. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 130, 26–37.
- Chandrasekar, V., and Dreyer, J.-L. (2009). microRNAs miR-124, let-7d and miR-181a regulate cocaineinduced plasticity. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 42, 350–362.
- Chandrasekar, V., and Dreyer, J.-L. (2011). Regulation of MiR-124, Let-7d, and MiR-181a in the accumbens affects the expression, extinction, and reinstatement of cocaineinduced conditioned place preference. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 36, 1149–1164.
- Chawla, S., Vanhoutte, P., Arnold, F. J. L., Huang, C. L.-H., and Bading, H. (2003). Neuronal activity-dependent nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of HDAC4 and HDAC5. *J. Neurochem.* 85, 151–159.

- Chen, H., Shalom-Feuerstein, R., Riley, J., Zhang, S.-D., Tucci, P., Agostini, M., Aberdam, D., Knight, R. A., Genchi, G., Nicotera, P., Melino, G., and Vasa-Nicotera, M. (2010). miR-7 and miR-214 are specifically expressed during neuroblastoma differentiation, cortical development and embryonic stem cells differentiation, and control neurite outgrowth in vitro. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 394, 921–927.
- Chen, J.-F., Mandel, E. M., Thomson, J. M., Wu, Q., Callis, T. E., Hammond, S. M., Conlon, F. L., and Wang, D. Z. (2006). The role of microRNA-1 and microRNA-133 in skeletal muscle proliferation and differentiation. *Nat. Genet.* 38, 228–233.
- Chen, X.-M., Splinter, P. L., O'Hara, S. P., and LaRusso, N. F. (2007). A cellular micro-RNA, let-7i, regulates Tolllike receptor 4 expression and contributes to cholangiocyte immune responses against *Cryptosporidium parvum* infection. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 28929–28938.
- Cheng, L.-C., Pastrana, E., Tavazoie, M., and Doetsch, F. (2009). miR-124 regulates adult neurogenesis in the subventricular zone stem cell niche. *Nat. Neurosci.* 12, 399–408.
- Contet, C., Kieffer, B. L., and Befort, K. (2004). Mu opioid receptor: a gateway to drug addiction. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 14, 370–378.
- Crews, F. T., Zou, J., and Qin, L. (2011). Induction of innate immune genes in brain create the neurobiology of addiction. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 25(Suppl. 1), S4–S12.
- Doebele, C., Bonauer, A., Fischer, A., Scholz, A., Reiss, Y., Urbich, C., Hofmann, W.-K., Zeiher, A. M., and Dimmeler, S. (2010). Members of the microRNA-17-92 cluster exhibit a cell-intrinsic antiangiogenic function in endothelial cells. *Blood* 115, 4944–4950.
- Doxakis, E. (2010). Post-transcriptional regulation of alpha-synuclein expression by mir-7 and mir-153. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 12726–12734.
- Dyr, W., Koros, E., Bienkowski, P., and Kostowski, W. (1999). Involvement of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in the regulation of alcohol drinking in Wistar rats. *Alcohol Alcohol.* 34, 43–47.
- Edenberg, H. J., Xuei, X., Wetherill, L. F., Bierut, L., Bucholz, K., Dick, D. M., Hesselbrock, V., Kuperman, S., Porjesz, B., Schuckit, M. A., Tischfield, J. A., Almasy, L. A., Nurnberger, J.

I. Jr., and Foroud, T. (2008). Association of NFKB1, which encodes a subunit of the transcription factor NF-kappaB, with alcohol dependence. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 17, 963–970.

- Eipper-Mains, J. E., Kiraly, D. D., Palakodeti, D., Mains, R. E., Eipper, B. A., and Graveley, B. R. (2011). microRNA-Seq reveals cocaine-regulated expression of striatal microRNAs. *RNA* 17, 1529–1543.
- Etheridge, N., Lewohl, J. M., Mayfield, R. D., Harris, R. A., and Dodd, P. R. (2009). Synaptic proteome changes in the superior frontal gyrus and occipital cortex of the alcoholic brain. *Proteomics Clin. Appl.* 3, 730–742.
- Ferguson, S. M., Brasnjo, G., Hayashi, M., Wölfel, M., Collesi, C., Giovedi, S., Raimondi, A., Gong, L. W., Ariel, P., Paradise, S., O'Toole, E., Flavell, R., Cremona, O., Miesenböck, G., Ryan, T. A., and De Camilli, P. (2007). A selective activitydependent requirement for dynamin 1 in synaptic vesicle endocytosis. *Science* 316, 570–574.
- Filipowicz, W., Bhattacharyya, S. N., and Sonenberg, N. (2008). Mechanisms of post-transcriptional regulation by microRNAs: are the answers in sight. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 9, 102–114.
- Finn, A. K., and Whistler, J. L. (2001). Endocytosis of the mu opioid receptor reduces tolerance and a cellular hallmark of opiate withdrawal. *Neuron* 32, 829–839.
- Fiore, R., Siegel, G., and Schratt, G. (2008). MicroRNA function in neuronal development, plasticity and disease. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1779, 471–478.
- Foroud, T., Wetherill, L. F., Liang, T., Dick, D. M., Hesselbrock, V., Kramer, J., Nurnberger, J., Schuckit, M., Carr, L., Porjesz, B., Xuei, X., and Edenberg, H. J. (2007). Association of alcohol craving with alphasynuclein (SNCA). *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 31, 537–545.
- Friedman, J. M., Liang, G., Liu, C.-C., Wolff, E. M., Tsai, Y. C., Ye, W., Zhou, X., and Jones, P. A. (2009). The putative tumor suppressor microRNA-101 modulates the cancer epigenome by repressing the polycomb group protein EZH2. *Cancer Res.* 69, 2623–2629.
- Furuta, M., Kozaki, K.-I., Tanaka, S., Arii, S., Imoto, I., and Inazawa, J. (2010). miR-124 and miR-203 are epigenetically silenced tumorsuppressive microRNAs in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Carcinogenesis* 31, 766–776.

- Gorini, G., Bell, R. L., and Mayfield, R. D. (2011). Molecular targets of alcohol action: translational research for pharmacotherapy development and screening. *Prog. Mol. Biol. Transl. Sci.* 98, 293–347.
- Gorini, G., Ponomareva, O., Shores, K. S., Person, M. D., Harris, R. A., and Mayfield, R. D. (2010). Dynamin-1 co-associates with native mouse brain BKCa channels: proteomics analysis of synaptic protein complexes. *FEBS Lett.* 584, 845–851.
- Greten-Harrison, B., and Polydoro, M. (2010). αβγ-Synuclein triple knockout mice reveal age-dependent neuronal dysfunction. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 19573–19578.
- Guasch, R. M., Blanco, A. M., Pérez-Aragó, A., Miñambres, R., Talens-Visconti, R., Peris, B., and Guerri, C. (2007). RhoE participates in the stimulation of the inflammatory response induced by ethanol in astrocytes. *Exp. Cell Res.* 313, 3779–3788.
- He, Y., Yang, C., Kirkmire, C. M., and Wang, Z. J. (2010). Regulation of opioid tolerance by let-7 family microRNA targeting the opioid receptor. J. Neurosci. 30, 10251–10258.
- Heaton, M. B., Moore, D. B., Paiva, M., Gibbs, T., and Bernard, O. (1999). Bcl-2 overexpression protects the neonatal cerebellum from ethanol neurotoxicity. *Brain Res.* 817, 13–18.
- Heberlein, A., Muschler, M., Frieling, H., Behr, M., Eberlein, C., Wilhelm, J., Gröschl, M., Kornhuber, J., Bleich, S., and Hillemacher, T. (2011). Epigenetic down regulation of nerve growth factor during alcohol withdrawal. *Addict Biol.* doi:10.1111/ j.1369-1600.2010.00307.x
- Hoffman, A. E., Zheng, T., Yi, C., Leaderer, D., Weidhaas, J., Slack, F., Zhang, Y., Paranjape, T., and Zhu, Y. (2009). microRNA miR-196a-2 and breast cancer: a genetic and epigenetic association study and functional analysis. *Cancer Res.* 69, 5970–5977.
- Hou, J., Wang, P., Lin, L., Liu, X., Ma, F., An, H., Wang, Z., and Cao, X. (2009). MicroRNA-146a feedback inhibits RIG-I-dependent Type I IFN production in macrophages by targeting TRAF6, IRAK1, and IRAK2. *J. Immunol.* 183, 2150–2158.
- Huang, W., and Li, M. D. (2008). Nicotine modulates expression of miR-140*, which targets the 3'untranslated region of dynamin 1 gene (Dnm1). *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 12, 537.

- Hunot, S., and Hirsch, E. C. (2003). Neuroinflammatory processes in Parkinson's disease. *Ann. Neurol.* 53(Suppl. 3), S49–S58; discussion S58–S60.
- Hyman, S. E., Malenka, R. C., and Nestler, E. J. (2006). Neural mechanisms of addiction: the role of reward-related learning and memory. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 29, 565–598.
- Iliopoulos, D., Hirsch, H. A., and Struhl, K. (2009). An epigenetic switch involving NF-kappaB, Lin28, Let-7 MicroRNA, and IL6 links inflammation to cell transformation. *Cell* 139, 693–706.
- Johansson, S., Ekström, T. J., Marinova, Z., Ökvist, A., Sheedy, D., Garrick, T., Harper, C., Kuzmin, A., Yakovleva, T., and Bakalkin, G. (2008). Dysregulation of cell death machinery in the prefrontal cortex of human alcoholics. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 12, 109.
- Kash, T. L., Baucum, A. J., Conrad, K. L., Colbran, R. J., and Winder, D. G. (2009). Alcohol exposure alters NMDAR function in the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 34, 2420–2429.
- Kelley, K. W., and Dantzer, R. (2011). Alcoholism and inflammation: neuroimmunology of behavioral and mood disorders. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 25, S13–S20.
- Kozaki, K.-I., Imoto, I., Mogi, S., Omura, K., and Inazawa, J. (2008). Exploration of tumor-suppressive microRNAs silenced by DNA hypermethylation in oral cancer. *Cancer Res.* 68, 2094–2105.
- Kumar, A., Choi, K.-H., Renthal, W., Tsankova, N. M., Theobald, D. E. H., Truong, H.-T., Russo, S. J., Laplant, Q., Sasaki, T. S., Whistler, K. N., Neve, R. L., Self, D. W., and Nestler, E. J. (2005). Chromatin remodeling is a key mechanism underlying cocaineinduced plasticity in striatum. *Neuron* 48, 303–314.
- Leshner, A. I. (1997). Addiction is a brain disease, and it matters. *Science* 278, 45–47.
- Lewohl, J. M., Nunez, Y. O., Dood, P. R., Tiwari, G. R., Harris, R. A., and Mayfield, R. D. (2011). Up-regulation of MicroRNAs in brain of human alcoholics. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 35, 1928–1937.
- Li, M. D., and van der Vaart, A. D. (2011). MicroRNAs in addiction: adaptation's middlemen. *Mol. Psychiatry* 16, 1159–1168.
- Liang, D.-Y., Shi, X., Li, X., Li, J., and Clark, J. D. (2007). The beta2 adrenergic receptor regulates morphine

tolerance and physical dependence. *Behav, Brain Res,* 181, 118–126.

- Liang, T., and Carr, L. G. (2006). Regulation of alpha-synuclein expression in alcohol-preferring and -non preferring rats. *J. Neurochem.* 99, 470–482.
- Liu, J., Asuncion-Chin, M., Liu, P., and Dopico, A. M. (2006a). CaM kinase II phosphorylation of slo Thr107 regulates activity and ethanol responses of BK channels. *Nat. Neurosci.* 9, 41–49.
- Liu, J., Lewohl, J. M., Harris, R. A., Iyer, V. R., Dodd, P. R., Randall, P. K., and Mayfield, R. D. (2006b). Patterns of gene expression in the frontal cortex discriminate alcoholic from nonalcoholic individuals. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 31, 1574–1582.
- Liu, X., Zhan, Z., Xu, L., Ma, F., Li, D., Guo, Z., Li, N., and Cao, X. (2010). MicroRNA-148/152 impair innate response and antigen presentation of TLR-triggered dendritic cells by targeting CaMKIIα. J. Immunol. 185, 7244–7251.
- Lugli, G., Larson, J., Martone, M. E., Jones, Y., and Smalheiser, N. R. (2005). Dicer and eIF2c are enriched at postsynaptic densities in adult mouse brain and are modified by neuronal activity in a calpaindependent manner. *J. Neurochem.* 94, 896–905.
- Lugli, G., Torvik, V. I., Larson, J., and Smalheiser, N. R. (2008). Expression of microRNAs and their precursors in synaptic fractions of adult mouse forebrain. *J. Neurochem.* 106, 650–661.
- Mayfield, R. D., Harris, R. A., and Schuckit, M. A. (2008). Genetic factors influencing alcohol dependence. Br. J. Pharmacol. 154, 275–287.
- Maze, I., and Nestler, E. J. (2011). The epigenetic landscape of addiction. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1216, 99–113.
- Miranda, R. C., Pietrzykowski, A. Z., Tang, Y., Sathyan, P., Mayfield, D., Keshavarzian, A., Sampson, W., and Hereld, D. (2010). MicroRNAs: master regulators of ethanol abuse and toxicity. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 34, 575–587.
- Moschos, S. A., Williams, A. E., Perry, M. M., Birrell, M. A., Belvisi, M. G., and Lindsay, M. A. (2007). Expression profiling in vivo demonstrates rapid changes in lung microRNA levels following lipopolysaccharideinduced inflammation but not in the anti-inflammatory action of glucocorticoids. *BMC Genomics* 8, 240. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-8-240

- Mulligan, M. K., Ponomarev, I., Hitzemann, R. J., Belknap, J. K., Tabakoff, B., Harris, R. A., Crabbe, J. C., Blednov, Y. A., Grahame, N. J., Phillips, T. J., Finn, D. A., Hoffman, P. L., Iyer, V. R., Koob, G. F., and Bergeson, S. E. (2006). Toward understanding the genetics of alcohol drinking through transcriptome meta-analysis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 6368–6373.
- Muschler, M. A. N., Hillemacher, T., Kraus, C., Kornhuber, J., Bleich, S., and Frieling, H. (2010). DNA methylation of the POMC gene promoter is associated with craving in alcohol dependence. *J. Neural Transm.* 117, 513–519.
- Narahashi, T., Aistrup, G., and Marszalec, W. (1999). Neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: a new target site of ethanol. *Neurochemistry* 35, 131–141.
- Nowoslawski, L., Klocke, B. J., and Roth, K. A. (2005). Molecular regulation of acute ethanol-induced neuron apoptosis. *J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol.* 64, 490–497.
- Ökvist, A., Johansson, S., Kuzmin, A., Bazov, I., Merino-Martinez, R., Ponomarev, I., Mayfield, R. D., Harris, R. A., Sheedy, D., Garrick, T., Harper, C., Hurd, Y. L., Terenius, L., Ekström, T. J., Bakalkin, G., and Yakovleva, T. (2007). Neuroadaptations in human chronic alcoholics: dysregulation of the NFkappaB system. *PLoS ONE* 2, e930. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0000930
- Oliva, J., Bardag-Gorce, F., Li, J., French, B. A., and French, S. W. (2011). S-adenosylmethionine prevents the up regulation of Toll-like receptor (TLR) signaling caused by chronic ethanol feeding in rats. *Exp. Mol. Pathol.* 90, 239–243.
- O'Neill, L. A., Sheedy, F. J., and McCoy, C. E. (2011). MicroRNAs: the finetuners of Toll-like receptor signalling. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 11, 163–175.
- O'Neill, L. A. J. (2006). How Toll-like receptors signal: what we know and what we don't know. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 18, 3–9.
- Otis, J. M., and Mueller, D. (2011). Inhibition of β -adrenergic receptors induces a persistent deficit in retrieval of a cocaineassociated memory providing protection against reinstatement. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 36, 1912–1920.
- Pandey, S. C., Ugale, R., Zhang, H., Tang, L., and Prakash, A. (2008). Brain chromatin remodeling: a novel

mechanism of alcoholism. J. Neurosci. 28, 3729–3737.

- Pastor, I. J., Laso, F. J., Avila, J. J., Rodríguez, R. E., and González-Sarmiento, R. (2000). Polymorphism in the interleukin-1 receptor antagonist gene is associated with alcoholism in Spanish men. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 24, 1479–1482.
- Pastor, I. J., Laso, F. J., Romero, A., and González-Sarmiento, R. (2005). Interleukin-1 gene cluster polymorphisms and alcoholism in Spanish men. *Alcohol Alcohol.* 40, 181–186.
- Pietrzykowski, A. Z., Friesen, R. M., Martin, G. E., Puig, S. I., Nowak, C. L., Wynne, P. M., Siegelmann, H. T., and Treistman, S. N. (2008). Posttranscriptional regulation of BK channel splice variant stability by miR-9 underlies neuroadaptation to alcohol. *Neuron* 59, 274–287.
- Pillai, R. S. (2005). Inhibition of translational initiation by Let-7 MicroRNA in human cells. *Science* 309, 1573–1576.
- Rajgopal, Y., Chetty, C. S., and Vemuri, M. C. (2003). Differential modulation of apoptosis-associated proteins by ethanol in rat cerebral cortex and cerebellum. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 470, 117–124.
- Redell, J. B., Moore, A. N., Ward, N. H., Hergenroeder, G. W., and Dash, P. K. (2010). Human traumatic brain injury alters plasma microRNA levels. J. Neurotrauma 27, 2147–2156.
- Robison, A. J., and Nestler, E. J. (2011). Transcriptional and epigenetic mechanisms of addiction. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 12, 623–637.
- Rodríguez-Paredes, M., and Esteller, M. (2011). Cancer epigenetics reaches mainstream oncology. *Nat. Med.* 17, 330–339.
- Ron, D., and Messing, R. O. (2011). Signaling pathways mediating alcohol effects. *Curr. Top. Behav. Neurosci.* doi:10.1007/7854_2011_161. [Epub ahead of print].
- Russo, S. J., Mazei-Robison, M. S., Ables, J. L., and Nestler, E. J. (2009). Neurotrophic factors and structural plasticity in addiction. *Neuropharmacology* 56(Suppl. 1), 73–82.
- Saba, L. M., Bennett, B., Hoffman, P. L., Barcomb, K., Ishii, T., Kechris, K., and Tabakoff, B. (2011). A systems genetic analysis of alcohol drinking by mice, rats and men: influence of brain GABAergic transmission. *Neuropharmacology* 60, 1269–1280.
- Saiz, P. A., Garcia-Portilla, M. P., Florez, G., Corcoran, P., Arango, C., Morales, B., Leza, J. C., Alvarez, S.,

Díaz, E. M., Alvarez, V., Coto, E., Nogueiras, L., and Bobes, J. (2009). Polymorphisms of the IL-1 gene complex are associated with alcohol dependence in Spanish Caucasians: data from an association study. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 33, 2147–2153.

- Sathyan, P., Golden, H. B., and Miranda, R. C. (2007). Competing interactions between micro-RNAs determine neural progenitor survival and proliferation after ethanol exposure: evidence from an ex vivo model of the fetal cerebral cortical neuroepithelium. J. Neurosci. 27, 8546–8557.
- Sato, F., Tsuchiya, S., Meltzer, S. J., and Shimizu, K. (2011). MicroRNAs and epigenetics. *FEBS J.* 278, 1598–1609.
- Schaefer, A., O'Carroll, D., Tan, C. L., Hillman, D., Sugimori, M., Llinas, R., and Greengard, P. (2007). Cerebellar neurodegeneration in the absence of microRNAs. *J. Exp. Med.* 204, 1553–1558.
- Schratt, G. (2009). microRNAs at the synapse. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 10, 842–849.
- Schratt, G. M., Tuebing, F., Nigh, E. A., Kane, C. G., Sabatini, M. E., Kiebler, M., and Greenberg, M. E. (2006). A brain-specific microRNA regulates dendritic spine development. *Nature* 439, 283–289.
- Sessoms-Sikes, S., Honse, Y., Lovinger, D. M., and Colbran, R. J. (2005). CaMKIIalpha enhances the desensitization of NR2Bcontaining NMDA receptors by an autophosphorylation-dependent mechanism. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 29, 139–147.
- Siegel, G., Obernosterer, G., Fiore, R., Oehmen, M., Bicker, S., Christensen, M., Khudayberdiev, S., Leuschner, P. F., Busch, C. J., Kane, C., Hübel, K., Dekker, F., Hedberg, C., Rengarajan, B., Drepper, C., Waldmann, H., Kauppinen, S., Greenberg, M. E., Draguhn, A., Rehmsmeier, M., Martinez, J., and Schratt, G. M. (2009). A functional screen implicates microRNA-138-dependent regulation of the depalmitoylation enzyme APT1 in dendritic spine morphogenesis. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 11, 705–716.
- Simon, D. J., Madison, J. M., Conery, A. L., Thompson-Peer, K. L., Soskis, M., Ruvkun, G. B., Kaplan, J. M., and Kim, J. K. (2008). The MicroRNA miR-1 regulates a MEF-2-dependent retrograde signal at neuromuscular junctions. *Cell* 133, 903–915.
- Smalheiser, N. R., and Lugli, G. (2009). microRNA regulation of synaptic

plasticity. *Neuromolecular Med.* 11, 133–140.

- Sonkoly, E., Ståhle, M., and Pivarcsi, A. (2008). MicroRNAs and immunity: novel players in the regulation of normal immune function and inflammation. *Semin. Cancer Biol.* 18, 131–140.
- Sonkoly, E., Wei, T., Janson, P. C. J., Sääf, A., Lundeberg, L., Tengvall-Linder, M., Norstedt, G., Alenius, H., Homey, B., Scheynius, A., Ståhle, M., and Pivarcsi, A. (2007). MicroR-NAs: novel regulators involved in the pathogenesis of psoriasis. *PLoS ONE* 2, e610. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0000610
- Sutton, M. A., and Schuman, E. M. (2006). Dendritic protein synthesis, synaptic plasticity, and memory. *Cell* 127, 49–58.
- Taganov, K. D., Boldin, M. P., Chang, K.-J., and Baltimore, D. (2006). NF-kappaB-dependent induction of microRNA miR-146, an inhibitor targeted to signaling proteins of innate immune responses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 12481–12486.
- Taqi, M. M., Bazov, I., Watanabe, H., Sheedy, D., Harper, C., Alkass, K., Druid, H., Wentzel, P., Nyberg, F., Yakovleva, T., and Bakalkin, G. (2011). Prodynorphin CpG-SNPs associated with alcohol dependence: elevated methylation in the brain of human alcoholics. *Addict. Biol.* 16, 499–509.
- Taraskina, A. E., Filimonov, V. A., Kozlovskaya, Y. A., Morozova, M. N., Gaschin, D. V., and Schwarzman, A. L. (2008). High level of alpha-synuclein mRNA in peripheral lymphocytes of patients with alcohol dependence syndrome. *Bull. Exp. Biol. Med.* 146, 609–611.
- Triantafilou, M., and Triantafilou, K. (2002). Lipopolysaccharide recognition: CD14, TLRs and the LPSactivation cluster. *Trends Immunol.* 23, 301–304.
- Tsai, H.-C., and Baylin, S. B. (2011). Cancer epigenetics: linking basic biology to clinical medicine. *Cell Res.* 21, 502–517.
- Tsuruta, T., Kozaki, K.-I., Uesugi, A., Furuta, M., Hirasawa, A., Imoto, I., Susumu, N., Aoki, D., and Inazawa, J. (2011). miR-152 is a tumor suppressor microRNA that is silenced by DNA hypermethylation in endometrial cancer. *Cancer Res.* 71, 6450–6462.
- Turner, M. L., Schnorfeil, F. M., and Brocker, T. (2011). MicroRNAs regulate dendritic cell differentiation

and function. J. Immunol. 187, 3911–3917.

- Vallés, S. L., Blanco, A. M., Pascual, M., and Guerri, C. (2004). Chronic ethanol treatment enhances inflammatory mediators and cell death in the brain and in astrocytes. *Brain Pathol.* 14, 365–371.
- Varambally, S., Cao, Q., Mani, R.-S., Shankar, S., Wang, X., Ateeq, B., Laxman, B., Cao, X., Jing, X., Ramnarayanan, K., Brenner, J. C., Yu, J., Kim, J. H., Han, B., Tan, P., Kumar-Sinha, C., Lonigro, R. J., Palanisamy, N., Maher, C. A., and Chinnaiyan, A. M. (2008). Genomic loss of microRNA-101 leads to overexpression of histone methyltransferase EZH2 in cancer. *Science* 322, 1695–1699.
- Vasudevan, S., and Steitz, J. A. (2007). AU-rich-element-mediated upregulation of translation by FXR1 and argonaute 2. *Cell* 128, 1105–1118.
- Vasudevan, S., Tong, Y., and Steitz, J. A. (2007). Switching from repression to activation: microRNAs can up-regulate translation. *Science* 318, 1931–1934.
- Wang, L.-L., Zhang, Z., Li, Q., Yang, R., Pei, X., Xu, Y., Wang, J., Zhou, S. F., and Li, Y. (2009). Ethanol exposure induces differential microRNA and target gene expression and teratogenic effects which can be suppressed by folic acid supplementation. *Hum. Reprod.* 24, 562–579.
- Wang, W. C. H., Juan, A. H., Panebra, A., and Liggett, S. B. (2011). MicroRNA let-7 establishes expression of β 2-adrenergic receptors and dynamically down-regulates agonist-promoted down-regulation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 6246–6251.
- Weiner, H. L., and Selkoe, D. J. (2002). Inflammation and therapeutic vaccination in CNS diseases. *Nature* 420, 879–884.
- Wellner, U., Schubert, J., Burk, U. C., Schmalhofer, O., Zhu, F., Sonntag, A., Waldvogel, B., Vannier, C., Darling, D., zur Hausen, A., Brunton, V. G., Morton, J., Sansom, O., Schüler, J., Stemmler, M. P., Herzberger, C., Hopt, U., Keck, T., Brabletz, S., and Brabletz, T. (2009). The EMT-activator ZEB1 promotes tumorigenicity by repressing stemness-inhibiting microRNAs. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 11, 1487–1495.
- White, F., and Wilson, N. (2010). Opiate-induced hypernociception and chemokine receptors. *Neuropharmacology* 58, 35–37.

- Wong, C. C. Y., Mill, J., and Fernandes, C. (2011). Drugs and addiction: an introduction to epigenetics. *Addiction* 106, 480–489.
- World Health Organization. (2011). Global Status Report on Alcohol and Health (Geneva: WHO Press), 1–85.
- Xiao, Q., Ye, S., Oberhollenzer, F., Mayr, A., Jahangiri, M., Willeit, J., Kiechl, S., and Xu, Q. (2008). SDF1 gene variation is associated with circulating SDF1alpha level and endothelial progenitor cell number: the Bruneck Study. *PLoS ONE* 3, e4061. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0004061
- Yadav, S., Pandey, A., Shukla, A., Talwelkar, S. S., Kumar, A., Pant, A. B., and Parmar, D. (2011). miR-497 and miR-302b regulate ethanol-induced neuronal cell death through BCL2 protein and cyclin D2. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 37347–37357.
- Yakovleva, T., Bazov, I., Watanabe, H., Hauser, K. F., and Bakalkin, G. (2011). Transcriptional control of maladaptive and protective responses in alcoholics: a role of the NF-κB system. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 25(Suppl. 1), S29–S38.
- Zhao, J. L., Rao, D. S., Boldin, M. P., Taganov, K. D., O'Connell, R. M., and Baltimore, D. (2011). NFkappaB dysregulation in microRNA-146a-deficient mice drives the development of myeloid malignancies. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 9184–9189.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 07 February 2012; accepted: 09 March 2012; published online: 03 April 2012.

Citation: Nunez YO and Mayfield RD (2012) Understanding alcoholism through microRNA signatures in brains of human alcoholics. Front. Gene. **3**:43. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00043

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Non-Coding RNA, a specialty of Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2012 Nunez and Mayfield. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.

Big (sequencing) future of non-coding RNA research for the understanding of cocaine

Da-Yu Wu*

Division of Basic Neuroscience and Behavior Research, National Institute on Drug Abuse, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA *Correspondence: wudy@nida.nih.gov

Edited by:

Andre Pietrzykowski, Rutgers University, USA

Reviewed by:

Andre Pietrzykowski, Rutgers University, USA

Recent advancement in genomic and genetic sequencing technology has ushered in a new era in which unprecedented amount of genomic sequence and transcript sequence data with extraordinary detail can be generated at incredibly short time. As part of this advancement, the approaches that utilize the powerful next generation sequencing technology, such as RNA-Seq, may have dramatically changed the field of non-coding RNA (ncRNA) research. Since these new approaches do not require prior knowledge of annotated transcripts for probes, theoretically the entire transcriptome of a given sample can be sequenced. This enables the detection of novel transcripts, including both protein coding and ncRNA, as well as RNA with somatic mutations and alternative splicing forms (Trapnell et al., 2009, 2010; Au et al., 2010; Griffith et al., 2010). Before this recent technological advancement, in the more traditional approaches for ncRNA studies, such as using RNA microarray technology, prior sequence knowledge of ncRNA in a cell, tissue, or an organism is required to first generate the microarray. Known RNA and RNA variants of a sample are then hybridized to the array, detected, quantified, and analyzed, while unknown RNA or RNA variants remain undetected and unanalyzed. This is especially limiting for the studying of many classes of ncRNA, such as long ncRNA (lncRNA, which are ncRNA that are longer than 200 nucleotides), due to somatic mutations, epigenetic consequences, and the possibility of secondary structures that longer RNA often take (Wang and Chang, 2011; Mercer et al., 2012; Moran et al., 2012). Some additional advantages of RNA-Seq that have been reported in studying protein coding transcripts, including the capability of detecting high dynamic range of gene expression level, and its high precision and high reproducibility

(Marioni et al., 2008; Mane et al., 2009; Bradford et al., 2010; Chen et al., 2010; Twine et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2012), will likely further ratify this new trend of ncRNA research. Nevertheless, currently microarray is still a valid technology for RNA studies in many other aspects, for its speed, specificities for targeted probing, and its low cost. For example, since statistically 5% of genes give rise to 75% of housekeeping transcripts, much effort is required in RNA-Seq to filter out high abundance transcripts before one can piece together and quantify the interested lower abundance transcripts in a typical RNA sample. Cost is another limiting factor for the migration to RNA-Seq. A typical RNA-Seq run can cost a few thousands, while a typical run for a targeted high throughput microarray costs around hundreds in dollar amount. In the foreseeable future, microarray and RNA-Seq may co-exist and each provides its own aspects of advantage.

If the size of human genome truly reflects the evolution pressure and practical genomic requirements for biological function and survival, one may conclude that the number of genes we have studied and all the facts we have discovered on genes and gene regulation is just the tip of an iceberg, because merely 1.5-2% of nucleotide (nt) bases in the human genome are transcribed into genes that code for proteins (Wolfsberg et al., 2001; The ENCODE Project Consortium, 2007), which has been the main research emphasis for genetic research for the last several decades. With the advancement of modern technologies, including RNA-Seq and microarray technology, it is clear that new information on genomes, transcripts, and their regulation will increase exponentially in the coming decades (Schulz et al., 2008; Zerbino et al., 2012). How to manage, mine, and comprehend these large data will

be a real challenge. Meantime the reward can be high and the effort may be well justifiable, considering the likely impact the new knowledge will have on disease research and treatment.

A prominent member of ncRNA in brain function and psychiatric disorder is microRNA (miRNA), which is believed to be the transcripts of 1-3% of the human genome. miRNA is highly involved in brain development and plasticity at the neuronal level (Kapsimali et al., 2007; Choi et al., 2008; Cheng et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2010; Shi et al., 2010; also see reviews by Saba and Schratt, 2010; Konopka et al., 2011; Im and Kenny, 2012). This ncRNA regulates gene expression through RNA interference, RNA degradation, DNA methylation, and chromatin remodeling. As reviewed by two articles in this special issue from Kenny and Mains groups, recent discoveries of miRNA function and mechanisms in cocaine addiction have demonstrated important roles of ncRNA in this psychiatric disorder. For example, in the dorsal striatum, miR-212 was upregulated in rats addicted to cocaine and this upregulation enhances miR-212 regulated CREB signaling and counters the motivational property of cocaine (Hollander et al., 2010). Further studies found this specific function of miR-212 involves its negative homeostatic interaction with transition of acquizition period of addiction to compulsive-like increase of craving of cocaine. The downstream signaling pathway is further revealed in the same study to be through the controlling of BDNF levels in dorsal striatum (Im et al., 2010). Corroborative evidence of cocaine induced various miRNA expression and their functional role in cocaine addiction have also emerged in more and more other laboratories, complementing many aspects of our understanding (Nudelman et al., 2010; Schaefer et al., 2010; Chandrasekar and Dreyer, 2011; Eipper-Mains et al., 2011). Particularly remarkable in one of these studies is that, using RNA-Seq approaches, cocaine is found to both upregulate and downregulate specific miRNA or family of miRNA (Eipper-Mains et al., 2011). While similar findings have been reported earlier in the nervous system (Vo et al., 2005; Krol et al., 2010; Nudelman et al., 2010), this RNA-Seq study is the first comprehensive analysis of cocaine induced changes of miRNA, and has demonstrated the advantage of next generation sequencing technology over microarray technology, which is often weakened by cross hybridization and high background signal, and critically limited by its prerequisite of prior knowledge of ncRNA identity it analyzes.

A much less tapped area in ncRNA research for the understanding of addiction of cocaine, or other substances of abuse, is the lncRNA; Wapinski and Chang, 2011; Huang et al., 2012; Jeggari et al., 2012; Moran et al., 2012. IncRNA are those ncRNA that are longer than 200 nucleotides and are oftentimes transcripts of intergenic regions between transcription clusters, or "foci," in the genome. Some earlier projects identified around 35,000 long non-coding transcripts from estimated 10,000 distinct loci in mammalian genome, often bearing signatures of protein coding mRNA, such as 5' capping, splicing, and poly adenylation, but have no apparent open reading frame (ORF) for protein translation (Carninci, 2005, 2006; Kapranov et al., 2010). Remarkably, many more lncRNA may exist but not recognized due to the fact that the majority of lncRNA transcripts may not be poly adenylated (Cheng et al., 2005; Carninci, 2006; Kapranov et al., 2010), while many of the transcripts detection approaches rely on first hybridizing the poly adenylated region. Functionally, lncRNA have been found to have roles in epigenetic regulation, imprinting, and X-chromosome inactivation, in addition to regulation of gene transcription and translation (Mercer et al., 2009; Wang and Chang, 2011; Wapinski and Chang, 2011; Harries, 2012; Huang et al., 2012; Moran et al., 2012). Consequently, lncRNA may play significant roles in cocaine addiction. Indeed, it is likely that future work will identified high numbers of lncRNA in brain areas of the putative learning-reward-addiction neural

circuits such as nucleus accumbens, and will likely shed light on important involvement of lncRNA in these brain regions for reward and addiction. How genetic and epigenetic factors interact with these lncRNA, and how changes were brought upon these lncRNA by brain activities, in terms of lncRNA mutation, expression level, dynamics, and function, may provide significant insights on the mechanisms of cocaine addiction. Because substance abuse and dependence involves substantial gene-environment interactions and epigenetic factors, the capability of RNA-Seq in detecting novel gene variations and de novo gene mutations also provides valuable and necessary tools for the addiction research field.

The complexity and abundance of ncRNA, especially lncRNA, mandate advanced non-traditional, large scale and high throughput transcript sequencing, and analysis. While microarray technology enjoys established base and proven utility, the next generation sequencing technology represented by RNA-Seq emerges as the future choice approach for the task because of its unbiased coverage of the entire transcriptome of the genome. In addition, RNA-Seq allows versatile experimental design for sequencing depth and adjustable detection sensitivity, using machines of different throughputs and multiplexing different numbers of samples on a sequencing lane. Furthermore, the inherited benefit of RNA-Seq (Mane et al., 2009; Bradford et al., 2010; Chen et al., 2011; Eipper-Mains et al., 2011; also see reviews in this issue), including low background noise, low error rate and low technical variance, the high accuracy of the digital nature, and the capability of detecting novel transcripts and alternative splicing forms, will definitely benefit not only ncRNA analysis, but all other forms of RNA research as well. All these will greatly enable researchers in the field of substance abuse and dependence for future discoveries and breakthroughs.

REFERENCES

- Au, K. F., Jiang, H., Lin, L., Xing, Y., and Wong, W. H. (2010). Detection of splice junctions from pairedend RNA-seq data by SpliceMap. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 38, 4570–4578.
- Bradford, J. R., Hey, Y., Yates, T., Li, Y., Pepper, S. D., Crispin, J., and Miller, C. J. (2010). A comparison of massively parallel nucleotide sequencing with oligonucleotide microarrays for global transcription profiling. *BMC Genet.* 11, 282. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-11-282

Carninci, P. (2006). Tagging mammalian transcription complexity. *Trends Genet.* 22, 501–510.

Carninci, P., Kasukawa, T., Katayama, S., Gough, J., Frith, M. C., Maeda, N., Oyama, R., Ravasi, T., Lenhard, B., Wells, C., Kodzius, R., Shimokawa, K., Bajic, V. B., Brenner, S. E., Batalov, S., Forrest, A. R. R., Zavolan, M., Davis, M. J., Wilming, L. G., Aidinis V., Allen, J. E., Ambesi-Impiombato, A., Apweiler, R., Aturaliya, R. N., Bailey, T. L., Bansal, M., Baxter, L., Beisel, K. W., Bersano, T., Bono, H., Chalk, A. M., Chiu, K. P., Choudhary, V., Christoffels, A., Clutterbuck, D. R., Crowe, M. L., Dalla, E., Dalrymple, B. P., de Bono, B., Della Gatta, G., di Bernardo, D., Down, T., Engstrom, P., Fagiolini, M., Faulkner, G., Fletcher, C. F., Fukushima, T., Furuno, M., Futaki, S., Gariboldi, M., Georgii-Hemming, P., Gingeras, T. R., Gojobori, T., Green, R. E., Gustincich, S., Harbers, M., Havashi, Y., Hensch, T. K., Hirokawa, N., Hill, D., Huminiecki, L., Iacono, M., Ikeo, K., Iwama, A., Ishikawa, T., Jakt, M., Kanapin, A., Katoh, M., Kawasawa, Y., Kelso, J., Kitamura, H., Kitano, H., Kollias, G., Krishnan, S. P., Kruger, A., Kummerfeld, S. K., Kurochkin, I. V., Lareau, L. F., Lazarevic, D., Lipovich, L., Liu, J., Liuni, S., McWilliam, S., Madan Babu, M., Madera, M., Marchionni, L., Matsuda, H., Matsuzawa, S., Miki, H., Mignone, F., Miyake, S., Morris, K., Mottagui-Tabar, S., Mulder, N., Nakano, N., Nakauchi, H., Ng, P., Nilsson, R., Nishiguchi, S., Nishikawa, S., Nori, F., Ohara, O., Okazaki, Y., Orlando, V., Pang, K. C., Pavan, W. J., Pavesi, G., Pesole, G., Petrovsky, N., Piazza, S., Reed, J., Reid, J. F., Ring, B. Z., Ringwald, M., Rost, B., Ruan, Y., Salzberg, S. L., Sandelin, A., Schneider, C., Schönbach, C., Sekiguchi, K., Semple, C. A., Seno, S., Sessa, L., Sheng, Y., Shibata, Y., Shimada, H., Shimada, K., Silva, D., Sinclair, B., Sperling, S., Stupka, E., Sugiura, K., Sultana, R., Takenaka, Y., Taki, K., Tammoja, K., Tan, S. L., Tang, S., Taylor, M. S., Tegner, J., Teichmann, S. A., Ueda, H. R., van Nimwegen, E., Verardo, R., Wei, C. L., Yagi, K., Yamanishi, H., Zabarovsky, E., Zhu, S., Zimmer, A., Hide, W., Bult, C., Grimmond, S. M., Teasdale, R. D., Liu, E. T., Brusic, V., Quackenbush, J., Wahlestedt, C., Mattick, J. S., Hume, D. A., Kai, C., Sasaki, D., Tomaru, Y., Fukuda, S., Kanamori-Katayama, M., Suzuki, M., Aoki, J., Arakawa, T., Iida, J., Imamura, K., Itoh, M., Kato, T., Kawaji, H., Kawagashira, N., Kawashima, T., Kojima, M., Kondo, S., Konno, H., Nakano, K., Ninomiya, N., Nishio, T., Okada, M., Plessy, C., Shibata, K., Shiraki, T., Suzuki, S., Tagami, M., Waki, K., Watahiki, A., Okamura-Oho, Y., Suzuki, H., Kawai, J., and Hayashizaki, Y. (2005). The transcriptional landscape of the mammalian genome. Science 309, 1559-1563

- Chandrasekar, V., and Dreyer, J. L. (2011). Regulation of MiR-124, Let-7d, and MiR-181a in the accumbens affects the expression, extinction, and reinstatement of cocaine-induced conditioned place preference. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 36, 1149–1164.
- Chen, H., Liu, Z., Gong, S., Wu, X., Taylor, W. L., Williams, R. W., Matta, S. G., and Sharp, B. M. (2011). Genomewide gene expression profiling of nucleus accumbens neurons projecting to ventral pallidum using both microarray and transcriptome sequencing. *Front. Neurosci.* 5:98. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2011.00098
- Chen, S., Yang, P., Jiang, F., Wei, Y., Ma, Z., and Kang, L. (2010). De novo analysis of transcriptome dynamics in the migratory locust during the development of phase traits. *PLoS One* 5, e15633. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0015633

- Cheng, J., Kapranov, P., Drenkow, J., Dike, S., Brubaker, S., Patel, S., Long, J., Stern, D., Tammana, H., Helt, G., Sementchenko, V., Piccolboni, A., Bekiranov, S., Bailey, D. K., Ganesh, M., Ghosh, S., Bell, I., Gerhard, D. S., and Gingeras, T. R. (2005). Transcriptional maps of 10 human chromosomes at 5-nucleotide resolution. *Science* 308, 1149–1154.
- Cheng, L. C., Pastrana, E., Tavazoie, M., and Doetsch, F. (2009). miR-124 regulates adult neurogenesis in the subventricular zone stem cell niche. *Nat. Neurosci.* 12, 399–408.
- Choi, P. S., Zakhary, L., Choi, W. Y., Caron, S., Alvarez-Saavedra, E., Miska, E. A., McManus, M., Harfe, B., Giraldez, A. J., Horvitz, H. R., Schier, A. F., and Dulac, C. (2008). Members of the miRNA-200 family regulate olfactory neurogenesis. *Neuron* 57, 41–55.
- Eipper-Mains, J. E., Kiraly, D. D., Palakodeti, D., Mains, R. E., Eipper, B. A., and Graveley, B. R. (2011). micro-RNA-Seq reveals cocaine-regulated expression of striatal microRNAs. *RNA* 17, 1529–1543.
- Griffith, M., Griffith, O. L., Mwenifumbo, J., Goya, R., Morrissy, A. S., Morin, R. D., Corbett, R., Tang, M. J., Hou, Y. C., Pugh, T. J., Robertson, G., Chittaranjan, S., Ally, A., Asano, J. K., Chan, S. Y., Li, H. I., McDonald, H., Teague, K., Zhao, Y., Zeng, T., Delaney, A., Hirst, M., Morin, G. B., Jones, S. J., Tai, I. T., and Marra, M. A. (2010). Alternative expression analysis by RNA sequencing. *Nat. Methods* 7, 843–847.
- Harries, L. (2012). Long non-coding RNAs and human disease. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 40, 902–906.
- Hollander, J. A., Im, H. I., Amelio, A. L., Kocerha, J., Bali, P., Lu, Q., Willoughby, D., Wahlestedt, C., Conkright, M. D., and Kenny, P. J. (2010). Striatal microRNA controls cocaine intake through CREB signaling. *Nature* 466, 197–202.
- Huang, Y., Liu, N., Wang, J. P., Wang, Y. Q., Yu, X. L., Wang, Z. B., Cheng, X. C., and Zou, Q. (2012). Regulatory long non-coding RNA and its functions. *J. Physiol. Biochem.* PMID: 22535282. [Epub ahead of print].
- Im, H. I., Hollander, J. A., Bali, P., and Kenny, P. J. (2010). MeCP2 controls BDNF expression and cocaine intake through homeostatic interactions with micro-RNA-212. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13, 1120–1127.
- Im, H. I., and Kenny, P. J. (2012). MicroRNAs in neuronal function and dysfunction. *TINS* 35, 325–334.
- Jeggari, A., Marks, D. S., and Larsson, E. (2012). miRcode: a map of putative microRNA target sites in the long noncoding transcriptome. *Bioinformatics* 28, 2062–2063.
- Kapranov, P., St Laurent, G., Raz, T., Ozsolak, F., Reynolds, C. P., Sorensen, P. H., Reaman, G., Milos, P., Arceci, R. J., Thompson, J. F., and Triche, T. J. (2010). The majority of total nuclear-encoded non-ribosomal RNA in a human cell is "dark matter" un-annotated RNA. *BMC Biol.* 8, 149. doi: 10.1186/1741-7007-8-149
- Kapsimali, M., Kloosterman, W. P., de Bruijn, E., Rosa, F., Plasterk, R. H. A., and Wilson, S. W. (2007). MicroRNAs show a wide diversity of expression

profiles in the developing and mature central nervous system. *Genome Biol.* 8, R173.

- Konopka, W., Schtz, G., and Kaczmarek, L. (2011). The microRNA contribution to leaning and memory. *Neuroscientist* 17, 468–474.
- Krol, J., Busskamp, V., Markiewicz, I., Stadler, M. B., Ribi, S., Richter, J., Duebel, J., Bicker, S., Fehling, H. J., Schübeler, D., Oertner, T. G., Schratt, G., Bibel, M., Roska, B., and Filipowicz, W. (2010). Characterizing light-regulated retinal microRNAs reveals rapid turnover as a common property of neuronal microRNAs. *Cell* 141, 618–631.
- Liu, C., Teng, Z. Q., Santistevan, N. J., Szulwach, K. E., Guo, W., Jin, P., and Zhao, X. (2010). Epigenetic regulation of miR-184 by MBD1 governs neural stem cell proliferation and differentiation. *Cell Stem Cell* 6, 433–444.
- Mane, S. P., Evans, C., Cooper, K. L., Crasta, O. R., Folkerts, O., Hutchison, S. K., Harkins, T. T., Thierry-Mieg, D., Thierry-Mieg, J., and Jensen, R. V. (2009). Transcriptome sequencing of the Microarray Quality Control (MAQC) RNA reference samples using next generation sequencing. *BMC Genomics* 10, 264. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-10-264
- Marioni, J. C., Mason, C. E., Mane, S. M., Stephens, M., and Gilad, Y. (2008). RNA-seq: an assessment of technical reproducibility and comparison with gene expression arrays. *Genome Res.* 18, 1509–1517.
- Mercer, T. R., Dinger, M. E., and Mattick, J. S. (2009). Long non-coding RNAs: insights into functions. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 10, 155–159.
- Mercer, T. R., Gerhardt, D. J., Dinger, M. E., Crawford, J., Trapnell, C., Jeddeloh, J. A., Mattick, J. S., and Rinn, J. L. (2012). Targeted RNA sequenciung reveals the deep complexity of the human transcriptome. *Nat. Biotech.* 30, 99–104.
- Moran, V. A., Perera, R. J., and Khalil, A. M. (2012). Emerging functional and mechanistic paradigms of mammalian long non-coding RNAs. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2012, 1–12.
- Nudelman, A. S., DiRocco, D. P., Lambert, T. J., Garelick, M. G., Le, J., Nathanson, N. M., and Storm, D. R. (2010). Neuronal activity rapidly induces transcription of the CREB-regulated microRNA-132, in vivo. *Hippocampus* 20, 492–498.
- Saba, R., and Schratt, G. M. (2010). MicroRNAs in neuronal development, function and dysfunction. *Brain Res.* 1338, 3–13.
- Schaefer, A., Im, H. I., Veno, M. T., Fowler, C. D., Min, A., Intrator, A., Kjems, J., Kenny, P. J., O'Carroll, D., and Greengard, P. (2010). Argonaute 2 in dopamine 2 receptor-expressing neurons regulates cocaine addiction. *J. Exp. Med.* 207, 1843–1851.
- Schulz, M. H., Zerbino, D. R., Vingron, M., and Birney, E. (2008). Oases: robust de novo RNA-seq assembly across the dynamic range of expression levels. *Bioinformatics* 28, 1086–1092.

- Shi, Y., Zhao, X., Hsieh, J., Wichterle, H., Impey, S., Banerjee, S., Neveu, P., and Kosik, K. S. (2010). MicroRNA regulation of neural stem cells and neurogenesis. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 14931–14936.
- The ENCODE Project Consortium. (2007). Identification and analysis of functional elements in 1% of the human genome by the ENCODE pilot project. *Nature* 447, 799–816.
- Trapnell, C., Pachter, L., and Salzberg, S. L. (2009). TopHat: discovering splice junctions with RNA-Seq. *Bioinformatics* 25, 1105–1111.
- Trapnell, C., Williams, B. A., Pertea, G., Mortazavi, A., Kwan, G., van Baren, M. J., Salzberg, S. L., Wold, B. J., and Pachter, L. (2010). Transcript assembly and quantification by RNA-Seq reveals unannotated transcripts and isoform switching during cell differentiation. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 28, 511–515.
- Twine, N. A., Janitz, K., Wilkins, M. R., and Janitz, M. (2011). Whole transcriptome sequencing reveals gene expression and splicing differences in brain regions affected by Alzheimer's disease. *PLoS ONE* 6, e16266. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0016266
- Vo, N., Klein, M. E., Varlamova, O., Keller, D. M., Yamamoto, T., Goodman, R. H., and Impey, S. (2005). A cAMP-response element binding protein-induced microRNA regulates neuronal morphogenesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 16426–16431.
- Wang, K. C., and Chang, H. Y. (2011). Molecular mechanisms of long non-coding RNAs. *Mol. Cell* 43, 904–914.
- Wapinski, O., and Chang, H. Y. (2011). Long non-coding RNAs and human disease. *Trends Cell Biol.* 21, 354–361.
- Wolfsberg, T. G., McEntyre, J., and Schuler, G. D. (2001). Guide to the draft human genome. *Nature* 409, 824–826.
- Zerbino, D. R., Paten, B., and Haussler, D. (2012). Integrating genomes. *Science* 336, 179–182.
- Zhang, L. Q., Cheranova, D., Gibson, M., Ding, S., Daniel, P., Heruth, D. P., Fang, D., and Ye, S. Q. (2012). RNA-seq reveals novel transcriptome of genes and their isoforms in human pulmonary microvascular endothelial cells treated with thrombin. *PLoS ONE7*, e31229. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0031229

Received: 01 August 2012; accepted: 05 August 2012; published online: 03 September 2012

Citation: Wu D.-Y. (2012) Big (sequencing) future of noncoding RNA research for the understanding of cocaine. Front. Gene. **3**:158. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00158

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Non-Coding RNA, a specialty of Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2012 Wu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.

Global approaches to the role of miRNAs in drug-induced changes in gene expression

Jodi E. Eipper-Mains¹, Betty A. Eipper^{2,3} and Richard E. Mains²*

¹ Department of Genetics and Developmental Biology, University of Connecticut Health Center, Farmington, CT, USA

² Department of Neuroscience, University of Connecticut Health Center, Farmington, CT, USA

³ Department of Molecular, Microbial and Structural Biology, University of Connecticut Health Center, Farmington, CT, USA

Edited by:

Ashok Sharma, Georgia Health Sciences University, USA

Reviewed by:

Timothy Bowen, Cardiff University School of Medicine, UK Ashok Sharma, Georgia Health Sciences University, USA Navjotsingh Pabla, California Institute of Technology, USA Melanie Carless, Texas Biomedical Research Institute, USA

*Correspondence:

Richard E. Mains, Department of Neuroscience, University of Connecticut Health Center, 263 Farmington Avenue, Farmington, CT 06030-3401, USA. e-mail: mains@nso.uchc.edu

Neurons modulate gene expression with subcellular precision through excitation-coupled local protein synthesis, a process that is regulated in part through the involvement of microRNAs (miRNAs), a class of small non-coding RNAs. The biosynthesis of miRNAs is reviewed, with special emphasis on miRNA families, the subcellular localization of specific miRNAs in neurons, and their potential roles in the response to drugs of abuse. For over a decade, DNA microarrays have dominated genome-wide gene expression studies, revealing widespread effects of drug exposure on neuronal gene expression. We review a number of recent studies that explore the emerging role of miRNAs in the biochemical and behavioral responses to cocaine. The more powerful next-generation sequencing technology offers certain advantages and is supplanting microarrays for the analysis of complex transcriptomes. Next-generation sequencing is unparalleled in its ability to identify and quantify low-abundance transcripts without prior sequence knowledge, facilitating the accurate detection and quantification of miRNAs expressed in total tissue and miRNAs localized to postsynaptic densities (PSDs). We previously identified cocaine-responsive miRNAs, synaptically enriched and depleted miRNA families, and confirmed cocaineinduced changes in protein expression for several bioinformatically predicted target genes. The miR-8 family was found to be highly enriched and cocaine-regulated at the PSD, where its members may modulate expression of cell adhesion molecules. An integrative approach that combines mRNA, miRNA, and protein expression profiling in combination with focused single gene studies and innovative behavioral paradigms should facilitate the development of more effective therapeutic approaches to treat addiction.

Keywords: cocaine, RNA-Seq, postsynaptic density, cell adhesion, miR-8, microRNAs, synaptic plasticity

miRNAs – ESSENTIAL BACKGROUND

microRNAs (miRNAs) are a class of endogenous 21-25 nucleotide small RNAs that modulate gene expression through binding to complementary sequences in the 3'-untranslated regions (3'-UTRs) of target mRNAs (Kim et al., 2009). Based on their sequences, the 672 annotated mouse miRNAs (http://www.mirbase.org) can be grouped into 253 families; there are over 1000 miRNAs in humans, and several human miRNAs not yet officially recognized in the mouse genome have been identified (Henry et al., 2011). Family members share a common seven to eight nucleotide (nt) seed sequence at their 5'-end and are thought to interact with the same target genes; the sequences of the five members of the miR-8 family are shown in Figure 1. Although miRNAs have only been intensively studied for the last decade, their role in regulating gene expression is now widely accepted. One to 3% of the genome is devoted to miRNAs, which are typically found in clusters in intergenic regions (Mongroo and Rustgi, 2010; Henry et al., 2011; Law and Wong, 2011). About a quarter of the known miRNAs occur within the introns of genes encoding proteins (hence "mirtrons"), in which case expression of the miRNAs is controlled by expression of the "host" gene (Mongroo and Rustgi, 2010; Law and Wong, 2011). Hundreds of miRNAs are

expressed in the mature mammalian brain (Lagos-Quintana et al., 2002; Krichevsky et al., 2003; Miska et al., 2004; Landgraf et al., 2007), where they are involved in the control of synapse development and neuronal plasticity (Banerjee et al., 2009; Schratt, 2009b; Siegel et al., 2011). The binding of multiple miRNAs to sites in the 3'-UTR of a target gene can repress translation or cause mRNA degradation (Figure 1), with only a partial match required to alter translation. MicroRNAs are thought to target more than half of mRNAs encoded in the genome, with any one miRNA binding up to several thousand target mRNAs. Since any given target mRNA may have binding sites for over a 100 miRNAs, a consortium of miRNAs work together to regulate the translational rate and stability of that target mRNA (Mongroo and Rustgi, 2010; Henry et al., 2011; Law and Wong, 2011; Li and van der Vaart, 2011; Siegel et al., 2011). MicroRNAs mediate their effects on protein expression when packaged into the RNA-induced silencing complex? (RISC) along with several important proteins (Figure 1).

In the biogenesis of mature miRNAs, long primary miRNA (pri-miRNA) transcripts encoding a single miRNA or a cluster of miRNAs are first cleaved into shorter preliminary miRNA (pre-miRNA) hairpins by a complex of Drosha, an RNase III, and the cofactor DGCR8 (DiGeorge syndrome critical region gene 8;



Figure 2A). About half of mammalian miRNA loci encode multiple miRNAs and are transcribed as a polycistronic transcript (Kim et al., 2009); 65 miRNA clusters encompass 45% (300) of all miRNA genes scattered throughout the mouse genome. Once cleaved from the pri-miRNA, the \sim 70 nucleotide pre-miRNA is exported from the nucleus by Exportin-5. The pre-miRNA is then cleaved by Dicer, another RNase III enzyme, in complex with TRBP (HIV transactivating response RNA-binding protein or TARBP2) to make an approximately 22 nt duplex RNA. One strand of the double stranded intermediate (miRNA/miRNA* duplex) is then loaded into an Argonaute protein to form the RISC complex (Kim et al., 2009; Ender and Meister, 2010; Esteller, 2011; Figure 2A). The red sequence represents the mature or "guide" miRNA while the blue sequence is the "star" or "passenger" strand, which is often degraded when not loaded into a RISC. The mature miRNA/RISC targets the 3'-UTR of target mRNAs and regulates protein translation from or stability of the target mRNAs (Guo et al., 2010; Mongroo and Rustgi, 2010; Law and Wong, 2011).

Each fully assembled RISC contains an Argonaute protein (AGO1-4 in human and mouse), an enzyme similar to RNase H (Song et al., 2004), which cleaves the RNA strand of RNA-DNA hybrids. RISC also includes TRBP, the RNA helicase MOV10, a single mature miRNA, and several additional proteins (Höck and Meister, 2008; Banerjee et al., 2009; Vo et al., 2010; De and MacRae, 2011). The RISC interacts with target mRNAs via complementary base pairing interactions specified by the miRNA sequence (**Figure 2B**). AGO2 is the only catalytically active AGO family member in humans and mice; it has endonuclease ("slicer") activity and the ability to cleave target mRNAs (Kim et al., 2009). Mutant, catalytically inactive AGO2 silences translation as well as active AGO2 (Broderick et al., 2011).

miRNAs AND THEIR EMERGING ROLE IN ALCOHOL AND DRUG ABUSE

miRNAs likely participate in long-lasting forms of synaptic plasticity through the modulation of regulatory pathways that involve controlled dendritic mRNA trafficking, excitation-coupled modulation of synaptic mRNA translation, alterations to the actin cytoskeleton, neurotransmitter metabolism, and peptide hormone processing (Schratt, 2009a). They play an important role in the local control of dendritic morphology through fine-tuning translation of synaptically localized mRNAs (Schratt, 2009b). miRNAs are implicated in the pathophysiology of a variety of neuropsychiatric disorders and mental retardation syndromes, including Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease (Conn et al., 2005), Huntington's disease (Martí et al., 2010), schizophrenia (Beveridge et al., 2010; Santarelli et al., 2011), bipolar disorder (Moreau et al., 2011), alcoholism (Lewohl et al., 2011), Fragile X mental retardation (Li and Jin, 2009), and Rett syndrome (Urdinguio et al., 2010; Wu et al., 2010).

A particularly intriguing example of the coordinated manner in which miRNAs alter function comes from an analysis of the effects of alcohol on expression of miR-9, the most prevalent miRNA in the nucleus accumbens (NAc; Pietrzykowski et al., 2008; Treistman and Martin, 2009; Eipper-Mains et al., 2011). Expression of the BK channel, a large conductance Ca²⁺ and voltage-activated K⁺ channel that plays a major role in neuronal excitability, responds to alcohol in a region-specific manner and is known to play a key role in alcohol tolerance. Exposure of striatal cultures to alcohol results in a rapid (15 min) decrease in BK mRNA levels, with loss of specific splice variants. This is due to an alcohol-induced increase in miR-9 expression, which results in degradation of BK splice variants that contain a miR-9 binding site in their 3'-UTR (Pietrzykowski et al., 2008; Treistman and Martin, 2009). The remaining BK variants are those least affected by the presence of alcohol.

Several recent studies have investigated the role of miRNAs and AGO2 in biochemical and behavioral responses to cocaine (Chandrasekar and Dreyer, 2009, 2011; Hollander et al., 2010; Im et al., 2010; Schaefer et al., 2010; Saba et al., 2012). Using qPCR and *in situ* analysis of bioinformatically determined miRNAs, *let-7d*, *miR-124*, and *miR-181a* were identified as cocaine-regulated in rats (Chandrasekar and Dreyer, 2009, 2011). Brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) expression declined in response to expression of *miR-124* while expression of *let-7d* diminished expression of a dopamine receptor (*Drd3*). Using lentiviral vectors to over-express



FIGURE 2 | miRNA biogenesis and gene silencing. (A) Transcription of a miRNA gene yields a capped, polyadenylated Pri-miRNA shown undergoing cleavage (red arrowheads) by Drosha (top, left). Transcription of a miRNA cluster yields a transcript encoding multiple miRNAs (top, right), each of which must be cleaved into a Pre-miRNA by Drosha. The mature or "guide" miRNA is shown in red, with the "star" or "passenger" strand shown in blue. Nuclear export of the Pre-miRNA requires Exportin-5. Cleavage of the Pre-miRNA by DICER (red arrowheads) generates a mature guide and star strand duplex; cleavage occurs in a protein complex that includes DICER, an Argonaute protein (AGO1-4), MOV10, TRBP, and additional proteins such as

MacRae, 2011). The star strand is lost from the final RISC and ultimately degraded, while the assembled RISC is available to bind to cognate RNAs and modulate protein expression. **(B)** *Imperfect base complementarity.* When the sequence of the miRNA guide strand does not perfectly match the target mRNA, translation of that mRNA is inhibited. Bound RISCs may contain any one of the four Argonaute proteins. The orange ball is the cap-binding complex; the large and small ribosomal subunits are shown in yellow. *Perfect base complementarity.* When the sequence of the miRNA guide strand matches the target mRNA perfectly, the target mRNA guide strand

or silence these same miRNAs in the NAc, their role in the ability of rats to exhibit conditioned place preference for cocaine was demonstrated (Chandrasekar and Dreyer, 2009, 2011). Expression of the GluA2 subunit of the AMPA receptor is diminished by the binding of *miR-181a* to a site in its 3'-UTR (Saba et al., 2012).

Two studies by the Kenny group demonstrated induction of *miR-132* and *miR-212* in dorsal striatum after 7 days of cocaine self-administration in rats and implicate *miR-212* in the behavioral and motivational response to cocaine through CREB, MeCP2,

and BDNF signaling (Hollander et al., 2010; Im et al., 2010). In addition, Schaefer et al. (2010) identified an overlapping subset of cocaine-induced and AGO2-knockdown-depleted miRNAs in the NAc neurons that express the *Drd2* dopamine receptor. Depletion of AGO2 from *Drd2*-expressing neurons resulted in reduced cocaine self-administration. In a different study, array screens were used to identify 32 miRNAs whose expression increased in a similar manner in multiple regions of the mouse brain in response to repeated injections of nicotine, cocaine, or amphetamine (Lippi
et al., 2011); when these miRNAs were compared to miRNAs up-regulated at the time of synaptogenesis, the *miR-29a/b* and *miR-182/183* clusters were singled out. The ability of *miR-29a/b* to reduce mushroom spine formation in primary hippocampal neurons was then associated with its ability to diminish the expression of *Arpc3*, a component of the ARP2/3 actin nucleation complex (Lippi et al., 2011).

In addition to miRNA array analyses of postmortem brains from human alcoholics and controls (Lewohl et al., 2011), arrays have been used to identify subsets of miRNAs affected by alcohol treatment of primary mouse neuronal cultures and human neuroblastoma cell lines (Yadav et al., 2011; Guo et al., 2012). Similarly, studies targeted at specific miRNAs have been used to study the actions of morphine and other opiates in model systems such as primary neuronal cultures, neuronal cell lines, and developing zebrafish embryos (Wu et al., 2009; He et al., 2010; Sanchez-Simon et al., 2010; Zheng et al., 2010).

Together, these studies demonstrate that miRNA-mediated gene regulation plays an important role in the complex effects that chronic exposure to cocaine or other drugs of abuse have on the nervous system. However, each of these studies was targeted to a small number of candidate miRNAs or used microarrays, which are limited by cross-hybridization, high background signal, low dynamic range, and the inability to identify unknown miRNAs (Metzker, 2010). Newly developed next-generation sequencing approaches provide a more complete picture of drug-induced changes in both mRNA and miRNA expression.

SYSTEM-WIDE ANALYSIS OF GENE EXPRESSION: THE ADVANTAGES OF SEQUENCING

DNA microarrays have dominated genome-wide studies of gene expression for more than a decade, but next-generation sequencing methods are rapidly becoming the method of choice for the analysis of complex transcriptomes (Graveley, 2008). Microarrays have been instrumental in the interrogation and profiling of DNA-protein interactions, identification of single-nucleotide polymorphisms, and comparative analyses of mRNA expression (Shendure, 2008). However, microarrays are limited in a number of ways that next-generation sequencing is not. Since microarrays rely on base complementarity between the probe and the mRNA or cDNA, the technology is prone to artifacts of cross-hybridization of highly homologous genes or isoforms (Metzker, 2010). Microarrays contain a pre-defined set of oligonucleotide probes designed using existing gene annotations for organisms with known genome sequences (Graveley, 2008), whereas sequencing facilitates the identification and absolute quantification of low-abundance transcripts without prior knowledge of the sequence (Cloonan et al., 2008; Mortazavi et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2009b; Metzker, 2010). The sequencing approach has a low background because of the unambiguous nature of sequence mapping and has increased sensitivity for low-abundance transcripts (Graveley, 2008; Wang et al., 2009b). Additionally, sequencing enables the detection and investigation of alternative splicing (Cloonan et al., 2008; Mortazavi et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2008a), imprinting and allele specific expression (Wang et al., 2008b), sequence variation (Wang et al., 2009b), and RNA editing (Wahlstedt et al., 2009) much more easily and robustly than microarrays. Finally, microarrays provide far

less data than current next-generation sequencing technologies, which can produce gigabases (10^9 nucleotides) of sequence from a single experiment, enabling detection of very minor transcripts (Graveley, 2008).

DNA sequencing began in earnest in 1975 (Maxam and Gilbert, 1977; Sanger et al., 1977), but the first truly high-throughput sequencing device was not introduced until the 1990s by Lynx Therapeutics. Massively parallel signature sequencing of mRNAs employed microbead arrays and involved in vitro cloning of cDNA templates on a monolayer of slide-fixed microscopic beads, producing "signature" sequences ranging from 16 to 20 nucleotides in length (Brenner et al., 2000). In 2005, two new methods of next-generation sequencing were introduced: pyrosequencing, or "sequencing-by-synthesis," which detects pyrophosphate release on nucleotide incorporation (Margulies et al., 2005), and multiplex "sequencing-by-ligation" of mate-paired polymerase colonies "polonies"; Shendure et al., 2005). In 2006, Solexa introduced the Genome Analyzer, which provided up to 1 gigabase (Gb) of sequence in a single sequencing run, and in 2007, Illumina acquired Solexa, and its sequencers can generate up to 600 Gb of sequence per run (Illumina, 2011). Rapid sequencing research has exploded, as evidenced by the exponential increase in publications in the past few years, increasing from 20 papers in 2005 to nearly 1600 papers in 2011.

Next-generation sequencing of RNA requires the preparation of libraries (**Figure 3**); 1 mg of total RNA is sufficient to purify the small RNA population and prepare a library for miRNA sequencing. For sequencing of miRNAs, total RNA from tissue (such as NAc) or a subcellular fraction (such as postsynaptic densities, PSD) is subjected to size selection; gel purification can be used to isolate 18–35 nt RNAs. Adaptors are ligated to the 5' and then 3' ends, and then the RNAs are reverse transcribed and amplified by polymerase chain reaction (PCR). PCR products are then gel purified and sequenced for 40–50 cycles. The adaptor sequences are trimmed from the reads, and data are then aligned with annotated miRNAs (for example, from miRBase).

High-throughput sequencing of RNA is an extremely powerful tool, but it is not without limitations. The density of sequence reads varies along the length of a transcript, indicating the existence of sequence bias at some point during the library preparation or sequencing process (Fu et al., 2009; Oshlack and Wakefield, 2009). There are data showing an under-representation of AT-rich and GC-rich regions in Illumina RNA-Seq data, which is likely attributable to sequence bias during the reverse transcription and amplification steps of library preparation (Hansen et al., 2010; Levin et al., 2010; Metzker, 2010). Strand-specific sequencing, in which the sequencing adapters are ligated to the RNA fragment prior to amplification, may show a more even distribution of aligning reads along the length of the gene; this method, however, requires additional manipulation of highly labile RNA prior to its conversion to more stable cDNA (Ozsolak and Milos, 2011). Other difficulties of traditional RNA-Seq include issues of quantifying very low-abundance transcripts, problems with profiling repetitive regions of the genome, and trouble in quantifying small RNAs and RNA with a short half-life (Ozsolak and Milos, 2011). Next-next-generation (third generation) sequencing, in which single molecules are sequenced without prior amplification, is



considered the future of the sequencing field (Ozsolak and Milos, 2011; Hayden, 2012).

Challenges accompany the rapidly improving technology and accumulation of datasets containing vast amounts of information. Many biologists struggle to make scientific sense of the data at hand, while many computer scientists are not equipped with the biology training to tackle the relevant questions on their own. A growing number of tools are available to assist in the analysis of high-throughput datasets, including packages for sequence alignment (Langmead et al., 2009), *de novo* genome and transcriptome assembly (Trapnell et al., 2010), analysis of alternative splicing (Trapnell et al., 2009), functional category assessment, and identification of signaling pathway enrichment (Kanehisa and Goto, 2000; Dennis et al., 2003; Thomas et al., 2003; Li et al., 2008). At present, few "user friendly" and fully customizable packages exist for the comprehensive analysis of sequencing data.

PICKING THE SYSTEM TO STUDY

Abundant evidence, from both animals and humans, identifies the limbic system as the convergence point for the actions of all drugs of abuse (Koob and Le Moal, 2001; Nestler, 2001, 2005b; Di Chiara, 2002; Volkow et al., 2004; Wise, 2004). The mesocorticolimbic dopamine pathway, which involves a subset of all limbic structures, is activated by normal physiologic rewards such as food, drink, social interaction, and sex (Wise, 1996, 2002; Nestler, 2005a). This system includes dopaminergic projections from the ventral tegmental area (VTA) to the NAc and prefrontal cortex (PFC) as well as glutamatergic projections from the PFC to the NAc (Kauer and Malenka, 2007; Figure 4A). Although drugs of abuse originate from a diverse array of chemical classes and have a variety of different primary targets, their effects all ultimately converge on the dopamine neurons of the VTA (Wolf, 2006). Other neurotransmitters, including γ-aminobutyric acid (GABA), opioid peptides, serotonin, acetylcholine, and endogenous cannabinoids, are also involved in the signaling of addiction (Spangler et al., 1996; Hyman and Malenka, 2001; Ross and Peselow, 2009). The convergence of these myriad signaling systems has led many to hypothesize that the NAc is the key integration point in the rewarding effects seen with drugs of abuse (Nestler and Aghajanian, 1997; Berke and Hyman, 2000; Kalivas et al., 2005; Nestler, 2005b; Hyman et al., 2006).

Neurons modulate gene expression with subcellular precision; polyribosomes and mRNAs are found at the base of dendritic spines and are involved in localized protein synthesis (Rao and Steward, 1991; Kiebler and DesGroseillers, 2000). Individual synapses may act independently in the local control of excitationcoupled protein translation (Schratt, 2009b; Zukin et al., 2009). The morphological changes that occur in dendritic spines as a result of synaptic activity cannot occur without de novo protein synthesis, and a blockade of protein synthesis blunts formation of long-term memory (Schratt, 2009b). Modulating synthesis of selected synaptic proteins gives neurons the ability to fine-tune and integrate extracellular cues at single dendrites or at individual, specified synapses (Wang et al., 2009a). Subcellular fractionation is an important technique that enables the differentiation of events occurring at the synapse from those occurring in the cell soma. Despite the complex interactions between presynaptic endings and their target receptors on dendritic spines (Figure 4B), PSDenriched fractions can be prepared and allow identification of postsynaptically enriched components.

miRNAs are known to play a role in modulating localized translation of mRNAs in dendrites (Kim et al., 2004). Localization of the miRNA processing enzyme DICER and the RISC component AGO2 to the PSD in mouse cortical and hippocampal slices by electron microscopy supports the possibility of local regulation (Lugli et al., 2005). Further studies identified the RISC component and RNA helicase MOV10 (homologous to Drosophila Armitage) at the synapse and established a role for RNA-induced silencing in the control of synaptic gene expression, learning, and memory (Ashraf et al., 2006; Banerjee et al., 2009; Vo et al., 2010). Through its effects on LIMK1, *miR-134*, which is synapto-dendritically localized, plays a role in the activity-dependent regulation of spine size (Schratt et al., 2006; Siegel et al., 2011). Similarly, *miR-132* and *miR-138* play a role in dendritic remodeling and synaptogenesis (Wayman et al., 2008; Siegel et al., 2009).

Sensitization is the progressive and persistent amplification of behavioral and motivational responses to a fixed dose of drug (Berke and Hyman, 2000; Hyman et al., 2006). It persists for weeks, months, and years after cessation of drug taking and is thought to play an important role in the risk of a reformed addict for relapse to drug taking behavior (Paulson et al., 1991; Castner and Goldman-Rakic, 1999; Robinson and Berridge, 2001). We therefore exposed adult male mice to a treatment paradigm (eight daily intraperitoneal injections of cocaine or saline) that reliably yielded locomotor sensitization before harvesting tissue for library preparation (**Figure 4C**). We harvested NAc 24 h after the final injection of saline or cocaine and constructed small miRNA-Seq libraries for miRNA analysis (Eipper-Mains et al., 2011).

In order to identify miRNAs localized to synapses, we prepared another cohort of saline-injected and cocaine sensitized mice; 24 h after the final injection, we purified PSD from their striata and isolated the total RNA associated with this fraction (**Figure 4B**; Eipper-Mains et al., 2011). While NAc was used to analyze the total miRNA population, striatum was used to ensure availability of sufficient PSD RNA. Sequencing libraries were prepared and analyzed as outlined in **Figure 3** (Eipper-Mains et al., 2011). As methods for library preparation improve, it will be possible to work with RNA purified from even smaller brain regions.

Sequence analysis identifies all of the RNAs present in a given sample (**Figure 5**). While miRNAs accounted for over 70% of the reads in the NAc libraries, they accounted for slightly under half of the reads in the PSD libraries. Sequences mapping to rRNAs and tRNAs were about five-times more prevalent in the PSD libraries than in the NAc libraries. Sequences that mapped to the transcriptome accounted for about 15% of the reads in both types of sample and most likely represent products of mRNA degradation isolated during size selection. Although minor components, snoR-NAs, snRNAs, and SINE (short interspersed element) are present and their sequences can also be analyzed.

miRNA-Seq analysis identifies the exact miRNA species present (Figure 6). As shown in Figure 2, the opposite ends of each miRNA are generated by Drosha and DICER. While the major miR-375 sequence identified corresponded to that predicted, multiple miR-182 and miR-212-3p species (isomirs) were found in all four libraries; of note, levels of both miR-182 and miR-212-3p had previously been identified as cocaine-responsive (Hollander et al., 2010; Im et al., 2010; Lippi et al., 2011). This heterogeneity has important consequences when comparing miRNA-Seq data with microarray and gPCR data, since miRNA-Seq can unambiguously identify many sequences as belonging to one miRNA (e.g., miR-212-3p), while qPCR and microarrays will miss most of the variants. For miRNAs with a single major species which conforms to the accepted annotation (e.g., miR-375), the agreement across methods should be much better, enabling firm comparisons of RNA-Seq with qPCR data (Eipper-Mains et al., 2011). Tools for analysis include websites such as http://www.microrna.org and http://www.targetscan.org.



FIGURE 4 | (A) Medium spiny neurons (MSN), which use y-NH₂-butyric acid (GABA) as their major transmitter, are the primary cell type in the nucleus accumbens (NAc). Some MSNs express mostly the D1 dopamine receptor while others express primarily the D2 dopamine receptor. Dopamine released from the endings of dopaminergic neurons in the ventral tegmental area (VTA) signals through both types of receptor, affecting the activation of adenylate cyclase (AC); reuptake of dopamine by the dopamine transporter (DAT) is blocked by cocaine. MSNs receive excitatory inputs from glutamatergic neurons in the prefrontal cortex (PFC), hippocampus, and amygdala. Activation of AMPA and NMDA receptors localized to the spine-studded dendrites of MSNs leads to the influx of Ca²⁺ and activation of CaMKII. In addition, MSNs are responsive to various neuropeptides, which bind to G-protein coupled receptors such as the κ -opioid receptor (κ OR). (B) Standard procedures have been developed to purify postsynaptic densities (PSDs) from tissue homogenates; miRNAs enriched at the PSD are thought to allow local regulation of mRNA translation and stability. The electron micrograph (7 week

mouse hippocampus) illustrates the complex system from which PSDs must be purified: presynaptic terminals can be recognized by their content of synaptic vesicles; PSDs are closely apposed to the presynaptic endings. (C) Sensitization to the locomotor stimulating effects of cocaine requires repeated exposure to the drug. Adult mice typically are typically given 10-20 mg cocaine/kg; locomotor activity (ambulations) is monitored for the next 30 min in an activity chamber with infrared light sensors. "Sal" is the average locomotor data for all mice given saline initially and the mice given saline throughout; Coc1 are data for mice give 10 mg/kg cocaine on day 1; Coc2 and Coc7 are data from days 2 and 7 for mice given 20 mg/kg cocaine daily for days 2-7; Coc8 are the data for the cocaine treated mice given 10 mg/kg on day 8; substantial locomotor sensitization is apparent compared to Coc1. Tissue harvested soon after drug administration allows analysis of the immediate response, while tissue harvested 24 h after final drug administration allows evaluation of the steady state response. N = 10 each for saline and cocaine



FIGURE 5 | Identity of mapped miRNA sequences in NAc and PSD libraries. Adaptor sequences were trimmed from the extracted sequence data. Bowtie (version 0.12.7; Langmead et al., 2009) was used to align sequences 18–30 nt in length to the miRBase annotated mouse microRNA database (version 16; Griffiths-Jones et al., 2006, 2008); perfect alignment was required. The Rfam, Repbase, and NON-CODE databases were used to

GLOBAL ANALYSIS REVEALS ROLE FOR miRNA CLUSTERS

AND FAMILIES In a tour de force, Lagos-Quintana et al. (2002) cloned hundreds of miRNAs from the cortex, cerebellum, and midbrain of 18.5-weekold mice. One year later, microarray technology was used to study regulation of miRNAs during neuronal development (Krichevsky et al., 2003). We chose to use ultra-high-throughput sequencing of miRNAs with the overarching goal of attaining a more complete picture of the response of the brain to chronic cocaine exposure (Eipper-Mains et al., 2011). Previous genome-wide characterizations of drug-induced gene expression focused on mRNA transcripts rather than miRNAs, were carried out using microarray technology, and often looked at other regions of the brain using different experimental paradigms (McClung and Nestler, 2008). The data reviewed here represent the first look at striatal miRNA synaptic enrichment and cocaine-regulation by deep sequencing.

Eighteen of the synaptically enriched miRNAs identified in our analysis are members of genomic miRNA clusters. For both the total lysate and PSD samples, the expression patterns of the clustered miRNAs are quite similar across the entire cluster. Especially instructive examples of clusters include the *miR-8* family clusters on chromosomes 4 and 6 (*miR-429/200a/b* and *miR-141/200c*), the*let-7* family cluster on the X chromosome (*let-7f/miR-98*) and the clusters for *miR-1/133a* (chromosome 2), *miR-182/96/183*(chromosome 6), and *miR-216a/217*(chromosome 11; **Figure 7**). In contrast, little concordance is seen across the large *miR-379-410* cluster, in which only *miR-485* is synaptically enriched (**Figure 7**).

Lugli and colleagues used microarrays to identify the subcellular localization of mature and precursor miRNAs in adult (2-month-old) mouse cortex and hippocampus. They found that synaptically enriched miRNAs were primarily expressed in evolutionarily newer species (Lugli et al., 2008). We compared our synaptic enrichment ratios to this earlier data set, revealing significant overlap between the most synaptically enriched and synaptically depleted miRNAs in our striatal samples and the previous hippocampal and cortical samples (Eipper-Mains et al., 2011). Importantly, most of the *miR-8* family (*miR-200a/b/c/429*) are markedly enriched in both datasets. In addition, *miR-182* and identify sequences that aligned with annotated non-coding and repetitive elements. Sequences were then aligned to the mouse transcriptome (exons, introns, exon–exon junctions) and mouse genome. For non-miRNA alignments, 1-mismatch was allowed. Data (% total reads mapped to each category) for the NAc and PSD libraries from saline-injected animals are shown.

miR-183 are dramatically enriched in PSDs in both datasets. By contrast, miRs-126, -143, -145, -150, and -451 are depleted in both synaptic datasets. A separate study used microarrays to identify synaptosomally enriched and depleted miRNAs from rat P15 total forebrain samples (Siegel et al., 2009). In a direct comparison, miRs-219-5p, -21, -377, -98, -376b, -218, -7a/b, and -29a are synaptically enriched in both datasets, and in both datasets miRs-143, -145, and -150 are depleted. The remarkable extent of agreement between these three datasets, which were obtained using different experimental platforms to analyze synaptically enriched samples prepared in different ways from multiple brain regions taken from animals of different ages, may be emblematic of the preponderance of glutamatergic synapses and additional similar properties in all of these brain regions. Whether the identities and expression levels of miRNAs differ substantially from one synapse to the next, dictated by the local microenvironment, remains to be determined.

Particularly striking was the synaptic enrichment of members of several miRNA clusters (Figure 7). The miR-8 family has been studied most extensively in relation to cancer pathophysiology and has been shown to inhibit the first step of cancer metastasis, the epithelial-mesenchymal transition (Inui et al., 2010). An expression atlas of miRNAs indicates enrichment of all members of the miR-8 family, except miR-429, in endocrine glands and tissues, kidney, and the reproductive system (Landgraf et al., 2007). Expression of this family of miRNAs is thought to maintain the epithelial phenotype through direct targeting of ZEB1 and ZEB2, transcriptional repressors of the cell adhesion molecule ECAD (Inui et al., 2010). Members of the cadherin family of cell surface glycoproteins mediate calcium-dependent cell-cell adhesion and have critical roles in early brain development, axonal outgrowth, and synaptogenesis (Martinek and Gaul, 1997). ECAD is present at the synapse, and antibodies which block homophilic interactions between pre- and postsynaptic ECAD attenuate induction of long-term potentiation (Tang et al., 1998).

Members of the highly conserved *let-7* family of miRNAs, with almost a dozen members in the mammalian genome and key roles in development and cancer suppression (Roush and Slack, 2008; McCarty, 2012), are also highly enriched at the PSD. The *let-7* family is highly expressed in pituitary, hypothalamus, and





FIGURE 7 | miRNA clusters and families. Expression of striatal PSD-enriched miRNAs and other members of each genomic cluster is shown as a heat map; the chromosomal (chr) localization of each cluster is indicated. *Z*-scores were computed using normalized miRNA frequency across all samples: blue, low expression; yellow,

high expression. miRNA families are indicated by text color; PSD-enriched miRNAs are indicated by bold; miRNAs not enriched at striatal PSDs and/or not belonging to the listed miR families are shown in gray italic. Reproduced from Eipper-Mains et al. (2011) with permission. pancreatic islets (Landgraf et al., 2007), and its members play a major role in controlling insulin secretion in response to a glucose load and tissue responsiveness to insulin (Frost and Olson, 2011). The *let-7* family members localized at the PSD may participate in the control of vesicle trafficking and secretion, both of which play essential roles at the synapse. The *miR-183* family has not been studied as extensively, but clearly plays a crucial role in the development and function of sensory cells such as photoreceptors and hair cells (Li et al., 2010; Weston et al., 2011; Zhu et al., 2011).

RESPONSE TO COCAINE

Our finding that PSD levels of AGO2 protein rose in the NAc of mice sensitized to cocaine led to our analysis of the effects of cocaine on miRNA expression and localization (Eipper-Mains et al., 2011). One particularly intriguing pattern emerged from our data analysis: many of the miRNAs that were up-regulated in NAc tissue lysate after chronic cocaine were down-regulated at the synapse. Specifically, members of the *miR-8* family, which were very highly enriched in striatal PSDs, exhibited opposite changes in tissue lysate versus PSDs after cocaine.

As summarized above, several recent studies investigated miRNA regulation in the mesolimbic dopamine system after cocaine administration. The first used qPCR and in situ hybridization of specific bioinformatically identified miRNAs to identify three cocaine-regulated miRNAs in rats receiving cocaine for 15 days, let-7d (decreased in NAc), miR-124 (decreased in NAc and dorsal striatum), and miR-181a (increased in NAc and dorsal striatum; Chandrasekar and Dreyer, 2009). Our data, from mice receiving cocaine for 7 days, indicate no cocaine-regulation of let-7d or miR-124 and a modest increase in miR-181a in NAc lysates (Eipper-Mains et al., 2011). Two related studies identified induction of miR-132 and miR-212 in dorsal striatum after 7 days of cocaine self-administration in rats and implicate miR-212 in the behavioral and motivational response to cocaine through CREB, MeCP2, and BDNF signaling (Hollander et al., 2010; Im et al., 2010). Our data support induction of miR-132 in the NAc and a decrease in miR-132 in striatal PSDs. miR-212, with 10 major isomirs identified using miRNA-Seq (Figure 6), exhibits a complex response to cocaine: tissue levels of three isomirs increase while tissue levels of five isomirs decrease and two are unchanged (Eipper-Mains et al., 2011). In the fourth study, miRNA microarrays were used to identify the overlapping subset of cocaine-induced and AGO2-knockdown-depleted miRNAs in Drd2-expressing neurons of the NAc (Schaefer et al., 2010). Direct comparison of our data to this study is not possible because the experimental paradigms differ so significantly; it is, however, interesting to note that ablation of AGO2 caused a marked reduction in the level of miR-182 (Schaefer et al., 2010), identified in our data as cocaine-regulated and synaptically enriched. Future studies will need to address specific cell-types and subcellular localization of the entire complement of miRNAs, to determine more precisely how miRNAs are involved in the response of the brain to cocaine.

BIOINFORMATICALLY PREDICTED TARGETS

We used an established list (Suzuki et al., 2007) of PSD-enriched mRNAs to identify potential target genes for the 16 most cocaine-regulated synaptically localized miRNAs (Eipper-Mains et al.,

2011). Bioinformatic analysis using miRanda yielded a mirSVR score for each gene. A striking feature of this list was the number of miRNA binding sites predicted for any given transcript. Transcripts encoding metadherin (Mtdh), which is also known as AEG-1 or Lyric, had the most negative mirSVR score, with five sites for PSD-localized miRNAs down-regulated by cocaine and four sites for PSD-localized miRNAs up-regulated by cocaine; sites predicted for each of the PSD-enriched cocaine-regulated miRNAs are shown (**Figure 8A**).

Primarily studied for its role in cancer progression, *Mtdh* is expressed in most tissue types and has been localized to epithelial tight junctions (Hu et al., 2009). Using Western blot analysis, we first documented the presence of metadherin at the PSD, and observed a 42% increase in PSD-localized metadherin protein following chronic cocaine treatment (Eipper-Mains et al., 2011). Ectopic expression of *Mtdh* in primary human fetal astrocytes inhibits expression of the glial high-affinity glutamate transporter (*SLC1A2* or *EAAT2*; Kang et al., 2005). An expanding body of evidence implicates glutamatergic signaling in the response of the brain to cocaine (Kalivas, 2009), and more rapid removal of glutamate from the glutamatergic synapses formed by neurons of the PFC onto the medium spiny neurons of the NAc would be of functional significance.

In addition to *Mtdh*, *Pcdh8* (protocadherin 8; also known as arcadlin for activity-regulated cadherin-like protein), and *Pcdh12* (protocadherin 12) were identified as targets for synaptically localized miRNAs (Eipper-Mains et al., 2011). Expression of *Pcdh8*, which is known to be localized to synapses, is rapidly and transiently increased in response to seizures, and plays a role in long-term potentiation (Yamagata et al., 1999). A comparison of the gene expression profiles in the hippocampus of cocaine addicts versus drug-free age-matched controls identified *PCDH8* in a group of up-regulated genes, many of which are involved in regulating the extracellular matrix (Mash et al., 2007). The role of *Pcdh12* in the brain has not yet been addressed.

Ntrk2, the BDNF receptor or TrkB, was also identified as a potential target for the cocaine-regulated PSD-localized miRNAs; predicted binding sites are shown in **Figure 8A**. Prior studies have shown that the level of TrkB increases in the NAc of rats after chronic cocaine self-administration (Graham et al., 2009) and TrkB-BDNF signaling in the NAc is thought to modulate behavioral responses to cocaine (Lobo et al., 2010). Using an antibody to the BDNF receptor, we found increased expression in striatal PSDs following cocaine treatment (Eipper-Mains et al., 2011).

Two of the predicted miRNA targets, *Pcsk2* (prohormone convertase 2, PC2) and *Penk* (proenkephalin) are part of the peptidergic system, which is known to play multiple roles in addiction; predicted binding sites for cocaine-regulated PSD-enriched miR-NAs are shown in **Figure 8A**. PC2, a Ca²⁺-dependent subtilisinlike endoprotease, is the major prohormone convertase in the brain (Winsky-Sommerer et al., 2000). Expressed at relatively high levels in the striatum, PC2 is a key enzyme in the cleavage of all three opioid precursors, proenkephalin (*Penk*), prodynorphin (*Pdyn*), and proopiomelanocortin (*Pomc*), as well as CART (*Cartpt*, cocaine, and amphetamine-regulated transcript; Pan et al., 2006). Based primarily on studies of neuroendocrine cells, PC2 has been localized to the *trans*-Golgi network and secretory granules.



Peptide-containing secretory granules are found in presynaptic axon terminals and in dendrites, at the base of spines (Winsky-Sommerer et al., 2000). Using Western blots, we confirmed the presence of PC2 at the synapse and demonstrated an increase of 67% in levels of mature PC2 at the synapse after chronic cocaine treatment (Eipper-Mains et al., 2011). PC2 is synthesized with a signal sequence that guides the nascent chain into the lumen of the secretory pathway. The signal sequence is removed co-translationally; proPC2, which is inactive, is activated by an endoproteolytic cleavage that releases an autoinhibitory Nterminal peptide (Helwig et al., 2011). Our data suggest that this entire process can occur in the vicinity of the synapse and may respond in part to synaptic activity.

Penk, another bioinformatically predicted miRNA target, is expressed primarily in the medium spiny neurons that express *Drd2* (Curran and Watson, 1995). *Penk* is involved in the behavioral response to cocaine and its mRNA and peptide levels were known to be cocaine-regulated (Przewlocka and Lason, 1995; Daunais et al., 1997; Crespo et al., 2001). Striatal expression of CART peptides increases after cocaine exposure and is hypothesized to modulate the effects of the enhanced dopaminergic signaling in response to cocaine (Hubert et al., 2008). The increased levels of PC2 could play an essential role in their appearance.

Based on the same bioinformatic analysis, miRNA-regulated expression of Kalirin (Kalrn), a Rho guanine nucleotide exchange factor that regulates dendritic spine morphology and function (Ma et al., 2008), was predicted (Figure 8B). Cocaine-regulated expression of Kalrn is of special interest because of the welldocumented morphological effects of chronic cocaine exposure on the mesolimbic dopaminergic pathway (Wolf, 2006). Increased dendritic spine size and density are observed in the MSNs of mice following both experimenter-administered (Robinson and Kolb, 1997, 1999; Kiraly et al., 2010a,b) and self-administered cocaine (Robinson et al., 2001). Chronic cocaine exposure is known to result in an increase in expression of Kal7, the predominant adult isoform of Kalrn, in the NAc (Kiraly et al., 2010a; Mains et al., 2011), and an increase in Kal7 protein at the PSD (Kiraly et al., 2010a; Mains et al., 2011). Mice lacking Kal7 fail to form additional spines in response to chronic cocaine treatment (Kiraly et al., 2010a; Mains et al., 2011). The 3'-UTR of mouse Kal7 contains multiple predicted binding sites for cocaine-regulated PSD miRNAs (Figure 8B).

NEXT – CONCLUSION; FUTURE STUDIES

The number of studies examining the effects of cocaine on one or a small number of genes still dwarf the number of genome-wide expression studies. These focused studies have revealed widespread changes in multiple neurotransmitter systems (dopamine, glutamate, peptidergic), in proteins controlling cytoskeletal organization and in multiple transcription factors. Examples include several dopamine receptors and the dopamine transporter, a number of ionotropic and metabotropic glutamate receptors, opiate receptors and opiate peptides, other neuropeptides, the synaptic vesicle associated proteins α -synuclein and synaptotagmin, clathrin, signaling pathway protein such as the mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs), calmodulin, and Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinases along with components of the machinery regulating the actin cytoskeleton (Self and Nestler, 1995; Lehrmann et al.,

REFERENCES

- Albertson, D. N., Pruetz, B., Schmidt, C. J., Kuhn, D. M., Kapatos, G., and Bannon, M. J. (2004). Gene expression profile of the nucleus accumbens of human cocaine abusers: evidence for dysregulation of myelin. J. Neurochem. 88, 1211–1219.
- Anderson, S. M., Famous, K. R., Sadri-Vakili, G., Kumaresan, V., Schmidt, H. D., Bass, C. E., Terwilliger, E. F., Cha, J.-H. J., and Pierce, R. C. (2008). CaMKII: a biochemical bridge linking accumbens dopamine and glutamate systems in cocaine seeking. *Nat. Neurosci.* 11, 344–353.
- Ashraf, S. I., McLoon, A. L., Sclarsic, S. M., and Kunes, S. (2006). Synaptic protein synthesis associated with

memory is regulated by the RISC pathway in *Drosophila*. *Cell* 124, 191–205.

- Banerjee, S., Neveu, P., and Kosik, K. S. (2009). A coordinated local translational control point at the synapse involving relief from silencing and MOV10 degradation. *Neuron* 64, 871–884.
- Bannon, M., Kapatos, G., and Albertson, D. (2005). Gene expression profiling in the brains of human cocaine abusers. *Addict. Biol.* 10, 119–126.
- Benavides, D. R., Quinn, J. J., Zhong, P., Hawasli, A. H., DiLeone, R. J., Kansy, J. W., Olausson, P., Yan, Z., Taylor, J. R., and Bibb, J. A. (2007). Cdk5 modulates cocaine reward, motivation,

2003; Mash et al., 2003; McClung and Nestler, 2003; Norrholm et al., 2003; Morabito et al., 2004; Rossman et al., 2005; Benavides et al., 2007; Anderson et al., 2008; Li et al., 2008; Liu et al., 2009; Kiraly et al., 2010a,b; Mains et al., 2011).

A number of comprehensive analyses of cocaine-induced gene expression in animal models and human postmortem brain, primarily using microarray, have been published over the years. Like our global analysis of cocaine-regulated miRNA expression, these studies have further expanded the scope of targets affected by cocaine. In particular, these global approaches have consistently highlighted the effects of cocaine on components of the extracellular matrix, including cadherins, integrins, and matrix metalloproteinases (Lehrmann et al., 2003; Albertson et al., 2004; Bannon et al., 2005; Mash et al., 2007). Particularly appealing is the idea that some of the long-lived effects of cocaine may reflect changes in the extracellular matrix. Drugs designed to target multiple participants in these chronic effects of cocaine may prove to be more effective than drugs targeted to individual intracellular signaling pathways in the treatment of drug abusers.

Knockout and transgenic mouse models have been invaluable for investigations into the behavioral, biochemical, and molecular effects mediated by single genes. It is becoming increasingly clear, however, that the changes that occur as a result of drug abuse are incredibly complex and widespread, affecting multiple brain regions and cell-types in a system-wide manner. These global studies emphasize the broad effects of drug exposure on neuronal gene expression, underscoring the need for an integrative approach that combines mRNA, miRNA, and protein expression profiling in combination with focused single gene studies and innovative behavioral paradigms in the quest to uncover what drives addiction and develop integrated therapeutic approaches. With improved methodologies it will be possible to study the role of miRNAs in specific cell-types in animals self-administering drugs or undergoing withdrawal.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by National Institutes of Health Grants DA-15464, DA-23082, DK-32948, and GM062516. We thank Dr. Brenton R. Graveley for thoughtful comments on the manuscript.

and striatal neuron excitability. J. Neurosci. 27, 12967–12976.

- Berke, J. D., and Hyman, S. E. (2000). Addiction, dopamine, and the molecular mechanisms of memory. *Neuron* 25, 515–532.
- Beveridge, N. J., Gardiner, E., Carroll, A. P., Tooney, P. A., and Cairns, M. J. (2010). Schizophrenia is associated with an increase in cortical microRNA biogenesis. *Mol. Psychiatry* 15, 1176–1189.
- Brenner, S., Johnson, M., Bridgham, J., Golda, G., Lloyd, D. H., Johnson, D., Luo, S., McCurdy, S., Foy, M., Ewan, M., Roth, R., George, D., Eletr, S., Albrecht, G., Vermaas, E., Williams, S. R., Moon, K., Burcham, T., Pallas, M., DuBridge, R. B., Kirchner, J.,

Fearon, K., Mao, J., and Corcoran, K. (2000). Gene expression analysis by massively parallel signature sequencing (MPSS) on microbead arrays. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 18, 630–634.

- Broderick, J. A., Salomon, W. E., Ryder, S. P., Aronin, N., and Zamore, P. D. (2011). Argonaute protein identity and pairing geometry determine cooperativity in mammalian RNA silencing. *RNA* 17, 1858–1869.
- Castner, S. A., and Goldman-Rakic, P. S. (1999). Long-lasting psychotomimetic consequences of repeated low-dose amphetamine exposure in rhesus monkeys. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 20, 10–28.

- Chandrasekar, V., and Dreyer, J.-L. (2009). microRNAs miR-124, let-7d and miR-181a regulate cocaineinduced plasticity. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 42, 350–362.
- Chandrasekar, V., and Dreyer, J.-L. (2011). Regulation of MiR-124, Let-7d, and MiR-181a in the accumbens affects the expression, extinction, and reinstatement of cocaineinduced conditioned place preference. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 36, 1149–1164.
- Cloonan, N., Forrest, A. R. R., Kolle, G., Gardiner, B. B. A., Faulkner, G. J., Brown, M. K., Taylor, D. F., Steptoe, A. L., Wani, S., Bethel, G., Robertson, A. J., Perkins, A. C., Bruce, S. J., Lee, C. C., Ranade, S. S., Peckham, H. E., Manning, J. M., McKernan, K. J., and Grimmond, S. M. (2008). Stem cell transcriptome profiling via massivescale mRNA sequencing. *Nat. Methods* 5, 613–619.
- Conn, P. J., Battaglia, G., Marino, M. J., and Nicoletti, F. (2005). Metabotropic glutamate receptors in the basal ganglia motor circuit. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 6, 787–798.
- Crespo, J. A., Manzanares, J., Oliva, J. M., Corchero, J., Palomo, T., and Ambrosio, E. (2001). Extinction of cocaine self-administration produces a differential time-related regulation of proenkephalin gene expression in rat brain. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 25, 185–194.
- Curran, E. J., and Watson, S. J. (1995). Dopamine receptor mRNA expression patterns by opioid peptide cells in the nucleus accumbens of the rat: a double in situ hybridization study. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 361, 57–76.
- Czech, B., and Hannon, G. J. (2011). Small RNA sorting: matchmaking for Argonautes. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 12, 19–31.
- Daunais, J. B., Nader, M. A., and Porrino, L. J. (1997). Long-term cocaine selfadministration decreases striatal preproenkephalin mRNA in rhesus monkeys. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 57, 471–475.
- De, N., and MacRae, I. J. (2011). Purification and assembly of human Argonaute, Dicer, and TRBP complexes. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 725, 107–119.
- Dennis, G., Sherman, B. T., Hosack, D. A., Yang, J., Gao, W., Lane, H. C., and Lempicki, R. A. (2003). DAVID: database for annotation, visualization, and integrated discovery. *Genome Biol.* 4, P3.
- Di Chiara, G. (2002). Nucleus accumbens shell and core dopamine: differential role in behavior and addiction. *Behav. Brain Res.* 137, 75–114.

- Eipper-Mains, J. E., Kiraly, D. D., Palakodeti, D., Mains, R. E., Eipper, B. A., and Graveley, B. R. (2011). microRNA-Seq reveals cocaineregulated expression of striatal microRNAs. *RNA* 17, 1529–1543.
- Ender, C., and Meister, G. (2010). Argonaute proteins at a glance. *J. Cell. Sci.* 123, 1819–1823.
- Esteller, M. (2011). Non-coding RNAs in human disease. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 12, 861–874.
- Frost, R. J. A., and Olson, E. N. (2011). Control of glucose homeostasis and insulin sensitivity by the Let-7 family of microRNAs. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 21075–21080.
- Fu, X., Fu, N., Guo, S., Yan, Z., Xu, Y., Hu, H., Menzel, C., Chen, W., Li, Y., Zeng, R., and Khaitovich, P. (2009). Estimating accuracy of RNA-Seq and microarrays with proteomics. *BMC Genomics* 10, 161. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-10-161
- Graham, D. L., Krishnan, V., Larson, E. B., Graham, A., Edwards, S., Bachtell, R. K., Simmons, D., Gent, L. M., Berton, O., Bolanos, C. A., DiLeone, R. J., Parada, L. F., Nestler, E. J., and Self, D. W. (2009). Tropomyosinrelated kinase B in the mesolimbic dopamine system: region-specific effects on cocaine reward. *Biol. Psychiatry* 65, 696–701.
- Graveley, B. R. (2008). Molecular biology: power sequencing. *Nature* 453, 1197–1198.
- Griffiths-Jones, S., Grocock, R. J., van Dongen, S., Bateman, A., and Enright, A. J. (2006). miRBase: microRNA sequences, targets and gene nomenclature. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 34, D140–D144.
- Griffiths-Jones, S., Saini, H. K., van Dongen, S., and Enright, A. J. (2008). miRBase: tools for microRNA genomics. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 36, D154–D158.
- Guo, H., Ingolia, N. T., Weissman, J. S., and Bartel, D. P. (2010). Mammalian microRNAs predominantly act to decrease target mRNA levels. *Nature* 466, 835–840.
- Guo, Y., Chen, Y., Carreon, S., and Qiang, M. (2012). Chronic intermittent ethanol exposure and its removal induce a different miRNA expression pattern in primary cortical neuronal cultures. *Alcohol Clin. Exp. Res.* 36, 1058–1066.
- Hansen, K. D., Brenner, S. E., and Dudoit, S. (2010). Biases in Illumina transcriptome sequencing caused by random hexamer priming. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 38, e131.
- Hayden, E. C. (2012). Nanopore genome sequencer

makes its debut. *Nature* doi:10.1038/nature.2012.10051

- He, Y., Yang, C., Kirkmire, C. M., and Wang, Z. J. (2010). Regulation of opioid tolerance by let-7 family microRNA targeting the mu opioid receptor. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 10251–10258.
- Helwig, M., Lee, S.-N., Hwang, J. R., Ozawa, A., Medrano, J. F., and Lindberg, I. (2011). Dynamic modulation of prohormone convertase 2 (PC2)-mediated precursor processing by 7B2 protein: preferential effect on glucagon synthesis. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 42504–42513.
- Henry, J. C., Azevedo-Pouly, A. C. P., and Schmittgen, T. D. (2011). MicroRNA replacement therapy for cancer. *Pharm. Res.* 28, 3030–3042.
- Höck, J., and Meister, G. (2008). The Argonaute protein family. *Genome Biol.* 9, 210.
- Hollander, J. A., Im, H.-I., Amelio, A. L., Kocerha, J., Bali, P., Lu, Q., Willoughby, D., Wahlestedt, C., Conkright, M. D., and Kenny, P. J. (2010). Striatal microRNA controls cocaine intake through CREB signalling. *Nature* 466, 197–202.
- Hu, G., Wei, Y., and Kang, Y. (2009). The multifaceted role of MTDH/AEG-1 in cancer progression. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 15, 5615–5620.
- Hubert, G. W., Jones, D. C., Moffett, M. C., Rogge, G., and Kuhar, M. J. (2008). CART peptides as modulators of dopamine and psychostimulants and interactions with the mesolimbic dopaminergic system. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 75, 57–62.
- Hyman, S. E., and Malenka, R. C. (2001). Addiction and the brain: the neurobiology of compulsion and its persistence. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 2, 695–703.
- Hyman, S. E., Malenka, R. C., and Nestler, E. J. (2006). Neural mechanisms of addiction: the role of reward-related learning and memory. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 29, 565–598.
- Illumina. (2011). Technology: History of Solexa Sequencing. Available at: http://www.illumina.com [accessed May 13, 2011].
- Im, H.-I., Hollander, J. A., Bali, P., and Kenny, P. J. (2010). MeCP2 controls BDNF expression and cocaine intake through homeostatic interactions with microRNA-212. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13, 1120–1127.
- Inui, M., Martello, G., and Piccolo, S. (2010). MicroRNA control of signal transduction. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 11, 252–263.

- Kalivas, P. W. (2009). The glutamate homeostasis hypothesis of addiction. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 10, 561–572.
- Kalivas, P. W., Volkow, N., and Seamans, J. (2005). Unmanageable motivation in addiction: a pathology in prefrontal-accumbens glutamate transmission. *Neuron* 45, 647–650.
- Kanehisa, M., and Goto, S. (2000). KEGG: kyoto encyclopedia of genes and genomes. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 28, 27–30.
- Kang, D.-C., Su, Z.-Z., Sarkar, D., Emdad, L., Volsky, D. J., and Fisher, P. B. (2005). Cloning and characterization of HIV-1-inducible astrocyte elevated gene-1, AEG-1. *Gene* 353, 8–15.
- Kauer, J. A., and Malenka, R. C. (2007). Synaptic plasticity and addiction. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 8, 844–858.
- Kiebler, M. A., and DesGroseillers, L. (2000). Molecular insights into mRNA transport and local translation in the mammalian nervous system. *Neuron* 25, 19–28.
- Kim, J., Krichevsky, A., Grad, Y., Hayes, G. D., Kosik, K. S., Church, G. M., and Ruvkun, G. (2004). Identification of many microRNAs that copurify with polyribosomes in mammalian neurons. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 101, 360–365.
- Kim, V. N., Han, J., and Siomi, M. C. (2009). Biogenesis of small RNAs in animals. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 10, 126–139.
- Kiraly, D. D., Ma, X.-M., Mazzone, C. M., Xin, X., Mains, R. E., and Eipper, B. A. (2010a). Behavioral and morphological responses to cocaine require kalirin7. *Biol. Psychiatry* 68, 249–255.
- Kiraly, D. D., Eipper-Mains, J. E., Mains, R. E., and Eipper, B. A. (2010b). Synaptic plasticity, a symphony in GEF. ACS Chem. Neurosci. 1, 348–365.
- Koob, G. F., and Le Moal, M. (2001). Drug addiction, dysregulation of reward, and allostasis. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 24, 97–129.
- Krichevsky, A. M., King, K. S., Donahue, C. P., Khrapko, K., and Kosik, K. S. (2003). A microRNA array reveals extensive regulation of microRNAs during brain development. *RNA* 9, 1274–1281.
- Lagos-Quintana, M., Rauhut, R., Yalcin, A., Meyer, J., Lendeckel, W., and Tuschl, T. (2002). Identification of tissue-specific microRNAs from mouse. *Curr. Biol.* 12, 735–739.
- Landgraf, P., Rusu, M., Sheridan, R., Sewer, A., Iovino, N., Aravin, A., Pfeffer, S., Rice, A., Kamphorst, A. O., Landthaler, M., Lin, C., Socci, N. D., Hermida, L., Fulci, V., Chiaretti,

S., Foà, R., Schliwka, J., Fuchs, U., Novosel, A., Müller, R.-U., Schermer, B., Bissels, U., Inman, J., Phan, Q., Chien, M., Weir, D. B., Choksi, R., de Vita, G., Frezzetti, D., Trompeter, H.-I., Hornung, V., Teng, G., Hartmann, G., Palkovits, M., di Lauro, R., Wernet, P., Macino, G., Rogler, C. E., Nagle, J. W., Ju, J., Papavasiliou, F. N., Benzing, T., Lichter, P., Tam, W., Brownstein, M. J., Bosio, A., Borkhardt, A., Russo, I. I., Sander, C., Zavolan, M., and Tuschl, T. (2007). A mammalian microRNA expression atlas based on small RNA library sequencing. Cell 129, 1401-1414.

- Langmead, B., Trapnell, C., Pop, M., and Salzberg, S. L. (2009). Ultrafast and memory-efficient alignment of short DNA sequences to the human genome. *Genome Biol.* 10, R25.
- Law, P. T.-Y., and Wong, N. (2011). Emerging roles of microRNA in the intracellular signaling networks of hepatocellular carcinoma. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 26, 437–449.
- Lehrmann, E., Oyler, J., Vawter, M. P., Hyde, T. M., Kolachana, B., Kleinman, J. E., Huestis, M. A., Becker, K. G., and Freed, W. J. (2003). Transcriptional profiling in the human prefrontal cortex: evidence for two activational states associated with cocaine abuse. *Pharmacogenomics J.* 3, 27–40.
- Levin, J. Z., Yassour, M., Adiconis, X., Nusbaum, C., Thompson, D. A., Friedman, N., Gnirke, A., and Regev, A. (2010). Comprehensive comparative analysis of strand-specific RNA sequencing methods. *Nat. Methods* 7, 709–715.
- Lewohl, J. M., Nunez, Y. O., Dodd, P. R., Tiwari, G. R., Harris, R. A., and Mayfield, R. D. (2011). Up-regulation of MicroRNAs in brain of human alcoholics. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 35, 1928–1937.
- Li, C.-Y., Mao, X., and Wei, L. (2008). Genes and (common) pathways underlying drug addiction. *PLoS Comput. Biol.* 4, e2. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.0040002
- Li, H., Kloosterman, W., and Fekete, D. M. (2010). MicroRNA-183 family members regulate sensorineural fates in the inner ear. J. Neurosci. 30, 3254–3263.
- Li, M. D., and van der Vaart, A. D. (2011). MicroRNAs in addiction: adaptation's middlemen? *Mol. Psychiatry* 16, 1159–1168.
- Li, X., and Jin, P. (2009). Macro role(s) of microRNAs in fragile X syndrome? *Neuromolecular Med.* 11, 200–207.
- Lippi, G., Steinert, J. R., Marczylo, E. L., D'Oro, S., Fiore, R., Forsythe, I. D., Schratt, G., Zoli, M., Nicotera, P.,

and Young, K. W. (2011). Targeting of the Arpc3 actin nucleation factor by miR-29a/b regulates dendritic spine morphology. *J. Cell Biol.* 194, 889–904.

- Liu, X.-Y., Mao, L.-M., Zhang, G.-C., Papasian, C. J., Fibuch, E. E., Lan, H.-X., Zhou, H.-F., Xu, M., and Wang, J. Q. (2009). Activity-dependent modulation of limbic dopamine D3 receptors by CaMKII. *Neuron* 61, 425–438.
- Lobo, M. K., Covington, H. E., Chaudhury, D., Friedman, A. K., Sun, H., Damez-Werno, D., Dietz, D. M., Zaman, S., Koo, J. W., Kennedy, P. J., Mouzon, E., Mogri, M., Neve, R. L., Deisseroth, K., Han, M.-H., and Nestler, E. J. (2010). Cell type-specific loss of BDNF signaling minics optogenetic control of cocaine reward. *Science* 330, 385–390.
- Lugli, G., Larson, J., Martone, M. E., Jones, Y., and Smalheiser, N. R. (2005). Dicer and eIF2c are enriched at postsynaptic densities in adult mouse brain and are modified by neuronal activity in a calpaindependent manner. *J. Neurochem.* 94, 896–905.
- Lugli, G., Torvik, V. I., Larson, J., and Smalheiser, N. R. (2008). Expression of microRNAs and their precursors in synaptic fractions of adult mouse forebrain. *J. Neurochem.* 106, 650–661.
- Ma, X.-M., Kiraly, D. D., Gaier, E. D., Wang, Y., Kim, E.-J., Levine, E. S., Eipper, B. A., and Mains, R. E. (2008). Kalirin-7 is required for synaptic structure and function. J. Neurosci. 28, 12368–12382.
- Mains, R. E., Kiraly, D. D., Eipper-Mains, J. E., Ma, X., and Eipper, B. A. (2011). Kalrn promoter usage and isoform expression respond to chronic cocaine exposure. *BMC Neurosci.* 12, 20. doi:10.1186/1471-2202-12-20
- Margulies, M., Egholm, M., Altman, W. E., Attiya, S., Bader, J. S., Bemben, L. A., Berka, J., Braverman, M. S., Chen, Y.-J., Chen, Z., Dewell, S. B., Du, L., Fierro, J. M., Gomes, X. V., Godwin, B. C., He, W., Helgesen, S., Ho, C. H., Ho, C. H., Irzyk, G. P., Jando, S. C., Alenquer, M. L. I., Jarvie, T. P., Jirage, K. B., Kim, J.-B., Knight, J. R., Lanza, J. R., Leamon, J. H., Lefkowitz, S. M., Lei, M., Li, J., Lohman, K. L., Lu, H., Makhijani, V. B., McDade, K. E., McKenna, M. P., Myers, E. W., Nickerson, E., Nobile, J. R., Plant, R., Puc, B. P., Ronan, M. T., Roth, G. T., Sarkis, G. J., Simons, J. F., Simpson, J. W., Srinivasan, M., Tartaro, K. R., Tomasz, A., Vogt, K. A., Volkmer, G. A., Wang, S. H.,

Wang, Y., Weiner, M. P., Yu, P., Begley, R. F., and Rothberg, J. M. (2005). Genome sequencing in microfabricated high-density picolitre reactors. *Nature* 437, 376–380.

- Martí, E., Pantano, L., Bañez-Coronel, M., Llorens, F., Miñones-Moyano, E., Porta, S., Sumoy, L., Ferrer, I., and Estivill, X. (2010). A myriad of miRNA variants in control and Huntington's disease brain regions detected by massively parallel sequencing. Nucleic Acids Res. 38, 7219–7235.
- Martinek, S., and Gaul, U. (1997). Neural development: how cadherins zipper up neural circuits. *Curr. Biol.* 7, R712–R715.
- Mash, D. C., Ffrench-Mullen, J., Adi, N., Qin, Y., Buck, A., and Pablo, J. (2007). Gene expression in human hippocampus from cocaine abusers identifies genes which regulate extracellular matrix remodeling. *PLoS ONE* 2, e1187. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0001187
- Mash, D. C., Ouyang, Q., Pablo, J., Basile, M., Izenwasser, S., Lieberman, A., and Perrin, R. J. (2003). Cocaine abusers have an overexpression of alpha-synuclein in dopamine neurons. J. Neurosci. 23, 2564–2571.
- Maxam, A. M., and Gilbert, W. (1977). A new method for sequencing DNA. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 74, 560–564.
- McCarty, M. F. (2012). Metformin may antagonize Lin28 and/or Lin28B activity, thereby boosting let-7 levels and antagonizing cancer progression. *Med. Hypotheses* 78, 262–269.
- McClung, C. A., and Nestler, E. J. (2003). Regulation of gene expression and cocaine reward by CREB and DeltaFosB. *Nat. Neurosci.* 6, 1208–1215.
- McClung, C. A., and Nestler, E. J. (2008). Neuroplasticity mediated by altered gene expression. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 33, 3–17.
- Metzker, M. L. (2010). Sequencing technologies – the next generation. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 11, 31–46.
- Miska, E. A., Alvarez-Saavedra, E., Townsend, M., Yoshii, A., Sestan, N., Rakic, P., Constantine-Paton, M., and Horvitz, H. R. (2004). Microarray analysis of microRNA expression in the developing mammalian brain. *Genome Biol.* 5, R68.
- Mongroo, P. S., and Rustgi, A. K. (2010). The role of the miR-200 family in epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *Cancer Biol. Ther.* 10, 219–222.
- Morabito, M. A., Sheng, M., and Tsai, L.-H. (2004). Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 phosphorylates the N-terminal

domain of the postsynaptic density protein PSD-95 in neurons. J. Neurosci. 24, 865–876.

- Moreau, M. P., Bruse, S. E., David-Rus, R., Buyske, S., and Brzustowicz, L. M. (2011). Altered MicroRNA expression profiles in postmortem brain samples from individuals with schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *Biol. Psychiatry* 69, 188–193.
- Mortazavi, A., Williams, B. A., McCue, K., Schaeffer, L., and Wold, B. (2008). Mapping and quantifying mammalian transcriptomes by RNA-Seq. *Nat. Methods* 5, 621–628.
- Nestler, E. J. (2001). Molecular basis of long-term plasticity underlying addiction. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 2, 119–128.
- Nestler, E. J. (2005a). The neurobiology of cocaine addiction. *Sci. Pract. Perspect.* 3, 4–10.
- Nestler, E. J. (2005b). Is there a common molecular pathway for addiction? *Nat. Neurosci.* 8, 1445–1449.
- Nestler, E. J., and Aghajanian, G. K. (1997). Molecular and cellular basis of addiction. *Science* 278, 58–63.
- Norrholm, S. D., Bibb, J. A., Nestler, E. J., Ouimet, C. C., Taylor, J. R., and Greengard, P. (2003). Cocaineinduced proliferation of dendritic spines in nucleus accumbens is dependent on the activity of cyclindependent kinase-5. *Neuroscience* 116, 19–22.
- Oshlack, A., and Wakefield, M. J. (2009). Transcript length bias in RNA-seq data confounds systems biology. *Biol. Direct* 4, 14.
- Ozsolak, F., and Milos, P. M. (2011). RNA sequencing: advances, challenges and opportunities. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 12, 87–98.
- Pan, H., Che, F.-Y., Peng, B., Steiner, D. F., Pintar, J. E., and Fricker, L. D. (2006). The role of prohormone convertase-2 in hypothalamic neuropeptide processing: a quantitative neuropeptidomic study. J. Neurochem. 98, 1763–1777.
- Paulson, P. E., Camp, D. M., and Robinson, T. E. (1991). Time course of transient behavioral depression and persistent behavioral sensitization in relation to regional brain monoamine concentrations during amphetamine withdrawal in rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 103, 480–492.
- Pietrzykowski, A. Z., Friesen, R. M., Martin, G. E., Puig, S. I., Nowak, C. L., Wynne, P. M., Siegelmann, H. T., and Treistman, S. N. (2008). Posttranscriptional regulation of BK channel splice variant stability by miR-9 underlies neuroadaptation to alcohol. *Neuron* 59, 274–287.

- Przewłocka, B., and Lason, W. (1995). Adaptive changes in the proenkephalin and D2 dopamine receptor mRNA expression after chronic cocaine in the nucleus accumbens and striatum of the rat. *Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 5, 465–469.
- Rao, A., and Steward, O. (1991). Evidence that protein constituents of postsynaptic membrane specializations are locally synthesized: analysis of proteins synthesized within synaptosomes. J. Neurosci. 11, 2881–2895.
- Robinson, T. E., and Berridge, K. C. (2001). Incentive-sensitization and addiction. Addiction 96, 103–114.
- Robinson, T. E., Gorny, G., Mitton, E., and Kolb, B. (2001). Cocaine selfadministration alters the morphology of dendrites and dendritic spines in the nucleus accumbens and neocortex. *Synapse* 39, 257–266.
- Robinson, T. E., and Kolb, B. (1997). Persistent structural modifications in nucleus accumbens and prefrontal cortex neurons produced by previous experience with amphetamine. J. Neurosci. 17, 8491–8497.
- Robinson, T. E., and Kolb, B. (1999). Alterations in the morphology of dendrites and dendritic spines in the nucleus accumbens and prefrontal cortex following repeated treatment with amphetamine or cocaine. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 11, 1598–1604.
- Ross, S., and Peselow, E. (2009). The neurobiology of addictive disorders. *Clin. Neuropharmacol.* 32, 269–276.
- Rossman, K. L., Der, C. J., and Sondek, J. (2005). GEF means go: turning on RHO GTPases with guanine nucleotide-exchange factors. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 6, 167–180.
- Roush, S., and Slack, F. J. (2008). The let-7 family of microRNAs. *Trends Cell Biol.* 18, 505–516.
- Saba, R., Störchel, P. H., Aksoy-Aksel, A., Kepura, F., Lippi, G., Plant, T. D., and Schratt, G. M. (2012). Dopamineregulated microRNA MiR-181a controls GluA2 surface expression in hippocampal neurons. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 32, 619–632.
- Sanchez-Simon, F. M., Zhang, X. X., Loh, H. H., Law, P.-Y., and Rodriguez, R. E. (2010). Morphine regulates dopaminergic neuron differentiation via miR-133b. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 78, 935–942.
- Sanger, F., Nicklen, S., and Coulson, A. R. (1977). DNA sequencing with chain-terminating inhibitors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 74, 5463–5467.
- Santarelli, D. M., Beveridge, N. J., Tooney, P. A., and Cairns, M. J.

(2011). Upregulation of dicer and microRNA expression in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex Brodmann area 46 in schizophrenia. *Biol. Psychiatry* 69, 180–187.

- Schaefer, A., Im, H.-I., Venø, M. T., Fowler, C. D., Min, A., Intrator, A., Kjems, J., Kenny, P. J., O'Carroll, D., and Greengard, P. (2010). Argonaute 2 in dopamine 2 receptor-expressing neurons regulates cocaine addiction. *J. Exp. Med.* 207, 1843–1851.
- Schratt, G. (2009a). Fine-tuning neural gene expression with microRNAs. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 19, 213–219.
- Schratt, G. (2009b). microRNAs at the synapse. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 10, 842–849.
- Schratt, G. M., Tuebing, F., Nigh, E. A., Kane, C. G., Sabatini, M. E., Kiebler, M., and Greenberg, M. E. (2006). A brain-specific microRNA regulates dendritic spine development. *Nature* 439, 283–289.
- Self, D. W., and Nestler, E. J. (1995). Molecular mechanisms of drug reinforcement and addiction. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 18, 463–495.
- Shendure, J. (2008). The beginning of the end for microarrays? *Nat. Methods* 5, 585–587.
- Shendure, J., Porreca, G. J., Reppas, N. B., Lin, X., McCutcheon, J. P., Rosenbaum, A. M., Wang, M. D., Zhang, K., Mitra, R. D., and Church, G. M. (2005). Accurate multiplex polony sequencing of an evolved bacterial genome. *Science* 309, 1728–1732.
- Siegel, G., Obernosterer, G., Fiore, R., Oehmen, M., Bicker, S., Christensen, M., Khudayberdiev, S., Leuschner, P. F., Busch, C. J. L., Kane, C., Hübel, K., Dekker, F., Hedberg, C., Rengarajan, B., Drepper, C., Waldmann, H., Kauppinen, S., Greenberg, M. E., Draguhn, A., Rehmsmeier, M., Martinez, J., and Schratt, G. M. (2009). A functional screen implicates microRNA-138-dependent regulation of the depalmitoylation enzyme APT1 in dendritic spine morphogenesis. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 11, 705–716.
- Siegel, G., Saba, R., and Schratt, G. (2011). microRNAs in neurons: manifold regulatory roles at the synapse. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* 21, 491–497.
- Song, J.-J., Smith, S. K., Hannon, G. J., and Joshua-Tor, L. (2004). Crystal structure of Argonaute and its implications for RISC slicer activity. *Science* 305, 1434–1437.
- Spangler, R., Ho, A., Zhou, Y., Maggos, C. E., Yuferov, V., and Kreek, M. J. (1996). Regulation of kappa opioid receptor mRNA in the rat brain by

"binge" pattern cocaine administration and correlation with preprodynorphin mRNA. *Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res.* 38, 71–76.

- Suzuki, T., Tian, Q. B., Kuromitsu, J., Kawai, T., and Endo, S. (2007). Characterization of mRNA species that are associated with postsynaptic density fraction by gene chip microarray analysis. *Neurosci. Res.* 57, 61–85.
- Tang, L., Hung, C. P., and Schuman, E. M. (1998). A role for the cadherin family of cell adhesion molecules in hippocampal long-term potentiation. *Neuron* 20, 1165–1175.
- Thomas, P. D., Campbell, M. J., Kejariwal, A., Mi, H., Karlak, B., Daverman, R., Diemer, K., Muruganujan, A., and Narechania, A. (2003). PANTHER: a library of protein families and subfamilies indexed by function. *Genome Res.* 13, 2129–2141.
- Trapnell, C., Pachter, L., and Salzberg, S. L. (2009). TopHat: discovering splice junctions with RNA-Seq. *Bioinformatics* 25, 1105–1111.
- Trapnell, C., Williams, B. A., Pertea, G., Mortazavi, A., Kwan, G., van Baren, M. J., Salzberg, S. L., Wold, B. J., and Pachter, L. (2010). Transcript assembly and quantification by RNA-Seq reveals unannotated transcripts and isoform switching during cell differentiation. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 28, 511–515.
- Treistman, S. N., and Martin, G. E. (2009). BK channels: mediators and models for alcohol tolerance. *Trends Neurosci.* 32, 629–637.
- Urdinguio, R. G., Fernandez, A. F., Lopez-Nieva, P., Rossi, S., Huertas, D., Kulis, M., Liu, C.-G., Croce, C., Calin, G. A., and Esteller, M. (2010). Disrupted microRNA expression caused by Mecp2 loss in a mouse model of Rett syndrome. *Epigenetics* 5, 656–663.
- Vo, N. K., Cambronne, X. A., and Goodman, R. H. (2010). MicroRNA pathways in neural development and plasticity. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 20, 457–465.
- Volkow, N. D., Fowler, J. S., Wang, G.-J., and Swanson, J. M. (2004). Dopamine in drug abuse and addiction: results from imaging studies and treatment implications. *Mol. Psychiatry* 9, 557–569.
- Wahlstedt, H., Daniel, C., Ensterö, M., and Ohman, M. (2009). Largescale mRNA sequencing determines global regulation of RNA editing during brain development. *Genome Res.* 19, 978–986.
- Wang, D. O., Kim, S. M., Zhao, Y., Hwang, H., Miura, S. K.,

Sossin, W. S., and Martin, K. C. (2009a). Synapse- and stimulus-specific local translation during long-term neuronal plasticity. *Science* 324, 1536–1540.

- Wang, Z., Gerstein, M., and Snyder, M. (2009b). RNA-Seq: a revolutionary tool for transcriptomics. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 10, 57–63.
- Wang, E., Sandberg, R., Luo, S., Khrebtukova, I., Zhang, L., Mayr, C., Kingsmore, S., Schroth, G., and Burge, C. (2008a). Alternative isoform regulation in human tissue transcriptomes. *Nature* 456, 470–476.
- Wang, X., Sun, Q., McGrath, S. D., Mardis, E. R., Soloway, P. D., and Clark, A. G. (2008b). Transcriptome-wide identification of novel imprinted genes in neonatal mouse brain. *PLoS ONE* 3, e3839. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0003839
- Wayman, G. A., Davare, M., Ando, H., Fortin, D., Varlamova, O., Cheng, H.-Y. M., Marks, D., Obrietan, K., Soderling, T. R., Goodman, R. H., and Impey, S. (2008). An activityregulated microRNA controls dendritic plasticity by down-regulating p250GAP. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105, 9093–9098.
- Weston, M. D., Pierce, M. L., Jensen-Smith, H. C., Fritzsch, B., Rocha-Sanchez, S., Beisel, K. W., and Soukup, G. A. (2011). MicroRNA-183 family expression in hair cell development and requirement of microRNAs for hair cell maintenance and survival. *Dev. Dyn.* 240, 808–819.
- Winsky-Sommerer, R., Benjannet, S., Rovère, C., Barbero, P., Seidah, N. G., Epelbaum, J., and Dournaud, P. (2000). Regional and cellular localization of the neuroendocrine prohormone convertases PC1 and PC2 in the rat central nervous system. J. Comp. Neurol. 424, 439–460.
- Wise, R. A. (1996). Addictive drugs and brain stimulation reward. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 19, 319–340.
- Wise, R. A. (2002). Brain reward circuitry insights from unsensed incentives. *Neuron* 36, 229–240.
- Wise, R. A. (2004). Dopamine, learning and motivation. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 5, 483–494.
- Wolf, M. E. (2006). "Addiction," in Basic Neurochemistry: Molecular, Cellular, and Medical Aspects, Vol. 7, eds G. J. Siegel, B. W. Agranoff, R. W. Albers, S. K. Fisher, and M. D. Uhler (New York: American Society for Neurochemistry), 911–926.
- Wu, H., Tao, J., Chen, P. J., Shahab, A., Ge, W., Hart, R. P., Ruan, X., Ruan, Y., and Sun, Y.

E. (2010). Genome-wide analysis reveals methyl-CpG-binding protein 2-dependent regulation of microRNAs in a mouse model of Rett syndrome. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 107, 18161–18166.

- Wu, Q., Zhang, L., Law, P.-Y., Wei, L.-N., and Loh, H. H. (2009). Long-term morphine treatment decreases the association of mu-opioid receptor (MOR1) mRNA with polysomes through miRNA23b. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 75, 744–750.
- Yadav, S., Pandey, A., Shukla, A., Talwelkar, S. S., Kumar, A., Pant, A. B., and Parmar, D. (2011). miR-497 and miR-302b regulate ethanol-induced neuronal cell death through BCL2

protein and cyclin D2. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 37347–37357.

- Yamagata, K., Andreasson, K. I., Sugiura, H., Maru, E., Dominique, M., Irie, Y., Miki, N., Hayashi, Y., Yoshioka, M., Kaneko, K., Kato, H., and Worley, P. F. (1999). Arcadlin is a neural activity-regulated cadherin involved in long term potentiation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274, 19473–11979.
- Zheng, H., Chu, J., Zeng, Y., Loh, H. H., and Law, P.-Y. (2010). Yin Yang 1 phosphorylation contributes to the differential effects of mu-opioid receptor agonists on microRNA-190 expression. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 21994–22002.
- Zhu, Q., Sun, W., Okano, K., Chen, Y., Zhang, N., Maeda, T., and

Palczewski, K. (2011). Sponge transgenic mouse model reveals important roles for the microRNA-183 (miR-183)/96/182 cluster in postmitotic photoreceptors of the retina. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 31749–31760.

Zukin, R. S., Richter, J. D., and Bagni, C. (2009). Signals, synapses, and synthesis: how new proteins control plasticity. *Front. Neural Circuits* 3:14. doi:10.3389/neuro.04.014.2009

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 01 March 2012; accepted: 29 May 2012; published online: 13 June 2012.

Citation: Eipper-Mains JE, Eipper BA and Mains RE (2012) Global approaches to the role of miRNAs in drug-induced changes in gene expression. Front. Gene. **3**:109. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00109

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Non-Coding RNA, a specialty of Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2012 Eipper-Mains, Eipper and Mains. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



MicroRNAs and drug addiction

Purva Bali^{1,2} and Paul J. Kenny^{1,2}*

¹ Laboratory of Behavioral and Molecular Neuroscience, Department of Molecular Therapeutics, The Scripps Research Institute – Florida, Jupiter, FL, USA ² Laboratory of Behavioral and Molecular Neuroscience, Department of Neuroscience, The Scripps Research Institute – Florida, Jupiter, FL, USA

Edited by:

Andre Pietrzykowski, Rutgers University, USA

Reviewed by:

Marissa A. Ehringer, University of Colorado, USA Hironori Kawahara, University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine, USA

*Correspondence:

Paul J. Kenny, Laboratory of Behavioral and Molecular Neuroscience, Department of Molecular Therapeutics, The Scripps Research Institute – Florida, 130 Scripps Way, Jupiter, FL 33458, USA. e-mail: pjkenny@scripps.edu

Drug addiction is considered a disorder of neuroplasticity in brain reward and cognition systems resulting from aberrant activation of gene expression programs in response to prolonged drug consumption. Non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs) are key regulators of almost all aspects of cellular physiology. MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are small (~21-23 nucleotides) ncR-NAs transcripts that regulate gene expression at the post-transcriptional level. Recently, miRNAs were shown to play key roles in the drug-induced remodeling of brain reward systems that likely drives the emergence of addiction. Here, we review evidence suggesting that one particular miRNA, miR-212, plays a particularly prominent role in vulnerability to cocaine addiction. We review evidence showing that miR-212 expression is increased in the dorsal striatum of rats that show compulsive-like cocaine-taking behaviors. Increases in miR-212 expression appear to protect against cocaine addiction, as virus-mediated striatal miR-212 overexpression decreases cocaine consumption in rats. Conversely, disruption of striatal miR-212 signaling using an antisense oligonucleotide increases cocaine intake. We also review data that identify two mechanisms by which miR-212 may regulate cocaine intake. First, miR-212 has been shown to amplify striatal cAMP response element binding protein (CREB) signaling through a mechanism involving activation of Raf1 kinase. Second, miR-212 was also shown to regulate cocaine intake by repressing striatal expression of methyl CpG binding protein 2 (MeCP2), consequently decreasing protein levels of brainderived neurotrophic factor (BDNF). The concerted actions of miR-212 on striatal CREB and MeCP2/BDNF activity greatly attenuate the motivational effects of cocaine. These findings highlight the unique role for miRNAs in simultaneously controlling multiple signaling cascades implicated in addiction.

Keywords: miRNA, miR-212, MeCP2, cocaine

INTRODUCTION

Non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs) can be defined as biologically functional RNAs that do not encode proteins. This class of transcripts is characterized by the presence of an increased density of stop codons and lack of extensive open reading frames (ORFs). For decades, work on ncRNAs focused almost exclusively on transport RNAs (tRNAs) and ribosomal RNAs (rRNAs), which are key regulators of mRNA translation into encoded proteins. However, recent advances in high throughput sequencing technologies have revealed tremendous diversity in ncRNAs. Moreover, ncRNAs are playing an increasingly more recognized role in key aspects of cellular function, including the regulation of gene expression, often through novel mechanisms of action. ncRNAs have also been implicated in key cellular process such as DNA imprinting, RNA splicing, editing, transcription, mRNA degradation, and translational repression. Interestingly, analysis of ncRNA complexity through evolution reveals that the proportion of non-coding sequences in eukaryotic genomes correlates closely with the complexity of the organism, even when proportion of the protein coding genes remains relatively static across organisms (Heimberg et al., 2008).

It is currently thought that only about 2% of the human genome codes for functional proteins, yet more than 80% of transcripts

encoded in the genome may have some biochemical activity. In a recent study, Djebali et al. (2012) used ultra-deep sequencing of RNAs from different cell lines and concluded that ~75% of the genome is transcribed at some point during the cellular life cycle. These extensive studies using sequencing and sophisticated ncRNA prediction algorithms have led to the identification of thousands of ncRNAs in the human genome, and perhaps many more remain to be discovered (Majer and Booth, 2010; Yang et al., 2010).

On the basis of their length and function this heterogeneous group of transcripts can be further categorized into short ncRNAs and long ncRNAs. The short ncRNAs include microR-NAs (miRNAs) and short-interfering RNAs (siRNAs), which are generally 18–25 nucleotides in length. Small RNAs (smRNAs) such as the small nucleolar RNAs (snoRNAs), smRNAs, piwiinteracting RNA (piRNAs) are between 20 and 300 nucleotides in length. The long ncRNAs (>200 nucleotides) can further be grouped into different categories on the basis of their origin (Orom and Shiekhattar, 2011) and have a broader spectrum of functions including chromatin modulation, recruitment of transcription factors, and nuclear-cytoplasmic transport (Mattick and Makunin, 2006). Indeed, there is now compelling computational and experimental evidence that many previously uncharacterized ncRNAs of unknown function, considered largely "transcriptional noise," have key functional roles in almost all aspects of cellular physiology.

Using the high throughput *in situ* expression data from Allen Brain Atlas, Mercer et al. have recently shown that more than 800 different ncRNAs are widely expressed in the adult brain (Mercer et al., 2008). In another study, Landgraf et al. created a miRNA expression atlas by sequencing and analyzing multiple smRNAs libraries (Landgraf et al., 2007). Their data also reveals a tissue/cell specific expression of these RNAs, which correlates with *in situ* expression data. Hence, it is likely that ncRNAs play an important role in basic aspects of brain function and behavior.

MicroRNAs IN BRAIN

Amongst the different classes of ncRNAs, miRNAs are perhaps the best characterized. Since their discovery in C. elegans in 1993 (Lee et al., 1993), hundreds of miRNAs have been identified in different species. Initial studies demonstrated that these short (~22 nucleotide) RNAs are mainly involved in binding to the 3' untranslated region (3'UTR) of mRNA transcripts that share complementarity with nucleotides in their so-called seed sequence (nucleotides 2-7). Binding of miRNAs to mRNA transcripts results in post-transcription silencing of the target mRNA via RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC)-induced translational repression or sequestering them for storage or degradation (Bartel, 2004). However, emerging new evidence suggests that the nonseed region of miRNAs may bind to the 5'UTR or the coding sequence of target transcripts and thereby influence translation processes (Orom et al., 2008; Elcheva et al., 2009). To add further complexity, recent reports show that miRNAs can also positively regulate gene expression in some cellular contexts (Vasudevan et al., 2007; Place et al., 2008). Computational sequence analysis predicts that each miRNA can target 10-100s of mRNA transcripts (Esteller, 2011). In addition, each gene transcript can itself be targeted by potentially hundreds of miRNAs.

The brain may be a particularly prominent organ within which miRNAs play an important role in controlling gene expression and neuronal activity. In a study by Miska et al. it was established that there was considerable abundance of miRNAs in rodent and primate brain (Miska et al., 2004). Further, they developed a microarray-based method to monitor the spatiotemporal expression of miRNAs during mouse brain development and found that there was a dynamic change in miRNA expression levels during development. As a result of these new methodologies there have been more than 300 miRNAs identified in adult mouse brain. Of these brain-enriched miRNAs some are present ubiquitously whereas others are expressed in a cell specific manner (Bak et al., 2008).

Another powerful tool that improved our understanding of the functional relevance of miRNAs in neuronal tissues was the development of mice with genetic manipulations in the genes encoding Dicer and Arognaute2 (Ago2). Both of these proteins are important components of the miRNA biogenesis pathway. Dicer is an endoribonuclease that catalyzes the processing of precursor miRNA into its mature form. Characterization of Dicer1 mutants in *C. elegans* suggested that this protein plays a critical role in brain development (Grishok et al., 2001). To assess its role in mammalian brain development Bernstein et al. disrupted Dicer in mice and observed embryonic lethality with depleted number of stem cells, suggesting that this enzyme is important for development in general (Bernstein et al., 2003). Subsequently a number of groups knocked down Dicer via conditional gene targeting, with the findings consistent in demonstrating that ablation of dicer results in decreased miRNA expression and defects in neuronal cell differentiation and survival (Kanellopoulou et al., 2005; Murchison et al., 2005; Schaefer et al., 2007). These phenotypes could be rescued by re-expression of the gene (Kanellopoulou et al., 2005), highlighting the importance for Dicer and the smRNAs species processed by this endoribonuclease in neuronal development and function. More recently, conditional deletion of Dicer established that miR-NAs expressed during neurogenesis play a role in the maintenance of neural progenitor cells, with disruption in this action contributing to defects in neuronal migration and subsequently in cortical lamination (De Pietri Tonelli et al., 2008; Kawase-Koga et al., 2009; Clovis et al., 2012).

Arognaute2, a member of the argonaute family of proteins, is the catalytically active component of the RISC that not only facilitates miRNA processing but also their regulatory actions on target mRNA transcripts (Hock and Meister, 2008). In a study by Diederichs and Haber, it was shown that overexpression of Ago2 results in increased miRNA biogenesis (Diederichs and Haber, 2007). Similar to genetic disruption of Dicer, Ago2 deletion results in embryonic lethality in mice, but conditional knock down of Ago2 reveals defects in neural tube closure and mispatterning of the anterior structure of the brain. Mouse embryonic fibroblast (MEFs) isolated from these mutant mice have reduced miRNA expression, which can be reversed by Ago2 expression (Morita et al., 2007). These findings highlight the importance of Ago2 in neuronal differentiation, brain morphogenesis, and development (Liu et al., 2004; Morita et al., 2007).

Schratt et al. found that the brain-specific miRNA, miR-134, is localized to the synaptodendritic compartment and negatively regulates the size of dendritic spines (Schratt et al., 2006). This action of miR-134 occurs through its inhibitory action on lim1 kinase expression. Another brain-enriched miRNA, miR-124, has been shown to play a critical role in the transition of progenitor neuronal cells to adult neurons by inhibiting networks of nonneuronal genes, thereby facilitating the expression of the neuronal identity (Conaco et al., 2006; Makeyev et al., 2007). Aizawa and colleagues examined the effects of double deletion of miR-9-2 and miR-9-3 on brain development in mice (Shibata et al., 2008, 2011). They found that these miR-9 family members regulate the proliferation and differentiation of neural progenitor cells in telencephalon through inhibitory actions on regulator proteins important for neurogenesis, including the homeobox protein Meis2 and the transcription factor Forkhead box protein G1 (FOXG1) (Shibata et al., 2008, 2011). Other miRNAs shown to regulate neuronal lineage commitment include members of the let-7 family and miR-125b (Leucht et al., 2008; Rybak et al., 2008). More recently, hippocampus-expressed miRNAs such as miR-134 and miR-34 have been shown to target the deacetylase sirtuin-1 (SIRT1) and thereby influence learning and memory processes (Gao et al., 2010; Zovoilis et al., 2011). In addition to their role in neuronal development and function, miRNAs may also play key role in neuronal dysfunction associated neurodegenerative diseases. For example, miR-34c has been implicated in the cognitive impairment associated with dementia. As discussed below, miRNAs have also been implicated in drug addiction, considered by many to be an aberrant form of learning and memory.

DRUG ADDICTION AND MicroRNAs

Addiction can be defined as compulsive drug use despite negative consequences. During the last decade, multiple cellular and molecular studies have revealed significant convergence between the actions of drugs of abuse in the brain that drive the development of addiction and the molecular processes involved in learning and memory. Indeed, addiction is often conceptualized as a disorder of synaptic plasticity, and hence the cellular and molecular mechanisms involved in learning-associated synaptic plasticity and concomitant remodeling of neuronal circuits may provide an important heuristic framework to investigate the addiction process.

In a study by Schaefer et al. it was shown that cocaine-induced robust alterations in the expression of a wide-range of miRNAs in the striatum, a key brain site involved in addiction. Indeed, a subset of these miRNAs whose expression was impacted by cocaine were shown to regulate the expression levels of a widerange of genes known to influence the motivational properties of cocaine, including Bdnf, FosB (FBJ murine osteosarcoma viral oncogene homolog B), and Cdk5r1 (cyclin-dependent kinase 5 activator 1). In the same study, the effects on cocaine reinforcement of selectively ablating Ago2, the catalytic component of RISC involved in transducing the inhibitory actions of miRNAs on their target transcripts, was assessed. Specifically, Schaefer et al. investigated the effects knocking down Ago2 in medium spiny neurons (MSNs) of the striatum that express the dopamine D2 receptor (D2R) (Schaefer et al., 2010). Disruption of Ago2 in D2R MSNs resulted in dramatically reduced conditioned rewarding effects of cocaine in mice, reflected in attenuated cocaineinduced conditioned place preference (CPP). More importantly, the Ago2-D2R mutant mice also demonstrated reduced intravenous cocaine self-administration behavior across a wide-range of cocaine doses (Schaefer et al., 2010). Such downward shifts in the cocaine dose-response curve are interpreted as reduced motivation to consume the drug. Finally, Ago2 ablation in D2R MSNs dramatically decreased miRNA expression and activity in striatum. Hence, as cocaine self-administration behavior is considered the most direct measure of drug reinforcement in laboratory animals, these data provide compelling support for a key role for Ago2, and by extension miRNAs, in striatal MSNs in regulating the reinforcing properties of cocaine that drive the development of addiction (Schaefer et al., 2010).

Another interesting study performed by Eipper-Mains et al. (2011) links cocaine exposure to Ago2 induction (Eipper-Mains et al., 2011). Characterization of the subcellular fractions of the striatum shows that Ago2 is localized in synapses and is cocaine-responsive. Specifically, chronic cocaine exposure resulted in increased Ago2 mRNA and protein in the striatum, and concomitantly altered miRNA expression levels. This increase in Ago2 protein was associated with postsynaptic densities (PSDs) in striatum but not in medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC). Intriguingly, a large number of cocaine-responsive miRNAs identified so far (miR-8 family, miR-145, miR-451) can putatively target genes

implicated in addiction, including TrkB receptor, which transduces the actions of BDNF in brain and play a crucial role in activity-dependent synaptic plasticity.

Chandrasekar and Dreyer identified another set of miRNAs (miR-181a, let-7d, and miR-124) whose expression is sensitive to cocaine (Chandrasekar and Dreyer, 2009). They found that chronic cocaine administration suppressed the expression of miR-124 and let-7d, but induced miR-181a in the mesolimbic dopaminergic system. The critical role of the mesolimbic dopaminergic system in addiction is well established (Koob and Volkow, 2010). In situ hybridization confirmed that the alterations in the expression of these miRNAs occurred in brain regions related to reward and memory. Further, in vitro overexpression of these miRNAs modulated the expression levels of proteins like BDNF and the dopamine D3 receptor, which have been heavily implicated in drug addiction (Heidbreder et al., 2005; Ghitza et al., 2010). In a subsequent study the same group also showed that in vivo modulation of these miRNAs in ventral striatum (nucleus accumbens) affects cocaine-induced place conditioning (Chandrasekar and Dreyer, 2011). These data show that cocaine can impact the expression of a range of different miRNAs depending on treatment and testing context, and support an important role for such miRNAs and their targeted mRNA transcripts in the development of drug addiction.

Alterations in dopamine signaling can lead to long-lasting neuronal adaptations that result in decreased or increased propensity for drug use. One of the proposed mechanism by which this can occur is dopamine transmission-induced alterations in the expression and subunit composition of AMPA receptors (Wolf, 2010). AMPA receptors are postsynaptic glutamate gated ion channels that mediate excitatory neurotransmission in the central nervous system. As such, AMPA receptors are core regulators of synaptic plasticity and activity-dependent remodeling of brain circuitries (Du et al., 2004; Haas et al., 2006). In a recent study by Saba et al. it was found that miR-181a expression in nucleus accumbens was increased by dopamine-mediated transmission and by the psychomotor stimulant drugs cocaine and amphetamines (Saba et al., 2012). Moreover, miR-181a was shown to repress GluA2-AMPA receptor subunit expression, and thereby modulate the magnitude of AMPA receptor clustering. Hence, miR-181a may be a key miRNA involved in drug-induced remodeling of the nucleus accumbens and greater striatal complex in response to drug exposure, thereby driving regulating the emergence of addiction. Recent evidence suggests that miRNAs also play a key role in the actions of other classes of addictive drugs, including nicotine, alcohol, and opiates; for recent review and detailed table describing specific miRNAs see Im and Kenny (2012).

THE miR-212/132 CLUSTER

The miR-132/miR-212 family of miRNAs was first identified in a genome wide search for genes responsive to the transcription factor cAMP response element binding protein (CREB) using an approach termed Serial Analysis of chromatin occupancy (SACO) (Impey et al., 2004). This family of miRNAs is highly conserved in vertebrates, is transcribed as a polycistronic primary transcript, and is highly enriched in the mature neurons of the forebrain (Marson et al., 2008; Hansen et al., 2010). Analysis of the promoter for this miRNA gene cluster reveals the presence of multiple



cAMP response element (CRE) sites and experimental evidence verifies that these miRNAs are indeed CREB inducible (Vo et al., 2005); (see Figure 1) Recent studies from Remenvi et al. have shown that this gene cluster in fact produces four mature miRNAs, namely miR-132, miR-132*, miR-212, and miR-212*, where miR-132* and miR-212* are encoded by the same primary transcript, but on the opposite strand, as the miR-132 and miR-212 miR-NAs, respectively (Remenyi et al., 2010). Moreover, each of these four miRNAs likely have their own unique set of target mRNA transcripts. Intriguingly, even though these four miRNAs are transcribed in equal measure (by virtue of all being encoded in the same primary transcript), their relative abundance varies dramatically within various cell types including neurons, with miR-132 being far more abundant than the other three transcripts (Remenvi et al., 2010). Hence, it is likely that as yet uncharacterized mechanisms are involved in preferentially stabilizing miR-132 levels, and/or destabilizing miR-132*, miR-212, and miR-212*.

A series of studies in the last few years have demonstrated the importance of miR-132 cluster in neuronal morphogenesis and in regulating synaptic plasticity. In particular, miR-132 has been shown to increase dendritic spine complexity in both immature cortical and hippocampal neurons in part by translational inhibition of p250GAP. As p250GAP is a Rho-Rac family GTPase activating protein, this finding highlights a role for Rho, and also transducers downstream of Rac-GTPases such as PAK, in the effects of miR-132 on activity-dependent neuronal remodeling (Wayman et al., 2008; Hansen et al., 2010; Magill et al., 2010).

COCAINE INTAKE AND miR-212

Two recent studies from our group have identified a key role for miR-212, also encoded by the miR-212/132 gene cluster, in regulating compulsive-like cocaine intake in rats (Hollander et al., 2010; Im et al., 2010). As described above, the striatum is a key brain region that regulates compulsive cocaine use. The first study showed that in rats with extended access to cocaine (6 h per day) there is a \sim 1.75-fold increase in both striatal miR-212 and miR-132 levels (Hollander et al., 2010). Similar increases in expression were not detected in rats that received non-contingent cocaine infusions time-locked to rats that volitionally consumed cocaine, or in rats with restricted access to cocaine (1 h per day). Further, lentivirus-mediated overexpression of miR-212 in the dorsal striatum resulted in a remarkable decrease in cocaine intake in the extended access rats compared to vector control, but overexpression did not alter cocaine intake in rats with restricted drug

access (**Figure 2**). The decreased cocaine intake is related to a profound decrease in the motivational properties of the drug, as reflected by a large downward shift in the cocaine dose-response curve in the same animals. Conversely, inhibition of miR-212 signaling in the striatum, achieved by infusion of an antisense oligonucleotide, dramatically increased the motivational properties of cocaine in rats with extended, but not restricted, access to the drug (**Figure 2**). These data suggest that intrinsic or drug-induce alterations in the expression or activity of striatal miR-212 may influence vulnerability to addiction in human cocaine users.

miR-212 REGULATES COCAINE INTAKE THROUGH STRIATAL CREB SIGNALING

As noted above, expression of miR-212 is regulated by CREB. In many cases, miRNAs have been shown to influence signaling cascades that increase their expression and further modify the activity those cascades through positive or negative feedback mechanisms (Tsang et al., 2007). As CREB overexpression in ventral striatum is known to diminish the motivational properties of cocaine (Carlezon et al., 1998), we tested the hypothesis that miR-212 may regulate cocaine intake in extended access rats by amplifying striatal CREB activity through positive feedback mechanisms. Consistent with a profound stimulatory effect of miR-212 on CREB in cultured cells in vitro, we found that levels of CREB that was phosphorylated at serine 133 (i.e., activated CREB) was significantly increased (Hollander et al., 2010). Furthermore, forskolin-stimulated expression of the CREB-responsive gene fos was also increased by miR-212, as was the activity of a luciferasebased CREB reporter construct (CRE-containing element from promoter of EVX-1). Dominant negative or phosphorylationdeficient mutant forms of CREB attenuated these stimulatory effects of miR-212 on CREB signaling. More importantly, we also found that miR-212 amplified CREB signaling in the striatum in vivo. Specifically, we found that rats with extended access to cocaine showed increased expression of the CREB-responsive gene Nurr1, and that expression levels were greatly increased by miR-212 overexpression in striatum (Hollander et al., 2010).

These findings identify miR-212 as a novel cocaine-responsive gene that is up regulated in the striatum in response to cocaine overconsumption that serves to promote CREB activity through positive feedback and thereby attenuate the motivational properties of the drug. Based on these findings, we next investigated the mechanisms by which miR-212 may amplify CREB signaling. We found that miR-212 increases activity-dependent production of cAMP by sensitizing adenylyl cyclase activity. This stimulatory



action on adenylyl cyclase results in accumulation of phosphorylated CREB and increased activity of the core CREB co-activators CREB-regulated transcription co-activator-1 and -2 (CRTC1 and CRTC2), also known as TORC1 and TORC2. Further investigation of the mechanism by which miR-212 enhances CREB signaling revealed that the kinase Raf1 was activated by miR-212, and was found to play a key role in sensitizing adenylyl cyclase activity. Finally, computational and biochemical analysis showed that Sprouty-related EVH1 domain-containing protein 1 (SPRED1), a known negative regulator of Raf1 signaling, is a miR-212 target mRNA transcript and SPRED1 repression by miR-212 contributes to its stimulatory effects on Raf1 and CREB activity (Hollander et al., 2010).

To investigate the functional relevance of miR-212-induced amplification of CREB activity in vivo on the suppressive effects of this miRNA on cocaine intake, we examined the effects of overexpressing the CREB co-activator CRTC1 (TORC1) on cocaine intake in rats with restricted or extended cocaine access. It is known that CRTC overexpression increases CREB activity and that miR-212 increases CRTC1 expression (Hollander et al., 2010). Consistent with an important role for striatal CREB signaling in attenuating the motivational properties of cocaine, we found that striatal TORC1 overexpression decreased cocaine intake in extended but not restricted access rats. These findings support the hypothesis that miR-212 controls cocaine intake at least in part by amplifying the CREB-TORC signaling axis in striatum. Moreover, these findings provide compelling support for a key role for miR-212 in regulating the development of compulsive drug taking in rats, and perhaps in influencing vulnerability to cocaine addiction in human drug users.

miR-212 ALSO REGULATES COCAINE INTAKE THROUGH STRIATAL MeCP2

Considering that miR-212 expression levels may play a key role in regulating vulnerability to cocaine addiction, we next investigated the mechanisms by which baseline and cocaine-induced increases in striatal miR-212 levels are regulated. Interestingly, sequence analysis of the miR-212/132 gene cluster reveals that it is located in a CpG enriched region, which can serve as substrate



ຂ່

Ġ

Self-administration session

LNA-Scrambled

LNA-antimiR-212

ż ż ά 5

Intriguingly, miR-132 was previously shown to repress the expression of MeCP2 through direct interaction with the transcript 3'UTR (Klein et al., 2007). Moreover, as miR-132 and miR-212 share the same seed region, this suggests that miR-212 may similarly repress MeCP2. Based on these observations, we hypothesized that in addition to the inhibitory effects of MeCP2 on miR-212 expression described above, MeCP2 levels in turn may be repressed by miR-212. In other words, miR-212 and MeCP2 may be locked in a homeostatic relationship that serves to control miR-212 expression level and thereby



influence vulnerability to cocaine addiction. Consistent with this hypothesis, we found that miR-212 overexpression profoundly decreased MeCP2 expression in cultured cells and in the striatum *in vivo* (Im et al., 2010). Hence, homeostatic interactions between miR-212 and MeCP2 may determine vulnerability to cocaine addiction.

ROLE FOR BDNF IN REGULATING THE ACTIONS OF STRIATAL miR-212 ON COCAINE INTAKE

It has been reported that the levels of MeCP2 are closely related to those of, BDNF (Chang et al., 2006). However, the complex mechanisms by which MeCP2 regulates BDNF levels remain unclear. BDNF in the striatum is known to increase the motivational properties of cocaine (Horger et al., 1999; Schoenbaum et al., 2007). We therefore hypothesized that miR-212-MeCP2 interactions may regulate cocaine intake by influencing levels of BDNF in striatum. We observed that virus-mediated MeCP2 knockdown or miR-212 expression (which decreases MeCP2 levels) in striatum reduced BDNF expression. Moreover, virus-mediated increases in BDNF expression in striatum increased cocaine intake in rats with extended but not restricted access. Conversely, disruption of striatal BDNF signaling using a neutralizing antibody reduced cocaine intake in extended but restricted access rats (Im et al., 2010). These findings suggest that miR-212-MeCP2 interactions may determine expression levels of BDNF in striatum, which in turn regulates the motivational properties of cocaine.

NON-NEURONAL ROLES OF miR-212

Besides playing a critical role in drug-induced neuroplasticity relevant to addiction, there is emerging evidence that miR-212 is also involved in a host of other biological and pathophysiological processes. Indeed, miR-212 expression is deregulated in various cancers and its expression has been correlated to disease progression. In pancreatic carcinomas it has been shown that miR-212 targets the tumor suppressor retinoblastoma (Rb1) (Park et al., 2011), whereas the methyl binding protein (MeCP2) seems to be the main target in some of the gastric tumors (Wada et al., 2010). Incoronato et al. showed that miR-212 targets phosphoprotein enriched in diabetes (PED), a wide spectrum anti-apoptotic protein, and thereby plays an important role in tumor suppression (Incoronato et al., 2010). In a follow up study the same group also demonstrated that the expression on miR-212 in lung carcinomas is regulated by histone modifications (Incoronato et al., 2011). This suggests that epigenetic mechanisms may play an important role in regulating miRNA expression in different cancers and other biological processes.

Besides cancer, miR-212 has also been implicated in regulating organogenesis by playing a key role in modulating epithelial stromal interactions (Ucar et al., 2010). In addition, miR-212 expression can be regulated by various hormones, adding another layer of complexity to their regulation and role in development and disease (Godoy et al., 2011). Studies from Turrini et al. reveal that miR-212 may mediate drug resistance by targeting the ABC efflux transporter (Turrini et al., 2012). Two recent reports implicate the importance of the miR-132/212 family in cardiovascular development and disorders. In the first study, smRNAs deep sequencing analysis in vascular smooth muscle cells show that the miR-132/miR-212 cluster is induced by the hormone angiotensin II and by targeting PTEN, increases the expression of the gene MCP1 (Monocyte chemotactic protein 1), a key regulator of cardiovascular disorders (Jin et al., 2012). In the other study, Ucar et al. demonstrate that these miRNAs activate calcineurin signaling in cardiomyocytes by targeting the transcription factor Foxo3, and thus play an important role in cardiac hypertrophy (Ucar et al., 2012).

CONCLUSION

Taken together, these studies highlight the fact that miR-212 plays a critical role in fine-tuning transcriptional and neuroplastic responses to drugs of abuse. Specifically, we found that miR-212 can control cocaine intake through two complementary mechanisms: amplifying CREB signaling and reducing MeCP2/BDNF transmission in striatum.

Since miR-212 and miR-132 share the same seed region it is widely believed that they target the same mRNAs. However, only a few putative miR-212/132 targets have been verified experimentally, which include MeCP2, Rb1and HB-EGF. There is increasing evidence available now showing that the 5' and 3' regions of the miRNAs can form the basis of differential target recognition despite having the identical seed region (Brennecke et al., 2005; Jalvy-Delvaille et al., 2012). There is also a possibility that differential expression or availability of these members can also regulate gene expression in a differential manner. Future studies in this respect could further help in improving our understanding of how miR-212 and miR-132 regulate different neuronal and non-neuronal functions or if these two miRNAs are functionally redundant? More generally, these

REFERENCES

- Bak, M., Silahtaroglu, A., Moller, M., Christensen, M., Rath, M. F., Skryabin, B., et al. (2008). MicroRNA expression in the adult mouse central nervous system. RNA 14, 432–444.
- Bartel, D. P. (2004). MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. *Cell* 116, 281–297.
- Bernstein, E., Kim, S. Y., Carmell, M. A., Murchison, E. P., Alcorn, H., Li, M. Z., et al. (2003). Dicer is essential for mouse development. *Nat. Genet.* 35, 215–217.
- Brennecke, J., Stark, A., Russell, R. B., and Cohen, S. M. (2005). Principles of microRNA-target recognition. *PLoS Biol.* 3:e85. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0030085
- Carlezon, W. A. Jr., Thome, J., Olson, V. G., Lane-Ladd, S. B., Brodkin, E. S., Hiroi, N., et al. (1998). Regulation of cocaine reward by CREB. *Science* 282, 2272–2275.
- Chandrasekar, V., and Dreyer, J. L. (2009). microRNAs miR-124, let-7d and miR-181a regulate cocaineinduced plasticity. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 42, 350–362.
- Chandrasekar, V., and Dreyer, J. L. (2011). Regulation of MiR-124, Let-7d, and MiR-181a in the accumbens affects the expression, extinction, and reinstatement of cocaineinduced conditioned place preference. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 36, 1149–1164.
- Chang, Q., Khare, G., Dani, V., Nelson, S., and Jaenisch, R. (2006). The disease progression of Mecp2 mutant mice is affected by the level of BDNF expression. *Neuron* 49, 341–348.
- Clovis, Y. M., Enard, W., Marinaro, F., Huttner, W. B., and De Pietri Tonelli, D. (2012). Convergent repression of Foxp2 3'UTR by miR-9 and miR-132 in embryonic mouse neocortex: implications for radial migration of neurons. *Development* 139, 3332–3342.
- Conaco, C., Otto, S., Han, J. J., and Mandel, G. (2006). Reciprocal actions of REST and a microRNA promote neuronal identity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 2422–2427.

- De Pietri Tonelli, D., Pulvers, J. N., Haffner, C., Murchison, E. P., Hannon, G. J., and Huttner, W. B. (2008). miRNAs are essential for survival and differentiation of newborn neurons but not for expansion of neural progenitors during early neurogenesis in the mouse embryonic neocortex. *Development* 135, 3911–3921.
- Diederichs, S., and Haber, D. A. (2007). Dual role for argonautes in microRNA processing and posttranscriptional regulation of microRNA expression. *Cell* 131, 1097–1108.
- Djebali, S., Davis, C. A., Merkel, A., Dobin, A., Lassmann, T., Mortazavi, A., et al. (2012). Landscape of transcription in human cells. *Nature* 489, 101–108.
- Du, J., Gray, N. A., Falke, C. A., Chen, W., Yuan, P., Szabo, S. T., et al. (2004). Modulation of synaptic plasticity by antimanic agents: the role of AMPA glutamate receptor subunit 1 synaptic expression. J. Neurosci. 24, 6578–6589.
- Eipper-Mains, J. E., Kiraly, D. D., Palakodeti, D., Mains, R. E., Eipper, B. A., and Graveley, B. R. (2011). microRNA-Seq reveals cocaineregulated expression of striatal microRNAs. RNA 17, 1529–1543.
- Elcheva, I., Goswami, S., Noubissi, F. K., and Spiegelman, V. S. (2009). CRD-BP protects the coding region of betaTrCP1 mRNA from miR-183mediated degradation. *Mol. Cell* 35, 240–246.
- Esteller, M. (2011). Non-coding RNAs in human disease. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 12, 861–874.
- Gao, J., Wang, W. Y., Mao, Y. W., Graff, J., Guan, J. S., Pan, L., et al. (2010). A novel pathway regulates memory and plasticity via SIRT1 and miR-134. *Nature* 466, 1105–1109.
- Ghitza, U. E., Zhai, H., Wu, P., Airavaara, M., Shaham, Y., and Lu, L. (2010). Role of BDNF and GDNF in drug reward and relapse: a review. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 35, 157–171.
- Godoy, J., Nishimura, M., and Webster, N. J. (2011). Gonadotropin-releasing hormone induces miR-132 and miR-212 to regulate cellular morphology and

findings highlight the novel role for miRNAs in addiction, and suggest that other ncRNAs may also play important roles in the disorder.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Supported by a grant from the National Institute on Drug Abuse (DA025983 to Paul J. Kenny). This is manuscript number 21989 from The Scripps Research Institute.

migration in immortalized LbetaT2 pituitary gonadotrope cells. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 25, 810–820.

- Grishok, A., Pasquinelli, A. E., Conte, D., Li, N., Parrish, S., Ha, I., et al. (2001). Genes and mechanisms related to RNA interference regulate expression of the small temporal RNAs that control *C. elegans* developmental timing. *Cell* 106, 23–34.
- Guy, J., Cheval, H., Selfridge, J., and Bird, A. (2011). The role of MeCP2 in the brain. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 27, 631–652.
- Haas, K., Li, J., and Cline, H. T. (2006). AMPA receptors regulate experience-dependent dendritic arbor growth in vivo. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 12127–12131.
- Hansen, K. F., Sakamoto, K., Wayman, G. A., Impey, S., and Obrietan, K. (2010). Transgenic miR132 alters neuronal spine density and impairs novel object recognition memory. *PLoS ONE* 5:e15497. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0015497
- Heidbreder, C. A., Gardner, E. L., Xi, Z. X., Thanos, P. K., Mugnaini, M., Hagan, J. J., et al. (2005). The role of central dopamine D3 receptors in drug addiction: a review of pharmacological evidence. *Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev.* 49, 77–105.
- Heimberg, A. M., Sempere, L. F., Moy, V. N., Donoghue, P. C., and Peterson, K. J. (2008). MicroRNAs and the advent of vertebrate morphological complexity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 105, 2946–2950.
- Hock, J., and Meister, G. (2008). The Argonaute protein family. *Genome Biol.* 9, 210.
- Hollander, J. A., Im, H. I., Amelio, A. L., Kocerha, J., Bali, P., Lu, Q., et al. (2010). Striatal microRNA controls cocaine intake through CREB signalling. *Nature* 466, 197–202.
- Horger, B. A., Iyasere, C. A., Berhow, M. T., Messer, C. J., Nestler, E. J., and Taylor, J. R. (1999). Enhancement of locomotor activity and conditioned reward to cocaine by brain-derived neurotrophic factor. *J. Neurosci.* 19, 4110–4122.
- Im, H. I., Hollander, J. A., Bali, P., and Kenny, P. J. (2010). MeCP2 controls

BDNF expression and cocaine intake through homeostatic interactions with microRNA-212. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13, 1120–1127.

- Im, H. I., and Kenny, P. J. (2012). MicroRNAs in neuronal function and dysfunction. *Trends Neurosci.* 35, 325–334.
- Impey, S., Mccorkle, S. R., Cha-Molstad, H., Dwyer, J. M., Yochum, G. S., Boss, J. M., et al. (2004). Defining the CREB regulon: a genomewide analysis of transcription factor regulatory regions. *Cell* 119, 1041–1054.
- Incoronato, M., Garofalo, M., Urso, L., Romano, G., Quintavalle, C., Zanca, C., et al. (2010). miR-212 increases tumor necrosis factorrelated apoptosis-inducing ligand sensitivity in non-small cell lung cancer by targeting the antiapoptotic protein PED. *Cancer Res.* 70, 3638–3646.
- Incoronato, M., Urso, L., Portela, A., Laukkanen, M. O., Soini, Y., Quintavalle, C., et al. (2011). Epigenetic regulation of miR-212 expression in lung cancer. *PLoS ONE* 6:e27722. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0027722
- Jalvy-Delvaille, S., Maurel, M., Majo, V., Pierre, N., Chabas, S., Combe, C., et al. (2012). Molecular basis of differential target regulation by miR-96 and miR-182: the Glypican-3 as a model. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 40, 1356–1365.
- Jin, W., Reddy, M. A., Chen, Z., Putta, S., Lanting, L., Kato, M., et al. (2012). Small RNA sequencing reveals microRNAs that modulate angiotensin II effects in vascular smooth muscle cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 15672–15683.
- Kanellopoulou, C., Muljo, S. A., Kung, A. L., Ganesan, S., Drapkin, R., Jenuwein, T., et al. (2005). Dicerdeficient mouse embryonic stem cells are defective in differentiation and centromeric silencing. *Genes Dev.* 19, 489–501.
- Kawase-Koga, Y., Otaegi, G., and Sun, T. (2009). Different timings of Dicer deletion affect neurogenesis and gliogenesis in the developing mouse central nervous system. *Dev. Dyn.* 238, 2800–2812.

- Klein, M. E., Lioy, D. T., Ma, L., Impey, S., Mandel, G., and Goodman, R. H. (2007). Homeostatic regulation of MeCP2 expression by a CREBinduced microRNA. *Nat. Neurosci.* 10, 1513–1514.
- Koob, G. F., and Volkow, N. D. (2010). Neurocircuitry of addiction. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 35, 217–238.
- Landgraf, P., Rusu, M., Sheridan, R., Sewer, A., Iovino, N., Aravin, A., et al. (2007). A mammalian microRNA expression atlas based on small RNA library sequencing. *Cell* 129, 1401–1414.
- Lee, R. C., Feinbaum, R. L., and Ambros, V. (1993). The *C. elegans* heterochronic gene lin-4 encodes small RNAs with antisense complementarity to lin-14. *Cell* 75, 843–854.
- Leucht, C., Stigloher, C., Wizenmann, A., Klafke, R., Folchert, A., and Bally-Cuif, L. (2008). MicroRNA-9 directs late organizer activity of the midbrain-hindbrain boundary. *Nat. Neurosci.* 11, 641–648.
- Liu, J., Carmell, M. A., Rivas, F. V., Marsden, C. G., Thomson, J. M., Song, J. J., et al. (2004). Argonaute2 is the catalytic engine of mammalian RNAi. *Science* 305, 1437–1441.
- Magill, S. T., Cambronne, X. A., Luikart, B. W., Lioy, D. T., Leighton, B. H., Westbrook, G. L., et al. (2010). microRNA-132 regulates dendritic growth and arborization of newborn neurons in the adult hippocampus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 20382–20387.
- Majer, A., and Booth, S. A. (2010). Computational methodologies for studying non-coding RNAs relevant to central nervous system function and dysfunction. *Brain Res.* 1338, 131–145.
- Makeyev, E. V., Zhang, J., Carrasco, M. A., and Maniatis, T. (2007). The MicroRNA miR-124 promotes neuronal differentiation by triggering brain-specific alternative premRNA splicing. *Mol. Cell* 27, 435–448.
- Marson, A., Levine, S. S., Cole, M. F., Frampton, G. M., Brambrink, T., Johnstone, S., et al. (2008). Connecting microRNA genes to the core transcriptional regulatory circuitry of embryonic stem cells. *Cell* 134, 521–533.
- Mattick, J. S., and Makunin, I. V. (2006). Non-coding RNA. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 15, R17–R29.
- Mercer, T. R., Dinger, M. E., Sunkin, S. M., Mehler, M. F., and Mattick, J. S. (2008). Specific expression of

long noncoding RNAs in the mouse brain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 716–721.

- Miska, E. A., Alvarez-Saavedra, E., Townsend, M., Yoshii, A., Sestan, N., Rakic, P., et al. (2004). Microarray analysis of microRNA expression in the developing mammalian brain. *Genome Biol.* 5, R68.
- Morita, S., Horii, T., Kimura, M., Goto, Y., Ochiya, T., and Hatada, I. (2007). One Argonaute family member, Eif2c2 (Ago2), is essential for development and appears not to be involved in DNA methylation. *Genomics* 89, 687–696.
- Murchison, E. P., Partridge, J. F., Tam, O. H., Cheloufi, S., and Hannon, G. J. (2005). Characterization of Dicerdeficient murine embryonic stem cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 12135–12140.
- Orom, U. A., Nielsen, F. C., and Lund, A. H. (2008). MicroRNA-10a binds the 5'UTR of ribosomal protein mRNAs and enhances their translation. *Mol. Cell* 30, 460–471.
- Orom, U. A., and Shiekhattar, R. (2011). Long non-coding RNAs and enhancers. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* 21, 194–198.
- Park, J. K., Henry, J. C., Jiang, J., Esau, C., Gusev, Y., Lerner, M. R., et al. (2011). miR-132 and miR-212 are increased in pancreatic cancer and target the retinoblastoma tumor suppressor. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 406, 518–523.
- Place, R. F., Li, L. C., Pookot, D., Noonan, E. J., and Dahiya, R. (2008). MicroRNA-373 induces expression of genes with complementary promoter sequences. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 1608–1613.
- Remenyi, J., Hunter, C. J., Cole, C., Ando, H., Impey, S., Monk, C. E., et al. (2010). Regulation of the miR-212/132 locus by MSK1 and CREB in response to neurotrophins. *Biochem. J.* 428, 281–291.
- Rybak, A., Fuchs, H., Smirnova, L., Brandt, C., Pohl, E. E., Nitsch, R., et al. (2008). A feedback loop comprising lin-28 and let-7 controls pre-let-7 maturation during neural stemcell commitment. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 10, 987–993.
- Saba, R., Storchel, P. H., Aksoy-Aksel, A., Kepura, F., Lippi, G., Plant, T. D., et al. (2012). Dopamineregulated microRNA MiR-181a controls GluA2 surface expression in hippocampal neurons. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 32, 619–632.

- Schaefer, A., Im, H. I., Veno, M. T., Fowler, C. D., Min, A., Intrator, A., et al. (2010). Argonaute 2 in dopamine 2 receptorexpressing neurons regulates cocaine addiction. J. Exp. Med. 207, 1843–1851.
- Schaefer, A., O'Carroll, D., Tan, C. L., Hillman, D., Sugimori, M., Llinas, R., et al. (2007). Cerebellar neurodegeneration in the absence of microR-NAs. J. Exp. Med. 204, 1553–1558.
- Schoenbaum, G., Stalnaker, T. A., and Shaham, Y. (2007). A role for BDNF in cocaine reward and relapse. *Nat. Neurosci.* 10, 935–936.
- Schratt, G. M., Tuebing, F., Nigh, E. A., Kane, C. G., Sabatini, M. E., Kiebler, M., et al. (2006). A brain-specific microRNA regulates dendritic spine development. *Nature* 439, 283–289.
- Shibata, M., Kurokawa, D., Nakao, H., Ohmura, T., and Aizawa, S. (2008). MicroRNA-9 modulates Cajal-Retzius cell differentiation by suppressing Foxg1 expression in mouse medial pallium. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 10415–10421.
- Shibata, M., Nakao, H., Kiyonari, H., Abe, T., and Aizawa, S. (2011). MicroRNA-9 regulates neurogenesis in mouse telencephalon by targeting multiple transcription factors. J. Neurosci. 31, 3407–3422.
- Tsang, J., Zhu, J., and Van Oudenaarden, A. (2007). MicroRNA-mediated feedback and feedforward loops are recurrent network motifs in mammals. *Mol. Cell* 26, 753–767.
- Turrini, E., Haenisch, S., Laechelt, S., Diewock, T., Bruhn, O., and Cascorbi, I. (2012). MicroRNA profiling in K-562 cells under imatinib treatment: influence of miR-212 and miR-328 on ABCG2 expression. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 22, 198–205.
- Ucar, A., Gupta, S. K., Fiedler, J., Erikci, E., Kardasinski, M., Batkai, S., et al. (2012). The miRNA-212/132 family regulates both cardiac hypertrophy and cardiomyocyte autophagy. *Nat. Commun.* 3, 1078.
- Ucar, A., Vafaizadeh, V., Jarry, H., Fiedler, J., Klemmt, P. A., Thum, T., et al. (2010). miR-212 and miR-132 are required for epithelial stromal interactions necessary for mouse mammary gland development. *Nat. Genet.* 42, 1101–1108.
- Vasudevan, S., Tong, Y., and Steitz, J. A. (2007). Switching from repression to activation: microRNAs can up-regulate translation. *Science* 318, 1931–1934.

- Vo, N., Klein, M. E., Varlamova, O., Keller, D. M., Yamamoto, T., Goodman, R. H., et al. (2005). A cAMP-response element binding protein-induced microRNA regulates neuronal morphogenesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 16426–16431.
- Wada, R., Akiyama, Y., Hashimoto, Y., Fukamachi, H., and Yuasa, Y. (2010). miR-212 is downregulated and suppresses methyl-CpGbinding protein MeCP2 in human gastric cancer. *Int. J. Cancer* 127, 1106–1114.
- Wayman, G. A., Davare, M., Ando, H., Fortin, D., Varlamova, O., Cheng, H. Y., et al. (2008). An activity-regulated microRNA controls dendritic plasticity by down-regulating p250GAP. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 9093–9098.
- Wolf, M. E. (2010). The Bermuda Triangle of cocaine-induced neuroadaptations. *Trends Neurosci.* 33, 391–398.
- Yang, J. H., Shao, P., Zhou, H., Chen, Y. Q., and Qu, L. H. (2010). deepBase: a database for deeply annotating and mining deep sequencing data. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 38, D123–D130.
- Zovoilis, A., Agbemenyah, H. Y., Agis-Balboa, R. C., Stilling, R. M., Edbauer, D., Rao, P., et al. (2011). microRNA-34c is a novel target to treat dementias. *EMBO J.* 30, 4299–4308.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 23 October 2012; paper pending published: 15 December 2012; accepted: 11 March 2013; published online: 10 May 2013.

Citation: Bali P and Kenny PJ (2013) MicroRNAs and drug addiction. Front. Genet. 4:43. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2013.00043

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Non-Coding RNA, a specialty of Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2013 Bali and Kenny. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.

PERSPECTIVE ARTICLE published: 26 November 2012 doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00241



MicroRNAs in opioid addiction: elucidating evolution

Emily J. Wood and Leonard Lipovich*

Center for Molecular Medicine and Genetics, School of Medicine, Wayne State University, Detroit, MI, USA

Edited by:

Andre Pietrzykowski, Rutgers University, USA

Reviewed by:

Andre Pietrzykowski, Rutgers University, USA Ulf Andersson Ørom, Max Planck Institute for Molecular Genetics, Germany

*Correspondence:

Leonard Lipovich, Center for Molecular Medicine and Genetics, School of Medicine, Wayne State University, 540 East Canfield Street, 3208 Scott Hall, Detroit, MI, USA. e-mail: Ilipovich@med.wayne.edu Three reviews in the Frontiers Research Topic "Non-Coding RNA and Addiction" (He and Wang, 2012; Rodriguez, 2012; Zheng et al., 2012), grouped under the chapter "MicroRNAs and Morphine," focus on the contribution of microRNAs to opioid abuse. Although animal models have been fundamental to our understanding of addiction pathways, the assumption that microRNAs implicated in opioid tolerance – and their binding sites in mRNAs – are conserved in mammalian evolution was not examined by the authors. Inspired by recent reports which highlight a surprising lack of evolutionary conservation in non-coding RNA genes, in this perspective we use public genome, annotation, and transcriptome datasets to verify microRNA host gene, mature microRNA, and microRNA binding site conservation at key loci functional in opioid addiction. We reveal a complex evolutionary landscape in which certain directional regulatory edges of the microRNA–mRNA hub-and-spoke network lack pan-mammalian conservation.

Keywords: microRNA, morphine, evolution, TargetScan, OPRM1

INTRODUCTION

Although microRNAs are not the most abundant class of noncoding RNAs in mammalian systems, numbering merely 2,042 mature sequences¹ compared to the more than 9,000 long noncoding RNA genes in humans (Derrien et al., 2012), microRNAs represent a key category of post-transcriptional suppressors, and their global significance in gene expression regulation is firmly established (Bartel, 2009). Nevertheless, evolutionary conservation of protein-coding genes exceeds that of non-coding RNA genes (Derrien et al., 2012). Mammalian microRNA host genes are structurally heterogeneous and highly complex, with variable localization of the mature microRNA sequences relative to key host gene structure elements such as promoters, 3'ends, exons, splice sites, and introns (Rodriguez et al., 2004). Evolutionary complexity may accompany this genomic structure complexity of microRNA host genes: a microRNA cluster functional in stem cell regulation and pluripotency resides within a non-coding RNA host gene that exists only within placental mammals and exhibits major genomic structure distinctions between closely related species (Houbaviy et al., 2005). By no means confined to early development, sequence non-conservation of microRNA-dependent regulation is increasingly apparent in the brain. Brain-expressed microRNAs and their mRNA targets functional in neural development display accelerated rates of evolutionary change along the human lineage (Somel et al., 2011), while expression differences, some of which are shaped by adaptive forces, are evident among the microRNA repertoires of human, chimpanzee, and macaque (Dannemann et al., 2012). In summary, this evidence for gene structure as well as sequence non-conservation of microRNA host genes, mature microRNAs, and microRNA:mRNA hybridization sites motivated us to systematically examine the conservation of microRNA and target sequences implicated in opioid abuse and tolerance.

METHODS

We used the UCSC Genome Browser² (hg19 human genome assembly), miRbase³, and the NCBI website⁴, accessed on May 25 and September 20, 2012.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Some microRNAs prominent in the drug abuse field, as well as their host genes and mRNA targets, lack gene structure conservation and sequence conservation within mammals. Because functional genomics of drug abuse continues to depend on animal, especially rodent, models, and because of the accumulating evidence in the literature regarding non-conservation and rapid evolution of microRNA genes, it is imperative to rigorously test the assumption that the key microRNA-to-mRNA regulatory relationships implicated in human drug abuse can, in fact, be extrapolated to animal models. We tested this assumption for microRNAs from Table 1 at three levels: (1) genomic conservation of the mature microRNA's seed (nt 2-nt 8) sequence within the microRNA host gene; (2) gene structure conservation of the microRNA host gene; and (3) genomic conservation of the microRNA's binding site in the 3'UTR of the known mRNA target from the three reviews (Table 2). In examining microRNA seeds and host genes, we focused only on three microRNAs (not including let-7) whose names were sufficiently specific to allow in silico identification of their host gene loci in the UCSC Genome Browser: miR-23b, miR-133b, and miR-190. We found that two of the three microR-NAs resided within protein-coding host genes, while one host gene was non-coding and had only expressed sequence tag (EST) evidence for a conventional, capped, polyadenylated host gene transcript. We also identified substitutions in the seed sequence of all three microRNAs in mammalian species from the public

²genome.ucsc.edu

³mirbase.org

⁴www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov

Review	Description from review and target
Zheng et al. (2012)	Targets the 3'-UTR of OPRM1 mRNA and regulated the association between OPRM1 mRNA and polysomes
He and Wang (2012)	Could interact with the MOR 3'-UTR via a K box motif (5'-UGUGAU-3') in SH-SY5Y and mouse P19 cells
Rodriguez (2012)	Involved in linking MOR expression and morphine treatment at the post-transcriptional level. Represses MOR through
	3' UTR of MOR1 in K-box motif
Zheng et al. (2012)	Morphine reduces miR-133b and miR-133b increases Pitx3
He and Wang (2012)	Decreased by morphine in zebrafish embryos
Rodriguez (2012)	Possible involvement in addiction through the effects of morphine, Targets Pitx-3 (Th and Dat pathway), miR-133b also
	down-regulates RhoA protein expression
Zheng et al. (2012)	Negatively regulated by fentanyl; decreased expression of miR-190 leads to an increase in NeuroD protein. miR-190
	binds to the 3'UTR of NeuroD mRNA and destroys it
Rodriguez (2012)	Targets NeuroD levels, and is negatively regulated by fentanyl. miR-190 (aka miR-190a?) regulates NeuroD,
	a transcription factor that is known to regulate the differentiation and maturation of neurons
Zheng et al. (2012)	Morphine treatment affected the expression levels of miR-23b and let-7, which have binding sites on the 3'UTR of the
	OPRM1 mRNA and control the expression of OPRM1
He and Wang (2012)	Target is 3' end of MOR mRNA. These authors experimentally validated the in silico prediction that members of the
	let-7 miR family can interact with the 3'-UTR of MOR mRNA at the predicted positions
Rodriguez (2012)	Works as a mediator of the movement of the mu opioid receptor (MOR) mRNA into P-bodies, which leads to
	translational repression of MOR mRNA. Targets MOR through 3' UTR binding
	Zheng et al. (2012) He and Wang (2012) Rodriguez (2012) Zheng et al. (2012) He and Wang (2012) Rodriguez (2012) Zheng et al. (2012) Rodriguez (2012) Zheng et al. (2012) He and Wang (2012)

Table 1 | MicroRNAs and morphine: function and conservation – MicroRNA names, functions, and targets from the "MicroRNAs and Morphine" chapter of the Frontiers Special Topic "Non-Coding RNA and Addiction."

Table 2 | MicroRNAs and morphine: function and conservation – Seed sequence, host gene, and target binding site conservation of microRNAs with known opioid abuse functions, as assessed by viewing the corresponding microRNA host genes and their mRNA targets within the genome-wide 46-species MultiZ alignment in the human UCSC Genome Browser.

MicroRNA name	MicroRNA host gene name	mRNA target of the microRNA	Conservation of microRNA host gene	Closest species to human lacking 100% miR seed conservation at the mRNA target's binding site
miR-23b	C9ORF3	IPCEF1 and OPRM1	Vertebrates, but polyA signal is primate-specific	Gorilla
miR-190	TLN2	NEUROD1	Vertebrates	Mouse
miR-133b	Novel host (ESTs: Al803441 and others)	PITX3	Vertebrates, but polyA signal is primate-specific	n/a (not detected by TargetScan)

genome-wide 46-species MultiZ alignment, suggesting that the affinity of all three microRNAs for their known targets may differ between mammalian species, unless the target UTRs co-evolve with the microRNA seeds. Gene structure conservation of the miR-190 host gene, as assessed by the conservation of the canonical 3'end polyadenylation signal AnTAAA hexamer in the 46-species alignment was also incomplete, with two of the three host genes in human apparently reliant on primate-specific polyadenylation signals (**Table 2**).

We proceeded to gage the conservation of these microRNAs' binding sites in the 3'UTRs of their known mRNA targets, by visualization of the TargetScan microRNA target prediction tool results that are represented in the "TS miRNA" track of the human UCSC Genome Browser. We focused on three target relationships, which are reported in the three review articles comprising our "MicroRNAs and Morphine" chapter of the present Research Topic: miR-23b/OPRM1, miR-190/NeuroD, and miR-133b/Pitx3. We observed the potential absence (due to a genomic deletion relative to human and/or to a genome assembly gap in the nonhuman species) of two microRNA binding sites at these mRNA targets in at least one non-human mammal. The miR-190 binding site of the human NeuroD1 3'UTR is not conserved in mouse, a key animal model for addiction research used to study the OPRM1-NeuroD crosstalk via miR-190 (**Figure 1A**; Rodriguez, 2012 and references therein). We could not evaluate the third site, the miR-133b-binding sequence of the Pitx 3'UTR, because this well-known relationship is not predicted by the pre-computed TargetScan results that are made available in the TS/miR track of the UCSC Genome Browser (hg19 assembly). This deficiency attests to a false-negative rate in microRNA target prediction tools



that results in the omission of some experimentally confirmed microRNA targets by these tools. Similarly, TargetScan did not detect the reported miR-23b targeting of the OPRM1 3'UTR, although, intriguingly, the neighboring gene IPCEF1 – which overlaps, in an antisense orientation, the genomic footprint of one OPRM1 splice isoform – is a miR-23b target (**Table 2**). These results summarily indicate that microRNA host gene structures, mature microRNA seed sequences, and microRNA binding sites at mRNA 3'UTRs are not always conserved in all mammals, for

some of the key microRNAs and their experimentally confirmed mRNA targets in opioid abuse.

Manual annotation of microRNA:mRNA cognate sites may uncover novel regulatory relationships relevant to drug abuse transcriptomics. In the process of assessing sequence conservation at TargetScan-predicted, experimentally confirmed microRNA binding sites at loci of importance to opioid addiction, we often observed that numerous additional microRNAs – not mentioned in the literature concerning post-transcriptional regulation at these loci - are predicted by TargetScan to regulate these same targets. In fact, 16 distinct microRNA binding sites are predicted by TargetScan in the NeuroD1 3'UTR alone. In several particularly interesting cases, two microRNA binding sites partially overlap within a single target gene's 3'UTR. This overlap implies that a given mRNA of that gene may be suppressed by either of the two microRNAs competing for the binding site, but may not be targeted by both microRNAs simultaneously. One intriguing example of these overlaps is found in the 3'UTR of OPRM1, where the experimentally validated let-7 microRNA binding site overlaps a TargetScan-predicted site for miR-383 (Figure 1B). This indicates the utility of UCSC Browser manual annotation in discovering possible new microRNA binding sites, which should be experimentally evaluated for function. These overlapping sites are also intriguing within the context of the competing endogenous RNA (ceRNA) hypothesis (Tay et al., 2011), since one of them in theory competes with the other for binding the same target.

CONCLUSION

We examined the evolutionary conservation of microRNA host genes and experimentally confirmed microRNA targets, focusing on validated microRNA:mRNA regulatory relationships that are central to gene expression regulation in the context of opioid

REFERENCES

- Bartel, D. P. (2009). MicroRNAs: target recognition and regulatory functions. *Cell* 136, 215–233.
- Dannemann, M., Prüfer, K., Lizano, E., Nickel, B., Burbano, H. A., and Kelso, J. (2012). Transcription factors are targeted by differentially expressed miRNAs in primates. *Genome Biol. Evol.* 4, 552–564.
- Derrien, T., Johnson, R., Bussotti, G., Tanzer, A., Djebali, S., Tilgner, H., et al. (2012). The GENCODE v7 catalog of human long noncoding RNAs: analysis of their gene structure, evolution, and expression. *Genome Res.* 22, 1775–1789.
- He, Y., and Wang, Z. J. (2012). Let-7 microRNAs and opioid tolerance. *Front. Genet.* 3:110. doi: 10.3389/ fgene.2012.00110

- Houbaviy, H. B., Dennis, L., Jaenisch, R., and Sharp, P. A. (2005). Characterization of a highly variable eutherian microRNA gene. *RNA* 11, 1245– 1257.
- Rodriguez, R. E. (2012). Morphine and microRNA activity: is there a relation with addiction? *Front. Genet.* 3:223. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00223
- Rodriguez, A., Griffiths-Jones, S., Ashurst, J. L., and Bradley, A. (2004). Identification of mammalian micro-RNA host genes and transcription units. *Genome Res.* 14, 1902–1910.
- Somel, M., Liu, X., Tang, L., Yan, Z., Hu, H., Guo, S., et al. (2011). MicroRNA-driven developmental remodeling in the brain distinguishes humans from other primates. *PLoS Biol.* 9, e1001214. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1001214

addiction. We pinpointed a lack of pan-mammalian conservation at multiple levels. In particular, microRNA host genes contained primate-specific genomic structure elements, such as consensus polyadenylation signals that are absent beyond primates. At the same time, TargetScan-detected, experimentally validated microRNA seed binding sites at mRNA 3'UTRs lacked pan-mammalian conservation; certain seed matches in 3'UTRs were not even conserved in mouse. This evolutionary complexity reveals the potential limitations of animal models in which these protein-coding genes might be regulated by microRNAs differently from human. High-throughput short and long RNA sequencing should facilitate future studies of microRNA roles in drug addiction, through quantitating events such as alternate polyadenylation that are essential for making microRNA binding sites available in 3'UTRs, and through unbiased analysis of co-expression and co-localization of annotation-identified new microRNAs (e.g., miR-383) with their putative mRNA targets.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are deeply grateful to Andre Pietrzykowski, Rutgers University, for his patient encouragement and guidance regarding this article. We thank NIDA, NIH, for its support of this Frontiers Research Topic.

- Tay, Y., Kats, L., Salmena, L., Weiss, D., Tan, S. M., Ala, U., et al. (2011). Coding-independent regulation of the tumor suppressor PTEN by competing endogenous mRNAs. *Cell* 147, 344–357.
- Zheng, H., Law, P.-Y., and Loh, H. H. (2012). Non-coding RNAs regulating morphine function: with emphasis on the in vivo and in vitro functions of miR-190. *Front. Genet.* 3:113. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00113

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 01 October 2012; accepted: 20 October 2012; published online: 26 November 2012.

Citation: Wood EJ and Lipovich L (2012) MicroRNAs in opioid addiction: elucidating evolution. Front. Gene. **3**:241. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00241

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Non-Coding RNA, a specialty of Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2012 Wood and Lipovich. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.

REVIEW ARTICLE published: 21 June 2012 doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00110



Let-7 microRNAs and opioid tolerance

Ying He and Zaijie Jim Wang*

Department of Biopharmaceutical Sciences, Cancer Center, University of Illinois, Chicago, IL, USA

Edited by:

Leonard Lipovich, Wayne State University, USA

Reviewed by:

Jun Yasuda, The JFCR-Cancer Institute, Japan Heh-In Im, Korea Institute of Science and Technology, South Korea

*Correspondence:

Zaijie Jim Wang, Department of Biopharmaceutical Sciences, Cancer Center, University of Illinois, 833 S Wood Street, MC865, Chicago, IL 60612, USA. e-mail: zjwang@uic.edu This chapter will focus on the role of microRNAs (miRs) in regulating the actions of opioid drugs through the opioid receptors. Opioids, such as morphine, are analgesics that are used for treating many forms of acute and chronic pain. However, their chronic use is limited by undesirable effects such as opioid tolerance. The μ opioid receptor (MOR) is the primary receptor responsible for opioids' analgesia and antinociceptive tolerance. The long 3'-untranslated region (3'-UTR) of MOR mRNA is of great interest since this region may contain elements for the post-transcriptional regulation of receptor expression, such as altering the stability of mRNA, influencing translational efficiency, and controlling mRNA transport. MicroRNAs are small non-coding RNA molecules that exert their functions through basepairing with partially complementary sequences in the 3'-UTR of target mRNAs, resulting in decreased polypeptide formation from those mRNAs. Since the discovery of the first miR, lin-4 in Caenorhabditis elegans, hundreds of miRs have been identified from humans to viruses, which have provided a crucial and pervasive layer of post-transcriptional gene regulation. The nervous system is a rich source of miR expression, with a diversity of miR functions in fundamental neurobiological processes including neuronal development, plasticity, metabolism, and apoptosis. Recently, the let-7 family of miRs is found to be a critical regulator of MOR function in opioid tolerance. Let-7 is the first identified human miR. Its family members are highly conserved across species in sequence and function. In the review, we will present a brief review of the opioid receptors, their regulation, and opioid tolerance as well as an overview of miRs and a perspective how miRs may interact with MOR and serve as a regulator of opioid tolerance.

Keywords: opioid, miR, epigenetics, addiction, pain

INTRODUCTION

Since first isolated from opium poppy in the early nineteenth century, morphine and related opioids remain as the most powerful analgesics to treat many forms of acute and chronic pain. However, repeated and prolonged use of opioids leads to tolerance, of which, the analgesic tolerance is the most problematic that can lead to therapeutic failure (i.e., inadequate pain control; McQuay, 1999). In some cases, even the highest tolerable dose of an opioid cannot achieve the desirable analgesic effect in patients (Wang and Wang, 2006; Harden, 2008). Development of opioid tolerance not only limits the analgesic efficacy, but the increased doses of opioids in order to counter tolerance exacerbate another problem, namely opioid addiction that is a significant medical and public health problem. Extensive efforts have been made to elucidate the mechanisms underlying opioid tolerance and drug addiction (Kieffer and Evans, 2002). Increasing evidence implicates the contribution of transcriptional and epigenetic regulation in opioid tolerance and drug addiction, such as activation and inhibition of transcription factors (Carlezon et al., 2005; Zachariou et al., 2006), modification of chromatin and DNA structure (Renthal et al., 2008; Guo et al., 2011), and induction of non-coding RNAs including microRNAs (Pietrzykowski, 2011; Robison and Nestler, 2011).

MicroRNAs (miRs) are small non-coding RNA molecules that repress target gene expression through base-pairing with partially complementary sequences in the 3'-untranslated region (3'-UTR) of target mRNAs. Owing to recent cloning, sequencing, and computational efforts, the numbers of known miRs has been rapidly increasing, and to date, there are a total of 21,643 mature miRs found across 103 species, of which 1921 miRs are found in humans (miRBase Release 18.0, November 2011¹). With the emerging identification of miRs from humans to viruses, a crucial and pervasive layer of post-transcriptional gene regulation by miRs has been elucidated (Ambros, 2004; Taft et al., 2010). It is generally accepted that miRs serve as an important class of epigenetic regulators that participate in a variety of cellular activities. In respect to their diverse functions, miRs play an integral role in fundamental neurobiological processes including neuronal development, plasticity, metabolism, and apoptosis (Kosik, 2006). As one form of long-lasting synaptic plasticity, opioid tolerance is a particularly interesting research area to study miR-mediated cellular adaptation. In this review, we summarize recent findings on miRs in opioid tolerance, with a focus on the role of let-7 miRs in regulating opioid tolerance.

Mu OPIOID RECEPTOR AND OPIOID TOLERANCE

The μ opioid receptor (MOR), a member of the G-protein coupled receptor superfamily, is the primary receptor responsible for

¹http://microrna.sanger.ac.uk/sequences

opioids' analgesia and antinociceptive tolerance (Matthes et al., 1996; Sora et al., 1997). Opioid tolerance may be result from opioid receptor desensitization and trafficking, which include opioid receptor down-regulation, internalization, and uncoupling from G-proteins due to chronic exposure to opioid agonists (Bailey and Connor, 2005; Martini and Whistler, 2007; Koch and Hollt, 2008; Lopez-Gimenez and Milligan, 2010). Receptor down-regulation as one of mechanisms contributing to opioid tolerance has been previously proposed (Davis et al., 1979; Tao et al., 1987; Bhargava and Gulati, 1990; Bernstein and Welch, 1998; Diaz et al., 2000). Chronic morphine treatment produced a marked decrease in brain MOR density (Davis et al., 1979; Tempel et al., 1988). Down-regulation of the high-affinity MOR site in rats has also been reported following continuous infusion of morphine (*i.t.*; Wong et al., 1996) or etorphine (s.c.; Tao et al., 1987). Morphine-induced MOR downregulation was also observed in SH-SY5Y cells, with or without differentiation (Zadina et al., 1993). In addition to receptor downregulation, chronic treatment with morphine has been shown to significantly reduce MOR-signaling in sensory neurons and brainstem nuclei (Sim et al., 1996; Johnson et al., 2006), which are in agreement with the findings that reduced receptor number and resultant reduced MOR-signaling contribute to opioid tolerance. On the other hand, there have been reports that MOR expression was not altered (Dum et al., 1979) or even up-regulated (Lewis et al., 1984) in the brain by various opioids. Some of the discrepancies may be caused by uncontrolled variables (e.g., different opioids, doses, methods of opioid treatments, anatomical regions, and times samples were taken, integrality of tissue samples before assays, and opioid receptor subtypes studied), as well as detection methods. It has been suggested that MOR down-regulation is agonist selective and depends on the agonist's intrinsic efficacy (Nishino et al., 1990; Chakrabarti et al., 1997; Chan et al., 1997; Koch and Hollt, 2008). The purity and selectivity of radiolabeled ligands - a problem not only for some early studies, but also in more recent reports employing questionable materials - used in studies are the other potential culprits for conflicting findings.

DIRECT INTERACTION BETWEEN let-7 FAMILY miRs AND MOR

The long 3'-UTR of MOR mRNA (Ide et al., 2005; Han et al., 2006) suggests that this region may contain physiologically relevant elements for regulating receptor expression by mechanisms such as miR targeting. Indeed, early research on 3'-UTR of human MOR mRNA suggested that MOR expression was increased after a 712-bp segment, immediately downstream of the stop codon, was removed (Zollner et al., 2000). Comparative bioinformatics predicted potential miRs that may interact with the human and mouse MOR (Table 1). Let-7 family of miRs was identified as a top candidate according to the number of putative target sites and alignment pattern. Our group experimentally validated the in silico prediction that members of the let-7 miR family can interact with the 3'-UTR of MOR mRNA at the predicted positions (He et al., 2010). Furthermore, downregulating let-7 with specific LNA-modified antisense oligodeoxynucleotides (LNA-let-7-AS) was found to increase MOR expression in SH-SY5Y cells, a human neuroblastoma cell line, suggesting that (1) MOR is a target of let-7; (2) expression of MOR is under constitutive suppression by let-7.

Table 1 | MicroRNA targets predicted by miRanda (http://www.microrna.org/microrna/getGeneForm.do) and ranked according to the alignment scores.

miRNA	Query target	Alignment	PhastCons
	sites	score	score
		00010	
HUMAN OPRM1 3	-	400	0.000045
hsa-miR-600	291	169	0.666615
hsa-miR-384	83	157	0.619627
hsa-miR-105	172	156	0.619627
hsa-let-7b	381	154	0.607749
hsa-let-7c	383	154	0.607749
hsa-let-7g	386	154	0.607749
hsa-let-7i	386	154	0.607749
hsa-miR-1272	261	154	0.643121
hsa-miR-642	151	154	0.619627
hsa-miR-98	386	154	0.607749
hsa-let-7f	383	153	0.607749
hsa-let-7d	386	152	0.607749
hsa-miR-18a	401	152	0.607749
hsa-miR-198	124	152	0.619627
hsa-let-7a	385	151	0.607749
hsa-miR-302a	169	151	0.619627
hsa-miR-1324	286	150	0.666615
hsa-miR-192	102	150	0.619627
hsa-miR-215	102	150	0.619627
hsa-miR-648	144	150	0.619627
hsa-miR-18b	399	149	0.607749
hsa-miR-383	389	149	0.607749
hsa-miR-526b	52	149	0.619627
hsa-miR-659	233	149	0.619627
hsa-let-7e	385	147	0.607749
hsa-miR-302b	170	147	0.619627
hsa-miR-136	166	146	0.619627
hsa-miR-431	220	145	0.619627
hsa-miR-557	216	145	0.619627
hsa-miR-1262	105	144	0.619627
hsa-miR-154	322	144	0.666615
hsa-miR-373	168	144	0.619627
hsa-miR-583	114	144	0.619627
hsa-miR-1259	271	143	0.643121
hsa-miR-135a	264	143	0.643121
hsa-miR-135b	264	143	0.643121
hsa-miR-493	4	143	0.6910845
hsa-miR-519c-5p	79	143	0.619627
hsa-miR-520d-3p	170	143	0.619627
hsa-miR-580	307	143	0.666615
hsa-miR-196a	382	142	0.607749
hsa-miR-520a-3p	172	142	0.619627
hsa-miR-577	302	142	0.666615
hsa-miR-142-3p	384	142	0.607749
hsa-miR-378	208	141	0.619627
hsa-miR-422a	208	141	0.619627
hsa-miR-1826	387	141	0.607749
hsa-miR-302c	170	140	0.619627
	170	140	0.013027

(Continued)

Table 1 | Continued

miRNA	Query target	Alignment	PhastCons	
	sites	score	score	
hsa-miR-302d	170	140	0.619627	
hsa-miR-504	1	140	0.6910845	
hsa-miR-521	89	140	0.619627	
hsa-miR-9	234	140	0.619627	
hsa-miR-942	333	140	0.666615	
MOUSE OPRM1 3'-	UTR			
mmu-miR-540-5p	278	168.0	0.62498	
mmu-miR-540-3p	395	159.0	0.584342	
mmu-miR-134	403	158.0	0.584342	
mmu-miR-302c	165	158.0	0.586054	
mmu-miR-302d	165	151.0	0.586054	
mmu-let-7i	384	149.0	0.62498	
mmu-miR-139-5p	363	149.0	0.62498	
mmu-let-7g	388	148.0	0.62498	
mmu-miR-199a-3p	193	148.0	0.586054	
mmu-miR-199b	193	148.0	0.586054	
mmu-miR-496	241	148.0	0.586054	
mmu-miR-532-3p	63	148.0	0.586054	
mmu-let-7a	388	147.0	0.62498	
mmu-let-7f	388	147.0	0.62498	
mmu-let-7c	386	146.0	0.62498	
mmu-miR-486	214	146.0	0.586054	
mmu-miR-741	512	146.0	0.567263	
mmu-miR-383	93	144.0	0.586054	
mmu-miR-695	404	144.0	0.584342	
mmu-let-7b	388	143.0	0.62498	
mmu-let-7e	388	143.0	0.62498	
mmu-miR-188-3p	64	143.0	0.586054	
mmu-miR-196b	386	143.0	0.62498	
mmu-miR-302b	165	143.0	0.586054	
mmu-miR-323-5p	233	143.0	0.586054	
, mmu-miR-466f-5p	138	143.0	0.586054	
mmu-miR-98	387	143.0	0.62498	
mmu-miR-298	391	142.0	0.584342	
mmu-miR-339-3p	71	142.0	0.586054	
, mmu-miR-381	528	142.0	0.590822	
mmu-miR-682	186	142.0	0.586054	
mmu-let-7d	388	141.0	0.62498	
mmu-miR-504	57	141.0	0.586054	
mmu-miR-154	321	140.0	0.62498	
mmu-miR-196a	387	140.0	0.62498	
mmu-miR-340-5p	527	140.0	0.590822	
mmu-miR-34b-3p	367	140.0	0.62498	

In order to elucidate a physiological role of let-7 in regulating MOR and opioid tolerance, we further examined the *in vivo* relevance of let-7 miRs in cellular and animal models of opioid tolerance. For the former, SH-SY5Y cells were treated with morphine $(1-10 \,\mu\text{M}$ for 24–48 h) to induce cellular tolerance. The expression of let-7 miRs was significantly up-regulated by chronic treatment with morphine, while the expression level of MOR was reduced as determined by the western blotting method (He et al., 2010) and the receptor radioligand binding using ³H-DAMGO (He and Wang, unpublished data). Therefore, chronic morphine treatment caused the increase of let-7 and decrease of MOR expression during the development of opioid tolerance in SH-SY5Y. Furthermore, the regulation of let-7 expression by morphine occurred in a mouse model of opioid tolerance. Mice were implanted s.c. with a 75-mg morphine pellet (75 mg morphine pellet/mouse, s.c.). Brain expression of let-7 increased gradually over time after morphine treatment, temporally correlating with the development of antinociceptive tolerance to morphine. Interestingly, up-regulation of let-7 occurred in MOR-expressing cells, but not in MOR-negative cells in mice brain cortex region as determined by in situ hybridization (He et al., 2010). This was in agreement with the aforementioned finding that MOR is a direct target of let-7. In order to further examine a causative role of let-7 in leading to opioid tolerance, we directly targeted let-7 in the mouse model of opioid tolerance. Treatment with the let-7 inhibitor (i.c.v.) decreased brain let-7 levels and partially attenuated opioid antinociceptive tolerance (He et al., 2010).

Previous reports from a number of different cell lines or animal models (e.g., Brodsky et al., 1995; Johnson et al., 2006) indicated that MOR mRNA was not changed upon treatment with morphine. We also found that the total MOR transcripts were unchanged by morphine. For example, MOR mRNA remained the same in SH-SY5Y cells following chronic morphine treatment. It raised a question as to how let-7 miRs repress MOR in opioid tolerance. We confirmed that let-7 did not affect MOR mRNA stability; however, polysome-bound MOR transcript was significantly decreased. Where is MOR mRNA hiding? It turns out that it can be accumulated in P-bodies. So these intriguing data led us to propose the following regulatory mechanism where upon let-7 can regulate opioid tolerance: let-7 recruits and sequesters MOR mRNA to P-bodies that are deprived of translational machinery, effectively reducing polysome-bound MOR mRNA and leading to translation repression. A similar pathway was observed in HEK293 and HeLa cells (Pillai et al., 2005), thus translation repression may serve as a general mechanism by let-7 to regulate its target gene expression (Figure 1). Keep in mind that let-7 activity is turned up in opioid tolerance by up-regulation of their transcripts. Nature works in a wonder to ensure the activity of let-7, ultimately dampening the activity of opioids upon persistent activation.

POTENTIAL TARGET GENES OF let-7 IN OPIOID TOLERANCE

Let-7 was the first identified human miR. Its family members are highly conserved across species in sequence and function (Pasquinelli et al., 2000). Major roles of let-7 include the regulation of stem-cell differentiation, neuromuscular development, and cell proliferation & differentiation (Reinhart et al., 2000; Mansfield et al., 2004; Roush and Slack, 2008). Let-7 was initially identified as a heterochronic gene (Pasquinelli et al., 2000). In mammals, let-7 levels increase during embryogenesis and during brain development (Schulman et al., 2005; Wulczyn et al., 2007). Let-7 is undetectable in human and mouse embryonic stem cells, and the level of let-7 increases upon differentiation (Thomson et al., 2004, 2006; Wulczyn et al., 2007). This high expression of let-7 is then maintained in various adult tissues (Sempere et al., 2004; Thomson et al., 2004). Furthermore, let-7 is widely viewed



as a tumor suppressor miR (Boyerinas et al., 2010). There is a clear link between loss of let-7 expression and the development of poorly differentiated, aggressive cancers (Takamizawa et al., 2004; Dahiya et al., 2008; Childs et al., 2009). Using the computational algorithm TargetScan 6.0² to screen human 3'-UTR sequences containing let-7 family miRs complementary sites, 886 conserved targets, with a total of 989 conserved sites and 111 poorly conserved sites were predicted. High-mobility group AT-hook 2 (HMGA2), which is the top-scoring candidate gene on the list (Table 2), was confirmed as a direct let-7 target both in vitro and in vivo (Lee and Dutta, 2007; Mayr et al., 2007; Shell et al., 2007). HMGA2 is a chromatin-associated non-histone protein capable of modulating chromatin architecture and thus affecting transcription. In addition to abundant studies on HMGA2 in embryogenesis (Zhou et al., 1995; Sun et al., 2009) and tumorigenesis (Peng et al., 2008; Qian et al., 2009), it would be interesting to investigate its possible involvement in opioid tolerance as a functional target gene of let-7.

Seed pairing rules are widely used to predict functional miR target sites. MiR-mRNA recognition requires the perfect complementarity of 6-nucleotide mRNA seed sites with the 5' end of miRs (positions 2-7; Bartel, 2009). However, when predictions based on such short complementary sequences are compared to experimental results from proteomic studies, the false-positive and false-negative rates appear to be above 50% (Easow et al., 2007; Baek et al., 2008; Mourelatos, 2008; Selbach et al., 2008). Several previous findings strongly indicated that a sizeable fraction of miR targets do not obey the "canonical" seed rule (Ha et al., 1996; Didiano and Hobert, 2006; Tay et al., 2008; Stefani and Slack, 2012). For let-7, biological studies clearly demonstrated that genetically verified let-7 targets in Caenorhabditis elegans contain only imperfect binding sites, with bulges or G·U wobble pairs in the seed region (Vella et al., 2004). A recent study identified a new class of miR target site nucleation bulges and an alternative mode of miR target recognition by a pivot-pairing rule (Chi et al., 2012). They proposed a transitional nucleation model in which a transitional nucleation state determines the binding of miRs to nucleation

bulge mRNAs. Therefore, the identification of non-canonical let-7-mRNA interactions may lead to important breakthroughs in discovering new let-7 targets and further decipher the functional role of let-7 in opioid tolerance.

With respect to let-7 target gene identification, another important issue need to be addressed is the redundancy of let-7 family members. There are 14 and 13 different let-7 family members in mouse and human, respectively (Roush and Slack, 2008). In human, these different members, let-7a-1, 7a-2, 7a-3, 7b, 7c, 7d, 7e, f7-1, 7f-2, 7g, 7i, miR-98, and miR-202 are located on nine different chromosomes (Ruby et al., 2006). While let-7 was initially viewed as one single activity, emerging data suggest that the let-7 family contains miRs with different activities (i.e., targets). For example, it has been reported that let-7b* was highly expressed but let-7e* was drastically reduced in malignant mesothelioma (Guled et al., 2009). So the question remains as whether individual let-7 family member with its own expression pattern exerts specialized function during opioid tolerance development.

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Opioid tolerance, even to the analgesic actions of these drugs, is likely not caused by a single mechanism; rather an intricate neuronal circuitry involving multiple mechanisms may ultimately lead to the expression of tolerance seen in humans. Regulation of opioid tolerance, through MOR or other mechanisms, represents one of these mechanisms. What is not known is how many miRs are involved. Existing literature on miR-related mechanisms of opioid tolerance is sparse. A typical study in miR research field tends to survey transcript levels of miRs in a disease state (Zheng et al., 2010). For example, morphine-induced up-regulation of miR-15b in human monocyte-derived macrophages (Dave and Khalili, 2010), while miR-133b was decreased by morphine in zebrafish embryos (Sanchez-Simon et al., 2010). It is often extremely difficult to identify a casual relationship. Furthermore, moving from a cell line to *in vivo* relevance is another big hurdle to overcome.

In the case of let-7 miRs, it was identified as a critical regulator of both human and mouse MOR. Moreover, it was demonstrated to be relevant for both cellular opioid tolerance as well as animal models of opioid tolerance (He et al., 2010). Let-7 represents one of several miRs contributing to opioid tolerance. For example, it

²http://www.targetscan.org/

Table 2 | Top 100 predicted targets of let-7 miRNAs ranked by total context score (TargetScan 6.0, http://www.targetscan.org/.)

Target gene (1–50)	Total context score	Aggregate P _{CT}	Target gene (51–100)	Total context score	Aggregate P _{C1}
Hmga2	-1.08	>0.99	Map4k3	-0.46	0.96
Fignl2	-1.07	>0.99	Tmem211	-0.46	<0.1
Lin28b	-0.98	>0.99	Zfp583	-0.46	0.96
rim71	-0.98	>0.99	Dtx2	-0.46	0.99
C3hav1l	-0.85	0.86	Diap2	-0.46	0.98
ign	-0.84	>0.99	Pgrmc1	-0.46	0.9
Vr6a1	-0.8	>0.99	Pars2	-0.46	<0.1
200002K05Rik	-0.7	>0.99	Cd200r1	-0.45	0.94
Skil	-0.67	>0.99	Abt1	-0.45	<0.1
gdcc3	-0.65	>0.99	Acot11	-0.45	0.5
hrsp	-0.62	<0.1	Kcnj11	-0.45	0.81
Prtg	-0.61	>0.99	Zfp248	-0.45	<0.1
Sic5a9	-0.6	0.83	Bcl2l13	-0.44	<0.1
gfbr1	-0.58	>0.99	Gatm	-0.44	0.95
ód1	-0.58	>0.99	Hic2	-0.44	>0.99
Smarcad1	-0.57	0.96	Ccnj	-0.44	0.97
Gab2	-0.57	0.6	Arid3a	-0.44	>0.99
Ngly1	-0.54	<0.1	Hand1	-0.44	0.98
Kotd21	-0.54	0.98	lgf1r	-0.44	>0.99
Dna2	-0.53	<0.1	Rpusd3	-0.43	0.59
pp1r15b	-0.53	>0.99	Pbx3	-0.43	0.99
lphp3	-0.53	0.94	Zmat4	-0.43	0.97
ezt	-0.52	<0.1	Tmem164	-0.43	<0.1
Suv39h2	-0.51	0.44	Bcat1	-0.43	0.99
Gdf6	-0.5	0.98	Pxt1	-0.43	<0.1
Brwd1	-0.5	<0.1	Als2cl	-0.43	<0.1
Coil	-0.49	0.97	9930012K11Rik	-0.42	0.94
.rig3	-0.49	0.89	Atg10	-0.42	<0.1
loxb1	-0.49	0.98	Limd2	-0.42	0.94
Zcchc9	-0.48	<0.1	Zfp341	-0.42	<0.1
33gnt7	-0.48	0.76	Fam103a1	-0.42	0.87
Entpd7	-0.48	<0.1	Med28	-0.42	0.56
Acvr1c	-0.48	0.99	Smug1	-0.42	<0.1
.rig2	-0.48	0.99	Trpm3	-0.42	<0.1
Bzw1	-0.48	>0.99	Fras1	-0.42	0.96
Snptab	-0.48	0.98	Uhrf2	-0.42	0.86
Vdr41	-0.48	<0.1	Cdc25a	-0.41	0.8
Cdc34	-0.48	0.99	lgf2bp1	-0.41	>0.99
		0.98			0.94
Slc35d2	-0.47		Cep110	-0.41	
Oclre1b	-0.47	0.12	Mrps33	-0.41	<0.1
lif1an	-0.47	0.61	Tnfsf10	-0.41	<0.1
/fp322a	-0.47	0.82	Arhgap28	-0.41	0.98
Adrb2	-0.47	0.98	Apbb3 Epdo2a	-0.41	0.98
mprss11f	-0.47	0.92	Fndc3a	-0.41	0.97
Ddx19b	-0.47	0.98	Colla2	-0.41	0.97
Ddx19a	-0.47	0.98	Gemin7	-0.41	<0.1
Galnt1	-0.47	>0.99	Wnt9a	-0.41	0.99
Greb1l	-0.47	0.99	lgf2bp2	-0.41	0.93
Ercc6	-0.47	0.98	Tmem2	-0.41	0.98
Ddi2	-0.46	0.89	Zfp879	-0.41	0.35

was found miR-23b could interact with the MOR 3'-UTR via a K box motif (5'-UGUGAU-3') in SH-SY5Y and mouse P19 cells (Wu et al., 2008, 2009).

While MOR is involved in the development of morphine tolerance, it is not the only target for the action of miRs in opioid tolerance (Matthes et al., 1996; Sora et al., 1997). With the increasing understanding of miRs in epigenetic regulation, further research is needed to identify other target genes of miRs (including let-7). A number of receptors, ion channels, and protein kinases, which have

REFERENCES

- Ambros, V. (2004). The functions of animal microRNAs. *Nature* 431, 350–355.
- Baek, D., Villen, J., Shin, C., Camargo, F. D., Gygi, S. P., and Bartel, D. P. (2008). The impact of microR-NAs on protein output. *Nature* 455, 64–71.
- Bailey, C. P., and Connor, M. (2005). Opioids: cellular mechanisms of tolerance and physical dependence. *Curr. Opin. Pharmacol.* 5, 60–68.
- Bartel, D. P. (2009). MicroRNAs: target recognition and regulatory functions. *Cell* 136, 215–233.
- Bernstein, M. A., and Welch, S. P. (1998). mu-Opioid receptor downregulation and cAMP-dependent protein kinase phosphorylation in a mouse model of chronic morphine tolerance. *Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res.* 55, 237–242.
- Bhargava, H. N., and Gulati, A. (1990). Down-regulation of brain and spinal cord mu-opiate receptors in morphine tolerant-dependent rats. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 190, 305–311.
- Boyerinas, B., Park, S. M., Hau, A., Murmann, A. E., and Peter, M. E. (2010). The role of let-7 in cell differentiation and cancer. *Endocr. Relat. Cancer* 17, F19–F36.
- Brodsky, M., Elliott, K., Hynansky, A., and Inturrisi, C. E. (1995). CNS levels of mu opioid receptor (MOR-1) mRNA during chronic treatment with morphine or naltrexone. *Brain Res. Bull.* 38, 135–141.
- Carlezon, W. A. Jr., Duman, R. S., and Nestler, E. J. (2005). The many faces of CREB. *Trends Neurosci.* 28, 436–445.
- Chakrabarti, S., Yang, W., Law, P. Y., and Loh, H. H. (1997). The muopioid receptor down-regulates differently from the delta-opioid receptor: requirement of a high affinity receptor/G protein complex formation. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 52, 105–113.
- Chan, K. W., Duttory, A., and Yoburn, B. C. (1997). Magnitude of tolerance to fentanyl is independent of mu-opioid receptor density. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 319, 225–228.
- Chi, S. W., Hannon, G. J., and Darnell, R. B. (2012). An alternative mode of

microRNA target recognition. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 19, 321–327.

- Childs, G., Fazzari, M., Kung, G., Kawachi, N., Brandwein-Gensler, M., McLemore, M., Chen, Q., Burk, R. D., Smith, R. V., Prystowsky, M. B., Belbin, T. J., and Schlecht, N. F. (2009). Low-level expression of microRNAs let-7d and miR-205 are prognostic markers of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Am. J. Pathol.* 174, 736–745.
- Dahiya, N., Sherman-Baust, C. A., Wang, T. L., Davidson, B., Shih Ie, M., Zhang, Y., Wood, W. III, Becker, K. G., and Morin, P. J. (2008). MicroRNA expression and identification of putative miRNA targets in ovarian cancer. *PLoS ONE* 3, e2436. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0002436
- Dave, R. S., and Khalili, K. (2010). Morphine treatment of human monocyte-derived macrophages induces differential miRNA and protein expression: impact on inflammation and oxidative stress in the central nervous system. J. Cell. Biochem. 110, 834–845.
- Davis, M. E., Akera, T., and Brody, T. M. (1979). Reduction of opiate binding to brainstem slices associated with the development of tolerance to morphine in rats. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 211, 112–119.
- Diaz, A., Pazos, A., Florez, J., and Hurle, M. A. (2000). Autoradiographic mapping of mu-opioid receptors during opiate tolerance and supersensitivity in the rat central nervous system. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol.* 362, 101–109.
- Didiano, D., and Hobert, O. (2006). Perfect seed pairing is not a generally reliable predictor for miRNA-target interactions. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 13, 849–851.
- Dum, J., Meyer, G., Hollt, V., and Herz, A. (1979). In vivo opiate binding unchanged in tolerant/dependent mice. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 58, 453–460.
- Easow, G., Teleman, A. A., and Cohen, S. M. (2007). Isolation of microRNA targets by miRNP immunopurification. *RNA* 13, 1198–1204.
- Guled, M., Lahti, L., Lindholm, P. M., Salmenkivi, K., Bagwan, I., Nicholson, A. G., and Knuutila, S. (2009).

been implicated in opioid tolerance, such as the NMDA receptors, PKC, and CaMKII (Kieffer and Evans, 2002; Wang and Wang, 2006; Ueda and Ueda, 2009) may become potential targets for let-7.

In summary, miR-mediated mechanisms provide a novel direction toward unraveling the complex mechanisms involved in the development of opioid tolerance. These studies will enrich our knowledge on basic principles of neuronal and behavioral adaptation in opioid tolerance, and eventually lead to novel design and development of pharmacological treatments for opioid tolerance.

CDKN2A, NF2, and JUN are dysregulated among other genes by miR-NAs in malignant mesothelioma -A miRNA microarray analysis. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer* 48, 615–623.

- Guo, J. U., Su, Y., Zhong, C., Ming, G. L., and Song, H. (2011). Hydroxylation of 5-methylcytosine by TET1 promotes active DNA demethylation in the adult brain. *Cell* 145, 423–434.
- Ha, I., Wightman, B., and Ruvkun, G. (1996). A bulged lin-4/lin-14 RNA duplex is sufficient for *Caenorhabditis elegans* lin-14 temporal gradient formation. *Genes Dev.* 10, 3041–3050.
- Han, W., Kasai, S., Hata, H., Takahashi, T., Takamatsu, Y., Yamamoto, H., Uhl, G. R., Sora, I., and Ikeda, K. (2006). Intracisternal a-particle element in the 3' noncoding region of the mu-opioid receptor gene in CXBK mice: a new genetic mechanism underlying differences in opioid sensitivity. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 16, 451–460.
- Harden, R. N. (2008). Chronic pain and opiates: a call for moderation. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 89, S72–S76.
- He, Y., Yang, C., Kirkmire, C. M., and Wang, Z. J. (2010). Regulation of opioid tolerance by let-7 family microRNA targeting the mu opioid receptor. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 10251–10258.
- Ide, S., Han, W., Kasai, S., Hata, H., Sora, I., and Ikeda, K. (2005). Characterization of the 3' untranslated region of the human mu-opioid receptor (MOR-1) mRNA. *Gene* 364, 139–145.
- Johnson, E. E., Chieng, B., Napier, I., and Connor, M. (2006). Decreased mu-opioid receptor signalling and a reduction in calcium current density in sensory neurons from chronically morphine-treated mice. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 148, 947–955.
- Kieffer, B. L., and Evans, C. J. (2002). Opioid tolerance-in search of the holy grail. *Cell* 108, 587–590.
- Koch, T., and Hollt, V. (2008). Role of receptor internalization in opioid tolerance and dependence. *Pharma*col. Ther. 117, 199–206.

- Kosik, K. S. (2006). The neuronal microRNA system. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 7, 911–920.
- Lee, Y. S., and Dutta, A. (2007). The tumor suppressor microRNA let-7 represses the HMGA2 oncogene. *Genes Dev.* 21, 1025–1030.
- Lewis, J. W., Lewis, M. E., Loomus, D. J., and Akil, H. (1984). Acute systemic administration of morphine selectively increases mu opioid receptor binding in the rat brain. *Neuropeptides* 5, 117–120.
- Lopez-Gimenez, J. F., and Milligan, G. (2010). Opioid regulation of mu receptor internalisation: relevance to the development of tolerance and dependence. CNS Neurol. Disord. Drug Targets 9, 616–626.
- Mansfield, J. H., Harfe, B. D., Nissen, R., Obenauer, J., Srineel, J., Chaudhuri, A., Farzan-Kashani, R., Zuker, M., Pasquinelli, A. E., Ruvkun, G., Sharp, P. A., Tabin, C. J., and McManus, M. T. (2004). MicroRNA-responsive 'sensor' transgenes uncover Hoxlike and other developmentally regulated patterns of vertebrate microRNA expression. *Nat. Genet.* 36, 1079–1083.
- Martini, L., and Whistler, J. L. (2007). The role of mu opioid receptor desensitization and endocytosis in morphine tolerance and dependence. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 17, 556–564.
- Matthes, H. W., Maldonado, R., Simonin, F., Valverde, O., Slowe, S., Kitchen, I., Befort, K., Dierich, A., Le Meur, M., Dolle, P., Tzavara, E., Hanoune, J., Roques, B. P., and Kieffer, B. L. (1996). Loss of morphine-induced analgesia, reward effect and withdrawal symptoms in mice lacking the mu-opioid-receptor gene. *Nature* 383, 819–823.
- Mayr, C., Hemann, M. T., and Bartel, D. P. (2007). Disrupting the pairing between let-7 and Hmga2 enhances oncogenic transformation. *Science* 315, 1576–1579.
- McQuay, H. (1999). Opioids in pain management. *Lancet* 353, 2229–2232.
- Mourelatos, Z. (2008). Small RNAs: the seeds of silence. *Nature* 455, 44–45.

- Nishino, K., Su, Y. F., Wong, C. S., Watkins, W. D., and Chang, K. J. (1990). Dissociation of mu opioid tolerance from receptor downregulation in rat spinal cord. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 253, 67–72.
- Pasquinelli, A. E., Reinhart, B. J., Slack, F., Martindale, M. Q., Kuroda, M. I., Maller, B., Hayward, D. C., Ball, E. E., Degnan, B., Muller, P., Spring, J., Srinivasan, A., Fishman, M., Finnerty, J., Corbo, J., Levine, M., Leahy, P., Davidson, E., and Ruvkun, G. (2000). Conservation of the sequence and temporal expression of let-7 heterochronic regulatory RNA. *Nature* 408, 86–89.
- Peng, Y., Laser, J., Shi, G., Mittal, K., Melamed, J., Lee, P., and Wei, J. J. (2008). Antiproliferative effects by Let-7 repression of high-mobility group A2 in uterine leiomyoma. *Mol. Cancer Res.* 6, 663–673.
- Pietrzykowski, A. Z. (2011). The role of microRNAs in drug addiction: a big lesson from tiny molecules. *Int. Rev. Neurobiol.* 91, 1–24.
- Pillai, R. S., Bhattacharyya, S. N., Artus, C. G., Zoller, T., Cougot, N., Basyuk, E., Bertrand, E., and Filipowicz, W. (2005). Inhibition of translational initiation by Let-7 MicroRNA in human cells. *Science* 309, 1573–1576.
- Qian, Z. R., Asa, S. L., Siomi, H., Siomi, M. C., Yoshimoto, K., Yamada, S., Wang, E. L., Rahman, M. M., Inoue, H., Itakura, M., Kudo, E., and Sano, T. (2009). Overexpression of HMGA2 relates to reduction of the let-7 and its relationship to clinicopathological features in pituitary adenomas. *Mod. Pathol.* 22, 431–441.
- Reinhart, B. J., Slack, F. J., Basson, M., Pasquinelli, A. E., Bettinger, J. C., Rougvie, A. E., Horvitz, H. R., and Ruvkun, G. (2000). The 21-nucleotide let-7 RNA regulates developmental timing in *Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature* 403, 901–906.
- Renthal, W., Carle, T. L., Maze, I., Covington, H. E. III, Truong, H. T., Alibhai, I., Kumar, A., Montgomery, R. L., Olson, E. N., and Nestler, E. J. (2008). Delta FosB mediates epigenetic desensitization of the cfos gene after chronic amphetamine exposure. J. Neurosci. 28,7344–7349.
- Robison, A. J., and Nestler, E. J. (2011). Transcriptional and epigenetic mechanisms of addiction. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 12, 623–637.
- Roush, S., and Slack, F. J. (2008). The let-7 family of microRNAs. *Trends Cell Biol.* 18, 505–516.
- Ruby, J. G., Jan, C., Player, C., Axtell, M. J., Lee, W., Nusbaum, C., Ge, H.,

and Bartel, D. P. (2006). Large-scale sequencing reveals 21U-RNAs and additional microRNAs and endogenous siRNAs in *C. elegans. Cell* 127, 1193–1207.

- Sanchez-Simon, F. M., Zhang, X. X., Loh, H. H., Law, P. Y., and Rodriguez, R. E. (2010). Morphine regulates dopaminergic neuron differentiation via miR-133b. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 78, 935–942.
- Schulman, B. R., Esquela-Kerscher, A., and Slack, F. J. (2005). Reciprocal expression of lin-41 and the microRNAs let-7 and mir-125 during mouse embryogenesis. *Dev. Dyn.* 234, 1046–1054.
- Selbach, M., Schwanhausser, B., Thierfelder, N., Fang, Z., Khanin, R., and Rajewsky, N. (2008). Widespread changes in protein synthesis induced by microRNAs. *Nature* 455, 58–63.
- Sempere, L. F., Freemantle, S., Pitha-Rowe, I., Moss, E., Dmitrovsky, E., and Ambros, V. (2004). Expression profiling of mammalian microRNAs uncovers a subset of brain-expressed microRNAs with possible roles in murine and human neuronal differentiation. *Genome Biol.* 5, R13.
- Shell, S., Park, S. M., Radjabi, A. R., Schickel, R., Kistner, E. O., Jewell, D. A., Feig, C., Lengyel, E., and Peter, M. E. (2007). Let-7 expression defines two differentiation stages of cancer. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 11400–11405.
- Sim, L. J., Selley, D. E., Dworkin, S. I., and Childers, S. R. (1996). Effects of chronic morphine administration on mu opioid receptor-stimulated [35S]GTPgammaS autoradiography in rat brain. *J. Neurosci.* 16, 2684–2692.
- Sora, I., Takahashi, N., Funada, M., Ujike, H., Revay, R. S., Donovan, D. M., Miner, L. L., and Uhl, G. R. (1997). Opiate receptor knockout mice define mu receptor roles in endogenous nociceptive responses and morphine-induced analgesia. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 94, 1544–1549.
- Stefani, G., and Slack, F. J. (2012). A 'pivotal' new rule for microRNA-mRNA interactions. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 19, 265–266.
- Sun, T., Fu, M., Bookout, A. L., Kliewer, S. A., and Mangelsdorf, D. J. (2009). MicroRNA let-7 regulates 3T3-L1 adipogenesis. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 23, 925–931.
- Taft, R. J., Pang, K. C., Mercer, T. R., Dinger, M., and Mattick, J. S. (2010). Non-coding RNAs: regulators of disease. J. Pathol. 220, 126–139.
- Takamizawa, J., Konishi, H., Yanagisawa, K., Tomida, S., Osada, H., Endoh, H., Harano, T., Yatabe, Y., Nagino, M.,

Nimura, Y., Mitsudomi, T., and Takahashi, T. (2004). Reduced expression of the let-7 microRNAs in human lung cancers in association with shortened postoperative survival. *Cancer Res.* 64, 3753–3756.

- Tao, P. L., Law, P. Y., and Loh, H. H. (1987). Decrease in delta and mu opioid receptor binding capacity in rat brain after chronic etorphine treatment. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 240, 809–816.
- Tay, Y., Zhang, J., Thomson, A. M., Lim, B., and Rigoutsos, I. (2008). MicroR-NAs to Nanog, Oct4 and Sox2 coding regions modulate embryonic stem cell differentiation. *Nature* 455, 1124–1128.
- Tempel, A., Habas, J., Paredes, W., and Barr, G. A. (1988). Morphineinduced downregulation of muopioid receptors in neonatal rat brain. *Brain Res.* 469, 129–133.
- Thomson, J. M., Newman, M., Parker, J. S., Morin-Kensicki, E. M., Wright, T., and Hammond, S. M. (2006). Extensive post-transcriptional regulation of microRNAs and its implications for cancer. *Genes Dev.* 20, 2202–2207.
- Thomson, J. M., Parker, J., Perou, C. M., and Hammond, S. M. (2004). A custom microarray platform for analysis of microRNA gene expression. *Nat. Methods* 1, 47–53.
- Ueda, H., and Ueda, M. (2009). Mechanisms underlying morphine analgesic tolerance and dependence. *Front. Biosci.* 14, 5260–5272.
- Vella, M. C., Choi, E. Y., Lin, S. Y., Reinert, K., and Slack, F. J. (2004). The *C. elegans microRNA let-7* binds to imperfect let-7 complementary sites from the lin-41 3'UTR. *Genes Dev.* 18, 132–137.
- Wang, Z. J., and Wang, L. X. (2006). Phosphorylation: a molecular switch in opioid tolerance. *Life Sci.* 79, 1681–1691.
- Wong, C. S., Cherng, C. H., Luk, H. N., Ho, S. T., and Tung, C. S. (1996). Effects of NMDA receptor antagonists on inhibition of morphine tolerance in rats: binding at mu-opioid receptors. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 297, 27–33.
- Wu, Q., Law, P. Y., Wei, L. N., and Loh, H. H. (2008). Post-transcriptional regulation of mouse mu opioid receptor (MOR1) via its 3' untranslated region: a role for microRNA23b. *FASEB J.* 22, 4085–4095.
- Wu, Q., Zhang, L., Law, P. Y., Wei, L. N., and Loh, H. H. (2009). Longterm morphine treatment decreases the association of mu-opioid receptor (MOR1) mRNA with polysomes through miRNA23b. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 75, 744–750.

- Wulczyn, F. G., Smirnova, L., Rybak, A., Brandt, C., Kwidzinski, E., Ninnemann, O., Strehle, M., Seiler, A., Schumacher, S., and Nitsch, R. (2007). Post-transcriptional regulation of the let-7 microRNA during neural cell specification. *FASEB J.* 21, 415–426.
- Zachariou, V., Bolanos, C. A., Selley,
 D. E., Theobald, D., Cassidy, M.
 P., Kelz, M. B., Shaw-Lutchman,
 T., Berton, O., Sim-Selley, L. J.,
 Dileone, R. J., Kumar, A., and Nestler,
 E. J. (2006). An essential role for
 DeltaFosB in the nucleus accumbens
 in morphine action. *Nat. Neurosci.* 9, 205–211.
- Zadina, J. E., Chang, S. L., Ge, L. J., and Kastin, A. J. (1993). Mu opiate receptor down-regulation by morphine and up-regulation by naloxone in SH-SY5Y human neuroblastoma cells. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 265, 254–262.
- Zheng, H., Zeng, Y., Zhang, X., Chu, J., Loh, H. H., and Law, P. Y. (2010). mu-Opioid receptor agonists differentially regulate the expression of miR-190 and NeuroD. *Mol. Pharma*col. 77, 102–109.
- Zhou, X., Benson, K. F., Ashar, H. R., and Chada, K. (1995). Mutation responsible for the mouse pygmy phenotype in the developmentally regulated factor HMGI-C. *Nature* 376, 771–774.
- Zollner, C., Johnson, P. S., Bei Wang, J., Roy, A. J. Jr., Layton, K. M., Min Wu, J., and Surratt, C. K. (2000). Control of mu opioid receptor expression by modification of cDNA 5'- and 3'noncoding regions. *Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res.* 79, 159–162.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 20 March 2012; accepted: 29 May 2012; published online: 21 June 2012.

Citation: He Y and Wang ZJ (2012) Let-7 microRNAs and opioid tolerance. Front. Gene. 3:110. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00110

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Non-Coding RNA, a specialty of Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2012 He and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.

REVIEW ARTICLE published: 09 November 2012 doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00223

Morphine and microRNA activity: is there a relation with addiction?

Raquel E. Rodríguez *

Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Institute of Neuroscience, University of Salamanca, Salamanca, Spain

Edited by:

Leonard Lipovich, Wayne State University, USA

Reviewed by:

Georges St. Laurent, St. Laurent Institute, USA Heh-In Im, Korea Institute of Science and Technology, South Korea

*Correspondence:

Raquel E. Rodríguez, Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Institute of Neuroscience, University of Salamanca, C/ Pintor Fernando Gallego 1, Salamanca 37007, Spain. e-mail: requelmi@usal.es When we talk about drug addiction, we are really dealing with an extremely complex system in which there still remain many unknowns and where many empty spaces or missing links are still present. Recent studies have identified changes in the expression profiles of several specific miRNAs which affect the interactions between these molecules and their targets in various illnesses, including addiction, and which may serve as valuable targets for more efficient therapies. In this review, we summarize results which clearly demonstrate that several morphine-related miRNAs have roles in the mechanisms that define addiction. In this regard, morphine has been shown to have an important role in the regulation of different miRNAs, such as miR-let-7 [which works as a mediator of the movement of the mu opioid receptor (MOR) mRNA into P-bodies, leading to translational repression], miR-23b (involved in linking MOR expression and morphine treatment at the post-transcriptional level), and miR-190 (a key post-transcriptional repressor of neurogenic differentiation, NeuroD). Fentanyl increases NeuroD levels by reducing the amount of miR-190, but morphine does not affect the levels of NeuroD. We also discuss the relationship between morphine, miRNAs, and the immune system, based on the discovery that morphine treatment of monocytes led to a decrease in several anti-HIV miRNAs (mir-28, 125b, 150, and 382). This review is centered on miR-133b and its possible involvement in addiction through the effects of morphine. We establish the importance of miR-133b as a regulatory factor by summarizing its activity in different pathological processes, especially cancer. Using the zebrafish as a research model, we discuss the relationship between mir-133b, the dopaminergic system, and morphine, considering: (1) that morphine modulates the expression of miR-133b and of its target transcript Pitx3, (2) the role of the zebrafish mu opioid receptor (zfMOR) in morphine-induced regulation of miR-133b, which depends on ERK1/2, (3) that morphine regulates miR-133b in hippocampal neurons, and (4) the role of delta opioid receptors in morphine-induced regulation of miR-133b. We conclude that the control of miR-133b levels may be a mechanism for the development of addiction to morphine, or other drugs of abuse that increase dopaminergic levels in the extracellular space. These results show that miR-133b is a possible new target for the design of new treatments against addictive disorders.

Keywords: opioid, morphine, addiction, miRNA, zebrafish, dopaminergic system, miR-133b

INTRODUCTION

OPIOIDS

Opioids are the most potent compounds known today to control pain, and are also amongst the most used drugs of abuse (Corbett et al., 2006). They bind to the three classical opioid receptors, mu (MOR), delta (DOR), and kappa (KOR).

It has been established that the MOR displays higher affinity toward morphine than the other classical opioid receptors, delta, and kappa. Also, an interaction between the mu and the DOR has been described *in vitro*, which is thought to be responsible for faster development of morphine tolerance through the mu opioid receptor (Waldhoer et al., 2004). Moreover, when DOP are knocked out, mice do not develop tolerance to morphine and do not suffer the withdrawal effect once long-term treatment with morphine is over (Fundytus et al., 1995). After establishing the pharmacological profiles of these classical opioid receptors, investigators studied post-transductional mechanisms, such as receptor internalization and desensitization. Later, interest focused on the intracellular effectors that mediate the activation of signaling cascades. It has been suggested that these post-transductional mechanisms are closely linked to the development of opiate tolerance and dependence on opiate drugs, mainly through the same plasticity mechanisms that produce adaptive changes in neural circuitries, for example, in memory and learning (Evans, 2004).

After more than 40 years of intense research on opiates, scientists now partly understand their mechanism of action on receptors.

Many issues concerning the mechanisms of addiction still remain to be established. This can be achieved by analyzing the different roles of the opioid receptors apart from their involvement in analgesic properties, such as their functions in developmental processes. For instance, the MOR and KOR increase neurogenesis (Kim et al., 2006), and the DOR acts as a neuroprotector (Narita et al., 2006). Also, other drugs of abuse, such as amphetamines, cocaine, or heroin, produce neuroadaptive changes in the brain that could be explained by shared gene regulatory mechanisms that lead to addiction. In this sense, opioid receptor gene regulation has been reported to be concurrently related to miRNAs and to the addiction process (Zheng et al., 2010b; Sanchez-Simon et al., 2010).

MORPHINE

There are a wide variety of opiates, classified according to their origin and/or structure. The main natural opiates are morphine, phenanthrenic alkaloids similar to morphine (codeine and thebaine), and benzylisoquinolinic alkaloids (noscapine and papaverine). Semisynthetic opiates (heroin, hydrocodone, meperidine, oxycodone, buprenorphine, and etorphine) have a morphine-like structure, whereas fully synthetic opiates (methadone, fentanyl, tramadol, metazocine, and pentazocine) display a wide range of unrelated structures that show similar pharmacological properties. Unfortunately, opiates present some undesirable side effects, such as tolerance, dependence, and addiction (Nestler et al., 1993). Thus, there is a need for novel analgesic drugs that do not have these adverse side effects, especially in light of the widespread abuse of opiates.

The opioid alkaloide *Morphine* is the main active compound in opium, the juice obtained from the seed of the poppy plant *Papaver Somniferum*, and has been used for centuries as a medical and recreational agent. It is used both by medical patients suffering acute or chronic pain, and by habitual daily abusers. Since its isolation, morphine has been used largely for pain management, although other, non-analgesic uses, including experimental depression treatments and as a cure for opium addiction, have been developed. Despite these common uses, morphine produces disruptive negative secondary effects including sleepiness or drowsiness, blurred vision, constipation, and a decrease in blood pressure and appetite. With continuous use, morphine produces physical tolerance and addiction.

Accumulating evidence has demonstrated that, upon repeated exposure to morphine, long-lasting neurochemical alterations occur in discrete brain regions. Changes in gene expression are likely to mediate these adaptations in brain neurochemistry, thereby contributing to dependence and drug addiction (Nestler, 2004). However, the key intracellular signaling molecules that participate in regulating the alterations in gene expression induced by chronic opiate exposure remain unclear.

Recent studies (Dreyer, 2010; Hollander et al., 2010), mainly based on cocaine activity, have reported a role for miRNAs in drug addiction. This opens the door to possible miRNA-mediated involvement of opioids – including morphine – in the addictive process.

ADDICTION

Addiction to drugs is a major public health problem, and represents a complex disorder with multigenic causes. Even when

many humans are exposed to drugs of abuse, only some suffer from loss of control over drug use and compulsion for drug seeking and taking; factors that define the addictive situation. It is known that addiction is influenced by both the genetic constitution and the social and psychological environment in which the individual lives (Kendler et al., 2007). The pharmacological activation of brain rewards systems is largely responsible for producing addiction after drug use. Personality, genetic, and social factors are important, although drug effects in the CNS are thought to be the fundamental determinants of addiction. The genetic contribution to the risk for addiction is only close to 50% (Kendler et al., 2007), but the specific genes that are involved in the addictive process are almost completely unknown. Besides, the addictive phenotype can persist even after long periods of abstinence, implying that drugs induce long-lasting alterations in the brain that underlie addiction behaviors (for reviews on this topic, see Dreyer, 2010; Robison and Nestler, 2011).

miRNAs

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are ~22 nucleotide (nt) non-coding RNAs that participate in gene regulation. They bind to 3' untranslated regions (UTRs) of their mRNA targets, inhibiting the transcripts' translation and/or destabilizing them (Valencia-Sanchez et al., 2006). Numerous studies have shown that multiple binding sites in the same 3'UTR confer much stronger regulation than single binding sites (Fang and Rajewsky, 2011). However, reporter assay experiments have suggested that miRNA targeting can also occur in coding regions (Kloosterman et al., 2004; Easow et al., 2007). Large-scale miRNA mis-expression studies also have suggested that binding in coding regions can confer regulation but are on average less effective than those in 3'UTRs (Baek et al., 2008; Selbach et al., 2008). MiRNAs have been shown to regulate the expression of many genes, including genes which function in the CNS. For example, miR-134 regulates dendritic spine morphology by controlling actin filament dynamics (Schratt et al., 2006), while miR-190 regulates neurogenic differentiation (NeuroD), a transcription factor that regulates the differentiation and maturation of neurons (Zheng et al., 2010c).

Over 3000 mature miRNAs have been identified in species ranging from plants to humans, suggesting that they have an important role in gene regulation. At present, a better understanding of miRNA biology, combined with the increasing availability of diverse sequenced genomes, have revealed many of the molecular mechanisms that underlie the evolution of miRNAs and their targets (Berezikov, 2011) Although the molecular mechanisms of miRNA activity are increasingly clear, the biological implications of miRNAs activity are not yet fully defined; functions including cell differentiation, proliferation, apoptosis, anti-viral defense, and cancer have been proposed, and, to an extent, validated.

It has recently been shown that miRNAs are highly expressed in the CNS, including the areas where opioid activity takes place: the brain and spinal cord (Dave and Khalili, 2010; He et al., 2010; Sanchez-Simon et al., 2010; Zheng et al., 2010b). Since the discovery that miRNAs are important regulators of gene expression, these molecules have been linked to biological processes such as drug addiction (He et al., 2010; Zheng et al., 2010a), pain perception (Kusuda et al., 2011), neuron development (Gao, 2010), viral infection (Dave and Khalili, 2010; Wang et al., 2011), and opioid receptor regulation (Wu et al., 2008; Sanchez-Simon et al., 2010).

Recent experimental work demonstrates that opioids modify the expression profile of certain mRNAs in the CNS (Wu et al., 2008; He et al., 2010; Sanchez-Simon et al., 2010). Also, recent studies, including our own results, have implicated miRNAs in addiction behaviors. Most importantly, miRNAs whose expression is altered by opioids have been shown to regulate the expression of many proteins involved in the addiction pathway (Li and van der Vaart, 2011).

To understand the biological roles of miRNAs, it is essential to identify their targets. Because only a few bases of complementarity are required between miRNAs and their target sequences, mRNA targets can often be difficult to identify, computationally or experimentally. The classical model for specific miRNA target recognition by most algorithms mainly depends on (a) the detection of seed matches and (b) the thermodynamic stability of miRNA: mRNA duplexes. Different algorithms usually produce divergent results (Ambros, 2004; Bentwich, 2005; Rajewsky, 2006; Baek et al., 2008). As miRNA recognition elements are typically found in the 3' UTR of the target gene mRNA, bioinformatics alone can identify putative targets using resources such as miRGen database. The number of putative targets for any one miRNA has increased in recent years, making the interpretation of miRNA activity more complex. A question to be asked at present is, whether there is a relationship between the different targets a miRNA binds to, and if so, what is the meaning of this situation. Further studies are need in this field in order to elucidate the meaning of the fact that a certain miRNA has different, but perhaps functionally related, target mRNAs. Improved software programs are now able to predict the targets of miRNAs in a more efficient manner, facilitating the elucidation of miRNA function. Bioinformatic predictions (Targetscan) suggest that miRNAs target at least 60% of mammalian RNAs with conserved miRNA targets (Friedman et al., 2009).

OPIOIDS AND miRNAs

miR-let-7

He et al. (2010) identified a let-7 binding site in the 3'-UTR of the MOR mRNA and found that let-7 thereby represses MOR expression. They also found that morphine significantly upregulates let-7 expression in SH-SY5Y cells and in a mouse model of opioid tolerance. Inhibition of let-7 decreased brain let-7 levels and partially attenuated opioid antinociceptive tolerance in mice. Although chronic morphine treatment did not change overall MOR transcript levels, association of polysomes with MOR mRNA declined in a let-7 -dependent manner. The miRNA let-7 works as a mediator moving MOR mRNA to P-bodies, leading to translation repression. These results suggest that let-7 plays an integral role in opioid tolerance.

miR-23b

The expression of MOR can be regulated at both the transcriptional and post-transcriptional levels. Long-term morphine treatment does not alter MOR mRNA levels (Brodsky et al., 1995), suggesting that morphine itself has no important role in the transcription of the MOR gene. Nevertheless, it has not yet been elucidated whether morphine can regulate MOR mRNA at the post-transcriptional level, by producing an interaction between *trans*-acting factors and its 3'-UTR.

Wu et al., 2008, identified miR-23b as a *trans*-acting factor that represses MOR translation efficiency through an interaction with the K box motif in the 3'-UTR of MOR1. This interaction suppresses receptor translation by inhibiting polysome-mRNA association. Later, the same group demonstrated that long-term morphine treatment increases miR-23b expression in a dose-and time-dependent manner (Wu et al., 2009). Using a translational luciferase reporter assay, these authors observed morphine-dependent suppression of reporter activity through the MOR1 3'-UTR. This finding suggests a link between MOR expression and morphine treatment at the post-transcriptional level involving miR-23b.

miR-190

Zheng et al. (2010b) have shown that fentanyl, but not morphine, increases levels of one of the targets of miR-190, NeuroD. This group also showed that by regulating NeuroD activity, mu opioid receptor agonists modulate the stability of dendritic spines. This work is discussed elsewhere in this chapter.

MORPHINE, miRNAs, AND THE IMMUNE SYSTEM

People addicted to opioids have a higher incidence of infectious diseases, and opioids exert a profound influence in immunomodulatory activity (Nair and Schwartz, 1997). In order to understand the relationship between morphine, miRNAs, and the immune system, the following features of morphine should be considered: morphine inhibits specific immunocyte activities, such as monocyte respiratory burst (Peterson et al., 1987), chemotaxis (Stefano et al., 1996), and phagocytosis (Rojavin et al., 1993). In addition, morphine induces apoptosis of macrophages and microglia (Hu et al., 2001), decreases the levels of IFN- γ and interleukin-2 in human T cells (Nyland et al., 2003), induces the expression of HIV entry coreceptors in the immune cells, and facilitates HIV replication *in vitro* (Guo et al., 2002; Li et al., 2002; Persson et al., 2003; Steele et al., 2003).

Wang et al. (2011), showed that morphine treatment in monocytes leads to a decrease in several anti-HIV miRNAs (miR-28, 125b, 150, and 382). Interestingly, these same miRNAs were correlated with the susceptibility of monocytes to HIV-1 infection. This morphine-driven decrease in anti-HIV miRNAs disappears when antagonists of the opioid receptors are used, indicating that morphine functions through its own receptors. On the other hand, type I interferon IFN- α/β , in monocytes could induce the expression of these same anti-HIV miRNAs. Other studies have also shown that type I IFNs modulate miRNA expression in several cell systems (O'Connell et al., 2007; Pedersen et al., 2007; Ohno et al., 2009), functioning as the potent inducer of miRNAs. However, morphine co-treatment with IFN- α/β in monocytes inhibited the induction of IFN-mediated anti-HIV miRNAs (Wang et al., 2011).

HIV-1 infected opiate abusers have potential to destabilize neuronal functions, and often exhibit HIV-1 associated dementia (Bell et al., 2006; Fitting et al., 2010).

Dave and Khalili, 2010 reported that in human monocytederived macrophages treated with morphine, miR-15b expression
levels were greatly increased. Fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF-2), identified as a miR-15b target gene, was decreased at the protein expression levels in response to morphine. Another miRNA, miR-181b, decreased its expression levels under the same conditions. Later studies have shown that morphine induces inflammation and oxidative stress in immune cells through regulating the miR-15b and 181b, thereby contributing to expansion of the HIV-1 CNS reservoir and hence to AIDS progression.

miR-133b

miR-133 was first characterized in mice (Lagos-Quintana et al., 2002), after which homologs were characterized in several other species including invertebrates. Each species frequently encodes multiple miRNAs with identical or similar mature sequences. Three different miR-133 sequences are known: miR-133a-1, miR-133b-2, and miR-133b.

A good example of the importance of miR-133b is represented by the work of Yu et al. (2011b). They studied the function of miR-133b during zebrafish spinal cord regeneration and showed upregulation of miR-133b expression in regenerating neurons of the brainstem after transection of the spinal cord. Inhibition of miR-133b expression by antisense morpholino (MO) application resulted in impaired locomotor recovery and reduced regeneration of axons from neurons in the nucleus of the medial longitudinal fascicle, superior reticular formation, and intermediate reticular formation. They found that miR-133b targets the small GTPase RhoA, which is an inhibitor of axonal growth, as well as other neurite outgrowth-related molecules. These results indicate that miR-133b is an important determinant in spinal cord regeneration of adult zebrafish through a reduction in RhoA protein levels by direct interaction with RhoA mRNA. These authors showed that the ability of miR-133b to suppress molecules that inhibit axon regrowth may underlie the capacity for adult zebrafish to recover locomotor function after spinal cord injury (SCI).

MicroRNAs-133b plays an important role in several regulatory processes. For example, in cardiomyocytes, miR-133b serves an antiapoptotic role by inhibiting caspase-9 (Xu et al., 2007). Among its multiple targets, miR-133b down-regulates RhoA protein expression (Care et al., 2007; Chiba et al., 2009). RhoA is strongly upregulated following SCI (Conrad et al., 2005; Erschbamer et al., 2005), and inhibition of RhoA enhances regrowth of the corticospinal tract and promotes neuroprotection by decreasing the tissue damage and cavity formation that develop after SCI (Dergham et al., 2002; Fournier et al., 2003; Tanaka et al., 2004; Hoffmann et al., 2008; Holtje et al., 2009). Considering that multiple cellular and molecular pathways are regulated by miRNAs, and that the targets of miR-133b are conserved throughout development in different species from zebrafish to mammals, it could be considered that these results (such as Yu et al., 2011b) may guide the development of novel strategies for improving functional recovery after SCI in humans. The extent to which miR-133b is involved in multiple pathological phenotypes is outstanding and highly noteworthy. Table 1 represents a summary of the involvement of miR-133b in relation to different pathological situations. Recent reports show that some miRNAs control major cancer-related signaling molecules, such as epidermal growth factor (Erkan et al., 2011), members of the p53 family (Inui et al., 2010; Ory and Ellisen, 2011), and the retinoblastoma protein (Noonan et al., 2010). In cancer, miRNAs can be divided in two separate classes: those that are tumor suppressive and those that are oncogenic. MiR-133b can participate in both systems, depending whether it is overexpressed (act as oncogenes, repressing tumor suppressor genes), or underexpressed (functioning as a tumor suppressor, negatively regulating oncogenes). **Table 1** summarizes recent research regarding the role of miR-133b in multiple pathologies, including cancers. **Table 2** lists cancers in which miR-133b exerts direct regulation.

The relationship of miR-133b with cancer is important to the topic of this chapter, since morphine and the synthetic compound

Table 1	Involvement	of miR-133b in	different phy	ysiological	situations.
---------	-------------	----------------	---------------	-------------	-------------

Situation	Reference
Translational regulation of utrophin: miR-133b, related	Basu et al.
to Duchenne muscular dystrophy, mediates the	(2011)
repression, and confirms repression of miR-206	
Formation of homologue clusters with miR-206:	Nohata et al.
dysregulation role	(2012)
Upregulation during late stages of human, fetal	Koutsoulidou
muscle development	et al. (2011)
When downregulated, miR-133b may have important	Yu et al. (2011a)
implications in pathogenesis of essential hypertension	
Co-regulation of miR-133b with miR-206, novel	Haas et al.
biomarkers of Th 17-type immune reactions	(2011)
Desregulation of miR-133b is associated with overall	Akcakaya et al.
survival and metastasis in colorectal cancer	(2011)
Increase of miR-133b in mouse pectoralis muscle:	Rachagani et al.
regulation by myostatin	(2010)
Upregulated miR-133b in mouse liver by tyrosine	Dong et al.
hormone	(2010)
MiR-133b is upregulated on head and neck cancer	Liu et al. (2009)
Mir-133b is regulated by endurance exercise in human	Nielsen et al.
skeletal muscle	(2010)
Mir-133b is a biomarker of myocardial infection	D'Alessandra
	et al. (2010)
MiR-133b targets prosurvival molecules MCL-1 and	Crawford et al.
BCL262 in lung cancer	(2009)

Table 2 | Downregulation of miR-133b in different cancers.

Type of cancer	Reference
Colorectal cancer	Suzuki et al. (2011); Hu et al. (2010); Bandres et al. (2006); Sarver et al. (2009)
Bladder cancer	Song et al. (2010)
Gastric cancer	Wu et al. (2011a)
Lung cancer	Nasser et al. (2008); Crawford et al. (2009); Wu et al. (2011b)
Esophageal squamous cell carcinoma	Kano et al. (2010)
Tongue squamous cell carcinoma	Wong et al. (2008)
Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma	Nohata et al. (2011)

fentanyl are widely used as the analgesic solution for long-term pain suffering in cancer patients, and it is well known that these drugs produce addiction after long-term use. MiR-133b can act as an oncogene or as a tumor suppressor, making the interaction between this miRNA and morphine crucial in the control of a defined cancer pathology. Morphine, not only because it produces addiction, but also because of its own oncogenic effect, can be considered a negative analgesic tool in some cancer patients. Future research is needed to elucidate how to overcome this possibility.

ZEBRAFISH AS A MODEL TO STUDY THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN miR-133b AND MORPHINE

Although great efforts have been made on the study of the different mechanisms that are activated by the opioid system in mammalian models, many issues regarding opioid regulation remain unknown. The zebrafish (Danio rerio) has been used as an experimental model, not only to study genetics and development, but also to study disease-related pathways, given its easy in vivo manipulation. In this sense, the zebrafish can be an important tool to analyze in vivo the molecular mechanisms related to the activity and function of the opioid system that cannot be fully established in other models. For instance, in contrast to mammalian embryos, which develop in the uterus and are influenced by the maternal biochemical processes, zebrafish embryos develop externally, avoiding the maternal effect on these embryos. This is essential when dealing with drug exposure, as the effects observed in mammalian embryos might be due to the susceptibility of the mother and not the embryo per se. The study of the morphine direct effects in the embryos will provide a better understanding on the molecular mechanisms that underlie the physical and neurobehavioral defects shown in fetuses and offspring after maternal morphine consumption (Nasiraei-Moghadam et al., 2010). Also, the endogenous opioid system has been characterized in the zebrafish, and contains a mu opioid receptor (zfMOR), two DOR duplicates (zfDOR1 and zfDOR2), a kappa opioid receptor (zfKOR) and an opioid receptor like (zfORL) gene (Barrallo et al., 2000; Rodriguez et al., 2000; Alvarez et al., 2006; Pinal-Seoane et al., 2006). Hence, the presence and the existing extensive characterization of opioid receptors in zebrafish allow us to extrapolate key components of the opioid system to other biological models.

OPIOIDS AND THE DOPAMINERGIC SYSTEM

The opioid-addiction pathway has been suggested to involve the midbrain dopaminergic neurons located within ventral tegmental areas and the nucleus accumbens (NAc). The alteration of dopamine levels in this region can produce neuronal sensitization or desensitization, depending on the drug used. It has also been established that morphine increases dopamine level through the mu opioid receptor in the NAc, which may mediate reinforcing effects of morphine (Gianoulakis, 2009). Relevant to these observations, endogenous opioid peptides, such as enkephalins or dynorphins, are upregulated in the NAc after exposure to morphine, and modulate dopamine release in the midbrain (Gieryk et al., 2010).

Hence, studies on the probable opioid regulation of dopaminergic activities in zebrafish could provide insights on mammalian embryonic development during chronic exposure to drugs.

miR-133b AND THE DOPAMINERGIC SYSTEM

miR-133b, regulates the differentiation, maturation, and function of dopaminergic neurons by downregulating the transcription of its target in the dopaminergic system, the homeobox gene pitx3 (Hebert and De Strooper, 2009). Pitx3 activates the transcription of genes directly involved in the differentiation of dopaminergic neurons (**Figure 1**), such as the tyrosine hydroxylase (*th*) and the dopamine transporter (*dat*; Kim et al., 2007).

Taking the above into consideration, we analyzed the effect of morphine on the miR-133b regulatory pathway using zebrafish embryos as a model building on well-established precedents for using zebrafish to study the role of miRs in development (Schier and Giraldez, 2006). At 24 h post fertilization (hpf), the dopaminergic system begins its differentiation and the first TH- positive neurons begin to be detected at this particular developmental stage (Filippi et al., 2007). Our previous studies also indicated that at 24 hfp, the expression of zfMOR, the putative target of morphine (de Velasco et al., 2009) is increased. Therefore, the use of 24 hpf zebrafish embryos provided information on the implication of the opioid system in the maturation and differentiation of dopaminergic neurons compared to any other stages of development, and also, demonstrated that the mu opioid receptor is functional in zebrafish and has a specific role in the development of the CNS and represents a possible pathway that leads to addiction.

MORPHINE MODULATES THE EXPRESSION OF miR-133b

By means of a miRNA array, we observed a decrease in the expression of several miRNAs after embryonic exposure to morphine at three developmental stages: 16, 24, and 48 hpf. Considering the pathways in which each miRNA could be involved, we focused on miR-133b due to its reported effect on dopaminergic neurons, an essential component in drug addiction processes. Our studies were carried out in the 24 hpf embryos, when differentiation of the zebrafish CNS begins.

After validation by qPCR of our microarray results, we observed that miR-133b level was decreased in 24 hpf embryos exposed to morphine, at two different morphine concentrations; 10 and 1 nM. The antagonist naloxone did not significantly change the expression of this miR, but it could block the morphine effect. Although more selective agonists such as DAMGO or antagonists such as CTOP were not used to define the receptor involved due to the lack of affinity of such ligands for zfMOR (de Velasco et al., 2009), the effect of morphine on miR-133b level was probably mediated by the activation of zfMOR.

MORPHINE MODULATES THE EXPRESSION OF miR-133b TARGET PITX3

The transcription factor Pitx3 is a known miR-133b target. Pitx3 has been regulates the transcription of *th* and *dat*. Since miRNAs normally regulate the stability or the translation of the transcripts, by reducing miR-133b morphine should either increase the levels or the activities of these transcripts. Treatment of zebrafish embryos with 1 and 10 nM morphine increases the mRNA levels of *pitx3* and *dat* while morphine treatment decreases miR-133b level. Addition of naloxone effectively abolished the morphine-induced changes in the expression levels of miRNA-133b, *pitx3*, *th*, and *dat*,



suggesting that morphine regulates the level of the dopaminergic genes via the control of miR-133b by activating zfMOR.

Although treatment of embryos with morphine clearly decreases the miR-133b level and increases Pitx3 and its targets TH and DAT levels, whether miR-133b indeed interacts with Pitx3 thereby destabilizing the transcript has not been demonstrated in zebrafish.

THE ROLE OF **zFMOR IN MORPHINE-INDUCED REGULATION** OF miR-133b PATHWAY

The effects of morphine on embryos are probably mediated by zfMOR, the opioid receptor that exhibits highest affinity toward morphine (de Velasco et al., 2009). In order to establish the role of zfMOR in regulating miR-133b without the availability of a zfMOR selective antagonist, we silenced (knocked down) zfMOR by morpholino oligonucleotide injection. The efficiency of the morpholino oligonucleotide to decrease the zfMOR level was determined with qRT-PCR. Injection of 0.2 μ M of the morpholino oligonucleotide per embryo reduced the zfMOR transcription level by 95% (the injection of ZfMOR decreased the expression of both ZfDOR1 and ZfDOR2 by ~2.5%, which is not statistically significant, showing the specificity of the zfMOR morpholino).

The amount of miR-133b increases within embryos when zfMOR is absent. Such an increase was not observed after the injection of a control morpholino. Furthermore, 1 or 10 nM morphine exposure did not alter the miR-133b level in embryos injected with zfMOR morpholino, while the same concentrations of morphine treatment resulted in a decrease of miR-133b levels in embryos

injected with control morpholino. The increased expression in miR-133b detected in the zfMOR knock down embryos also led to a decrease of the subsequent miR-133b targets, i.e., Pitx3, TH, and DAT. Clearly, the morpholino and the opioid antagonist naloxone studies indicate zfMOR is the mediator for the morphine-induced regulation of miR-133b and its targets.

MORPHINE-INDUCED REGULATION OF THE miR-133b PATHWAY DEPENDS ON ERK1/2 ACTIVITY

Morphine, regulates multiple signaling pathways via the mammalian receptor MOR. In the rat hippocampus, morphine activates ERK1/2 and decreases the expression level of miR-190 (Zheng et al., 2010b). Whether similar signaling mechanisms are involved in morphine-induced regulation of the miR-133b pathway in zebrafish is unknown. In order to address this possibility, we used several MAPK inhibitors, such as JNK inhibitor II, SB203580 for p38 and PD98059 and U0126 for ERK1/2, to identify the signals involved in morphine-induced miR-133a regulation. The inhibition of JNK and p38 produced a significant decrease in the miR-133b level, and hence, an increase in the level of Pitx3, TH, and DAT. In contrast, the inhibition of MEK1/2 by either U0126 or PD98059 enhanced miR-133b expression, and as a consequence, it decreased the level of Pitx3, TH, and DAT transcripts (**Figure 2**).

Parallel treatment of embryos with morphine in the presence of either JNK or p38 inhibitor did not eliminate the morphineinduced decrease in the miR-133b level. Probably, by activating zfMOR, morphine, via the ERK1/2 pathway, regulates the miR-133b level in the zebrafish embryos.



through the control of the miR-133b expression and the transcription of the genes regulated by this miRNA (Pitx3, TH, and DAT). (A) Activation of ERK1/2 signaling by MOR reduces the expression of miR-133b, and hence increases the transcription level of its target, Pitx3. This transcription factor enhances the expression of TH and DAT. (B)

MORPHINE REGULATES miR-133b EXPRESSION IN HIPPOCAMPAL NEURONS

When using zebrafish as a research model, there is always the question of whether a mammalian counterpart for the observed results exists. In order to determine whether the observed regulation of miR-133b by zfMOR in the zebrafish embryos has any mammalian counterparts, hippocampal neurons obtained from P1 rats were treated with 100 nM morphine. Similar to previously reported studies using mature hippocampal neuron cultures from mice chronically treated with morphine, in which miRNA array and qRT-PCR studies did not reveal any effect on the miR-133b level (Persson et al., 2003), our current studies with mature, differentiated neurons (3-week culture) revealed no effect on the expression of miR-133b when treated with morphine. However, he level of miR-133b was decreased in 1-week-old neurons treated with morphine. Thus, similar to what we have observed in the zebrafish embryos, only the miR-133b level within the immature neurons was affected by morphine treatment.

miR-133b AND THE DELTA OPIOID RECEPTOR

Although the mu opioid receptor displays higher affinity toward morphine than the other classical opioid receptors, delta, and kappa, an interaction between the mu and the DORs has been described in vitro. This interaction is thought to be responsible for faster development of morphine tolerance via the mu opioid receptor (Waldhoer et al., 2004). Moreover, knock-out mice for the DOR do not develop tolerance to morphine and do not suffer the withdrawal effect once the long-term treatment with morphine is over (Fundytus et al., 1995). Despite knowledge acquired in the past decade on the mechanisms that define opioid activity, many issues concerning the mechanisms of addiction need to be established. These goals may be achieved by analyzing the different roles of the opioid receptors apart from their analgesic functions, such as their involvement in developmental processes. For instance, the MOR and KOR increase neurogenesis (Kim et al., 2006), and the DOR acts as a neuroprotector (Narita et al., 2006). We have found expression of Pitx3, TH, and DAT decreases, which reduces the level of dopaminergic neuron differentiation. that morphine protects dopaminergic neurons against glutamateinduced neurotoxicity, and this effect is mediated by the DORs

TH, and DAT. (C) Inhibition of ERK1/2, even when the MOR receptor is

activated by morphine, produces the same effect as knockdown of the

receptor, i.e., the expression of miR-133b increases, and hence, the

induced neurotoxicity, and this effect is mediated by the DORs (unpublished). As the mu opioid receptor regulates dopaminergic differentiation and the DORs protect these neurons, we searched for an explanation of how the DORs relate to the adverse effects of morphine.

ROLE OF THE DORS IN MORPHINE-INDUCED REGULATION OF miR-133b PATHWAY

We have studied the role of the DORs from zebrafish in the expression of miR-133b and the genes downstream in its regulatory pathway, in order to determine the specific influence of each delta receptor duplicate as a regulator of this pathway. By knocking down each DOR duplicate, both separately and simultaneously, we demonstrated that they activate the differentiation of dopaminergic neurons. Their complete absence increases miR-133b levels and therefore, decreases the mRNA levels of the genes involved in such differentiation (pitx3, th, and dat). However, when only one DOR is knocked down, morphine slightly decreases the expression of miR-133b, as detected in the control embryos and embryos injected with the control morpholino. These results suggest that when one DOR is not present, the other one functionally complements its role. Partial functional complementation may explain why, although some changes are observed regarding the expression of miR-133b and its related genes, these changes are not constant in untreated and morphine-treated embryos. In contrast, when both DORs are silenced, the effect produced is similar to that observed when the mu opioid receptor is knocked down, suggesting that both types of receptors, mu and delta, are involved in the differentiation of dopaminergic neurons.

CONCLUSION

At present, evidence for the involvement of miRNAs in drug addiction is markedly increasing (Schaefer et al., 2007; Dreyer, 2010; Hollander et al., 2010), although these reports are mainly associated with cocaine. Aside from what we discussed in this review, there has been no direct report concerning opioid addiction. Within the context of the dopaminergic system's role in addictive disorders, including addiction to morphine (Flores et al., 2004; Leggio et al., 2009), we have established a pathway that may account for the observed morphine-induced increase in dopamine production (Gianoulakis, 2009). By modulating miR-133b regulatory pathways, and hence, dopaminergic differentiation, zfMOR has a specific role in the CNS and is capable of regulating transcription through miRNAs.

Our results lead us to conclude that the consequences of maternal morphine intake on the fetus could take place through the intracellular pathways of miR-133b and Pitx3. As our results suggest, neonate abstinence syndrome might be caused by the alteration in dopaminergic differentiation, induced by morphine. In addition, inhibition of ERK1/2 shows that, the closer the treatment to the timing of early CNS differentiation, the greater is the effect of this inhibition on the expression levels of the genes involved in the maturation and differentiation of dopaminergic neurons.

These data point out the importance of the developmental stage at which embryos are exposed to drugs, as exposure at different stages varies the impact of such drugs on the embryo's development. Thus the control of miR-133b level could be a possible mechanism responsible for the development of addiction to morphine or to other drugs of abuse that increase dopamine levels in the extracellular space. These results show for the first time that the miR-133b is a possible new target for the design of new treatments against addictive disorders.

The differences in the effect of morphine on miR-133b expression of in 1-week and 3-week rat neurons demonstrate that morphine induces differentiation by decreasing the expression of this particular miRNA only in the immature neurons. Therefore, the effects of morphine consumption during pregnancy may impact neuronal differentiation, through inducing changes in miR-133b expression. These results also confirm that in mammals, morphine has the same effect as in the zebrafish in neuronal differentiation through miR-133b.

FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

There is increasing evidence that miRNAs have a role in the control and development of many diseases: cancer (He et al., 2005; Tavazoie et al., 2008, Garzon et al., 2009), cardiovascular diseases (Zhao et al., 2005), autoimmune diseases (Sonkoly et al., 2007), neurodegenerative diseases (Fiore et al., 2008), and numerous others. In clinical practice, miRNAs can be useful as both diagnostic markers and predictors of therapeutic response (Garzon et al., 2009). Further research is warranted to elucidate the interaction between different miRNAs in order to analyze the

REFERENCES

- Akcakaya, P., Ekelund, S., Kolosenko, I., Caramuta, S., Ozata, D. M., Xie, H., et al. (2011). miR-185 and miR-133b deregulation is associated with overall survival and metastasis in colorectal cancer. *Int. J. Oncol.* 39, 311–318.
- Alvarez, F. A., Rodriguez-Martin, I., Gonzalez-Nunez, V., de Velasco, E. M., Gonzalez Sarmiento, R., and

Rodriguez, R. E. (2006). New kappa opioid receptor from zebrafish *Danio rerio. Neurosci. Lett.* 405, 94–99.

- Ambros, V. (2004). The functions of animal microRNAs. *Nature* 431, 350–355.
- Baek, D., Villen, J., Shin, C., Camargo, F. D., Gygi, S. P., and Bartel, D. P. (2008). The impact of microR-NAs on protein output. *Nature* 455, 64–71.

possible therapeutic value that these post-transcriptional regulators have. The number of targets predicted for each miRNA is enormous; for example, using miR and a software, 1704 targets for miR-133b have been found. Even in this case, where we have proven that miR-133b is involved in the regulation of dopaminergic neurons, we need to find out if other physiological systems are also involved. If we can confirm different miRNAs to specifically regulate different targets, and if these miRNAs can cross-talk producing a functional result, then it is possible that therapeutic agents can be designed to rationally and specifically target the entire discovered complexity of the system. Currently, while inducing or repressing a single miRNA represents a promising therapeutic strategy for specific diseases, we can not say that every miRNA known, by itself, could be a potential therapeutic agent.

The therapeutic value of miRNAs is dictated in part by the fact that miRNAs that are upregulated in different diseases can be targeted using anti-miRNAs (antisense oligonucleotides with specific modifications; Rossbach, 2010). These microRNA inhibitors (antagomiRs) demonstrate that therapeutic targeting of miRs is possible, although these inhibitors have not yet been explored in the specific context of curing drug addiction. Besides this inhibitory therapeutic approach, indirect methods, such as down-regulation of specific miRNA biogenesis pathways, could also serve as therapeutics. In the opposite scenario, when miRNAs downregulation is responsible for an abnormal function, as is the case with miRNAs downregulated in tumors, a possible therapeutic approach could be to restore mature miRNA levels in the abnormal tissue.

Accordingly, considering our results relating morphine, the mu opiod receptor, and the dopaminergic system to the miRNA miR-133b, it might be possible to design a system that could control the addiction process in which these four entities are involved, perhaps by rescuing miR-133b levels with the intention of dampening the expression of the downstream targets that positively impact dopaminergic differentiation and opioid addiction. Further research is needed to elucidate the role, and the therapeutic relevance, of miRNAs in the complexity of the addiction pathway.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the Spanish Ministry of Education and Science (Grant SAF2010-18597) and the Regional Government of Castilla y León (GrantB1039/SA25/10). Thanks to Emily Wood, Ph.C., Lipovich laboratory, Wayne State University, USA for helping in editing this manuscript, and to Fatima Macho, for the drawings for **Figure 2**).

- Bandres, E., Cubedo, E., Agirre, X., Malumbres, R., Zarate, R., Ramirez, N., et al. (2006). Identification by real-time PCR of 13 mature microR-NAs differentially expressed in colorectal cancer and non-tumoral tissues. *Mol. Cancer* 5, 29.
- Barrallo, A., Gonzalez-Sarmiento, R., Alvar, F., and Rodriguez, R. E. (2000). ZFOR2, a new opioid receptorlike gene from the teleost zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). *Brain Res.* 84, 1–6.
- Basu, U., Lozynska, O., Moorwood, C., Patel, G., Wilton, S. D., and Khurana, T. S. (2011). Translational regulation of utrophin by miRNAs. *PLoS ONE* 6, e29376. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0029376
- Bell, J. E., Arango, J. C., and Anthony, I. C. (2006). Neurobiology of multiple insults: HIV-1-associated brain disorders in those who use illicit drugs. J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol. 1, 182–191.

- Bentwich, I. (2005). Prediction and validation of microRNAs and their targets. FEBS Lett. 579, 5904–5910.
- Berezikov, E. (2011). Evolution of microRNA diversity and regulation in animals. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 12, 846–860.
- Brodsky, M., Elliott, K., Hynansky, A., and Inturrisi, C. E. (1995). CNS levels of mu opioid receptor (MOR-1) mRNA during chronic treatment with morphine or naltrexone. *Brain Res. Bull.* 38, 135–141.
- Care, A., Catalucci, D., Felicetti, F., Bonci, D., Addario, A., Gallo, P., et al. (2007). MicroRNA-133 controls cardiac hypertrophy. *Nat. Med.* 13, 613–618.
- Chiba, Y., Tanabe, M., Goto, K., Sakai, H., and Misawa, M. (2009). Down-regulation of miR-133a contributes to up-regulation of Rhoa in bronchial smooth muscle cells. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 180, 713–719.
- Conrad, S., Schluesener, H. J., Adibzahdeh, M., and Schwab, J. M. (2005). Spinal cord injury induction of lesional expression of profibrotic and angiogenic connective tissue growth factor confined to reactive astrocytes, invading fibroblasts and endothelial cells. *J. Neurosurg. Spine* 2, 319–326.
- Corbett, A. D., Henderson, G., McKnight, A. T., and Paterson, S. J. (2006). 75 years of opioid research: the exciting but vain quest for the Holy Grail. Br. J. Pharmacol. 147(Suppl. 1), S153–S162.
- Crawford, M., Batte, K., Yu, L., Wu, X., Nuovo, G. J., Marsh, C. B., et al. (2009). MicroRNA 133B targets pro-survival molecules MCL-1 and BCL2L2 in lung cancer. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 388, 483–489.
- D'Alessandra, Y., Devanna, P., Limana, F., Straino, S., Di Carlo, A., Brambilla, P. G., et al. (2010). Circulating microRNAs are new and sensitive biomarkers of myocardial infarction. *Eur. Heart J.* 31, 2765–2773.
- Dave, R. S., and Khalili, K. (2010). Morphine treatment of human monocyte-derived macrophages induces differential miRNA and protein expression: impact on inflammation and oxidative stress in the central nervous system. J. Cell. Biochem. 110, 834–845.
- de Velasco, E. M., Law, P. Y., and Rodriguez, R. E. (2009). Mu opioid receptor from the zebrafish exhibits functional characteristics as those of mammalian mu opioid receptor. *Zebrafish* 6, 259–268.

- Dergham, P., Ellezam, B., Essagian, C., Avedissian, H., Lubell, W. D., and McKerracher, L. (2002). Rho signaling pathway targeted to promote spinal cord repair. *J. Neurosci.* 22, 6570–6577.
- Dong, H., Paquette, M., Williams, A., Zoeller, R. T., Wade, M., and Yauk, C. (2010). Thyroid hormone may regulate mRNA abundance in liver by acting on microRNAs. *PLoS ONE* 5, e12136. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0012136
- Dreyer, J. L. (2010). New insights into the roles of microRNAs in drug addiction and neuroplasticity. *Genome Med* 2, 92.
- Easow, G., Teleman, A. A., and Cohen, S. M. (2007). Isolation of microRNA targets by miRNP immunopurification. RNA 13, 1198–1204.
- Erkan, E. P., Breakefield, X. O., and Saydam, O. (2011). miRNA signature of schwannomas: possible role(s) of "tumor suppressor" miR-NAs in benign tumors. *Oncotarget* 2, 265–270.
- Erschbamer, M. K., Hofstetter, C. P., and Olson, L. (2005). RhoA, RhoB, RhoC, Rac1, Cdc42, and Tc10 mRNA levels in spinal cord, sensory ganglia, and corticospinal tract neurons and long-lasting specific changes following spinal cord injury. J. Comp. Neurol. 484, 224–233.
- Evans, C. J. (2004). Secrets of the opium poppy revealed. *Neuropharmacology* 47(Suppl. 1), 293–299.
- Fang, Z., and Rajewsky, N. (2011). The impact of mRNA target sites in coding sequences and 3ÚTRs. *PLoS ONE* 6, e18067. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0018067
- Filippi, A., Durr, K., Ryu, S., Willaredt, M., Holzschuh, J., and Driever, W. (2007). Expression and function of nr4a2, lmx1b, and pitx3 in zebrafish dopaminergic and noradrenergic neuronal development. BMC Dev. Biol. 7, 135. doi:10.1186/1471-213X-7-135
- Fiore, R., Siegel, G., and Schratt, G. (2008). MicroRNA function in neuronal development, plasticity, and disease. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1779, 471–478.
- Fitting, S., Xu, R., Bull, C., Buch, S. K., El-Hage, N., Nath, A., et al. (2010). Interactive comorbidity between opioid drug abuse and HIV-1 Tat: chronic exposure augments spine loss and sublethal dendritic pathology in striatal neurons. *Am. J. Pathol.* 177, 1397–1410.
- Flores, J. A., El Banoua, F., Galan-Rodriguez, B., and Fernandez-Espejo, E. (2004). Opiate antinociception is attenuated following

lesion of large dopamine neurons of the periaqueductal grey: critical role for D1 (not D2) dopamine receptors. *Pain* 110, 205–214.

- Fournier, A. E., Takizawa, B. T., and Strittmatter, S. M. (2003). Rho kinase inhibition enhances axonal regeneration in the injured CNS. J. Neurosci. 23, 1416–1423.
- Friedman, R., Farh, K. K., Burge, C. B., and Bartel, D. P. (2009). Most mammalian mRNAs are conserved targets of microRNAs. *Genome Res.* 19, 92–105.
- Fundytus, M. E., Schiller, P. W., Shapiro, M., Weltrowska, G., and Coderre, T. J. (1995). Attenuation of morphine tolerance and dependence with the highly selective delta-opioid receptor antagonist TIPP[psi]. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 286, 105–108.
- Gao, F. B. (2010). Context-dependent functions of specific microRNAs in neuronal development. *Neural Dev.* 5, 25.
- Garzon, R., Heaphy, C. E., Havelange, V., Fabbri, M., Volinia, S., Tsao, T., et al. (2009). MicroRNA 29b functions in acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* 114, 5331–5341.
- Gianoulakis, C. (2009). Endogenous opioids and addiction to alcohol and other drugs of abuse. *Curr. Top. Med. Chem.* 9, 999–1015.
- Gieryk, A., Ziołkowska, B., Solecki, W., Kubik, J., and Przewłocki, R. (2010). Forebrain PENK and PDYN gene expression levels in three inbred strains of mice and their relationship to genotype-dependent morphine reward sensitivity. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 208, 291–300.
- Guo, C. J., Li, Y., Tian, S., Wang, X., Douglas, S. D., and Ho, W. Z. (2002). Morphine enhances HIV infection of human blood mononuclear phagocytes through modulation of beta-chemokines and CCR5 receptor. J. Investig. Med. 50, 435–442.
- Haas, J. D., Nistala, K., Petermann, F., Saran, N., Chennupati, V., Schmitz, S., et al. (2011). Expression of miRNAs miR-133b and miR-206 in the II17a/f locus is co-regulated with IL-17 production in alphabeta and gammadelta T cells. *PLoS ONE* 6, e20171. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0020171
- He, L., Thomson, J. M., Hemann, M. T., Hernando-Monge, E., Mu, D., Goodson, S., et al. (2005). A microRNA polycistron as a potential human oncogene. *Nature* 435, 828–833.
- He, Y., Yang, C., Kirkmire, C. M., and Wang, Z. J. (2010). Regulation of opioid tolerance by let-7 family microRNA targeting the

mu opioid receptor. J. Neurosci. 30, 10251–10258.

- Hebert, S. S., and De Strooper, B. (2009). Alterations of the microRNA network cause neurodegenerative disease. *Trends Neurosci.* 32, 199–206.
- Hoffmann, A., Hofmann, F., Just, I., Lehnardt, S., Hanisch, U. K., Bruck, W., et al. (2008). Inhibition of Rho-dependent pathways by *Clostridium botulinum* C3 protein induces a proinflammatory profile in microglia. *Glia* 56, 1162–1175.
- Hollander, J. A., Im, H. I., Amelio, A. L., Kocerha, J., Bali, P., Lu, Q., et al. (2010). Striatal microRNA controls cocaine intake through CREB signalling. *Nature* 466, 197–202.
- Holtje, M., Djalali, S., Hofmann, F., Munster-Wandowski, A., Hendrix, S., Boato, F., et al. (2009). A 29amino acid fragment of *Clostridium botulinum* C3 protein enhances neuronal outgrowth, connectivity, and reinnervation. *FASEB J.* 23, 1115–1126.
- Hu, G., Chen, D., Li, X., Yang, K., Wang, H., and Wu, W. (2010). miR-133b regulates the MET proto-oncogene and inhibits the growth of colorectal cancer cells in vitro and in vivo. *Cancer Biol. Ther.* 10, 190–197.
- Hu, S., Schwartzman, J. D., and Kasper, L. H. (2001). Apoptosis within mouse eye induced by *Toxoplasma* gondii. Chin. Med. J. 114, 640–644.
- Inui, M., Martello, G., and Piccolo, S. (2010). MicroRNA control of signal transduction. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 11, 252–263.
- Kano, M., Seki, N., Kikkawa, N., Fujimura, L., Hoshino, I., Akutsu, Y., et al. (2010). miR-145, miR-133a and miR-133b: tumor-suppressive miR-NAs target FSCN1 in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Int. J. Cancer* 127, 2804–2814.
- Kendler, K. S., Myers, J., and Prescott, C. A. (2007). Specificity of genetic and environmental risk factors for symptoms of cannabis, cocaine, alcohol, caffeine, and nicotine dependence. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 64, 1313–1320.
- Kim, E., Clark, A. L., Kiss, A., Hahn, J. W., Wesselschmidt, R., Coscia, C. J., et al. (2006). Mu- and kappaopioids induce the differentiation of embryonic stem cells to neural progenitors. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 33749–33760.
- Kim, J., Inoue, K., Ishii, J., Vanti, W. B., Voronov, S. V., Murchison, E., et al. (2007). A MicroRNA feedback circuit in midbrain dopamine neurons. *Science* 317, 1220–1224.
- Kloosterman, W. P., Wienholds, E., Ketting, R. F., and Plasterk, R. H. (2004). Substrate requirements for

let-7 function in the developing zebrafish embryo. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 32, 6284–6291.

- Koutsoulidou, A., Mastroyiannopoulos, N. P., Furling, D., Uney, J. B., and Phylactou, L. A. (2011). Expression of miR-1, miR-133a, miR-133b and miR-206 increases during development of human skeletal muscle. BMC Dev. Biol. 11, 34. doi:10.1186/1471-213X-11-34
- Kusuda, R., Cadetti, F., Ravanelli, M. I., Sousa, T. A., Zanon, S., De Lucca, F. L., et al. (2011). Differential expression of microRNAs in mouse pain models. *Mol. Pain* 7, 17.
- Lagos-Quintana, M., Rauhut, R., Yalcin, A., Meyer, J., Lendeckel, W., and Tuschl, T. (2002). Identification of tissue-specific microRNAs from mouse. *Curr. Biol.* 12, 735–739.
- Leggio, G. M., Cathala, A., Neny, M., Rouge-Pont, F., Drago, F., Piazza, P. V., et al. (2009) In vivo evidence that constitutive activity of serotonin 2C receptors in the medial prefrontal cortex participates in the control of dopamine release in the rat nucleus accumbens: differential effects of inverse agonist versus antagonist. *J. Neurochem.* 111, 614–623.
- Li, M. D., and van der Vaart, A. D. (2011). MicroRNAs in addiction: adaptation's middlemen? *Mol. Psychiatry* 16, 1159–1168.
- Li, Y., Wang, X., Tian, S., Guo, C. J., Douglas, S. D., and Ho, W. Z. (2002). Methadone enhances human immunodeficiency virus infection of human immune cells. *J. Infect. Dis.* 185, 118–122.
- Liu, X., Chen, Z., Yu, J., Xia, J., and Zhou, X. (2009). MicroRNA profiling and head and neck cancer. *Comp. Funct. Genomics* 2009, 837514.
- Nair, M. P., and Schwartz, S. A. (1997). Inhibition of natural killer cell activities from normal donors and AIDS patients by envelope peptides from human immunodeficiency virus type I. *Cell. Mol. Biol.* (*Noisy-le-grand*) 43, 969–979.
- Narita, M., Kuzumaki, N., Miyatake, M., Sato, F., Wachi, H., Seyama, Y., et al. (2006). Role of delta-opioid receptor function in neurogenesis and neuroprotection. *J. Neurochem.* 97, 1494–1505.
- Nasiraei-Moghadam, S., Kazeminezhad, B., Dargahi, L., and Ahmadiani, A. (2010). Maternal oral consumption of morphine increases Bax/Bcl-2 ratio and caspase 3 activity during early neural system development in rat embryos. *J. Mol. Neurosci.* 41, 156–164.

Nasser, M. W., Datta, J., Nuovo, G., Kutay, H., Motiwala, T., Majumder, S., et al. (2008). Down-regulation of micro-RNA-1 (miR-1) in lung cancer. Suppression of tumorigenic property of lung cancer cells and their sensitization to doxorubicininduced apoptosis by miR-1. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 33394–33405.

Nestler, E. J. (2004). Molecular mechanisms of drug addiction. *Neuropharmacology* 47(Suppl. 1), 24–32.

Nestler, E. J., Hope, B. T., and Widnell, K. L. (1993). Drug addiction: a model for the molecular basis of neural plasticity. *Neuron* 11, 995–1006.

Nielsen, S., Scheele, C., Yfanti, C., Akerstrom, T., Nielsen, A. R., Pedersen, B. K., et al. (2010). Muscle specific microRNAs are regulated by endurance exercise in human skeletal muscle. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 588, 4029–4037.

- Nohata, N., Hanazawa, T., Enokida, H., and Seki, N. (2012). microRNA-1/133a and microRNA-206/133b clusters: dysregulation and functional roles in human cancers. Oncotarget 3, 9–21.
- Nohata, N., Hanazawa, T., Kikkawa, N., Mutallip, M., Fujimura, L., Yoshino, H., et al. (2011). Caveolin-1 mediates tumor cell migration and invasion and its regulation by miR-133a in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Int. J. Oncol. 38, 209–217.
- Noonan, E. J., Place, R. F., Basak, S., Pookot, D., and Li, L. C. (2010). miR-449a causes Rb-dependent cell cycle arrest and senescence in prostate cancer cells. *Oncotarget* 1, 349–358.
- Nyland, S. B., Cao, C., Bai, Y., Loughran, T. P., and Ugen, K. E. (2003). Modulation of infection and type 1 cytokine expression parameters by morphine during in vitro coinfection with human T-cell leukemia virus type I and HIV-1. J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr. (1999) 32, 406–416.
- O'Connell, R. M., Taganov, K. D., Boldin, M. P., Cheng, G., and Baltimore, D. (2007). MicroRNA-155 is induced during the macrophage inflammatory response. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 1604–1609.
- Ohno, M., Natsume, A., Kondo, Y., Iwamizu, H., Motomura, K., Toda, H., et al. (2009). The modulation of microRNAs by type I IFN through the activation of signal transducers and activators of transcription 3 in human glioma. *Mol. Cancer Res.* 7, 2022–2030.
- Ory, B., and Ellisen, L. W. A. (2011). microRNA-dependent circuit controlling p63/p73 homeostasis: p53 family cross-talk meets therapeutic

opportunity. Oncotarget 2, 259–264.

- Pedersen, I. M., Cheng, G., Wieland, S., Volinia, S., Croce, C. M., Chisari, F. V., et al. (2007). Interferon modulation of cellular microRNAs as an antiviral mechanism. *Nature* 449, 919–922.
- Persson, A. I., Thorlin, T., Bull, C., and Eriksson, P. S. (2003). Opioidinduced proliferation through the MAPK pathway in cultures of adult hippocampal progenitors. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 23, 360–372.
- Peterson, P. K., Sharp, B., Gekker, G., Brummitt, C., and Keane, W. F. (1987). Opioid-mediated suppression of cultured peripheral blood mononuclear cell respiratory burst activity. J. Immunol. 138, 3907–3912.
- Pinal-Seoane, N., Martin, I. R., Gonzalez-Nunez, V., de Velasco, E. M., Alvarez, F. A., Sarmiento, R. G., et al. (2006). Characterization of a new duplicate delta-opioid receptor from zebrafish. J. Mol. Endocrinol. 37, 391–403.
- Rachagani, S., Cheng, Y., and Reecy, J. M. (2010). Myostatin genotype regulates muscle-specific miRNA expression in mouse pectoralis muscle. *BMC Res Notes* 3, 297. doi:10.1186/1756-0500-3-297
- Rajewsky, N. (2006). microRNA target predictions in animals. *Nat. Genet.* 38(Suppl.), S8–S13.
- Robison, A. J., and Nestler, E. J. (2011). Transcriptional and epigenetic mechanisms of addiction. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 12, 623–637.
- Rodriguez, R. E., Barrallo, A., Garcia-Malvar, F., McFadyen, I. J., Gonzalez-Sarmiento, R, and Traynor, J. R. (2000). Characterization of ZFOR1, a putative delta-opioid receptor from the teleost zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). *Neurosci. Lett.* 288, 207–210.
- Rojavin, M., Szabo, I., Bussiere, J. L., Rogers, T. J., Adler, M. W., and Eisenstein, T. K. (1993). Morphine treatment in vitro or in vivo decreases phagocytic functions of murine macrophages. *Life Sci.* 53, 997–1006.
- Rossbach, M. (2010). Small non-coding RNAs as novel therapeutics. *Curr. Mol. Med.* 10, 361–368.
- Sanchez-Simon, F. M., Zhang, X. X., Loh, H. H., Law, P. Y., and Rodriguez, R. E. (2010). Morphine regulates dopaminergic neuron differentiation via miR-133b. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 78, 935–942.
- Sarver, A. L., French, A. J., Borralho, P. M., Thayanithy, V., Oberg, A. L., Silverstein, K. A., et al. (2009). Human colon cancer profiles show differential microRNA expression

depending on mismatch repair status and are characteristic of undifferentiated proliferative states. *BMC Cancer* 9, 401. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-9-401

- Schaefer, A., O'Carroll, D., Tan, C. L., Hillman, D., Sugimori, M., Llinas, R., et al. (2007). Cerebellar neurodegeneration in the absence of microR-NAs. J. Exp. Med. 204, 1553–1558.
- Schier, A. F., and Giraldez, A. J. (2006). MicroRNA function and mechanism: insights from zebra fish. *Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol.* 71, 195–203.
- Schratt, G. M., Tuebing, F., Nigh, E. A., Kane, C. G., Sabatini, M. E., Kiebler, M., et al. (2006). A brain-specific microRNA regulates dendritic spine development. *Nature* 439, 283–289.
- Selbach, M., Schwanhäusser, B., Thierfelder, N., Fang, Z., Khanin, R., and Rajewsky, N. (2008). Widespread changes in protein synthesis induced by microRNAs. *Nature* 455, 58–63.
- Song, T., Xia, W., Shao, N., Zhang, X., Wang, C., Wu, Y., et al. (2010). Differential miRNA expression profiles in bladder urothelial carcinomas. *Asian Pac. J. Cancer Prev.* 11, 905–911.
- Sonkoly, E., Wei, T., Janson, P. C., Saaf, A., Lundeberg, L., Tengvall-Linder, M., et al. (2007). MicroRNAs: novel regulators involved in the pathogenesis of psoriasis? *PLoS ONE* 2, e610. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0000610
- Steele, A. D., Henderson, E. E., and Rogers, T. J. (2003). Mu-opioid modulation of HIV-1 coreceptor expression and HIV-1 replication. *Virology* 309, 99–107.
- Stefano, G. B., Scharrer, B., Smith, E. M., Hughes, T. K. Jr., Magazine, H. I., Bilfinger, T. V., et al. (1996). Opioid and opiate immunoregulatory processes. *Crit. Rev. Immunol.* 16, 109–144.
- Suzuki, H., Takatsuka, S., Akashi, H., Yamamoto, E., Nojima, M., Maruyama, R., et al. (2011). Genome-wide profiling of chromatin signatures reveals epigenetic regulation of microRNA genes in colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res.* 71, 5646–5658.
- Tanaka, H., Yamashita, T., Yachi, K., Fujiwara, T., Yoshikawa, H., and Tohyama, M. (2004). Cytoplasmic p21(Cip1/WAF1) enhances axonal regeneration and functional recovery after spinal cord injury in rats. *Neuroscience* 127, 155–164.
- Tavazoie, S. F., Alarcon, C., Oskarsson, T., Padua, D., Wang, Q., Bos, P. D., et al. (2008). Endogenous human microRNAs that suppress breast cancer metastasis. *Nature* 451, 147–152.

- Valencia-Sanchez, M. A., Liu, J., Hannon, G. J., and Parker, R. (2006). Control of translation and mRNA degradation by miR-NAs and siRNAs. *Genes Dev.* 20, 515–524.
- Waldhoer, M., Bartlett, S. E., and Whistler, J. L. (2004). Opioid receptors. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 73, 953–990.
- Wang, X., Ye, L., Zhou, Y., Liu, M. Q., Zhou, D. J., and Ho, W. Z. (2011). Inhibition of anti-HIV microRNA expression: a mechanism for opioid-mediated enhancement of HIV infection of monocytes. *Am. J. Pathol.* 178, 41–47.
- Wong, T. S., Liu, X. B., Chung-Wai Ho, A., Po-Wing Yuen, A., Wai-Man Ng, R., and Ignace Wei, W. (2008). Identification of pyruvate kinase type M2 as potential oncoprotein in squamous cell carcinoma of tongue through microRNA profiling. *Int. J. Cancer* 123, 251–257.
- Wu, Q., Law, P. Y., Wei, L. N., and Loh, H. H. (2008). Posttranscriptional regulation of mouse of μ-opioid receptor (MOR1) via its 3' unstranslated region: a row for microRNA23b. *Faseb J.* 22, 4085–4095.
- Wu, Q., Zhang, L., Law, P. Y., Wei,L. N., and Loh, H. H. (2009).

Longterm morphine treatment decreases the association of mu-opioid receptor (MOR1) mRNA with polysomes through miRNA23b. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 75, 744–750.

- Wu, W. Y., Xue, X. Y., Chen, Z. J., Han, S. L., Huang, Y. P., Zhang, L. F., et al. (2011a). Potentially predictive microRNAs of gastric cancer with metastasis to lymph node. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 17, 3645–3651.
- Wu, Y., Crawford, M., Yu, B., Mao, Y., Nana-Sinkam, S. P., and Lee, L. J. (2011b). MicroRNA delivery by cationic lipoplexes for lung cancer therapy. *Mol. Pharm.* 8, 1381–1389.
- Xu, C., Lu, Y., Pan, Z., Chu, W., Luo, X., Lin, H., et al. (2007). The muscle-specific microRNAs miR-1 and miR-133 produce opposing effects on apoptosis by targeting HSP60, HSP70, and caspase-9 in cardiomyocytes. J. Cell. Sci. 120, 3045–3052.
- Yu, L. P., Shi, L. Y., Zhang, M. M., Wang, S. Y., Cai, J., Gao, M. M., et al. (2011a). MicroRNA expression profile and pathogenetic initial study in essential hypertension. *Zhonghua*

Xin Xue Guan Bing Za Zhi 39, 488–493.

- Yu, Y. M., Gibbs, K. M., Davila, J., Campbell, N., Sung, S., Todorova, T. I., et al. (2011b). MicroRNA miR-133b is essential for functional recovery after spinal cord injury in adult zebrafish. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 33, 1587–1597.
- Zhao, Y., Samal, E., and Srivastava, D. (2005). Serum response factor regulates a muscle-specific microRNA that targets Hand2 during cardiogenesis. *Nature* 436, 214–220.
- Zheng, H., Chu, J., Zeng, Y., Loh, H. H., and Law, P. Y. (2010a). Yin Yang 1 phosphorylation contributes to the differential effects of mu-opioid receptor agonists on microRNA-190 expression. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 21994–22002.
- Zheng, H., Zeng, Y., Chu, J., Kam, A. Y., Loh, H. H., and Law, P. Y. (2010b). Modulations of NeuroD activity contribute to the differential effects of morphine and fentanyl on dendritic spine stability. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 8102–8110.
- Zheng, H., Zeng, Y., Zhang, X., Chu, J., Loh, H. H., and Law, P. Y. (2010c). mu-Opioid receptor

agonists differentially regulate the expression of miR-190 and NeuroD. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 77, 102–109.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 08 June 2012; accepted: 06 October 2012; published online: 09 November 2012.

Citation: Rodríguez RE (2012) Morphine and microRNA activity: is there a relation with addiction? Front. Gene. **3**:223. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00223

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Non-Coding RNA, a specialty of Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2012 Rodríguez. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.

Non-coding RNAs regulating morphine function: with emphasis on the *in vivo* and *in vitro* functions of miR-190

Hui Zheng¹*, Ping-Yee Law² and Horace H. Loh²

¹ Key Laboratory of Regenerative Biology, South China Institute for Stem Cell Biology and Regenerative Medicine, Guangzhou Institutes of Biomedicine and Health, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Guangzhou, China

² Department of Pharmacology, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN, USA

Edited by:

Leonard Lipovich, Wayne State University, USA

Reviewed by:

Yuichiro Watanabe, University of Tokyo, Japan Terrence Chi-Kong Lau, City University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong Ulf Andersson Ørom, Max Planck Institute for Molecular Genetics, Germany

*Correspondence:

Hui Zheng, Key Laboratory of Regenerative Biology, South China Institute for Stem Cell Biology and Regenerative Medicine, Guangzhou Institutes of Biomedicine and Health, Chinese Academy of Sciences, A-131, 190 Kaiyuan Avenue, Science City, Guangzhou 510530, China. e-mail: zheng_hui@gibh.ac.cn Non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs), especially microRNAs, are reported to be involved in a variety of biological processes, including several processes related to drug addiction. It has been suggested that the biological functions of opioids, one typical type of addictive drugs, are regulated by ncRNAs. In the current review, we examine a variety of mechanisms through which ncRNAs could regulate μ -opioid receptor (OPRM1) activities and thereby contribute to the development of opioid addiction. Using miR-23b as an example, we present the possible ways in which ncRNA-mediated regulation of OPRM1 expression could impact opioid addiction. Using miR-190 as an example, we demonstrate the critical roles played by ncRNAs in the signal cascade from receptor to systemic responses, including the possible modulation of adult neurogenesis and *in vivo* contextual memory. After discussing the possible targets of ncRNAs involved in the development of opioid addiction and present suggestions for further study.

Keywords: microRNA, miR-190, non-coding RNA, opioid addiction

INTRODUCTION TO ncRNAs

The central dogma – DNA transcription results in RNA production and RNA translation results in protein production – places RNA as an intermediate between gene and protein. It has been proposed that the information storage and catalytic functions of RNA have been transferred to DNA and protein, respectively, during evolution, however, the publication of the alanine tRNA structure in 1965 suggested that translation into protein was not the only function of an RNA molecule (Holley et al., 1965). Thus, noncoding RNA (ncRNAs, also named non-protein-coding RNA or non-messenger RNA) and mRNA are now considered to be two distinct parts of the RNA world.

For many years, tRNAs and rRNAs were the only known ncRNAs. However, more ncRNAs have been discovered recently, including small nuclear RNAs (snRNAs), small nucleolar RNAs (snoRNAs), microRNAs (miRNAs), piwi-interacting RNAs (piR-NAs), small interfering RNAs (siRNAs), and long ncRNAs (Hut-tenhofer et al., 2005; Kurth and Mochizuki, 2009).

With the exception of long ncRNAs, ncRNAs are typically categorized by their function. For example, piRNAs form RNAprotein complexes with piwi proteins to induce epigenetic and post-transcriptional gene silencing in germ line cells (Girard et al., 2006). miRNAs bind to target mRNA via complementary sequences, usually resulting in translational repression or target degradation (Zeng and Cullen, 2003; Zeng, 2006; Bartel, 2009). Long ncRNAs are arbitrarily considered to be longer than 200 nucleotides. Although the functions of long ncRNAs require further investigation, they may function as signals, decoys, guides, or scaffolds (Kapranov et al., 2007; Mercer et al., 2009; Wang and Chang, 2011), and may be involved in drug addiction (Michelhaugh et al., 2011). In general, ncRNAs have been reported to affect multiple aspects of gene expression in a variety of biological processes (Shivdasani, 2006; Bueno et al., 2008; Ivey and Srivastava, 2010; Kaikkonen et al., 2011), including the development of several diseases, such as cancer, autism, Alzheimer's disease and drug addiction (Talebizadeh et al., 2008; Dreyer, 2010; Ferdin et al., 2010; Satoh, 2010). The current review discusses the involvement of ncRNAs in opioid addiction.

INTRODUCTION TO OPIOID ADDICTION

Alcohol, nicotine, caffeine, and opioids are the classic addictive drugs. Addiction to such drugs has been historically viewed from two aspects: (1) compulsive drug-taking and drug-seeking behavior is acquired because of the rewarding and reinforcement properties of the drug; and (2) drug withdrawal episodes enhance the drug's incentive value to such an extent that compulsive drug-seeking and drug-taking takes over the behavioral repertoire. Although there are common pathways for drug addiction, the ability of these individual drugs to activate distinct signaling cascades and induce specific biological responses through binding to different receptors indicate that addiction to these drugs occurs through diverse mechanisms. In the current review, we focus on the probable influence of ncRNAs on opioid addiction (Nestler and Aghajanian, 1997).

The history of opioid addiction can be traced back to the first use of morphine, one of the most efficacious and oldest drugs in the treatment of moderate to severe pain. There are also other opioids used in clinic or laboratory: fentanyl, oxycodone, etorphine, and [D-Ala², N-MePhe⁴, Gly-ol]-enkephalin (DAMGO). Although opioid addiction is considered to be a complex process involving genetic/epigenetic, cellular, and molecular regulation of neuronal plasticity and drug-related contextual memory, opioid receptors are definitely the major determinants in the addiction process because the receptors are the initiation sites of all opioid function. Since the first discovery of the opioid receptor in 1973 by scientists (Pert and Snyder, 1973), four members in the family of opioid receptors have been identified: µopioid receptor (OPRM1), δ-opioid receptor (OPRD1), κ-opioid receptor (OPRK1), and nociceptin receptor (ORL1). OPRM1 and OPRM1-related pathways are discussed in the current review.

OPIOID ADDICTION AND ncRNAs

Although there has been no reported exploration of how ncRNAs regulate opioid addiction, several miRNAs have been suggested to interact with the signaling pathway downstream of OPRM1 and possibly be involved in the opioid addiction process, as reviewed by Dreyer and Li (Dreyer, 2010; Li and van der Vaart, 2011).

As summarized in **Table 1**, by inducing a decrease in miR-133b and a subsequent increase in the expression of Pitx3, morphine regulated dopaminergic neuron differentiation in zebra fish embryos (Sanchez-Simon et al., 2010). Significant changes in the expression of 26 miRNAs, including miR-15b and miR-181b, were identified between morphine-treated and control human monocyte-derived macrophages (Dave and Khalili, 2010). A let-7 binding site was identified in the 3'-UTR of OPRM1 mRNA, and decreasing the brain level of let-7 partially attenuated the tolerance induced by morphine (He et al., 2010). In the previous reports from our laboratory, long-term morphine treatment increased the expression of miR-20a, miR-23b, miR-224, miR-331, and miR-365 in both mice hippocampi and primary cultures of rat hippocampal neurons. Long-term fentanyl treatment increased the expression of miR-224, miR-331, and miR-365, but decreased the expression of miR-184, miR-190, and miR-301 (Wu et al., 2009; Zheng et al., 2010d). The agonist-selective regulation of miR-190 and its target, neurogenic differentiation 1 (NeuroD), resulted in differential influences over the dendritic spine stability of hippocampal neurons (Zheng et al., 2010c). In addition, miR-23b targeted the 3'-UTR of OPRM1 mRNA and regulated the association between OPRM1 mRNA and polysomes (Wu et al., 2008, 2009). Five long ncRNAs were up-regulated in the nucleus accumbens of heroin abusers when compared with drug-free control subjects (Michelhaugh et al., 2011). The ncRNAs listed in **Table 1** may contribute to the development of opioid addiction by affecting different aspects of opioid signaling, though further confirmation is still required.

ncRNAs MAY CONTRIBUTE TO OPIOID ADDICTION BY CONTROLLING RECEPTOR EXPRESSION

On the one hand, opioid treatment affects the expression of several miRNAs: morphine treatment affected the expression levels of miR-23b and let-7, which have binding sites on the 3'-UTR of the OPRM1 mRNA and control the expression of OPRM1 (Wu et al., 2008, 2009; He et al., 2010). On the other hand, the expression level of opioid receptor, especially membrane receptor, is essential for receptor signaling or even opioid addiction. Some OPRM1 agonists, like etorphine and DAMGO, induce receptor internalization and subsequent loss of membrane receptor after acute treatment (El Kouhen et al., 2001; Eisinger and Schulz, 2005). Although debate still exists, receptor internalization correlates closely with signaling desensitization in vitro (Koch et al., 2001; Qiu et al., 2003) and analgesia tolerance in vivo (Zuo, 2005; Narita et al., 2006). In addition, OPRM1 down-regulation has been observed after chronic treatment with morphine (Davis et al., 1979) and has been considered as one mechanism for the development of opioid tolerance (Tao et al., 1987; Bhargava and Gulati, 1990). Since tolerance is linked with addiction, it is still reasonable to suggest the involvement of receptor down-regulation in opioid addiction. Thus, the signaling cascade from opioid to the expression of several

ncRNAs involved	Phenomena	Reference
let-7	Morphine increases the expression of let-7, which binds to the 3'-UTR of OPRM1	He et al. (2010)
	mRNA. Decreasing let-7 impaired morphine-induced tolerance	
miR-15b, miR-181b, plus 24	These 26 miRNAs were regulated in morphine-treated human monocyte-derived	Dave and Khalili (2010)
additional miRNAs	macrophages	
miR-20a, miR-184, miR-224,	Morphine increases the expression of miR-20a, miR-23b, miR-224, miR-331, and	Zheng et al. (2010d)
miR-301, miR-331, and	miR-365. Fentanyl increases the expression of miR-224, miR-331, and miR-365, but	
miR-365	decreases the expression of miR-184, miR-190, and miR-301	
miR-23b	Morphine increases the expression of miR-23b, which can regulate the expression	Wu et al. (2008, 2009)
	of OPRM1	
miR-133b	Morphine decreases the expression of miR-133b in zebrafish embryos, which	Sanchez-Simon et al. (2010)
	subsequently affects dopaminergic neuron differentiation	
miR-190	Fentanyl decreases the expression of miR-190, which subsequently affects the	Zheng et al. (2010a,c,d)
	NeuroD-related pathways	
MIAT, MEG3, NEAT1, NEAT2,	These five long ncRNAs are up-regulated in the nucleus accumbens of heroin	Michelhaugh et al. (2011)
and EMX2OS	abusers	

Table 1 | Non-coding RNAs involved in opioid signaling.

ncRNAs and then to OPRM1 expression may be a mechanism for opioid addiction.

There have been numerous studies of the promoter region and UTR of OPRM1 (Min et al., 1994; Kraus et al., 1995; Shigeta et al., 2008). Two miRNAs have been reported to bind the 3'-UTR of OPRM1 mRNA and regulate the expression of OPRM1. Let-7 bound to the 399-405 region in 3'-UTR of the human OPRM1 mRNA and the 402-408 region in the 3'-UTR of mouse OPRM1 mRNA. It also impaired the association between OPRM1 mRNA and polysomes (He et al., 2010). In our laboratory, the K box in the 3'-UTR of the OPRM1 mRNA (3805-3812 bp downstream from the stop codon) was identified to be a negative *cis*-acting element (Wu et al., 2008). Since, in Drosophila, K box interacts with miR-2 and miR-16, which have seed sequences homologous to that of miR-23b (Kimura et al., 2004; Kokkola et al., 2005), we assessed the ability of miR-23b to regulate OPRM1 expression. Downregulation of miR-23b expression increased the endogenous level of OPRM1 protein in NS20Y cells (Wu et al., 2008). In order to determine the involvement of miR-23b in the signaling cascade of OPRM1, we also tested the expression of miR-23b after morphine treatment. Morphine treatment increased the expression of miR-23b in an exogenous system (N2A cells stably expressing OPRM1) as well as an endogenous system (SHSY5Y and NMB cells; Wu et al., 2009). Although transcriptional regulation of OPRM1 mRNA is limited during opioid addiction since OPRM1 mRNA level does not change after morphine treatment (Brodsky et al., 1995), the post-transcriptional regulation of receptor expression should be studied in depth.

Let-7 and miR-23b are definitely not the only ncRNAs that regulate the expression of OPRM1. Additional ncRNAs can be identified via bioinformatics methods, microarray studies, or other experimental procedures. Basing future studies on the current understanding of ncRNAs, it will not be difficult to explore the mechanisms through which the identified ncRNAs regulate OPRM1 expression. However, it will be difficult to explore the roles played by these ncRNAs in opioid addiction. One of the most reasonable studies will be to determine whether opioid treatment can affect the expression of these miRNAs, as with the studies on let-7 and miR-23b.

ncRNAs MAY CONTRIBUTE TO OPIOID ADDICTION VIA miR-190-RELATED PATHWAYS

Addiction is highly related to changes in neuronal activity and involves a number of brain nuclei, thus, modulating neuronal circuitry should be one possible mechanism through which ncRNAs regulate opioid addiction (Di Chiara et al., 2004; Kelley, 2004; Koob, 2009). Since neuronal circuitry is a large and complex topic and ncRNAs can affect the expression of many proteins within the neuronal circuitry (Bartel, 2004; Kosik, 2006), the current discussion focuses on the signaling cascade surrounding miR-190.

Using microarray analysis, we determined the opioid-induced changes in the expression profiles of miRNAs in primary cultures of hippocampal neurons and in mice hippocampi (Zheng et al., 2010d). Two opioids, morphine and fentanyl, were used in our studies, because of their different characteristics in inducing receptor internalization, receptor phosphorylation, and receptor desensitization (Keith et al., 1996; Zhang et al., 1998; Chu et al., 2010; Zheng et al., 2011). The two opioids induced similar changes in the expression of miR-224, miR-331, and miR-365, but had agonist-selective effects on the expression of miR-20a, miR-184, miR-190, and miR-301 (Zheng et al., 2010d). In our several other reports, we delineated both the upstream and downstream signaling pathways of miR-190 (Zheng et al., 2010a,b,c, 2011).

The signaling cascades surrounding miR-190 are summarized in **Figure 1**. Fentanyl, but not morphine, uses the β -arrestin pathway to induce extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) phosphorylation and leads to the nuclear translocation of phosphorylated ERK. Phosphorylated ERK decreases transcription of Talin2 by affecting the phosphorylation status of Yin Yang 1 (YY1) and the subsequent interaction between YY1 and Talin2 promoter (Zheng et al., 2008, 2010a). Since miR-190 is located in the intron of Talin2, fentanyl treatment decreases the expression of miR-190. Since morphine induces ERK phosphorylation in a PKC-dependent manner, morphine treatment does not affect the expression of miR-190, an example of agonist-selective regulation on miR-190 expression.



FIGURE 1 | Schematic illustration of signaling pathways surrounding miR-190. Morphine uses PKC pathway to induce ERK phosphorylation, fentanyl induces ERK phosphorylation in a β -arrestin-dependent manner. Fentanyl decreases miR-190 expression via β -arrestin pathway, YY1, and talin2. Fentanyl-increased NeuroD protein level was mediated by miR-190. Since both morphine and fentanyl impaired CaMKII α activity, there is agonist-selective regulation on NeuroD activity. Morphine decreases NeuroD activity, but fentanyl keeps it at basal level. The activity of NeuroD may contribute to DCX expression, dendritic spine stability, neuron functions, adult neurogenesis, learning, and memory. miR-190 binds to the 3'-UTR of NeuroD mRNA and induces a decrease of NeuroD protein (Zheng et al., 2010d). NeuroD activity is influenced by both the NeuroD protein level and calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II α (CaMKII α)mediated phosphorylation on serine 336 (Gaudilliere et al., 2004). Since both morphine and fentanyl decrease the activity of CaMKII α , the two opioids regulate NeuroD activity differentially (Zheng et al., 2010c). On the one hand, after fentanyl treatment, decreased expression of miR-190 leads to an increase in NeuroD protein, which counteracts the reduced activity of CaMKII α . Thus, fentanyl maintains NeuroD activity close to basal levels. On the other hand, after morphine treatment, miR-190 expression is not affected, but the reduced activity of CaMKII α leads to the impaired activity of NeuroD. Thus, morphine decreases NeuroD activity (Zheng et al., 2010c).

Since NeuroD is critical for neuronal morphology (Gaudilliere et al., 2004), morphine and fentanyl differentially regulate dendritic spine stability and the electrophysiology of hippocampal neurons (Liao et al., 2007a,b; Zheng et al., 2010c). Furthermore, due to the involvement of NeuroD and its target, Doublecortin (DCX), in adult neurogenesis in the subgranular zone of dentate gyrus (Cho and Tsai, 2004; Hevner et al., 2006; von Bohlen Und Halbach, 2007), there may exist a connection between agonist-selective signaling, opioid addiction, and ncRNA expression (Eisch and Harburg, 2006; Leuner et al., 2006).

To characterize the possible connection between miR-190related signaling pathways and opioid addiction, we categorized the factors mentioned above into three types: (1) those related to agonist-dependent signaling of OPRM1 including β -arrestin, ERK, and YY1; (2) those expressed in the central nervous system with close relation with miR-190, including CaMKII α and Talin2; and (3) NeuroD and NeuroD-related biological processes, including dendritic spine stability, adult neurogenesis, contextual learning, and memory.

Agonist-selective signaling

The first several factors discussed here are closely related to agonist-selective signaling. Different from the "intrinsic efficacy" concept, which suggests that each agonist activates the signaling pathways under one particular receptor with similar efficacies (Furchgott, 1966; Kenakin, 1995), agonist-selective signaling theory suggests that agonists may activate different signaling pathways differentially (Urban et al., 2007; Drake et al., 2008). Although no direct evidence links agonist-selective signaling with opioid addiction, the opioids do have differing abilities to induce tolerance (Duttaroy and Yoburn, 1995).

Extracellular signal-regulated kinase phosphorylation may be involved in opioid addiction. The ERK pathway has been reported to regulate learning and memory, which in turn relate to drug addiction (Mazzucchelli et al., 2002). In addition, addictive and non-addictive drugs induce distinct and specific patterns of ERK activation in the mouse brain (Valjent et al., 2004). The possible involvement of the ERK pathway in opioid addiction is further supported by the roles of ERK in opioid reward (Liu et al., 2007), opioid withdrawal (Asensio et al., 2006; Li et al., 2010), and opioidinduced conditioned place preference (Valjent et al., 2006; Lin et al., 2010).

Agonist-selective ERK phosphorylation may be involved in opioid addiction. Two pathways can be used by G proteincoupled receptors (GPCRs) to mediate ERK phosphorylation: the PKC/PKA pathway and the β-arrestin pathway, as demonstrated by siRNA and kinase inhibitor studies (Shenoy et al., 2006; DeWire et al., 2007; Violin and Lefkowitz, 2007). The selectivity of agonists for these two pathways is indicated by the abilities of agonists to use the pathways to induce ERK phosphorylation (Azzi et al., 2003; Kohout et al., 2004; Shenoy et al., 2006). For OPRM1, morphine acts through the PKC pathway to induce ERK phosphorylation, and the phosphorylated ERK remains in the cytosol. Etorphine and fentanyl prefer to use the β -arrestin pathway to induce ERK phosphorylation, and the phosphorylated ERK translocates into nucleus (Zheng et al., 2008). Since the differences among opioids in inducing ERK phosphorylation are consistent with their differences in inducing receptor phosphorylation (Zhang et al., 1998; Zheng et al., 2010b, 2011), receptor internalization (Keith et al., 1996; Koch et al., 2005), and receptor desensitization (Johnson et al., 2006; Chu et al., 2008, 2010), agonist-selective ERK phosphorylation may be involved in opioid addiction.

How ERK phosphorylation and agonist-selective ERK phosphorylation contribute to opioid addiction is still unclear. Whether miR-190, which is downstream of ERK pathway, is involved is also not clear. However, miR-190 is not likely to be the only ncRNA whose expression is regulated by ERK pathway. In addition, it is likely that there additional ncRNAs that regulate the expression of ERK or related factors like PKC and β -arrestin. Thus, further investigation is required to define the connection between agonist-selective signaling and opioid addiction.

Neuronal related factors

The sequence of miR-190 is conserved between human, mouse, and rat, and is located in the intronic regions of the gene encoding Talin2 in each genome (Griffiths-Jones et al., 2008). Similar to other miRNAs located within the intronic regions (Rodriguez et al., 2004), the expression of miR-190 is regulated by Talin2 promoter activity, at least in part (Zheng et al., 2010d). Although Talin2 has not been well studied, its functions can be predicted by the reports on its homolog, Talin1. Talin1 is considered to be an integrin-associated cytoskeletal protein and induces conformational changes in integrin that increase the affinity of its extracellular domains for ligand (Calderwood, 2004; Critchley, 2009). Talin2 is similar in amino acid sequence to Talin1 (74% identity and 86% similarity). Talin1 expression is highest in the heart and lowest in the brain, as measured in both mouse and human (Ben-Yosef and Francomano, 1999; Monkley et al., 2001). The Talin2 expression pattern is different from that of Talin1, with highest expression in heart and the second highest expression in brain (Monkley et al., 2001). Considering their sequence similarity and differential expression patterns, Talin2 may execute the function of Talin1 in brain. Thus, the opioid-induced modulation of Talin2 transcription may affect cell adhesion to the extracellular matrix, which may subsequently influence neuronal circuitry and opioid addiction. These functions indicate that Talin2 is a potential start for ncRNA-mediated regulation of opioid addiction.

CaMKII α activation is one of OPRM1's downstream signaling pathways (Lou et al., 1999). The activity of CaMKII α increases

after acute morphine treatment, gradually returns to basal levels after chronic morphine treatment, and reaches to a high level if naloxone is used to precipitate the opiate withdrawal (Lou et al., 1999). As an important factor in central nervous system, CaMKII α is essential for synaptic transmission and dendritic morphology (Colbran and Brown, 2004), and its phosphorylation is associated with microtubule stabilization and dendrite formation (Vaillant et al., 2002; Okamoto et al., 2009). In addition, CaMKII α activation has been reported to be a mediator for the development of opioid tolerance (Fan et al., 1999; Shukla et al., 2006). The CAMKII α signaling pathway has been considered a common pathway for drug addiction (Steiner et al., 2007; Anderson et al., 2008; Li et al., 2008).

NeuroD

Neurogenic differentiation 1 is critical for the development of both the central nervous and endocrine systems. NeuroD null mice have difficulty surviving after birth without insulin supplement. Surviving mice have defects in the cerebella and hippocampi (Cho and Tsai, 2004). NeuroD is an important transcription factor during adult neurogenesis in the subgranular zone of the hippocampus (von Bohlen Und Halbach, 2007), and is expressed at high levels during the differentiation and migration of neuronal stem cells. In addition to supporting the formation of new neuronal circuitry, NeuroD also contributes to the stability of existing circuitry. CaMKIIa-mediated NeuroD phosphorylation supports the formation and maintenance of dendritic morphology in cerebellar granule neurons (Gaudilliere et al., 2004). Reducing NeuroD activity with miR-190 or CaMKIIa inhibitors impairs the stability of dendritic spines in hippocampal neurons (Zheng et al., 2010c). Therefore, by regulating the neuronal circuitry, NeuroD may contribute to opioid addiction.

In addition to NeuroD itself, its target doublecortin (DCX) is also a critical factor in adult neurogenesis (Seo et al., 2007; von Bohlen Und Halbach, 2007). Since addictive drugs such as alcohol, morphine, and cocaine regulate adult neurogenesis in the hippocampus (Eisch et al., 2000; Nixon, 2006; Noonan et al., 2010), a connection between adult neurogenesis and drug addiction has been suggested (Eisch and Harburg, 2006; Canales, 2007). This hypothesis is supported by studies on learning and memory which are connected to both neurogenesis (Leuner et al., 2006; Deng et al., 2010) and drug addiction (Davis and Gould, 2008; Robbins et al., 2008). In addition, miR-19b and miR-124 have been reported to target NeuroD (Liu et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2011), thus, these two ncRNAs may regulate opioid addiction by affecting NeuroD-related pathways.

ncRNAs MAY CONTRIBUTE TO OPIOID ADDICTION BY AFFECTING OTHER BIOLOGICAL PROCESSES

Above we discuss how factors related to miR-190 may contribute to opioid addiction. Other miRNAs, including miR-133b and let-7, will be described in depth in other reviews in this issue. However, not all miRNAs identified in the published reports have been well studied. For example, 24 miRNAs, in addition to miR-15b and miR-181b, were identified in a comparison of miRNA expression in morphine-treated versus control samples (Dave and Khalili, 2010). We also identified several miRNAs whose expression changed significantly after morphine or fentanyl treatment

in primary hippocampal cultures and mouse brain (Zheng et al., 2010d). Although the majority of these miRNAs relate to cell proliferation or cancer development, it was demonstrated that several miRNAs are involved in opioid addiction.

For example, miR-26b targets the 3'-UTR of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) mRNA (Caputo et al., 2011). BDNF is a neurotrophin that is an essential part of neuronal development and plasticity (Greenberg et al., 2009). A study on alcohol and cocaine also demonstrated BDNF's central role in drug addiction (Janak et al., 2006; McGinty et al., 2010). The expression of miR-132 in neuronal cultures is up-regulated by BDNF (Numakawa et al., 2011), and miR-132 mediates the regulation of BDNF on glutamate receptors (Kawashima et al., 2010). Other studies have revealed the interaction between miR-132 and other addictionrelated pathways, including CREB and ERK signaling cascades (Remenyi et al., 2010), dendritic spine morphology and synaptic physiology (Edbauer et al., 2010; Mellios et al., 2011), and the integration of newborn neurons into the adult dentate gyrus (Luikart et al., 2011). miR-301 affects the ERK and CREB pathways by targeting EMOX2 (Cao et al., 2010).

SUMMARY

To further explore the possible mechanisms through which ncR-NAs contribute to opioid addiction, a simplified schematic illustration is provided in Figure 2. The binding of an opioid to OPRM1 leads to various biological responses, some of which ultimately lead to addiction. The ncRNAs involved in opioid addiction can be classified into two categories: (1) ncRNAs whose expression are regulated by opioids and mediate one or several biological responses that lead to addiction, and (2) ncRNAs whose expression are not regulated by opioids, but support the cascade from receptor to biological responses and then to addiction. The ncR-NAs listed in Table 1 should belong to the first category if their contribution to opioid addiction is confirmed in future investigations, since not all ncRNAs regulated by opioids contribute to the development of addiction. The number of ncRNAs in the second category can be larger than those in the first, since the development of opioid addiction requires a large number of biological steps. Unfortunately, reports on these ncRNAs are limited, possibly because they are not regulated by opioids and thus have relatively lower significance in this field.

In further studies of the relationship between ncRNAs and opioid addiction, the key point will be to confirm the involvement of ncRNAs in the development of opioid addiction. One common method for confirmation is monitoring the development of opioid addiction after modulating the expression of a specific ncRNA. The categorization of ncRNAs mentioned above will be also useful when using the involved ncRNAs as targets to control the development of opioid addiction. Counteracting opioid-induced changes in the expression of ncRNAs in category 1 may lead to fewer side effects than blocking opioid tolerance by modulating the expression of ncRNAs in category 2.

As mentioned above, most functions of ncRNAs target different aspects of gene expression, thus, controlling the expression of essential factors in opioid signaling cascades or neuronal circuitry is one of the most likely mechanisms for regulation of opioid addiction by ncRNAs. In the sections above, we discussed several



potential targets or target groups, including OPRM1 itself, factors related to agonist-selective signaling, and factors related to neuronal circuitry. As mentioned above, morphine treatment affected the expression levels of miR-23b and let-7, which have binding sites on the 3'-UTR of the OPRM1 mRNA. Since modulating let-7 expression could regulate morphine tolerance, it is reasonable to suggest that modulating miR-23b expression could lead to the similar effects. Furthermore, the other reported functions of miR-23b,

REFERENCES

- Anderson, S. M., Famous, K. R., Sadri-Vakili, G., Kumaresan, V., Schmidt, H. D., Bass, C. E., Terwilliger, E. F., Cha, J. H., and Pierce, R. C. (2008). CaMKII: a biochemical bridge linking accumbens dopamine and glutamate systems in cocaine seeking. *Nat. Neurosci.* 11, 344–353.
- Asensio, V. J., Miralles, A., and Garcia-Sevilla, J. A. (2006). Stimulation of mitogen-activated protein kinase kinases (MEK1/2) by mu-, delta- and kappa-opioid receptor agonists in

the rat brain: regulation by chronic morphine and opioid withdrawal. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 539, 49–56.

- Azzi, M., Charest, P. G., Angers, S., Rousseau, G., Kohout, T., Bouvier, M., and Pineyro, G. (2003). Betaarrestin-mediated activation of MAPK by inverse agonists reveals distinct active conformations for G protein-coupled receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 11406–11411.
- Bartel, D. P. (2004). MicroR-NAs: genomics, biogenesis,

like down-regulation of the very low lipoprotein receptor and activation of TGF β 1/Smad3 signaling pathway, may also influence opioid addiction (Ouda et al., 2011; Yuan et al., 2011).

Because of the multiple targets that may be impacted by a single ncRNA, as well as the complex and interrelated regulation of ncRNAs and their targets, it is difficult to identify the actual physiological role that each ncRNA exhibits in drug addiction processes. However, our studies of miR-190, which was identified in microarray analyses rather than bioinformatics, and the central transcription factor it regulates, NeuroD, will reveal interesting aspects of the role of ncRNAs in drug addiction.

By no means is miR-190-mediated regulation of NeuroD activities the definitive "the" physiological function of this miRNA. Rather, its activities will depend on the state of the neuronal cells in which it is expressed. For example, in addition to NeuroD, miR-190 can interact with other transcription factors that regulate neurogenesis, such as Pax6 (Zheng et al., 2010d). Pax6 expression is high in neural progenitor cells but low in differentiated neurons (Bel-Vialar et al., 2007; Kallur et al., 2008). Therefore, one can imagine that an addictive drug such as morphine, by regulating a single ncRNA level such as miR-190, will have differential effects on cellular response, whether it is proliferation or differentiation, and will be dependent on the network of transcripts being expressed during the drug treatment.

Furthermore, because ncRNAs are end products of transcript maturation, one expects that different neurons, different neural circuitry, and different brain regions will exhibit differential regulation of ncRNAs by the same addictive drugs. Such complex patterns of ncRNA regulation could have significant impact on the overall responses to addictive drugs. Our study on miR-190 regulation of NeuroD activities leading to dendritic morphology changes is only the beginning of a very complex and elaborate process by which addictive drugs such as morphine could alter neural activities and, eventually, behavioral outcome.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research was supported by the "National Natural Science Foundation of China (31100773)," the "Strategic Priority Research Program" of the Chinese Academy of Sciences (XDA01020302), and the "Major New Drugs Innovation" of the Major National Scientific and Technological Project (2011ZX09102-010-01). The research was also supported by NIH grants DA023905 and DA011806.

mechanism, and function. *Cell* 116, 281–297.

- Bartel, D. P. (2009). MicroRNAs: target recognition and regulatory functions. *Cell* 136, 215–233.
- Bel-Vialar, S., Medevielle, F., and Pituello, F. (2007). The on/off of Pax6 controls the tempo of neuronal differentiation in the developing spinal cord. *Dev. Biol.* 305, 659–673.
- Ben-Yosef, T., and Francomano, C. A. (1999). Characterization of the human talin (TLN) gene:

genomic structure, chromosomal localization, and expression pattern. *Genomics* 62, 316–319.

- Bhargava, H. N., and Gulati, A. (1990). Down-regulation of brain and spinal cord mu-opiate receptors in morphine tolerant-dependent rats. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 190, 305–311.
- Brodsky, M., Elliott, K., Hynansky, A., and Inturrisi, C. E. (1995). CNS levels of mu opioid receptor (MOR-1) mRNA during chronic treatment with morphine or naltrexone. *Brain Res. Bull.* 38, 135–141.

- Bueno, M. J., Perez De Castro, I., and Malumbres, M. (2008). Control of cell proliferation pathways by microRNAs. *Cell Cycle* 7,3143–3148.
- Calderwood, D. A. (2004). Talin controls integrin activation. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 32, 434–437.
- Canales, J. J. (2007). Adult neurogenesis and the memories of drug addiction. *Eur. Arch. Psychiatry Clin. Neurosci.* 257, 261–270.
- Cao, G., Huang, B., Liu, Z., Zhang, J., Xu, H., Xia, W., Li, J., Li, S., Chen, L., Ding, H., Zhao, Q., Fan, M., Shen, B., and Shao, N. (2010). Intronic miR-301 feedback regulates its host gene, ska2, in A549 cells by targeting MEOX2 to affect ERK/CREB pathways. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 396, 978–982.
- Caputo, V., Sinibaldi, L., Fiorentino, A., Parisi, C., Catalanotto, C., Pasini, A., Cogoni, C., and Pizzuti, A. (2011). Brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) expression is regulated by microRNAs miR-26a and miR-26b allele-specific binding. *PLoS ONE* 6, e28656. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0028656
- Cho, J. H., and Tsai, M. J. (2004). The role of BETA2/NeuroD1 in the development of the nervous system. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 30, 35–47.
- Chu, J., Zheng, H., Loh, H. H., and Law, P. Y. (2008). Morphine-induced mu-opioid receptor rapid desensitization is independent of receptor phosphorylation and beta-arrestins. *Cell. Signal.* 20, 1616–1624.
- Chu, J., Zheng, H., Zhang, Y., Loh, H. H., and Law, P. Y. (2010). Agonistdependent mu-opioid receptor signaling can lead to heterologous desensitization. *Cell. Signal.* 22, 684–696.
- Colbran, R. J., and Brown, A. M. (2004). Calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II and synaptic plasticity. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 14, 318–327.
- Critchley, D. R. (2009). Biochemical and structural properties of the integrinassociated cytoskeletal protein talin. *Annu. Rev. Biophys.* 38, 235–254.
- Dave, R. S., and Khalili, K. (2010). Morphine treatment of human monocyte-derived macrophages induces differential miRNA and protein expression: impact on inflammation and oxidative stress in the central nervous system. J. Cell. Biochem. 110, 834–845.
- Davis, J. A., and Gould, T. J. (2008). Associative learning, the hippocampus, and nicotine addiction. *Curr. Drug Abuse Rev.* 1, 9–19.
- Davis, M. E., Akera, T., and Brody, T. M. (1979). Reduction of opiate binding

to brainstem slices associated with the development of tolerance to morphine in rats. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 211, 112–119.

- Deng, W., Aimone, J. B., and Gage, F. H. (2010). New neurons and new memories: how does adult hippocampal neurogenesis affect learning and memory? *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 11, 339–350.
- DeWire, S. M., Ahn, S., Lefkowitz, R. J., and Shenoy, S. K. (2007). Betaarrestins and cell signaling. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.* 69, 483–510.
- Di Chiara, G., Bassareo, V., Fenu, S., De Luca, M. A., Spina, L., Cadoni, C., Acquas, E., Carboni, E., Valentini, V., and Lecca, D. (2004). Dopamine and drug addiction: the nucleus accumbens shell connection. *Neuropharmacology* 47(Suppl. 1), 227–241.
- Drake, M. T., Violin, J. D., Whalen, E. J., Wisler, J. W., Shenoy, S. K., and Lefkowitz, R. J. (2008). beta-arrestin-biased agonism at the beta2-adrenergic receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 5669–5676.
- Dreyer, J. L. (2010). New insights into the roles of microRNAs in drug addiction and neuroplasticity. *Genome Med.* 2, 92.
- Duttaroy, A., and Yoburn, B. C. (1995). The effect of intrinsic efficacy on opioid tolerance. *Anesthesiology* 82, 1226–1236.
- Edbauer, D., Neilson, J. R., Foster, K. A., Wang, C. F., Seeburg, D. P., Batterton, M. N., Tada, T., Dolan, B. M., Sharp, P. A., and Sheng, M. (2010). Regulation of synaptic structure and function by FMRP-associated microR-NAs miR-125b and miR-132. *Neuron* 65, 373–384.
- Eisch, A. J., Barrot, M., Schad, C. A., Self, D. W., and Nestler, E. J. (2000). Opiates inhibit neurogenesis in the adult rat hippocampus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 7579–7584.
- Eisch, A. J., and Harburg, G. C. (2006). Opiates, psychostimulants, and adult hippocampal neurogenesis: insights for addiction and stem cell biology. *Hippocampus* 16, 271–286.
- Eisinger, D. A., and Schulz, R. (2005). Mechanism and consequences of delta-opioid receptor internalization. *Crit. Rev. Neurobiol.* 17, 1–26.
- El Kouhen, R., Burd, A. L., Erickson-Herbrandson, L. J., Chang, C. Y., Law, P. Y., and Loh, H. H. (2001). Phosphorylation of Ser363, Thr370, and Ser375 residues within the carboxyl tail differentially regulates muopioid receptor internalization. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, 12774–12780.
- Fan, G. H., Wang, L. Z., Qiu, H. C., Ma, L., and Pei, G. (1999).

Inhibition of calcium/calmodulindependent protein kinase II in rat hippocampus attenuates morphine tolerance and dependence. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 56, 39–45.

- Ferdin, J., Kunej, T., and Calin, G. A. (2010). Non-coding RNAs: identification of cancer-associated microR-NAs by gene profiling. *Technol. Cancer Res. Treat.* 9, 123–138.
- Furchgott, R. (1966). The use of haloalkylamines in the differentiation of receptors and in the determination of dissociation of receptoragonist complexes. *Adv. Drug Res.* 3, 21–55.
- Gaudilliere, B., Konishi, Y., de la Iglesia, N., Yao, G., and Bonni, A. (2004). A CaMKII-NeuroD signaling pathway specifies dendritic morphogenesis. *Neuron* 41, 229–241.
- Girard, A., Sachidanandam, R., Hannon, G. J., and Carmell, M. A. (2006). A germline-specific class of small RNAs binds mammalian Piwi proteins. *Nature* 442, 199–202.
- Greenberg, M. E., Xu, B., Lu, B., and Hempstead, B. L. (2009). New insights in the biology of BDNF synthesis and release: implications in CNS function. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 12764–12767.
- Griffiths-Jones, S., Saini, H. K., van Dongen, S., and Enright, A. J. (2008). miRBase: tools for microRNA genomics. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 36, D154–D158.
- He, Y., Yang, C., Kirkmire, C. M., and Wang, Z. J. (2010). Regulation of opioid tolerance by let-7 family microRNA targeting the mu opioid receptor. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 10251–10258.
- Hevner, R. F., Hodge, R. D., Daza, R. A., and Englund, C. (2006). Transcription factors in glutamatergic neurogenesis: conserved programs in neocortex, cerebellum, and adult hippocampus. *Neurosci. Res.* 55, 223–233.
- Holley, R. W., Apgar, J., Everett, G. A., Madison, J. T., Marquisee, M., Merrill, S. H., Penswick, J. R., and Zamir, A. (1965). Structure of a ribonucleic acid. *Science* 147, 1462–1465.
- Huttenhofer, A., Schattner, P., and Polacek, N. (2005). Non-coding RNAs: hope or hype? *Trends Genet*. 21, 289–297.
- Ivey, K. N., and Srivastava, D. (2010). MicroRNAs as regulators of differentiation and cell fate decisions. *Cell Stem Cell* 7, 36–41.
- Janak, P. H., Wolf, F. W., Heberlein, U., Pandey, S. C., Logrip, M. L., and Ron, D. (2006). BIG news in alcohol addiction: new findings on growth factor pathways BDNF, insulin, and

GDNF. Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res. 30, 214–221.

- Johnson, E. A., Oldfield, S., Braksator, E., Gonzalez-Cuello, A., Couch, D., Hall, K. J., Mundell, S. J., Bailey, C. P., Kelly, E., and Henderson, G. (2006). Agonist-selective mechanisms of mu-opioid receptor desensitization in human embryonic kidney 293 cells. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 70, 676–685.
- Kaikkonen, M. U., Lam, M. T., and Glass, C. K. (2011). Non-coding RNAs as regulators of gene expression and epigenetics. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 90, 430–440.
- Kallur, T., Gisler, R., Lindvall, O., and Kokaia, Z. (2008). Pax6 promotes neurogenesis in human neural stem cells. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 38, 616–628.
- Kapranov, P., Cheng, J., Dike, S., Nix, D. A., Duttagupta, R., Willingham, A. T., Stadler, P. F., Hertel, J., Hackermuller, J., Hofacker, I. L., Bell, I., Cheung, E., Drenkow, J., Dumais, E., Patel, S., Helt, G., Ganesh, M., Ghosh, S., Piccolboni, A., Sementchenko, V., Tammana, H., and Gingeras, T. R. (2007). RNA maps reveal new RNA classes and a possible function for pervasive transcription. *Science* 316, 1484–1488.
- Kawashima, H., Numakawa, T., Kumamaru, E., Adachi, N., Mizuno, H., Ninomiya, M., Kunugi, H., and Hashido, K. (2010). Glucocorticoid attenuates brain-derived neurotrophic factor-dependent upregulation of glutamate receptors via the suppression of microRNA-132 expression. *Neuroscience* 165, 1301–1311.
- Keith, D. E., Murray, S. R., Zaki, P. A., Chu, P. C., Lissin, D. V., Kang, L., Evans, C. J., and Von Zastrow, M. (1996). Morphine activates opioid receptors without causing their rapid internalization. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 19021–19024.
- Kelley, A. E. (2004). Memory and addiction: shared neural circuitry and molecular mechanisms. *Neuron* 44, 161–179.
- Kenakin, T. (1995). Agonist-receptor efficacy I: mechanisms of efficacy and receptor promiscuity. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 16, 188–192.
- Kimura, H., Kawasaki, H., and Taira, K. (2004). Mouse microRNA-23b regulates expression of Hes1 gene in P19 cells. Nucleic Acids Symp. Ser. (Oxf.) 213–214.
- Koch, T., Schulz, S., Pfeiffer, M., Klutzny, M., Schroder, H., Kahl, E., and Hollt, V. (2001). C-terminal splice variants of the mouse mu-opioid receptor differ in morphine-induced

internalization and receptor resensitization. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, 31408–31414.

- Koch, T., Widera, A., Bartzsch, K., Schulz, S., Brandenburg, L. O., Wundrack, N., Beyer, A., Grecksch, G., and Hollt, V. (2005). Receptor endocytosis counteracts the development of opioid tolerance. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 67, 280–287.
- Kohout, T. A., Nicholas, S. L., Perry, S. J., Reinhart, G., Junger, S., and Struthers, R. S. (2004). Differential desensitization, receptor phosphorylation, beta-arrestin recruitment, and ERK1/2 activation by the two endogenous ligands for the CC chemokine receptor 7. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 23214–23222.
- Kokkola, T., Salo, O. M., Poso, A., and Laitinen, J. T. (2005). The functional role of cysteines adjacent to the NRY motif of the human MT1 melatonin receptor. J. Pineal Res. 39, 1–11.
- Koob, G. F. (2009). Brain stress systems in the amygdala and addiction. *Brain Res.* 1293, 61–75.
- Kosik, K. S. (2006). The neuronal microRNA system. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 7, 911–920.
- Kraus, J., Horn, G., Zimprich, A., Simon, T., Mayer, P., and Hollt, V. (1995). Molecular cloning and functional analysis of the rat mu opioid receptor gene promoter. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 215, 591–597.
- Kurth, H. M., and Mochizuki, K. (2009). Non-coding RNA: a bridge between small RNA and DNA. *RNA Biol.* 6, 138–140.
- Leuner, B., Gould, E., and Shors, T. J. (2006). Is there a link between adult neurogenesis and learning? *Hippocampus* 16, 216–224.
- Li, C. Y., Mao, X., and Wei, L. (2008). Genes and (common) pathways underlying drug addiction. *PLoS Comput. Biol.* 4, e2. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.0040002
- Li, M. D., and van der Vaart, A. D. (2011). MicroRNAs in addiction: adaptation's middlemen? *Mol. Psychiatry* 16, 1159–1168.
- Li, T., Hou, Y., Cao, W., Yan, C. X., Chen, T., and Li, S. B. (2010). Naloxone-precipitated withdrawal enhances ERK phosphorylation in prefrontal association cortex and accumbens nucleus of morphinedependent mice. *Neurosci. Lett.* 468, 348–352.
- Liao, D., Grigoriants, O. O., Loh, H. H., and Law, P. Y. (2007a). Agonistdependent postsynaptic effects of opioids on miniature excitatory postsynaptic currents in cultured hippocampal neurons. J. Neurophysiol. 97, 1485–1494.

- Liao, D., Grigoriants, O. O., Wang, W., Wiens, K., Loh, H. H., and Law, P. Y. (2007b). Distinct effects of individual opioids on the morphology of spines depend upon the internalization of mu opioid receptors. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 35, 456–469.
- Lin, X., Wang, Q., Ji, J., and Yu, L. C. (2010). Role of MEK-ERK pathway in morphine-induced conditioned place preference in ventral tegmental area of rats. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 88, 1595–1604.
- Liu, K., Liu, Y., Mo, W., Qiu, R., Wang, X., Wu, J. Y., and He, R. (2011). MiR-124 regulates early neurogenesis in the optic vesicle and forebrain, targeting NeuroD1. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39, 2869–2879.
- Liu, Y., Wang, Y., Jiang, Z., Wan, C., Zhou, W., and Wang, Z. (2007). The extracellular signal-regulated kinase signaling pathway is involved in the modulation of morphine-induced reward by mPer1. *Neuroscience* 146, 265–271.
- Lou, L., Zhou, T., Wang, P., and Pei, G. (1999). Modulation of Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II activity by acute and chronic morphine administration in rat hippocampus: differential regulation of alpha and beta isoforms. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 55, 557–563.
- Luikart, B. W., Bensen, A. L., Washburn, E. K., Perederiy, J. V., Su, K. G., Li, Y., Kernie, S. G., Parada, L. F., and Westbrook, G. L. (2011). miR-132 mediates the integration of newborn neurons into the adult dentate gyrus. *PLoS ONE* 6, e19077. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0019077
- Mazzucchelli, C., Vantaggiato, C., Ciamei, A., Fasano, S., Pakhotin, P., Krezel, W., Welzl, H., Wolfer, D. P., Pages, G., Valverde, O., Marowsky, A., Porrazzo, A., Orban, P. C., Maldonado, R., Ehrengruber, M. U., Cestari, V., Lipp, H. P., Chapman, P. F., Pouyssegur, J., and Brambilla, R. (2002). Knockout of ERK1 MAP kinase enhances synaptic plasticity in the striatum and facilitates striatal-mediated learning and memory. *Neuron* 34, 807–820.
- McGinty, J. F., Whitfield, T. W. Jr., and Berglind, W. J. (2010). Brainderived neurotrophic factor and cocaine addiction. *Brain Res.* 1314, 183–193.
- Mellios, N., Sugihara, H., Castro, J., Banerjee, A., Le, C., Kumar, A., Crawford, B., Strathmann, J., Tropea, D., Levine, S. S., Edbauer, D., and Sur, M. (2011). miR-132, an experiencedependent microRNA, is essential for visual cortex plasticity. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14, 1240–1242.

- Mercer, T. R., Dinger, M. E., and Mattick, J. S. (2009). Long non-coding RNAs: insights into functions. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 10, 155–159.
- Michelhaugh, S. K., Lipovich, L., Blythe, J., Jia, H., Kapatos, G., and Bannon, M. J. (2011). Mining affymetrix microarray data for long noncoding RNAs: altered expression in the nucleus accumbens of heroin abusers. J. Neurochem. 116, 459–466.
- Min, B. H., Augustin, L. B., Felsheim, R. F., Fuchs, J. A., and Loh, H. H. (1994). Genomic structure analysis of promoter sequence of a mouse mu opioid receptor gene. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 91, 9081–9085.
- Monkley, S. J., Pritchard, C. A., and Critchley, D. R. (2001). Analysis of the mammalian talin2 gene TLN2. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 286, 880–885.
- Narita, M., Suzuki, M., Narita, M., Niikura, K., Nakamura, A., Miyatake, M., Yajima, Y., and Suzuki, T. (2006). mu-Opioid receptor internalization-dependent and -independent mechanisms of the development of tolerance to mu-opioid receptor agonists: comparison between etorphine and morphine. *Neuroscience* 138, 609–619.
- Nestler, E. J., and Aghajanian, G. K. (1997). Molecular and cellular basis of addiction. *Science* 278, 58–63.
- Nixon, K. (2006). Alcohol and adult neurogenesis: roles in neurodegeneration and recovery in chronic alcoholism. *Hippocampus* 16, 287–295.
- Noonan, M. A., Bulin, S. E., Fuller, D. C., and Eisch, A. J. (2010). Reduction of adult hippocampal neurogenesis confers vulnerability in an animal model of cocaine addiction. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 304–315.
- Numakawa, T., Yamamoto, N., Chiba, S., Richards, M., Ooshima, Y., Kishi, S., Hashido, K., Adachi, N., and Kunugi, H. (2011). Growth factors stimulate expression of neuronal and glial miR-132. *Neurosci. Lett.* 505, 242–247.
- Okamoto, K., Bosch, M., and Hayashi, Y. (2009). The roles of CaMKII and F-actin in the structural plasticity of dendritic spines: a potential molecular identity of a synaptic tag? *Physiology (Bethesda)* 24, 357–366.
- Ouda, R., Onomoto, K., Takahasi, K., Edwards, M. R., Kato, H., Yoneyama, M., and Fujita, T. (2011). Retinoic acid-inducible gene Iinducible miR-23b inhibits infections by minor group rhinoviruses through down-regulation of the very low density lipoprotein receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 26210–26219.

- Pert, C. B., and Snyder, S. H. (1973). Opiate receptor: demonstration in nervous tissue. *Science* 179, 1011–1014.
- Qiu, Y., Law, P. Y., and Loh, H. H. (2003). Mu-opioid receptor desensitization: role of receptor phosphorylation, internalization, and representation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 36733–36739.
- Remenyi, J., Hunter, C. J., Cole, C., Ando, H., Impey, S., Monk, C. E., Martin, K. J., Barton, G. J., Hutvagner, G., and Arthur, J. S. (2010). Regulation of the miR-212/132 locus by MSK1 and CREB in response to neurotrophins. *Biochem. J.* 428, 281–291.
- Robbins, T. W., Ersche, K. D., and Everitt, B. J. (2008). Drug addiction and the memory systems of the brain. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1141, 1–21.
- Rodriguez, A., Griffiths-Jones, S., Ashurst, J. L., and Bradley, A. (2004). Identification of mammalian microRNA host genes and transcription units. *Genome Res.* 14, 1902–1910.
- Sanchez-Simon, F. M., Zhang, X. X., Loh, H. H., Law, P. Y., and Rodriguez, R. E. (2010). Morphine regulates dopaminergic neuron differentiation via miR-133b. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 78, 935–942.
- Satoh, J. (2010). MicroRNAs and their therapeutic potential for human diseases: aberrant microRNA expression in Alzheimer's disease brains. J. Pharmacol. Sci. 114, 269–275.
- Seo, S., Lim, J. W., Yellajoshyula, D., Chang, L. W., and Kroll, K. L. (2007). Neurogenin and NeuroD direct transcriptional targets and their regulatory enhancers. *EMBO J.* 26, 5093–5108.
- Shenoy, S. K., Drake, M. T., Nelson, C. D., Houtz, D. A., Xiao, K., Madabushi, S., Reiter, E., Premont, R. T., Lichtarge, O., and Lefkowitz, R. J. (2006). beta-arrestin-dependent, G protein-independent ERK1/2 activation by the beta2 adrenergic receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 1261–1273.
- Shigeta, Y., Kasai, S., Han, W., Hata, H., Nishi, A., Takamatsu, Y., Hagino, Y., Yamamoto, H., Koide, T., Shiroishi, T., Kasai, K., Tsunashima, K., Kato, N., and Ikeda, K. (2008). Association of morphine-induced antinociception with variations in the 5' flanking and 3' untranslated regions of the mu opioid receptor gene in 10 inbred mouse strains. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 18, 927–936.
- Shivdasani, R. A. (2006). MicroR-NAs: regulators of gene expression and cell differentiation. *Blood* 108, 3646–3653.

- Shukla, P. K., Tang, L., and Wang, Z. J. (2006). Phosphorylation of neurogranin, protein kinase C, and Ca2+/calmodulin dependent protein kinase II in opioid tolerance and dependence. *Neurosci. Lett.* 404, 266–269.
- Steiner, R. C., Heath, C. J., and Picciotto, M. R. (2007). Nicotineinduced phosphorylation of ERK in mouse primary cortical neurons: evidence for involvement of glutamatergic signaling and CaMKII. J. Neurochem. 103, 666–678.
- Talebizadeh, Z., Butler, M. G., and Theodoro, M. F. (2008). Feasibility and relevance of examining lymphoblastoid cell lines to study role of microRNAs in autism. *Autism Res.* 1, 240–250.
- Tao, P. L., Law, P. Y., and Loh, H. H. (1987). Decrease in delta and mu opioid receptor binding capacity in rat brain after chronic etorphine treatment. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 240, 809–816.
- Urban, J. D., Clarke, W. P., Von Zastrow, M., Nichols, D. E., Kobilka, B., Weinstein, H., Javitch, J. A., Roth, B. L., Christopoulos, A., Sexton, P. M., Miller, K. J., Spedding, M., and Mailman, R. B. (2007). Functional selectivity and classical concepts of quantitative pharmacology. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 320, 1–13.
- Vaillant, A. R., Zanassi, P., Walsh, G. S., Aumont, A., Alonso, A., and Miller, F. D. (2002). Signaling mechanisms underlying reversible, activity-dependent dendrite formation. *Neuron* 34, 985–998.
- Valjent, E., Corbille, A. G., Bertran-Gonzalez, J., Herve, D., and Girault, J. A. (2006). Inhibition of ERK pathway or protein synthesis during reexposure to drugs of abuse

erases previously learned place preference. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 2932–2937.

- Valjent, E., Pages, C., Herve, D., Girault, J. A., and Caboche, J. (2004). Addictive and non-addictive drugs induce distinct and specific patterns of ERK activation in mouse brain. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 19, 1826–1836.
- Violin, J. D., and Lefkowitz, R. J. (2007). Beta-arrestin-biased ligands at seven-transmembrane receptors. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 28, 416–422.
- von Bohlen Und Halbach, O. (2007). Immunohistological markers for staging neurogenesis in adult hippocampus. *Cell Tissue Res.* 329, 409–420.
- Wang, K. C., and Chang, H. Y. (2011). Molecular mechanisms of long noncoding RNAs. *Mol. Cell* 43, 904–914.
- Wu, Q., Law, P. Y., Wei, L. N., and Loh, H. H. (2008). Post-transcriptional regulation of mouse mu opioid receptor (MOR1) via its 3' untranslated region: a role for micro-RNA23b. *FASEB J.* 22, 4085–4095.
- Wu, Q., Zhang, L., Law, P. Y., Wei, L. N., and Loh, H. H. (2009). Longterm morphine treatment decreases the association of mu-opioid receptor (MOR1) mRNA with polysomes through miRNA23b. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 75, 744–750.
- Yuan, B., Dong, R., Shi, D., Zhou, Y., Zhao, Y., Miao, M., and Jiao, B. (2011). Down-regulation of miR-23b may contribute to activation of the TGF-beta1/Smad3 signalling pathway during the termination stage of liver regeneration. *FEBS Lett.* 585, 927–934.
- Zeng, Y. (2006). Principles of micro-RNA production and maturation. *Oncogene* 25, 6156–6162.

- Zeng, Y., and Cullen, B. R. (2003). Sequence requirements for micro-RNA processing and function in human cells. *RNA* 9, 112–123.
- Zhang, J., Ferguson, S. S., Barak, L. S., Bodduluri, S. R., Laporte, S. A., Law, P. Y., and Caron, M. G. (1998). Role for G protein-coupled receptor kinase in agonist-specific regulation of mu-opioid receptor responsiveness. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 95, 7157–7162.
- Zhang, Z. W., Zhang, L. Q., Ding, L., Wang, F., Sun, Y. J., An, Y., Zhao, Y., Li, Y. H., and Teng, C. B. (2011). MicroRNA-19b down regulates insulin 1 through targeting transcription factor NeuroD1. *FEBS Lett.* 585, 2592–2598.
- Zheng, H., Chu, J., Zeng, Y., Loh, H. H., and Law, P. Y. (2010a). Yin Yang 1 phosphorylation contributes to the differential effects of mu-opioid receptor agonists on microRNA-190 expression. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 21994–22002.
- Zheng, H., Loh, H. H., and Law, P. Y. (2010b). Agonist-selective signaling of G protein-coupled receptor: mechanisms and implications. *IUBMB Life* 62, 112–119.
- Zheng, H., Zeng, Y., Chu, J., Kam, A. Y., Loh, H. H., and Law, P. Y. (2010c). Modulations of NeuroD activity contribute to the differential effects of morphine and fentanyl on dendritic spine stability. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 8102–8110.
- Zheng, H., Zeng, Y., Zhang, X., Chu, J., Loh, H. H., and Law, P. Y. (2010d). {Micro}-opioid receptor agonists differentially regulate the expression of miR-190 and NeuroD. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 77, 102–109.
- Zheng, H., Chu, J., Zhang, Y., Loh, H. H., and Law, P. Y. (2011).

Modulating micro-opioid receptor phosphorylation switches agonistdependent signaling as reflected in PKCepsilon activation and dendritic spine stability. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 12724–12733.

- Zheng, H., Loh, H. H., and Law, P. Y. (2008). {Beta}-arrestin-dependent {micro}-opioid receptor-activated extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERKs) Translocate to Nucleus in Contrast to G proteindependent ERK activation. Mol. Pharmacol. 73, 178–190.
- Zuo, Z. (2005). The role of opioid receptor internalization and betaarrestins in the development of opioid tolerance. *Anesth. Analg.* 101, 728–734.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 09 February 2012; accepted: 30 May 2012; published online: 15 June 2012.

Citation: Zheng H, Law P-Y and Loh HH (2012) Non-coding RNAs regulating morphine function: with emphasis on the in vivo and in vitro functions of miR-190. Front. Gene. **3**:113. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00113

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Non-Coding RNA, a specialty of Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2012 Zheng, Law and Loh. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.

EDITORIAL published: 18 April 2012 doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00049

Connecting ncRNA cigarette smoking studies with tobacco use behaviors and health outcomes

Marissa A. Ehringer*

Institute for Behavioral Genetics, Department of Integrative Physiology, University of Colorado, Boulder, CO, USA *Correspondence: marissa.ehringer@colorado.edu

Many studies have demonstrated that smoking behavior is influenced by both genetic and environmental factors, and that these influences can change over time and during development (Swan et al., 1996; Han et al., 1999; Koopmans et al., 1999; Maes et al., 1999; Stallings et al., 1999; True et al., 1999; Kendler et al., 2000; McGue et al., 2000; Hopfer et al., 2001, 2003; Rhee et al., 2003). For example, most studies comparing heritability of age of initiation of smoking and regular use patterns suggest that age of initiation is more likely influenced by environmental factors, while progression to regular use and addiction are more heritable (Han et al., 1999; Koopmans et al., 1999; Stallings et al., 1999; McGue et al., 2000; Rhee et al., 2003). Until recently, most studies of smoking behaviors aimed at understanding mechanisms have been forced to examine genetic and environmental influences separately, because little was known about genetic features that were modified by environmental factors. Within recent years, two major areas of research have exploded to provide possible novel mechanisms that may help explain why behavioral disorders such as substance dependence "runs in families" beyond the separate entities of environmental exposure and common genes. The first is epigenetic reprogramming, whereby longlasting changes to the DNA such as methylation on CpG islands (Kim et al., 2009) and histone tail modifications (Berger, 2007) are conferred upon environmental exposures. The second is the involvement of ncRNAs in regulation of gene expression (Li and van der Vaart, 2011), and the topic of the review article by Maccani and Knopik (2012).

Despite decreasing rates of smoking over the last several decades, maternal smoking during pregnancy (MSP) remains a major public health problem (Mathews, 2001). MSP has been associated with many behavioral problems including irritability in neonatal infants (Stroud et al., 2009), attention behavioral problems in children (Fried et al., 1992), disruptive behaviors in teenagers (Wakschlag et al., 2011), and increased risk of tobacco dependence in young adults (Buka et al., 2003). Furthermore, secondhand smoke (SHS) exposure during childhood has been associated with adverse behavioral and cognitive outcomes (reviewed in Niaura et al., 2001; Shenassa et al., 2003; Herrmann et al., 2008). Animal studies provide more evidence that in utero exposure to nicotine directly affects offspring behaviors. For example, mice exposed to nicotine or alcohol in utero showed impairment in anxiety and learning behaviors (Li and Wang, 2004). These findings have been replicated in an elegant study of nicotine exposure throughout early development where mice were allowed to orally self-administer nicotine during gestation and lactation. Exposed pups showed dramatic differences for multiple behaviors including nicotine self-administration, social interactions, and performance on a forced swim test (Chistyakov et al., 2010). However, as reviewed recently by Winzer-Serhan (2008), other animal studies examining the effects of nicotine, which does not contain all of the ingredients in tobacco, have been contradictory. As discussed by Maccani and Knopik, specific miRNAs were downregulated in placental cell lines exposed to nicotine and benzo[a]pyrene, but different miRNAs were dysregulated in lung and airway epithelium tissue. In general, the few studies examining the effects of various aspects of cigarette smoking on miRNA expression have revealed that responses are likely to be highly complex, with tissue, temporal, and type of exposure leading to differential responses.

As we consider possible effects of environmental exposure on long-lasting biological mechanisms such as epigenetic reprogramming and ncRNA regulation, it is important to remember that smoking may exert its effects in different ways throughout one's life course, including *in utero*, early childhood, adolescence, young adulthood, and adulthood. Most of the mechanistic work to date has examined in utero smoking exposure, but there is evidence for a continuum of effect. Most smokers begin smoking during adolescence, and several studies have shown that earlier age of initiation is associated with increased risk for later dependence (Khuder et al., 1999; Lando et al., 1999; Hu et al., 2006; Palmer et al., 2009). Interestingly, there is a genetic example that associations between CHRN genes (encoding the nicotinic receptor subunit genes) and nicotine dependence, may differ between subjects who started smoking early and those with later onset (Schlaepfer et al., 2008; Weiss et al., 2008; Ducci et al., 2011; Hartz et al., in press). The association between CHRN genes and tobacco behaviors is one of the most widely replicated findings among substance abuse genetics (Amos et al., 2008; Bierut et al., 2008; Thorgeirsson et al., 2008, 2010; Saccone et al., 2010), so this developmental aspect is of high interest. These results suggest the possibility of a "critical period" during adolescence where environmental effects may have stronger effects on certain genetic mechanisms.

In addition, many animal studies have shown that the nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs) are likely to be targets for nicotine's effects during prenatal tobacco exposure. Numerous studies have shown upregulation of certain nAChR subtypes (e.g., $\alpha 2\beta 4$ -containing) in various brain regions following postnatal (Marks et al., 1992; Lain et al., 2005) and prenatal exposure (Navarro et al., 1989; Popke et al., 1997; Tizabi et al., 1997). These findings have been replicated in rats (Lv et al., 2008). However, the global nAChR response to nicotine is complex, because certain receptor subtypes (e.g., $\alpha 6$ -containing) are downregulated specifically in dopaminergic brain regions (Chen et al., 2005). The nAChRs are ligand-gated ion channels containing a central cation pore that act as the primary target for nicotine and the endogenous agonist acetylcholine.

nAChRs have been shown to activate release of dopamine, and are likely important in mediating the rewarding properties of abused drugs (Salminen et al., 2004; Gotti et al., 2006). More recently, work using a mouse model has shown that the effects of early nicotine exposure on later behaviors is "primarily due to the neuropharmacological effects of the drug and not due to effects of exposure on maternal behavior," and that the nAChRs play a critical role in mediating these effects (Heath et al., 2010a,b). Therefore, the nAChRs represent a possible key modulator of how MSP has longterm behavioral effects on offspring in both human and animal studies. Given the strong genetic associations between the *CHRN* genes and smoking behaviors, possible miRNA binding sites within these genes might represent feasible targets for study and intervention in the future.

REFERENCES

- Amos, C. I., Wu, X., Broderick, P., Gorlov, I. P., Gu, J., Eisen, T., Dong, Q., Zhang, Q., Gu, X., Vijayakrishnan, J., Sullivan, K., Matakidou, A., Wang, Y., Mills, G., Doheny, K., Tsai, Y. Y., Chen, W. V., Shete, S., Spitz, M. R., and Houlston, R.S. (2008). Genome-wide association scan of tag SNPs identifies a susceptibility locus for lung cancer at 15q25.1. *Nat. Genet.* 40, 616–622.
- Berger, S. L. (2007). The complex language of chromatin regulation during transcription. *Nature* 447, 407–412.
- Bierut, L. J., Stitzel, J. A., Wang, J. C., Hinrichs, A. L., Grucza, R. A., Xuei, X., Saccone, N. L., Saccone, S. F., Bertelsen, S., Fox, L., Horton, W. J., Breslau, N., Budde, J., Cloninger, C. R., Dick, D. M., Foroud, T., Hatsukami, D., Hesselbrock, V., Johnson, E. O., Kramer, J., Kuperman, S., Madden, P. A., Mayo, K., Nurnberger, J. Jr., Pomerleau, O., Porjesz, B., Reyes, O., Schuckit, M., Swan, G., Tischfield, J. A., Edenberg, H. J., Rice, J. P., and Goate, A. M. (2008). Variants in nicotinic receptors and risk for nicotine dependence. Am. J. Psychiatry 165, 1163-1171.
- Buka, S. L., Shenassa, E. D., and Niaura, R. (2003). Elevated risk of tobacco dependence among offspring of mothers who smoked during pregnancy: a 30-year prospective study. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 160, 1978–1984.
- Chen, H., Parker, S. L., Matta, S. G., and Sharp, B. M. (2005). Gestational nicotine exposure reduces nicotinic cholinergic receptor (nAChR) expression in dopaminergic brain regions of adolescent rats. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 22, 380–388.
- Chistyakov, V., Patkina, N., Tammimaki, A., Talka, R., Salminen, O., Belozertseva, I., Galankin, T., Tuominen, R., and Zvartau, E. (2010). Nicotine exposure throughout early development promotes nicotine self-administration in adolescent mice and induces long-

lasting behavioural changes. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 640, 87–93.

- Ducci, F., Kaakinen, M., Pouta, A., Hartikainen, A. L., Veijola, J., Isohanni, M., Charoen, P., Coin, L., Hoggart, C., Ekelund, J., Peltonen, L., Freimer, N., Elliott, P., Schumann, G., and Jarvelin, M. R. (2011). TTC12-ANKK1-DRD2 and CHRNA5-CHRNA3-CHRNB4 influence different pathways leading to smoking behavior from adolescence to mid-adulthood. *Biol. Psychiatry* 69, 650–660.
- Fried, P. A., Watkinson, B., and Gray, R. (1992). A follow-up study of attentional behavior in 6-year-old children exposed prenatally to marihuana, cigarettes, and alcohol. *Neurotoxicol. Teratol.* 14, 299–311.
- Gotti, C., Zoli, M., and Clementi, F. (2006). Brain nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: native subtypes and their relevance. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 27, 482–491.
- Han, C., Mcgue, M. K., and Iacono, W. G. (1999). Lifetime tobacco, alcohol and other substance use in adolescent Minnesota twins: univariate and multivariate behavioral genetic analyses. *Addiction* 94, 981–993.
- Hartz, S. M., Short, S., Saccone, N. L., Culverhouse, R., Chen, L. S., Schwantes-An, T., Coon, H., Han, Y., Stephens, S. H., Sun, J., Chen, X., Ducci, F., Dueker, N., Franceschini, N., Frank, J., Geller, F., Guðbjartsson, D., Hansel, N., Jiang, C., Keskitalo-Vuokko, K., Liu, J., Lyytikäinen, L., Michel, M., Rawal, R., Rosenberger, A., Scheet, P., Shaffer, J. R., Teumer, A., Thompson, J. R., Vink, J. M., Vogelzangs, N., Wenzlaff, A., Wheeler, W., Xiangjun, X., Yang, B. Z., Aggen, S. H., Balmforth, A., Baumeister, S., Beaty, T., Bennett, S., Bergen, A., Boyd, H., Broms, U., Campbell, H., Chatterjee, N., Chen, J., Cheng, Y. C., Cichon, S., Couper, D., Cucca, F., Dick, D., Foroud, T., Furberg, H., Giegling, I., Gu, F., Hall, A. S., Hällfors, J., Han,

In conclusion, the role of ncRNA in smoking exposure responses is in its infancy. As reported by Maccani and Knopik, fewer than 10 studies have been conducted in this area to date, but it is a high priority topic so we can expect to see new studies published frequently. Most of these studies are likely to be conducted using cell lines and animal models. Since not all ncRNAs are conserved across mammals, it will be important to foster collaborations and cross-talk between basic science investigators and human geneticists and clinicians to integrate the knowledge for greatest potential impact for human health.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by R01 AA017889, R21 DA026901, and P60 DA011015.

- S., Hartmann, A. M., Hayward, C., Heikkilä, K., Hewitt, J. K., Hottenga, J. J., Jensen, M., Jousilahti, P., Kaakinen, M., Kittner, S., Konte, B., Korhonen, T., Landi, M. T., Laatikainen, T., Leppert, M., Levy, S. M., Mathias, R., Mcneil, D. W., Medland, S., Montgomery, G., Muley, T., Murray, T., Nauck, M., North, K., Pergadia, M., Polasek, O., Ramos, E., Ripatti, S., Risch, A., Ruczinski, I., Rudan, I., Salomaa, V., Schlessinger, D., Styrkársdóttir, U., Terracciano, A., Uda, M., Willemsen, G., Wu, X., Abecasis, G., Barnes, K., Bickeböller, H., Boerwinkle, E., and Boomsma, D. I. (in press). Increased genetic vulnerability to smoking at CHRNA5 in early-onset smokers. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry.
- Heath, C. J., Horst, N. K., and Picciotto, M. R. (2010a). Oral nicotine consumption does not affect maternal care or early development in mice but results in modest hyperactivity in adolescence. *Physiol. Behav.* 101, 764–769.
- Heath, C. J., King, S. L., Gotti, C., Marks, M. J., and Picciotto, M. R. (2010b). Cortico-thalamic connectivity is vulnerable to nicotine exposure during early postnatal development through alpha4/beta2/ alpha5 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 35, 2324–2338.
- Herrmann, M., King, K., and Weitzman, M. (2008). Prenatal tobacco smoke and postnatal secondhand smoke exposure and child neurodevelopment. *Curr. Opin. Pediatr.* 20, 184–190.
- Hopfer, C. J., Crowley, T. J., and Hewitt, J. K. (2003). Review of twin and adoption studies of adolescent substance use. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 42, 710–719.
- Hopfer, C. J., Stallings, M. C., and Hewitt, J. K. (2001). Common genetic and environmental vulnerability for alcohol and tobacco use in a volunteer sample of older female twins. *J. Stud. Alcohol* 62, 717–723.

- Hu, M. C., Davies, M., and Kandel, D. B. (2006). Epidemiology and correlates of daily smoking and nicotine dependence among young adults in the United States. *Am. J. Public Health* 96, 299–308.
- Kendler, K. S., Thornton, L. M., and Pedersen, N. L. (2000). Tobacco consumption in Swedish twins reared apart and reared together. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 57, 886–892.
- Khuder, S. A., Dayal, H. H., and Mutgi, A. B. (1999). Age at smoking onset and its effect on smoking cessation. *Addict. Behav.* 24, 673–677.
- Kim, J. K., Samaranayake, M., and Pradhan, S. (2009). Epigenetic mechanisms in mammals. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 66, 596–612.
- Koopmans, J. R., Slutske, W. S., Heath, A. C., Neale, M. C., and Boomsma, D. I. (1999). The genetics of smoking initiation and quantity smoked in Dutch adolescent and young adult twins. *Behav. Genet.* 29, 383–393.
- Lain, E., Penke, B., Delacourte, A., Gundisch, D., Schroder, H., and Witter, B. (2005). Effects of Abeta1-42 fibrils and of the tetrapeptide Pr-IIGL on the phosphorylation state of the tauprotein and on the alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor in vitro. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 21, 879–888.
- Lando, H. A., Thai, D. T., Murray, D. M., Robinson, L. A., Jeffery, R. W., Sherwood, N. E., and Hennrikus, D. J. (1999). Age of initiation, smoking patterns, and risk in a population of working adults. *Prev. Med.* 29, 590–598.
- Li, M. D., and van der Vaart, A. D. (2011). MicroRNAs in addiction: adaptation's middlemen? *Mol. Psychiatry* 16, 1159–1168.
- Li, Y., and Wang, H. (2004). In utero exposure to tobacco and alcohol modifies neurobehavioral development in mice offspring: consideration a role of oxidative stress. *Pharmacol. Res.* 49, 467–473.

- Lv, J., Mao, C., Zhu, L., Zhang, H., Pengpeng, H., Xu, F., Liu, Y., Zhang, L., and Xu, Z. (2008). The effect of prenatal nicotine on expression of nicotine receptor subunits in the fetal brain. *Neurotoxicology* 29, 722–726.
- Maccani, M. A., and Knopik, V. S. (2012). Cigarette smoke exposure associated alterations to non-coding RNA. *Front. Gene.* 3:53. doi: 10.3389/ fgene.2012.00053
- Maes, H. H., Woodard, C. E., Murrelle, L., Meyer, J. M., Silberg, J. L., Hewitt, J. K., Rutter, M., Simonoff, E., Pickles, A., Carbonneau, R., Neale, M. C., and Eaves, L. J. (1999). Tobacco, alcohol and drug use in eight- to sixteen-yearold twins: the Virginia Twin Study of Adolescent Behavioral Development. J. Stud. Alcohol 60, 293–305.
- Marks, M. J., Pauly, J. R., Gross, S. D., Deneris, E. S., Hermans-Borgmeyer, I., Heinemann, S. F., and Collins, A. C. (1992). Nicotine binding and nicotinic receptor subunit RNA after chronic nicotine treatment. *J. Neurosci.* 12, 2765–2784.
- Mathews, T. J. (2001). Smoking during pregnancy in the 1990s. *Natl. Vital Stat. Rep.* 49, 1–14.
- McGue, M., Elkins, I., and Iacono, W. G. (2000). Genetic and environmental influences on adolescent substance use and abuse. *Am. J. Med. Genet.* 96, 671–677.
- Navarro, H. A., Seidler, F. J., Eylers, J. P., Baker, F. E., Dobbins, S. S., Lappi, S. E., and Slotkin, T. A. (1989). Effects of prenatal nicotine exposure on development of central and peripheral cholinergic neurotransmitter systems. Evidence for cholinergic trophic influences in developing brain. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 251, 894–900.
- Niaura, R., Bock, B., Lloyd, E. E., Brown, R., Lipsitt, L. P., and Buka, S. (2001). Maternal transmission of nicotine dependence: psychiatric, neurocognitive and prenatal factors. *Am. J. Addict.* 10, 16–29.
- Palmer, R. H., Young, S. E., Hopfer, C. J., Corley, R. P., Stallings, M. C., Crowley, T. J., and Hewitt, J. K. (2009). Developmental epidemiology of drug use and abuse in adolescence and young adulthood: evidence of generalized risk. Drug Alcohol Depend. 102, 78–87.
- Popke, E. J., Tizabi, Y., Rahman, M. A., Nespor, S. M., and Grunberg, N. E. (1997). Prenatal exposure to nicotine: effects on prepulse inhibition and central nicotinic receptors. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 58, 843–849.
- Rhee, S. H., Hewitt, J. K., Young, S. E., Corley, R. P., Crowley, T. J., and Stallings, M. C. (2003). Genetic and

environmental influences on substance initiation, use, and problem use in adolescents. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 60, 1256–1264.

- Saccone, N. L., Culverhouse, R. C., Schwantes-An, T. H., Cannon, D. S., Chen, X., Cichon, S., Giegling, I., Han, S., Han, Y., Keskitalo-Vuokko, K., Kong, X., Landi, M. T., Ma, J. Z., Short, S. E., Stephens, S. H., Stevens, V. L., Sun, L., Wang, Y., Wenzlaff, A. S., Aggen, S. H., Breslau, N., Broderick, P., Chatterjee, N., Chen, J., Heath, A. C., Heliovaara, M., Hoft, N. R., Hunter, D. J., Jensen, M. K., Martin, N. G., Montgomery, G. W., Niu, T., Payne, T. J., Peltonen, L., Pergadia, M. L., Rice, J. P., Sherva, R., Spitz, M. R., Sun, J., Wang, J. C., Weiss, R. B., Wheeler, W., Witt, S. H., Yang, B. Z., Caporaso, N. E., Ehringer, M. A., Eisen, T., Gapstur, S. M., Gelernter, J., Houlston, R., Kaprio, J., Kendler, K. S., Kraft, P., Leppert, M. F., Li, M. D., Madden, P.A., Nothen, M. M., Pillai, S., Rietschel, M., Rujescu, D., Schwartz, A., Amos, C. I., and Bierut, L. J. (2010). Multiple independent loci at chromosome 15q25.1 affect smoking quantity: a meta-analysis and comparison with lung cancer and COPD. PLoS Genet. 6, e1001053. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pgen.1001053
- Salminen, O., Murphy, K. L., Mcintosh, J. M., Drago, J., Marks, M. J., Collins, A. C., and Grady, S. R. (2004). Subunit composition and pharmacology of two classes of striatal presynaptic nicotinic acetylcholine receptors mediating dopamine release in mice. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 65, 1526–1535.
- Schlaepfer, I. R., Hoft, N. R., Collins, A. C., Corley, R. P., Hewitt, J. K., Hopfer, C. J., Lessem, J. M., Mcqueen, M. B., Rhee, S. H., and Ehringer, M. A. (2008). The CHRNA5/A3/B4 gene cluster variability as an important determinant of early alcohol and tobacco initiation in young adults. *Biol. Psychiatry* 63, 1039–1046.
- Shenassa, E. D., Mccaffery, J. M., Swan, G. E., Khroyan, T. V., Shakib, S., Lerman, C., Lyons, M., Mouttapa, M., Niaura, R. S., Buka, S. L., Leslie, F., and Santangelo, S. L. (2003). Intergenerational transmission of tobacco use and dependence: a transdisciplinary perspective. *Nicotine Tob. Res.* 5(Suppl. 1), S55–S69.
- Stallings, M. C., Hewitt, J. K., Beresford, T., Heath, A. C., and Eaves, L. J. (1999). A twin study of drinking and smoking onset and latencies from first use to regular use. *Behav. Genet.* 29, 409–421.
 Stroud, L. R., Paster, R. L., Goodwin, M. S., Shenassa, E., Buka, S., Niaura, R., Rosenblith, J. F., and Lipsitt, L. P. (2009). Maternal smoking dur-

ing pregnancy and neonatal behavior: a large-scale community study. *Pediatrics* 123, e842–e848.

- Swan, G. E., Carmelli, D., and Cardon, L. R. (1996). The consumption of tobacco, alcohol, and coffee in Caucasian male twins: a multivariate genetic analysis. *J. Subst. Abuse* 8, 19–31.
- Thorgeirsson, T. E., Geller, F., Sulem, P., Rafnar, T., Wiste, A., Magnusson, K. P., Manolescu, A., Thorleifsson, G., Stefansson, H., Ingason, A., Stacey, S. N., Bergthorsson, J. T., Thorlacius, S., Gudmundsson, J., Jonsson, T., Jakobsdottir, M., Saemundsdottir, J., Olafsdottir, O., Gudmundsson, L. J., Bjornsdottir, G., Kristjansson, K., Skuladottir, H., Isaksson, H. J., Gudbjartsson, T., Jones, G. T., Mueller, T., Gottsater, A., Flex, A., Aben, K. K., De Vegt, F., Mulders, P. F., Isla, D., Vidal, M. J., Asin, L., Saez, B., Murillo, L., Blondal, T., Kolbeinsson, H., Stefansson, J. G., Hansdottir, I., Runarsdottir, V., Pola, R., Lindblad, B., Van Rij, A. M., Dieplinger, B., Haltmaver, M., Mavordomo, J. I., Kiemeney, L. A., Matthiasson, S. E., Oskarsson, H., Tyrfingsson, T., Gudbjartsson, D. F., Gulcher, J. R., Jonsson, S., Thorsteinsdottir, U., Kong, A., and Stefansson, K. (2008). A variant associated with nicotine dependence, lung cancer and peripheral arterial disease. Nature 452, 638-642.
- Thorgeirsson, T. E., Gudbjartsson, D. F., Surakka, I., Vink, J. M., Amin, N., Geller, F., Sulem, P., Rafnar, T., Esko, T., Walter, S., Gieger, C., Rawal, R., Mangino, M., Prokopenko, I., Magi, R., Keskitalo, K., Gudjonsdottir, I. H., Gretarsdottir, S., Stefansson, H., Thompson, J. R., Aulchenko, Y. S., Nelis, M., Aben, K. K., Den Heijer, M., Dirksen, A., Ashraf, H., Soranzo, N., Valdes, A. M., Steves, C., Uitterlinden, A. G., Hofman, A., Tonjes, A., Kovacs, P., Hottenga, J. J., Willemsen, G., Vogelzangs, N., Doring, A., Dahmen, N., Nitz, B., Pergadia, M. L., Saez, B., De Diego, V., Lezcano, V., Garcia-Prats, M. D., Ripatti, S., Perola, M., Kettunen, J., Hartikainen, A. L., Pouta, A., Laitinen, J., Isohanni, M., Huei-Yi, S., Allen, M., Krestyaninova, M., Hall, A. S., Jones, G. T., Van Rij, A. M., Mueller, T., Dieplinger, B., Haltmayer, M., Jonsson, S., Matthiasson, S. E., Oskarsson, H., Tyrfingsson, T., Kiemeney, L. A., Mayordomo, J. I., Lindholt, J. S., Pedersen, J. H., Franklin, W. A., Wolf, H., Montgomery, G. W., Heath, A. C., Martin, N. G., Madden, P. A., Giegling, I., Rujescu, D., Jarvelin, M. R., Salomaa, V., Stumvoll, M., Spector, T. D., Wichmann, H. E., Metspalu, A.,

Samani, N. J., Penninx, B. W., Oostra, B. A., Boomsma, D. I., Tiemeier, H., Van Duijn, C. M., Kaprio, J., Gulcher, J. R., Mccarthy, M. I., Peltonen, L., Thorsteinsdottir, U., and Stefansson, K. (2010). Sequence variants at CHRNB3-CHRNA6 and CYP2A6 affect smoking behavior. *Nat. Genet.* 42, 448–453.

- Tizabi, Y., Popke, E. J., Rahman, M. A., Nespor, S. M., and Grunberg, N. E. (1997). Hyperactivity induced by prenatal nicotine exposure is associated with an increase in cortical nicotinic receptors. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 58, 141–146.
- True, W. R., Xian, H., Scherrer, J. F., Madden, P.A., Bucholz, K. K., Heath, A. C., Eisen, S. A., Lyons, M. J., Goldberg, J., and Tsuang, M. (1999). Common genetic vulnerability for nicotine and alcohol dependence in men. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 56, 655–661.
- Wakschlag, L. S., Henry, D. B., Blair, R. J., Dukic, V., Burns, J., and Pickett, K. E. (2011). Unpacking the association: individual differences in the relation of prenatal exposure to cigarettes and disruptive behavior phenotypes. *Neurotoxicol. Teratol.* 33, 145–154.
- Weiss, R. B., Baker, T. B., Cannon, D. S., Von Niederhausern, A., Dunn, D. M., Matsunami, N., Singh, N. A., Baird, L., Coon, H., Mcmahon, W. M., Piper, M. E., Fiore, M. C., Scholand, M. B., Connett, J. E., Kanner, R. E., Gahring, L. C., Rogers, S. W., Hoidal, J. R., and Leppert, M. F. (2008). A candidate gene approach identifies the CHRNA5-A3-B4 region as a risk factor for age-dependent nicotine addiction. *PLoS Genet.* 4, e1000125. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1000125
- Winzer-Serhan, U. H. (2008). Long-term consequences of maternal smoking and developmental chronic nicotine exposure. *Front. Biosci.* 13, 636–649.

Received: 28 February 2012; accepted: 20 March 2012; published online: 18 April 2012.

Citation: Ehringer MA (2012) Connecting ncRNA cigarette smoking studies with tobacco use behaviors and health outcomes. Front. Gene. **3**:49. doi: 10.3389/ fgene.2012.00049

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Non-Coding RNA, a specialty of Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2012 Ehringer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.

Cigarette smoke exposure-associated alterations to non-coding RNA

Matthew A. Maccani^{1,2}* and Valerie S. Knopik^{1,3}

¹ Division of Behavioral Genetics, Rhode Island Hospital, Providence, RI, USA

² Center for Alcohol and Addiction Studies, Brown University, Providence, RI, USA

³ Department of Psychiatry and Human Behavior, Brown University, Providence, RI, USA

Edited by:

Marissa A. Ehringer, University of Colorado, USA

Reviewed by:

Flavia Pichiorri, The Ohio State University, USA Yanan Yang, M.D. Anderson Cancer Center, USA

*Correspondence:

Matthew A. Maccani, Division of Behavioral Genetics, Rhode Island Hospital, Providence, RI 02903, USA. e-mail: matthew_maccani@brown.edu

Environmental exposures vary by timing, severity, and frequency and may have a number of deleterious effects throughout the life course. The period of in utero development, for example, is one of the most crucial stages of development during which adverse environmental exposures can both alter the growth and development of the fetus as well as lead to aberrant fetal programming, increasing disease risk. During fetal development and beyond, the plethora of exposures, including nutrients, drugs, stress, and trauma, influence health, development, and survival. Recent research in environmental epigenetics has investigated the roles of environmental exposures in influencing epigenetic modes of gene regulation during pregnancy and at various stages of life. Many relatively common environmental exposures, such as cigarette smoking, alcohol consumption, and drug use, may have consequences for the expression and function of non-coding RNA (ncRNA), important post-transcriptional regulators of gene expression. A number of ncRNA have been discovered, including microRNA (miRNA), Piwi-interacting RNA (piRNA), and long non-coding RNA (long ncRNA). The best-characterized species of ncRNA are miRNA, the mature forms of which are ~22 nucleotides in length and capable of post-transcriptionally regulating target mRNA utilizing mechanisms based largely on the degree of complementarity between miRNA and target mRNA. Because miRNA can still negatively regulate gene expression when imperfectly base-paired with a target mRNA, a single miRNA can have a large number of potential mRNA targets and can regulate many different biological processes critical for health and development. The following review analyzes the current literature detailing links between cigarette smoke exposure and aberrant expression and function of ncRNA, assesses how such alterations may have consequences throughout the life course, and proposes future directions for this intriguing field of research.

Keywords: cigarette smoke, epigenetics, non-coding RNA, miRNA

GENE-ENVIRONMENT INTERACTIONS AND ENVIRONMENTAL EXPOSURES

The interaction of genes and the environment, often hypothesized to be through epigenetic mechanisms, modulates an organism's reproductive fitness, response to external stimuli, and health. Throughout the life course, a number of exposures can influence an individual's development, health, and overall quality of life. Environmental exposures vary by timing, severity, and frequency and may have a number of deleterious effects throughout the life course. The period of in utero development, for example, is a crucial stage during which adverse environmental exposures can both alter the growth and development of the fetus as well as lead to aberrant fetal programming, increasing disease risk. During fetal development and beyond, the plethora of exposures, including nutrients, drugs, stress, and trauma, influence health, development, and survival. Recent research in environmental epigenetics has investigated the roles of environmental exposures in influencing epigenetic modes of gene regulation (Reamon-Buettner et al., 2008), and a special focus of this work has been on determining the effects of cigarette smoking on epigenetic mechanisms,

such as non-coding RNA (ncRNA), and resulting downstream consequences as a result of this harmful exposure.

CIGARETTE SMOKING

One of the most common, potentially hazardous environmental exposures that negatively influences health and development is cigarette smoke exposure. The CDC has reported that almost 21% of adults in the United States smoked cigarettes in 2009, a number equaling \sim 46 million people (CDC, 2010). In contrast to the number of studies reporting a decrease in the overall prevalence of smoking in women in the United States in the past 20 years, other reports have found that the prevalence of smoking in young pregnant women has increased (Jaakkola et al., 2001; CDC, 2004; Mohsin and Bauman, 2005). Conservative estimates report that 12-15% of women smoke while pregnant (Cnattingius, 2004; Goodwin et al., 2007), and it is likely that far greater numbers are exposed to secondhand (or passive) cigarette smoke during various periods of their pregnancies. Exposure to maternal cigarette smoking while in utero is associated with an increased risk for respiratory disease (Cook and Strachan, 1999), an increased risk for cancer later in life (Doherty et al., 2009), and a number of deleterious neurobehavioral outcomes in infancy and beyond (Olds et al., 1994; Huijbregts et al., 2007; Knopik, 2009; Kiechl-Kohlendorfer et al., 2010). When one combines these estimates of babies who experienced *in utero* exposure to cigarette smoke with the numbers of adults who smoke cigarettes, one realizes that the number of individuals exposed to cigarette smoke during at least one period of their lives is quite large and far greater than what might be expected at first consideration.

Previous work has found over 4,000 chemicals in a cigarette, including nicotine, benzo[a]pyrene, and carbon monoxide, and more than 40 of these chemicals have been established as known carcinogens (Thielen et al., 2008). Cigarette smoking has been linked to a number of diseases and disabling conditions, including heart disease and lung diseases (CDC, 2008). Furthermore, for every individual who dies from a disease associated with smoking, 20 more people battle at least one major illness attributable to smoking (CDC, 2003). Several studies have singled out tobacco use as the world's leading preventable cause of death (CDC, 2002, 2003, 2008). By some estimates, up to five million deaths worldwide can be attributed to smoking and current trend data predicts that tobacco use will lead to more than eight million deaths a year by 2030 (WHO, 2008). In the USA, tobacco use has been attributed to 20% of deaths per year which equates to \sim 443,000 deaths annually, and ~49,000 of these have been attributed to secondhand smoke exposure (CDC, 2008). On average, smokers die 13-14 years earlier than non-smokers (CDC, 2002), suggesting that cigarette smoking and cigarette smoke exposure leads to increased morbidity and mortality.

Recent research has broadened investigations of the effects of cigarette smoke exposure into determining the effects of not only primary (or "mainstream") cigarette smoke but also environmental (also called "secondhand," "passive," or "sidestream") cigarette smoke. Sidestream cigarette smoke comprises the major component of environmental cigarette smoke and is defined as smoke which goes into the air directly from a burning cigarette (as opposed to smoke which is directly inhaled ("mainstream" smoke) from the burning cigarette; NIOSH, 1991). A variety of studies have suggested that components of sidestream or environmental cigarette smoke (ECS) differ from those in mainstream smoke in both component type and concentration, with some investigators concluding that ECS may be as harmful or even more harmful than mainstream smoke (Schick and Glantz, 2005). Work is ongoing to investigate the potentially harmful effects of both mainstream and sidestream cigarette smoke.

Taken collectively, these data suggest that cigarette smoking and cigarette smoke exposure throughout the life course is one of the most common hazardous exposures, and more recently, work has suggested that epigenetic mechanisms may be especially responsive to environmental exposures such as cigarette smoke.

EPIGENETICS: MODE BY WHICH ENVIRONMENTAL EXPOSURES INFLUENCE HEALTH OUTCOMES

By definition, epigenetics is the field of research which studies changes in gene expression not caused by changes in the sequence of DNA (Bird, 2007). The emergence of a subfield of epigenetics, called "environmental epigenetics" (Reamon-Buettner et al., 2008), focuses on studying modes of epigenetic regulation with the greater understanding that environmental exposures may affect such modes of epigenetic regulation as well. Throughout the life course, epigenetic mechanisms may be the mode by which environmental exposures influence the development, health, and survival of the individual. Research in both model systems and human cohorts has suggested that a variety of environmental exposures have consequences for gene expression through epigenetic modes of gene regulation. Particular focus has been placed on four modes of epigenetic regulation, namely DNA methylation, imprinting, histone modifications, and ncRNA-mediated gene regulation (Crane-Godreau et al., 2009). While the study of DNA methylation remains the most widely studied mode of epigenetic regulation, the study of ncRNA-mediated gene regulation has gained significant attention over the past two decades.

NON-CODING RNA

Since the earliest discoveries of RNA as a product of the transcription of DNA, many have hypothesized that RNA may not only act as the intermediate step on the pathway to protein but may also have a degree of regulatory activity itself. Of the species of ncRNA, the three best-characterized forms are microRNA (miRNA), Piwiinteracting RNA (piRNA), and long non-coding RNA (long ncRNA), with miRNA garnering especially great attention.

microRNA

In the early 1990s, two small regulatory RNAs, known as lin-4 and *let-7* were shown to control the timing of larval development in C. elegans (Lee et al., 1993; Reinhart et al., 2000). These small ncRNAs, initially called "lin-4 and let-7 RNAs," have since been determined to be members of a class of endogenous RNAs found in a number of species, including worms, flies, and mammals and since have been renamed "microRNAs (miRNAs)" (Lagos-Quintana et al., 2001; Lau et al., 2001; Lee and Ambros, 2001). Additional studies suggested that these small ncRNAs capable of gene regulation are found in plants, mammals, green algae, and viruses (Griffiths-Jones et al., 2008). Depending on the species and particular form of ncRNA, names of these small ncRNA vary. miRNA are a distinct class of ncRNA and differ from other species of ncRNA in both how they are formed as well as their particular mechanism of action. miRNA are formed from precursor transcripts which fold back on themselves, forming hairpin structures.

As reviewed previously (Maccani and Marsit, 2009), miRNA are initially transcribed by RNA Polymerase II as part of longer transcripts termed primary miRNAs (pri-miRNAs) which include 5' caps and 3' poly(A) tails (Lee et al., 2002; Smalheiser, 2003; Cai et al., 2004). A hairpin is then formed from the miRNA portion of the pri-miRNA (Lee et al., 2002). The double-stranded RNA (dsRNA)-RNA-specific ribonuclease Drosha then digests the primiRNA and releases the hairpin which, post-Drosha processing, is referred to as a precursor-miRNA (pre-miRNA; Lee et al., 2003) and is \sim 70–75 nucleotides in length (Lee et al., 2003; Yi et al., 2003). pre-miRNA is subsequently exported from the nucleus to the cytoplasm by a complex containing Exportin-5 (Exp-5; Yi et al., 2003; Lund et al., 2004) and in the cytoplasm, is cleaved by Dicer (Lee et al., 2003; Yi et al., 2003) into a dsRNA with short 3' overhangs at the ends (Lund et al., 2004). After cleavage by Dicer, the Dicer-processed dsRNA must separate into two strands, and the single-stranded mature miRNA has to associate with the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC). The RISC traffics the mature miRNA to its mRNA target where it effectively silences it (Hut-vagner and Zamore, 2002). Additionally, work has revealed that determination of the active strand in the post-Dicer-processed dsRNA is directly related to the stability of dsRNA ends (Khvorova et al., 2003; Schwarz et al., 2003); more specifically, the strand with a less-stable base pairing of the two to four nucleotides at the 5′ end of the duplex tends to associate with the RISC and becomes the active miRNA which can be trafficked to its mRNA target to effectively post-transcriptionally silence that target (Schwarz et al., 2003). miRNA biosynthesis, as well as the post-transcriptional silencing of target mRNA, is summarized in **Figure 1**.

Work has suggested that miRNA regulate gene expression posttranscriptionally by base pairing to a target mRNA. The specific mechanism of miRNA-mediated gene regulation depends on a variety of factors, the most important of which appears to be the degree of complementarity between the miRNA sequence and the target mRNA sequence (Lagos-Quintana et al., 2001)



As described above, the mature miRNA's active strand associates with the Argonaute protein of the RISC and the RISC traffics the miRNA to its target mRNA (Hutvagner and Zamore, 2002; Mourelatos et al., 2002) where it post-transcriptionally regulates gene expression. Generally, a miRNA with perfect complementarity to the sequence of its target mRNA will lead to degradation of the mRNA transcript by a mechanism of Argonaute-catalyzed mRNA cleavage (Hutvagner and Zamore, 2002; Song et al., 2004; Yekta et al., 2004). A miRNA with imperfect sequence complementarity to its target mRNA will result in repression of translation of the target mRNA by blocking or altering the function of translational machinery (Lagos-Quintana et al., 2001) through mechanisms including the inhibition of translation initiation and poly(A) shortening (Filipowicz et al., 2008). Other observations have even suggested that miRNA can utilize a combination of both translational repression and mRNA degradation as the mechanism for their post-transcriptional gene regulation (Lim et al., 2005). Since partial or imperfect complementarity of a miRNA to a target mRNA can lead to translational repression which can effectively silence a gene, a single miRNA has the capability of regulating a large number of genes (Du and Zamore, 2007). By their mechanisms of negative regulation, miRNA have been shown to exhibit tissue-specific expression and function and play a role in regulating a wide range of biological processes, including differentiation, proliferation, apoptosis, and stress responses (Crane-Godreau et al., 2009).

PIWI-INTERACTING RNA

Another class of ncRNA that has recently been discovered is the class of piRNA. Compared to the miRNA and Argonaute protein complex, piRNAs associate with PIWI proteins to form RNAprotein complexes capable of gene regulation (Thomson and Lin, 2009). Several thousand piRNA, ~24-32 nucleotides in length, have been discovered in zebrafish, Drosophila, and mammals. The majority of piRNA seem to be generated from a relatively small number of long single-stranded RNA precursors which are frequently encoded in repetitive intergenic sequences. PIWI proteins, and seemingly the piRNA which associate with them, are important for ensuring a number of key processes during germline development, including germline determination, spermiogenesis, and the silencing of transposons (Thomson and Lin, 2009). In mammals, piRNA have been detected in testes and ovaries but data suggest they may only be required for proper development in males (Aravin et al., 2006; Siomi et al., 2011).

In contrast with the relatively advanced understanding of the biogenesis of miRNA, the biogenesis of piRNA is not well understood. Recent work has suggested that in the case of pachytene piRNA, piRNA whose expression and function are important during the pachytene phase of meiosis, piRNA precursors are transcribed in a type of primary processing pathway (Brennecke et al., 2007; Seto et al., 2007; Aravin et al., 2008). Other work has suggested a type of "ping-pong" mechanism of biogenesis in which primary piRNA identify their mRNA targets and result in PIWI protein recruitment. This leads to the cleavage of the primary transcript at a location 10 nucleotides from the 5' end of the primary piRNA, ultimately producing the secondary piRNA (Brennecke et al., 2007). Current data suggest that one or both of

these proposed mechanisms explains the biogenesis of piRNA in a species-specific fashion with some degree of conservation across species (Faehnle and Joshua-Tor, 2007; Das et al., 2008; Klattenhoff and Theurkauf, 2008; Unhavaithaya et al., 2009).

In terms of biological importance, piRNA have been implicated in the silencing of transposons, and many piRNA are antisense to sequences of transposons (Malone and Hannon, 2009). In mammals, piRNA have been suggested to be most essential during embryonic development (Aravin et al., 2008), and in many species, data reveal that piRNA are required for spermatogenesis (Grimson et al., 2008). A more detailed characterization of both the biogenesis and mechanisms of action of piRNA will be valuable in further revealing how these small, but important, ncRNA function to regulate key periods of development.

LONG ncRNA

Long non-coding RNAs are longer than 200 nucleotides, and this characterization distinguishes long ncRNA from other forms of ncRNA, such as miRNA or piRNA. As has been described above, many forms of small ncRNA, such as miRNA or piRNA, show relatively strong conservation across species (Bentwich et al., 2005); long ncRNA, however, have been shown to lack such relatively strong conservation, leading to conclusions by early investigations that such long ncRNA were non-functional (Brosius, 2005; Struhl, 2007), theories which have been largely dismissed following subsequent analyses. Even two of the most well-characterized long ncRNA, Air and Xist, exhibit relatively poor conservation (Nesterova et al., 2001) but their roles are crucial to an organism's survival. As of late 2011, well over 100 long ncRNA have been characterized and annotated on lncRNAdb, a database which provides annotations of eukaryotic long ncRNA (Amaral et al., 2011).

One of the most well-characterized long ncRNAs is Xist (Wutz, 2007), and Xist has been shown to play a key role in X-chromosome inactivation in female placental mammals (Wutz, 2007). During the period of embryonic stem cell differentiation, Xist is expressed from the future inactive X chromosome and coats what then becomes the inactive X chromosome. Following expression of Xist, irreversible chromatin modifications including loss of histone (H3K9) acetylation and H3K4 methylation and establishment of repressive H4 hypoacetylation and H3K27 trimethylation which, along with other modifications, lead to the silencing of X-linked genes (Morey et al., 2004; Wutz, 2007). Collectively, the long ncRNA "Xist" and other ncRNAs expressed from Xist loci effectively allow only one X chromosome to be active in female placental mammals.

Research focused on understanding the roles of long ncRNA in health and disease is ongoing. Work to determine associations of dysregulated expression of long ncRNA with various tumors, as well as tumor differentiation, continues and will elucidate these important relationships (Pibouin et al., 2002; Reis et al., 2004; Fu et al., 2006; Lin et al., 2007). Specific roles of long ncRNA in driving or preventing tumorigenesis, however, have been largely undetermined. Future work focusing on enhanced understanding of how these long ncRNA are involved in regulating key cell processes throughout the life course, as well as how these long ncRNA are responsive to environmental exposures, such as cigarette smoke, will be key to better elucidating the function of long ncRNA.

CIGARETTE SMOKE-ASSOCIATED EFFECTS ON ncRNA

The influence of cigarette smoking and the effects of components of cigarette smoke on miRNA expression and function have been the most heavily studied aspects of research motivated to characterize the effects of cigarette smoke exposure on ncRNA. As of manuscript preparation, no studies have been published assessing associations of cigarette smoking or direct effects of components of cigarette smoke on piRNA, and relatively few studies have investigated the influence of smoke exposure on dysregulating long ncRNA expression. Since exposure to mainstream and sidestream cigarette smoke remains relatively common and potentially hazardous, investigations into effects on miRNA, piRNA, and long ncRNA may be crucial to elucidating currently poorly understood mechanisms. Such understanding may further explain how components of cigarette smoke may be mediating their effects through piRNA, long ncRNA, and other less-characterized species of ncRNA.

MATERNAL CIGARETTE SMOKING DURING PREGNANCY AND ABERRANT EXPRESSION OF PLACENTAL miRNA

During fetal development, the placenta is of utmost importance to ensuring the proper growth and development of the fetus; it provides the fetus with nutrients, aids in the elimination of waste products, and protects the fetus from a variety of environmental toxicants (Crane-Godreau et al., 2009; Maccani et al., 2010). Recently, Maccani et al. (2010) used a candidate miRNA approach to investigate how maternal cigarette smoking during pregnancy might be associated with differential expression of miRNA in the placenta. Maccani and colleagues' data suggested that maternal cigarette smoking during pregnancy is associated with the downregulation of miR-16, miR-21, and miR-146a. In an attempt to further explore which components of cigarette smoke might modulate specific miRNA, Maccani and colleagues exposed three human placental cell lines from different stages of placental development to nicotine and benzo[a]pyrene, two components of cigarette smoke, and assessed candidate miRNA expression. The three human placental cell lines used were first trimester villous 3A cells, first trimester extravillous HTR8 cells, and the third trimester extravillous TCL-1 cells; the three cell lines represent different periods and aspects of placental development and were selected to further investigate how different components of cigarette smoke might dysregulate miRNA expression in different placental cell types (Maccani et al., 2010). Data suggested that miR-146a was downregulated in TCL-1 cells treated with nicotine and benzo[a]pyrene, suggesting that this particular miRNA may be particularly sensitive to agents of cellular stress and to these two components of cigarette smoke (Maccani et al., 2010; Maccani and Marsit, 2011).

As has been reviewed elsewhere (Maccani and Marsit, 2011), Maccani and colleagues' observations were limited by a relatively small set of samples (n = 25) and a lack of data regarding the duration of cigarette smoking during pregnancy or frequency of use, as well as more extensive environmental exposure information. Despite these limitations, Maccani and colleagues' findings comprise an important first step in investigating associations between maternal cigarette smoking during pregnancy and miRNA expression in the placenta. Future work is needed to investigate associations between maternal cigarette smoking during pregnancy and aberrant miRNA expression in a larger cohort of samples with more extensive exposure information (Maccani et al., 2010; Maccani and Marsit, 2011).

CIGARETTE SMOKING AND ABERRANT EXPRESSION OF LUNG miRNA

Xi et al. (2010) investigated how cigarette smoke condensate (CSC) alters miRNA expression and function in normal human respiratory epithelial cells and lung cancer cells. For their experiments, Xi and colleagues prepared CSC from Kentucky Reference 3R4F research blend cigarettes (Liu et al., 2010) and resuspended the condensate at a concentration of 1 mg tar/mL in RPMI. They found that exposure of cells to this CSC increased the expression of miR-31 in both normal respiratory epithelial cells and in lung cancer cells (Xi et al., 2010). Further results suggested that overexpression of miR-31 led to increased proliferation and tumorigenicity in lung cancer cells, whereas knockdown of miR-31 expression significantly inhibited growth of lung cancer cells (Xi et al., 2010). These findings suggest that miR-31 is both responsive to cigarette smoke exposure in normal respiratory epithelia and lung cancer cells and may play a role as an oncomir, or a miRNA whose expression and function may promote the development of cancer, in the pathway leading to carcinogenesis in the lung (Xi et al., 2010).

CIGARETTE SMOKING AND DYSREGULATED miRNA EXPRESSION IN HUMAN AIRWAY EPITHELIUM

Schembri et al. (2009) investigated whole-genome miRNA expression in bronchial airway epithelium from current or never smokers (n = 20). They found that 28 miRNA were differentially expressed and a majority of these differentially expressed miRNA were downregulated in the airway epithelium of smokers. Furthermore, they investigated one candidate miRNA shown to be dysregulated due to smoke exposure, miR-218, by exposing primary bronchial epithelial cells to CSC, finding that such exposure downregulates miR-218 expression levels (Schembri et al., 2009). While Schembri and colleagues' sample set was limited in size, their work comprised an important first step in determining how miRNA may be a mechanism by which smoking dysregulates bronchial airway gene expression, potentially leading to downstream smoking-associated disease risk.

ENVIRONMENTAL CIGARETTE SMOKE AND ABERRANT EXPRESSION OF miRNA

While a number of studies have focused on the influences of primary cigarette smoking on miRNA expression and function, work is also being done to characterize the effects of ECS (also called "passive," "secondhand," or "sidestream" cigarette smoke) on miRNA expression. Three studies characterizing the effects of ECS on miRNA expression in the lung and liver were conducted by Izzotti et al. (2009, 2010a,b).

Izzotti et al. (2009) investigated the effects of ECS exposure on miRNA expression in the lungs of rats exposed to ECS for 28 days. They found that the most greatly downregulated miRNA belonged to miRNA families previously shown to regulate a number of key biological processes, including stress response, proliferation, angiogenesis, apoptosis, and others. Furthermore, they found that ECS exposure resulted in the upregulation of 2.9% of genes and 9.7% of proteins in the same tissue, suggesting that the ECS exposure-induced downregulation of miRNA may, in part, be leading to the increased protein levels of genes whose mRNA would have otherwise been targeted for post-transcriptional regulation.

In their two 2010 studies, Izzotti and colleagues exposed either neonatal mice (Izzotti et al., 2010b) or rats (Izzotti et al., 2010a) to ECS but also to chemopreventive agents and measured miRNA expression in the lung and the liver following exposure. Their data suggested that ECS dysregulated miRNA expression in lung and had a variety of mixed effects in liver. Phenethyl isothiocyanate and budesonide exposure was observed to protect the lung from ECSinduced dysregulated miRNA expression but had adverse effects in the liver (Izzotti et al., 2010b). Exposure to chemopreventive agents N-acetylcysteine, oltipraz, indole-3-carbinol, 5-6-benzoflavone, and phenethyl isothiocyanate (as single exposures or in combinations) were shown to attenuate alterations in lung attributed to ECS (Izzotti et al., 2010a). Collectively, their findings further underscore the utility of miRNA profiles in various tissues as potential key tools for analyzing both protective and adverse effects of chemopreventive agents in mitigating the effects of exposure to ECS. Future work utilizing bioinformatically informed target prediction approaches may prove essential to better characterizing potential pathways dysregulated by aberrant miRNA expression and respective target mRNA expression resulting from ECS. Future investigations into the molecular mechanisms by which ECS elicits downstream effects will be important for both understanding the effects of this potentially hazardous exposure as well as designing novel therapeutics to treat and improve outcome following exposure.

Cigarette smoke exposure-associated dysregulation of long ncRNA

Investigations into cigarette smoke exposure-associated dysregulation of miRNA have been relatively extensive compared to the few studies analyzing such alterations of long ncRNA. Silva et al. (2010) used whole-genome tiling arrays to investigate the upregulation of non-coding transcripts greater than 300 nucleotides in length in normal human bronchial epithelial cells (NHBE) exposed to the tobacco carcinogen nicotine-derived nitrosamine ketone (NNK), a component of tobacco smoke which can result in DNA damage. They found 12 long stress-induced non-coding transcripts (LSINCTs) which were upregulated in NHBE cells exposed to NNK. Follow-up analysis showed that several of these transcripts exhibit increased expression in many lung cancer and breast cancer cell lines. Analysis is ongoing to better characterize the functional aspects of these LSINCTs dysregulated by NNK. Other investigations have included using RNA-Seq technology to explore effects of smoking and lung cancer on the transcriptome of the airway (Beane et al., 2011) and characterizing the dysregulated monoallelic expression of the H19 gene in cigarette smokers' airway epithelium (Kaplan et al., 2003). These investigations all provide important first steps in characterizing the potential impacts of cigarette smoke exposure on long ncRNA; more extensive research will need to be conducted in the future to more comprehensively describe the effects of cigarette smoke exposure on long ncRNA in a variety of tissues.

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Taken collectively, the body of literature describing our understanding of the effects of cigarette smoke on ncRNA expression and function is very much in its infancy. Studies to date have been relatively small in scope, have considered a relatively limited number of target tissues (i.e., placenta, lung, liver, and airway epithelial cells), and examined various types of cigarette smoke exposure (e.g., primary, passive/secondhand, and prenatal). While the variety in exposure types is informative and provides preliminary results, the relatively small sample sizes and limited number of studies overall make it clear that there is much more to be done in order to more definitively elucidate the effects of cigarette smoke (of any type) on ncRNA expression and the later downstream effects on behavioral health and other medical conditions.

The possible influence of epigenetic modification, including ncRNA expression, due to exposure to cigarette smoke of any kind (i.e., passive or secondhand, primary, or during pregnancy) on behavioral health and other medical conditions is manifold. As outlined above, the three best-characterized forms of ncRNA are microRNA (miRNA), piRNA, and long ncRNA, with miRNA garnering particularly great attention. In fact, at the time of the preparation of this review, there were virtually no published data on exposure-associated alterations to piRNA and relatively few studies on cigarette smoke-associated alterations to long ncRNA. Thus, unanswered questions include, but are not limited to, (i) the effects of cigarette smoke on piRNA and long ncRNA in multiple tissues, in animals and in humans, (ii) the effects of cigarette smoke on miRNA in the brain which might alter critical neurobehavioral circuitry in the developing brain or the adult brain, (iii) the influence of smoke exposure on ncRNA in asthma, lung cancer or other medical outcomes, and (iv) intergenerational transmission of smoking-related ncRNA changes (i.e., grandmaternal smoking influences which may affect germline cells and those epigenetic changes which may escape reprogramming during development). Use of animal models in mutually informative translational research (especially in inbred lines where genetic background is held constant) may further triangulate our ability as a field to investigate these issues (Knopik et al., Under Review).

It is clear, even from the relative paucity of research in this area, that ncRNA are biologically relevant and play an important role in the disease process. ncRNA alterations may also provide valuable information about therapeutic interventions. Yet, how do we align this information with the current state of science? One part of this answer lies in the research or clinical question of interest. If the question is whether cigarette smoke exposure, whether mainstream or sidestream, alters ncRNA expression and leads to the development of cancer cells, then the tissues of interest may indeed be relatively easily accessible. Animal models can be used to investigate ncRNA alterations in multiple tissues of interest, such as the lung, the esophagus, salivary glands, and bladder, but as with all model systems, consideration must be taken in study design regarding differential degrees of conservation of particular ncRNA across species. These preclinical models can be examined alongside human data, where biopsies of particular tissues may be available. However, if the outcome of interest is behavioral or psychiatric in nature (e.g., addiction, executive

function, impulsive behavior, response to stress), the approach is less clear. Ideally, to consider the role of cigarette smoke exposure and ncRNA alterations on subsequent behavior, one would want to examine brain tissue. In humans, this is unavailable unless one considers post-mortem tissue; however, even then there is then the question of whether such investigations might be confounded due to potential ncRNA alterations associated with cause of death. There is considerable debate about the utility of blood as a biomarker for gene expression in brain and other tissues (Tsuang et al., 2005; Tian et al., 2009; Shivapurkar and Gazdar, 2010; Kukreja et al., 2011). In the search for a biomarker with clinical utility, blood does have certain advantages. Blood is an accessible tissue that can be relatively easily obtained, and while not a perfect representation of what might be expressed in brain, it can provide useful information for screening purposes. In either scenario, whether the health outcome is more psychological or somatic in nature, an additional question lies in what aspect of cigarette smoke leads to epigenetic alterations: more specifically, is it nicotine or one of the 4000+ other xenobiotics (e.g., foreign substances) found in cigarette smoke - or one of the multitude of complex mixtures of these xenobiotics - which are most responsible for leading to epigenetic alterations? Carefully examining this piece of the equation will also be key to developing a better understanding of how components of cigarette smoke alter ncRNA expression and function, but also the utility of using such cigarette smoke-modulated ncRNA in diagnostic and therapeutic interventions.

In summary, increasing attention to the study of ncRNA and to "environmental epigenetics" (Reamon-Buettner et al., 2008) has inspired more researchers to embark on work to better understand how environmental exposures, such as cigarette smoke, affect ncRNA expression and function. Recommendations for future research include using both human cohorts and model systems to more comprehensively determine how the type, timing, frequency, duration, and degree of cigarette smoke exposure may alter miRNA, piRNA, and long ncRNA expression and function in a variety of tissues, thereby having the power to alter a number of health and developmental processes. The relative dearth of data demonstrating the effects of cigarette smoke on piRNA and relatively limited number of studies investigating the impact of cigarette smoke on long ncRNA underscore the need for future research to better describe such potentially hazardous effects of cigarette smoke on these two species of ncRNA and the processes they regulate. Hypothesis-generating approaches, such as microarray technology, when used in tandem with goldstandard validation approaches, such as Real-Time PCR, will be important for developing more agnostic study designs for discovering how ncRNA individually and collectively may be responsive to cigarette smoke exposure. Use of target prediction strategies combining in silico target prediction analysis with empirical target prediction confirmation (i.e., via Western blot) will enable researchers to better streamline their efforts to discover currently unknown targets of miRNA. Tools for predicting potential targets of piRNA and long ncRNA remain in early development and such bioinformatic tools will prove especially useful for further determining the functions of piRNA and long ncRNA, especially in the context of harmful environmental exposures. This will not only enhance understanding of how these harmful exposures impact health but may suggest the utility of ncRNA as both therapeutic targets and biomarkers for determining treatment efficacy. Together, these advances will be crucial for determining how alterations to the expression and function of ncRNA may be important modes by which environmental exposures, such as

REFERENCES

- Amaral, P. P., Clark, M. B., Gascoigne, D. K., Dinger, M. E., and Mattick, J. S. (2011). lncRNAdb: a reference database for long noncoding RNAs. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39, D146–D151.
- Aravin, A., Gaidatzis, D., Pfeffer, S., Lagos-Quintana, M., Landgraf, P., Iovino, N., Morris, P., Brownstein, M. J., Kuramochi-Miyagawa, S., Nakano, T., Chien, M., Russo, J. J., Ju, J., Sheridan, R., Sander, C., Zavolan, M., and Tuschl, T. (2006). A novel class of small RNAs bind to MILI protein in mouse testes. *Nature* 442, 203–207.
- Aravin, A. A., Sachidanandam, R., Bourc'his, D., Schaefer, C., Pezic, D., Toth, K. F., Bestor, T., and Hannon, G. J. (2008). A piRNA pathway primed by individual transposons is linked to de novo DNA methylation in mice. *Mol. Cell* 31, 785–799.
- Beane, J., Vick, J., Schembri, F., Anderlind, C., Gower, A., Campbell, J., Luo, L., Zhang, X. H., Xiao, J., Alekseyev, Y. O., Wang, S., Levy, S., Massion, P. P., Lenburg, M., and Spira, A. (2011). Characterizing the impact of smoking and lung cancer on the airway transcriptome using RNA-Seq. *Cancer Prev. Res. (Phila.)* 4, 803–817.
- Bentwich, I., Avniel, A., Karov, Y., Aharonov, R., Gilad, S., Barad, O., Barzilai, A., Einat, P., Einav, U., Meiri, E., Sharon, E., Spector, Y., and Bentwich, Z. (2005). Identification of hundreds of conserved and nonconserved human microRNAs. *Nat. Genet.* 37, 766–770.
- Bird, A. (2007). Perceptions of epigenetics. *Nature* 447, 396–398.
- Brennecke, J., Aravin, A. A., Stark, A., Dus, M., Kellis, M., Sachidanandam, R., and Hannon, G. J. (2007). Discrete small RNA-generating loci as master regulators of transposon activity in *Drosophila. Cell* 128, 1089–1103.
- Brosius, J. (2005). Waste not, want not – transcript excess in multicellular eukaryotes. *Trends Genet.* 21, 287–288.
- Cai, X., Hagedorn, C. H., and Cullen, B. R. (2004). Human microRNAs are processed from capped, polyadenylated transcripts that can also function as mRNAs. RNA 10, 1957–1966.
- CDC. (2002). Annual smokingattributable mortality, years of potential life lost, and productivity

losses – United States, 1995–1999. MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep. 51, 300–303.

- CDC. (2003). Cigarette smokingattributable morbidity – United States, 2000. MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep. 52, 842–844.
- CDC. (2004). Smoking during pregnancy – United States, 1990–2002. MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep. 53, 911–915.
- CDC. (2008). Smoking-attributable mortality, years of potential life lost, and productivity losses – United States, 2000–2004. MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep. 57, 1226–1228.
- CDC. (2010). Vital signs: current cigarette smoking among adults aged ≥ 18 years-United States, 2009. MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep. 1135–1140.
- Cnattingius, S. (2004). The epidemiology of smoking during pregnancy: smoking prevalence, maternal characteristics, and pregnancy outcomes. *Nicotine Tob. Res.* 6(Suppl. 2), S125– S140.
- Cook, D. G., and Strachan, D. P. (1999). Health effects of passive smoking-10: Summary of effects of parental smoking on the respiratory health of children and implications for research. *Thorax* 54, 357–366.
- Crane-Godreau, M. A., Maccani, M. A., Eszterhas, S. K., Warner, S. L., Jukosky, J. A., and Fiering, S. (2009). Exposure to cigarette smoke disrupts CCL20-mediated antimicrobial activity in respiratory epithelial cells. Open. Immunol. J. 2, 86–93.
- Das, P. P., Bagijn, M. P., Goldstein, L. D., Woolford, J. R., Lehrbach, N. J., Sapetschnig, A., Buhecha, H. R., Gilchrist, M. J., Howe, K. L., Stark, R., Matthews, N., Berezikov, E., Ketting, R. F., Tavaré, S., and Miska, E. A. (2008). Piwi and piRNAs act upstream of an endogenous siRNA pathway to suppress Tc3 transposon mobility in the *Caenorhabditis elegans* germline. *Mol. Cell* 31, 79–90.
- Doherty, S. P., Grabowski, J., Hoffman, C., Ng, S. P., and Zelikoff, J. T. (2009). Early life insult from cigarette smoke may be predictive of chronic diseases later in life. *Biomarkers* 14(Suppl. 1), 97–101.
- Du, T., and Zamore, P. D. (2007). Beginning to understand microRNA function. *Cell Res.* 17, 661–663.

cigarette smoke, influence health outcomes throughout the life course.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by R01DA023134 (Valerie S. Knopik) and 2 T32 AA 07459-26 (Matthew A. Maccani).

- Faehnle, C. R., and Joshua-Tor, L. (2007). Argonautes confront new small RNAs. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* 11, 569–577.
- Filipowicz, W., Bhattacharyya, S. N., and Sonenberg, N. (2008). Mechanisms of post-transcriptional regulation by microRNAs: are the answers in sight? *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 9, 102–114.
- Fu, X., Ravindranath, L., Tran, N., Petrovics, G., and Srivastava, S. (2006). Regulation of apoptosis by a prostate-specific and prostate cancer-associated noncoding gene, PCGEM1. DNA Cell Biol. 25, 135–141.
- Goodwin, R. D., Keyes, K., and Simuro, N. (2007). Mental disorders and nicotine dependence among pregnant women in the United States. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 109, 875–883.
- Griffiths-Jones, S., Saini, H. K., van Dongen, S., and Enright, A. J. (2008). miRBase: tools for microRNA genomics. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 36, D154–D158.
- Grimson, A., Srivastava, M., Fahey, B., Woodcroft, B. J., Chiang, H. R., King, N., Degnan, B. M., Rokhsar, D. S., and Bartel, D. P. (2008). Early origins and evolution of microRNAs and Piwi-interacting RNAs in animals. *Nature* 455, 1193–1197.
- Huijbregts, S. C., Seguin, J. R., Zoccolillo, M., Boivin, M., and Tremblay, R. E. (2007). Associations of maternal prenatal smoking with early childhood physical aggression, hyperactivity-impulsivity, and their co-occurrence. J. Abnorm. Child. Psychol. 35, 203–215.
- Hutvagner, G., and Zamore, P. D. (2002). A microRNA in a multipleturnover RNAi enzyme complex. *Science* 297, 2056–2060.
- Izzotti, A., Calin, G. A., Arrigo, P., Steele, V. E., Croce, C. M., and De Flora, S. (2009). Downregulation of microRNA expression in the lungs of rats exposed to cigarette smoke. *FASEB J.* 23, 806–812.
- Izzotti, A., Calin, G. A., Steele, V. E., Cartiglia, C., Longobardi, M., Croce, C. M., and De Flora, S. (2010a). Chemoprevention of cigarette smoke-induced alterations of MicroRNA expression in rat lungs. *Cancer Prev. Res. (Phila.)* 3, 62–72.
- Izzotti, A., Larghero, P., Cartiglia, C., Longobardi, M., Pfeffer, U., Steele, V. E., and De Flora, S. (2010b).

Modulation of microRNA expression by budesonide, phenethyl isothiocyanate and cigarette smoke in mouse liver and lung. *Carcinogenesis* 31, 894–901.

- Jaakkola, N., Jaakkola, M. S., Gissler, M., and Jaakkola, J. J. (2001). Smoking during pregnancy in Finland: determinants and trends, 1987–1997. Am. J. Public Health 91, 284–286.
- Kaplan, R., Luettich, K., Heguy, A., Hackett, N. R., Harvey, B. G., and Crystal, R. G. (2003). Monoallelic up-regulation of the imprinted H19 gene in airway epithelium of phenotypically normal cigarette smokers. *Cancer Res.* 63, 1475–1482.
- Khvorova, A., Reynolds, A., and Jayasena, S. D. (2003). Functional siRNAs and miRNAs exhibit strand bias. *Cell* 115, 209–216.
- Kiechl-Kohlendorfer, U., Ralser, E., Pupp Peglow, U., Reiter, G., Griesmaier, E., and Trawoger, R. (2010). Smoking in pregnancy: a risk factor for adverse neurodevelopmental outcome in preterm infants? Acta Paediatr. 99, 1016–1019.
- Klattenhoff, C., and Theurkauf, W. (2008). Biogenesis and germline functions of piRNAs. *Development* 135, 3–9.
- Knopik, V. S. (2009). Maternal smoking during pregnancy and child outcomes: real or spurious effect? *Dev. Neuropsychol.* 34, 1–36.
- Knopik, V. S., Maccani, M. A., and McGeary, J. E. (Under Review). The epigenetics of maternal cigarette smoking during pregnancy and effects on child development. *Dev. Pscyhopathol.*
- Kukreja, R. C., Yin, C., and Salloum, F. N. (2011). MicroRNAs: new players in cardiac injury and protection. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 80, 558–564.
- Lagos-Quintana, M., Rauhut, R., Lendeckel, W., and Tuschl, T. (2001). Identification of novel genes coding for small expressed RNAs. *Science* 294, 853–858.
- Lau, N. C., Lim, L. P., Weinstein, E. G., and Bartel, D. P. (2001). An abundant class of tiny RNAs with probable regulatory roles in *Caenorhabditis elegans. Science* 294, 858–862.
- Lee, R. C., and Ambros, V. (2001). An extensive class of small RNAs in *Caenorhabditis elegans. Science* 294, 862–864.

- Lee, R. C., Feinbaum, R. L., and Ambros, V. (1993). The *C. elegans* heterochronic gene *lin-4* encodes small RNAs with antisense complementarity to lin-14. *Cell* 75 843–854.
- Lee, Y., Ahn, C., Han, J., Choi, H., Kim, J., Yim, J., Lee, J., Provost, P., Rådmark, O., Kim, S., and Kim, V. N. (2003). The nuclear RNase III Drosha initiates microRNA processing. *Nature* 425, 415–419.
- Lee, Y., Jeon, K., Lee, J. T., Kim, S., and Kim, V. N. (2002). MicroRNA maturation: stepwise processing and subcellular localization. *EMBO J.* 21, 4663–4670.
- Lim, L. P., Lau, N. C., Garrett-Engele, P., Grimson, A., Schelter, J. M., Castle, J., Bartel, D. P., Linsley, P. S., and Johnson, J. M. (2005). Microarray analysis shows that some microR-NAs downregulate large numbers of target mRNAs. *Nature* 433, 769–773.
- Lin, R., Maeda, S., Liu, C., Karin, M., and Edgington, T. S. (2007). A large noncoding RNA is a marker for murine hepatocellular carcinomas and a spectrum of human carcinomas. Oncogene 26, 851–858.
- Liu, F., Killian, J. K., Yang, M., Walker, R. L., Hong, J. A., Zhang, M., Davis, S., Zhang, Y., Hussain, M., Xi, S., Rao, M., Meltzer, P. A., and Schrump, D. S. (2010). Epigenomic alterations and gene expression profiles in respiratory epithelia exposed to cigarette smoke condensate. *Oncogene* 29, 3650–3664.
- Lund, E., Guttinger, S., Calado, A., Dahlberg, J. E., and Kutay, U. (2004). Nuclear export of microRNA precursors. *Science* 303, 95–98.
- Maccani, M. A., Avissar-Whiting, M., Banister, C. E., McGonnigal, B., Padbury, J. F., and Marsit, C. J. (2010). Maternal cigarette smoking during pregnancy is associated with downregulation of miR-16, miR-21, and miR-146a in the placenta. *Epigenetics* 5, 583–589.
- Maccani, M. A., and Marsit, C. J. (2009). Epigenetics in the placenta. *Am. J. Reprod. Immunol.* 62, 78–89.
- Maccani, M. A., and Marsit, C. J. (2011). Exposure and fetal growthassociated miRNA alterations in the human placenta. *Clin. Epigenetics* 2, 401–404.
- Malone, C. D., and Hannon, G. J. (2009). Small RNAs as guardians of the genome. *Cell* 136, 656–668.
- Mohsin, M., and Bauman, A. E. (2005). Socio-demographic factors associated with smoking and smoking cessation among 426,344 pregnant women in New South Wales, Australia. BMC Public Health 5, 138. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-5-138
- Morey, C., Navarro, P., Debrand, E., Avner, P., Rougeulle, C., and Clerc, P.

(2004). The region 3' to Xist mediates X chromosome counting and H3 Lys-4 dimethylation within the Xist gene. *EMBO J.* 23, 594–604.

- Mourelatos, Z., Dostie, J., Paushkin, S., Sharma, A., Charroux, B., Abel, L., Rappsilber, J., Mann, M., and Dreyfuss, G. (2002). miRNPs: a novel class of ribonucleoproteins containing numerous microRNAs. *Genes Dev.* 16, 720–728.
- Nesterova, T. B., Barton, S. C., Surani, M. A., and Brockdorff, N. (2001). Loss of Xist imprinting in diploid parthenogenetic preimplantation embryos. *Dev. Biol.* 235, 343–350.
- NIOSH. (1991). Environmental Tobacco Smoke in the Workplace. Current Intelligence Bulletin 54. National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH), Cincinnati, 91–108.
- Olds, D. L., Henderson, C. R. Jr., and Tatelbaum, R. (1994). Intellectual impairment in children of women who smoke cigarettes during pregnancy. *Pediatrics* 93, 221–227.
- Pibouin, L., Villaudy, J., Ferbus, D., Muleris, M., Prosperi, M. T., Remvikos, Y., and Goubin, G. (2002). Cloning of the mRNA of overexpression in colon carcinoma-1: a sequence overexpressed in a subset of colon carcinomas. *Cancer Genet. Cytogenet.* 133, 55–60.
- Reamon-Buettner, S. M., Mutschler, V., and Borlak, J. (2008). The next innovation cycle in toxicogenomics: environmental epigenetics. *Mutat. Res.* 659, 158–165.
- Reinhart, B. J., Slack, F. J., Basson, M., Pasquinelli, A. E., Bettinger, J. C., Rougvie, A. E., Horvitz, H. R., and Ruvkun, G. (2000). The 21-nucleotide let-7 RNA regulates developmental timing in *Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature* 403, 901–906.
- Reis, E. M., Nakaya, H. I., Louro, R., Canavez, F. C., Flatschart, A. V., Almeida, G. T., Egidio, C. M., Paquola, A. C., Machado, A. A., Festa, F., Yamamoto, D., Alvarenga, R., da Silva, C. C., Brito, G. C., Simon, S. D., Moreira-Filho, C. A., Leite, K. R., Camara-Lopes, L. H., Campos, F. S., Gimba, E., Vignal, G. M., El-Dorry, H., Sogayar, M. C., Barcinski, M. A., da Silva, A. M., and Veriovski-Almeida, S. (2004). Antisense intronic non-coding RNA levels correlate to the degree of tumor differentiation in prostate cancer. Oncogene 23, 6684-6692.
- Schembri, F., Sridhar, S., Perdomo, C., Gustafson, A. M., Zhang, X., Ergun, A., Lu, J. N., Liu, G., Zhang, X. H., Bowers, J., Vaziri, C., Ott, K., Sensinger, K., Collins, J. J., Brody,

J. S., Getts, R., Lenburg, M. E., and Spira, A. (2009). MicroRNAs as modulators of smoking-induced gene expression changes in human airway epithelium. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 2319–2324.

- Schick, S., and Glantz, S. (2005). Philip Morris toxicological experiments with fresh sidestream smoke: more toxic than mainstream smoke. *Tob. Control* 14, 396–404.
- Schwarz, D. S., Hutvagner, G., Du, T., Xu, Z., Aronin, N., and Zamore, P. D. (2003). Asymmetry in the assembly of the RNAi enzyme complex. *Cell* 115, 199–208.
- Seto, A. G., Kingston, R. E., and Lau, N. C. (2007). The coming of age for Piwi proteins. *Mol. Cell* 26, 603–609.
- Shivapurkar, N., and Gazdar, A. F. (2010). DNA methylation based biomarkers in non-invasive cancer screening. *Curr. Mol. Med.* 10, 123–132.
- Silva, J. M., Perez, D. S., Pritchett, J. R., Halling, M. L., Tang, H., and Smith, D. I. (2010). Identification of long stress-induced noncoding transcripts that have altered expression in cancer. *Genomics* 95, 355–362.
- Siomi, M. C., Sato, K., Pezic, D., and Aravin, A. A. (2011). PIWIinteracting small RNAs: the vanguard of genome defence. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 12, 246–258.
- Smalheiser, N. R. (2003). EST analyses predict the existence of a population of chimeric microRNA precursormRNA transcripts expressed in normal human and mouse tissues. *Genome Biol.* 4, 403.
- Song, J. J., Smith, S. K., Hannon, G. J., and Joshua-Tor, L. (2004). Crystal structure of argonaute and its implications for RISC slicer activity. *Science* 305, 1434–1437.
- Struhl, K. (2007). Transcriptional noise and the fidelity of initiation by RNA polymerase II. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 14, 103–105.
- Thielen, A., Klus, H., and Muller, L. (2008). Tobacco smoke: unraveling a controversial subject. *Exp. Toxicol. Pathol.* 60, 141–156.
- Thomson, T., and Lin, H. (2009). The biogenesis and function of PIWI proteins and piRNAs: progress and prospect. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 25, 355–376.
- Tian, Z., Palmer, N., Schmid, P., Yao, H., Galdzicki, M., Berger, B., Wu, E., and Kohane, I. S. (2009). A practical platform for blood biomarker study by using global gene expression profiling of peripheral whole blood. *PLoS ONE* 4, e5157. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005157
- Tsuang, M. T., Nossova, N., Yager, T., Tsuang, M. M., Guo, S. C., Shyu, K.

G., Glatt, S. J., and Liew, C. C. (2005). Assessing the validity of blood-based gene expression profiles for the classification of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: a preliminary report. *Am. J. Med. Genet. B Neuropsychiatr. Genet.* 133B, 1–5.

- Unhavaithaya, Y., Hao, Y., Beyret, E., Yin, H., Kuramochi-Miyagawa, S., Nakano, T., and Lin, H. (2009). MILI, a PIWI-interacting RNAbinding protein, is required for germ line stem cell self-renewal and appears to positively regulate translation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 6507–6519.
- WHO. (2008). WHO Report on the Global Tobacco Epidemic, 2009. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Wutz, A. (2007). Xist function: bridging chromatin and stem cells. *Trends Genet*. 23, 457–464.
- Xi, S., Yang, M., Tao, Y., Xu, H., Shan, J., Inchauste, S., Zhang, M., Mercedes, L., Hong, J. A., Rao, M., and Schrump, D. S. (2010). Cigarette smoke induces C/EBP-betamediated activation of miR-31 in normal human respiratory epithelia and lung cancer cells. *PLoS ONE* 5, e13764. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0013764
- Yekta, S., Shih, I. H., and Bartel, D. P. (2004). MicroRNA-directed cleavage of HOXB8 mRNA. *Science* 304, 594–596.
- Yi, R., Qin, Y., Macara, I. G., and Cullen, B. R. (2003). Exportin-5 mediates the nuclear export of premicroRNAs and short hairpin RNAs. *Genes Dev.* 17, 3011–3016.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 03 February 2012; paper pending published: 21 February 2012; accepted: 20 March 2012; published online: 09 April 2012.

Citation: Maccani MA and Knopik VS (2012) Cigarette smoke exposureassociated alterations to non-coding RNA. Front. Gene. **3**:53. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00053

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Non-Coding RNA, a specialty of Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2012 Maccani and Knopik. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



Bioinformatic challenges of big data in non-coding RNA research

Christina H. Liu¹, Da-Yu Wu² and Jonathan D. Pollock^{2*}

¹ Division of Applied Science and Technology, National Institute of Biomedical Imaging and Bioengineering, Bethesda, MD, USA

² Division of Basic Neuroscience and Behavior Research, National Institute on Drug Abuse, National Institutes of Health, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Bethesda, MD, USA

*Correspondence: jpollock@mail.nih.gov

Edited by:

Andre Pietrzykowski, Rutgers University, USA

Reviewed by:

Andre Pietrzykowski, Rutgers University, USA

Recent technological developments have brought forth a new era of RNA research in which large sets of data are collected rapidly using the high-throughput next generation sequencing technology. Growing evidence suggests that only around 5% of nucleotides in the mammalian genomes are transcribed into protein-coding RNA, and large amount of transcripts are nonprotein-coding RNA (ncRNA). During the last decade, much information has been generated from the studies of one type of ncRNA, namely microRNA (miRNA, the ncRNA of 19-25 nucleotides). miRNA modulates the expression of target genes through repression of mRNA translation or mRNA degradation. Its dysregulation has been implicated in various biological disorders and human diseases. Meanwhile, the long-non-coding RNA (lncRNA, the ncRNA that have 200 or more nucleotides) has recently emerged to catch significant attention. lncRNA is involved in chromatin modification, epigenetic regulation, transcription control, and pre- and post-translational mRNA processing. The functions of lncRNA are believed to be associated with development, imprinting, mental and psychiatric disorders, and tumor growth.

Bioinformatics is a pivotal component of this new RNA research revolution. It utilizes mathematical models and computer simulations to form, extract and analyze RNA data, and to search new ncRNA gene sequences and predict their targets. Assumptions in this computational modeling are derived from the observations that ncRNAs are produced following step-wise processes from precursors to functional end products. Based on miRNA biogenesis, criteria in searching for new miRNAs from sequencing data include that the precursors fold into a stable stem-loop structure, mature miRNAs are found on one arm of the stem, and these sequences are usually evolutionarily conserved (Lim et al., 2003). Target prediction algorithms take into considerations stability of miRNA-mRNA duplex, accessibility of secondary structure, nucleotide content in and around the putative target sites, and position of seedcomplementary sites within the mRNA transcript.

Prior to the high-throughput sequencing techniques, computational programs were developed to search for new miR-NAs based on attainable sequence data. These methods used one of the following approaches (Mendes et al., 2009): filterbased approaches, which identified small high-quality sets of conserved miRNA candidates; machine learning methods, which determined initial set of candidates with stem-loops structures, and target-centered approaches, which identify short conserved motifs in the 3'UTRs of protein-coding genes (Xie et al., 2005). Even though these algorithms were developed before the highthroughput sequencing era, they establish strong bases for bioinformatic analyses of big sequencing data; new ncRNAs and targets continue to be cataloged into many databases with sufficient annotations available to the public.

High-throughput sequencing techniques and deep sequencing (or RNA-Seq) have offered much improved avenue for ncRNA discovery (Lu et al., 2005), by searching genomic sequences for evidence of hairpin structures and then determine if sequencing read aligned to these structures mimic miRNA processing byproducts (Friedlander et al., 2008), or using a regularized least-squares classification algorithm to mine miRNAs from smRNA-seq data (Lu et al., 2009) to perform genome-wide multiple sequence alignments (MSAs). At the same time, through adaptation of the latest biochemical approaches to miRNA target finding, it is possible to identify miRSNPs with greater accuracy and explain the association of certain miRNA-affecting polymorphisms with disease phenotypes (Wilbert and Yeo, 2011).

Even though bioinformatic-based methods for the identification of new ncRNA and their targets have become more sophisticated and required less CPU time, there are gaps and challenges that need to be addressed to justify their biological relevancy: cross-platform validation of genomic and transcriptional sequence data, cross-algorithm validation of search engines, and development of more accurate models for ncRNA function in regard to biological environment and diseases. For example, high-throughput sequencing of small RNA results in an output file of short sequence (often termed short-reads or reads) accompanied by a quality score for each nucleotide in each sequence. Because of the high sensitivity of the technique, the "raw" data will also contain sequencing primers and contaminants which can potentially produce sequence bias that requires more sophisticated computational approaches to sieve out miRNA transcripts (Mendes et al., 2009) and cross-platform validations. There are currently at least 45 sequence formats; the most widespread data formats being those used by the major sequence database: EMBL, GenBank, SwissProt, and PIR. The lack of standardization in sequence formats not only hampers the feasibility for

cross-platform comparison of existing data (Farazi et al., 2011), but also discourages the expansion of sequence data sharing for initial and value-added secondary analysis. In addition, currently available algorithms have employed different approaches dictated by the algorithm developers and may or may not be reproducible using a different approach. Cross-examination between the solutions derived from different algorithms is needed. Another complexity in ncRNA data analysis is that most of the software is primarily at a command-line level and not user-friendly to the end-users.

Computational approaches developed so far make extensive use of evolutionary conservation information either to predict ncRNA genes or ncRNA-target associations, sometimes ignoring the subtle rules presiding ncRNA biogenesis and target specificity. Thus, approaches combining high-throughput sequencing biochemical techniques and bioinformatic analyses that emphasizes the synergy of genome-wide approaches are essential (Mendes et al., 2009). Furthermore, most lncRNA are under lower sequence constraints than protein-coding genes and lack conserved secondary structures like the pre-miRNAs, making it hard to predict computationally. In addition, since complex diseases can be affected by a number of ncR-NAs rather than a single ncRNA, and ncRNA

often operates in highly complex regulatory networks (Kargul and Laurent, 2011), it is a multi-dimensional challenge to identify ncRNA interactions at a system-wide level, and analyze the roles of ncRNA in disease and disorders in the ncRNA-ncRNA synergistic network (Xu et al., 2011). Lastly, careful interpretations of data with molecular validations are critical for ensuring acceptance of bioinformatic methods in the ncRNA research community. With knowledge gained from bioinformatic analyses of exponentially increasing massive ncRNA data, many issues remain to be addressed on the functional significance and how genetic variations of ncRNA plays important roles in disease processes.

REFERENCES

- Farazi, T. A., Spitzer, J. I., Morozov, P., and Tuschl, T. (2011). miRNAs in human cancer. *J. Pathol.* 223, 102–115.
- Friedlander, M. R., Chen, W., Adamidi, C., Maaskola, J., Einspanier, R., Knespel, S., and Rajewsky, N. (2008). Discovering microRNAs from deep sequencing data using miRDeep. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 26, 407–415.
- Kargul, J., and Laurent, G. J. (2011). Liver growth, development, and disease – new research revealing new horizons. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 43, 171.
- Lim, L. P., Glasner, M. E., Yekta, S., Burge, C. B., and Bartel, D. P. (2003). Vertebrate microRNA genes. *Science* 299, 1540.
- Lu, C., Tej, S. S., Luo, S., Haudenschild, C. D., Meyers, B. C., and Green, P. J. (2005). Elucidation of the small RNA component of the transcriptome. *Science* 309, 1567–1569.

- Lu, Y. C., Smielewska, M., Palakodeti, D., Lovci, M. T., Aigner, S., Yeo, G. W., and Graveley, B. R. (2009). Deep sequencing identifies new and regulated microRNAs in Schmidtea mediterranea. *RNA* 15, 1483–1491.
- Mendes, N. D., Freitas, A. T., and Sagot, M. F. (2009). Current tools for the identification of miRNA genes and their targets. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 37, 2419–2433.
- Wilbert, M. L., and Yeo, G. W. (2011). Genome-wide approaches in the study of microRNA biology. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Syst. Biol. Med. 3, 491–512.
- Xie, X., Lu, J., Kulbokas, E. J., Golub, T. R., Mootha, V., Lindblad-Toh, K., Lander, E. S., and Kellis, M. (2005). Systematic discovery of regulatory motifs in human promoters and 3' UTRs by comparison of several mammals. *Nature* 434, 338–345.
- Xu, J., Li, C. X., Li, Y. S., Lv, J. Y., Ma, Y., Shao, T. T., Xu, L. D., Wang, Y. Y., Du, L., Zhang, Y. P., Jiang, W., Li, C. Q., Xiao, Y., and Li, X. (2011). MiRNA-miRNA synergistic network: construction via co-regulating functional modules and disease miRNA topological features. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39, 825–836.

Received: 23 August 2012; accepted: 24 August 2012; published online: 11 September 2012.

Citation: Liu CH, Wu D-Y and Pollock JD (2012) Bioinformatic challenges of big data in non-coding RNA research. Front. Gene. **3**:178. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00178 This article was submitted to Frontiers in Non-Coding RNA, a specialty of Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2012 Liu, Wu and Pollock. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any thirdparty graphics etc.

Bioinformatic resources of microRNA sequences, gene targets, and genetic variation

Wenbo Mu¹ and Wei Zhang^{2,3,4}*

¹ Department of Bioengineering, University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, IL, USA

² Department of Pediatrics, University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, IL, USA

³ Institute of Human Genetics, University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, IL, USA

⁴ Cancer Center, University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, IL, USA

Edited by:

Jonathan Pollock, National Institute on Drug Abuse, USA

Reviewed by:

David Langenberger, University Leipzig, Germany Elana J. Fertig, Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, USA

*Correspondence:

Wei Zhang, Department of Pediatrics, University of Illinois at Chicago, 840 South Wood Street, 1200 CSB (MC856), Chicago, IL 60612, USA. e-mail: weizhan1@uic.edu Variation in quantitative gene expression has been observed in natural populations and associated with various complex traits/phenotypes such as risks for common diseases and drug response. MicroRNAs (miRNAs), a family of small, non-coding RNA molecules, have been demonstrated to be an important class of gene regulators that mostly downregulate gene expression at the post-transcriptional level. A comprehensive and reliable catalogue of miRNAs and miRNA gene targets is critical to understanding the gene regulatory networks. Though experimental approaches have been used to identify many miRNAs and their gene targets, due to cost and efficiency, currently miRNA and target identification still largely relies on computational algorithms. We reviewed several widely used bioinformatic resources of miRNA sequences and gene targets that take advantage of the unique characteristics of miRNA-mRNA interactions, experimental validation, as well as the integration of sequence-based evidence and microarray expression data. Furthermore, given the importance of miRNAs in regulating gene expression, elucidating expression quantitative trait loci involved with miRSNPs or miR-polymorphisms will help improve our understanding of complex traits. We reviewed the available resources of miRNA genetic variation, and the current progress (e.g., the 1000 Genomes Project) in detailing the genetic variation in miRNA-related single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs). We also provided our perspectives of the potential impact of next-generation sequencing on the research of miRNAs, gene targets, and miRSNPs. These bioinformatic resources may help interpret experimental and association study results, thus enhancing our knowledge of the dynamic gene regulatory networks and the physiological pathways for complex traits/phenotypes. Prospectively, these bioinformatic resources of miRNAs will need to address the challenges raised by the application of next-generation sequencing in miRNA research.

Keywords: microRNA, gene expression, gene regulation, genetic variation, single nucleotide polymorphism, RNA-sequencing

INTRODUCTION

Alterations in gene expression, a quantitative phenotype, have been implicated in a variety of human diseases and traits, as well as response to therapeutic treatments (Zhang and Dolan, 2009). The variation of gene expression, therefore, could potentially explain the phenotypic variations (e.g., susceptibility to complex diseases, and drug response) among individuals and human populations. For example, differentially expressed genes enriched in ubiquitin proteasome and Parkinson's disease pathways were found be associated with coffee consumption, a model for addictive behavior (Amin et al., 2011). In contrast, based on a cell-based pharmacogenomic discovery model using the HapMap Project (HapMap, 2003, 2005) lymphoblastoid cell line (LCL) samples, whole-genome gene expression profiling (i.e., transcriptome profiling; Zhang et al., 2008, 2009) has allowed identification of gene expression phenotypes associated with the cytoxicities to anticancer drugs, such as etoposide (Huang et al., 2007a), daunorubicin (Huang et al., 2008a), carboplatin (Huang et al., 2008b), cisplatin (Huang et al., 2007b), and Ara-C (cytarabine arabinoside; Hartford et al., 2009). In addition, significant variation in gene expression has been observed among individuals from the same human population, as well as among individuals from different ethnic background (Cheung et al., 2003a,b; Stranger et al., 2005, 2007a,b; Spielman et al., 2007; Storey et al., 2007; Duan et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2008). For example, a substantial proportion of human genes (e.g., genes related to immune response) have been found to be differentially expressed between individuals of African and Northern/Western European ancestry (Zhang et al., 2008). Particularly, common genetic variants including single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and copy number variants (CNVs) have been identified to contribute to the variation in gene expression (e.g., through expression quantitative trait loci, eQTLs) both within and between human populations (Cheung et al., 2003a,b; Stranger et al., 2005, 2007a,b; Spielman et al., 2007; Storey et al., 2007; Duan et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2008). Besides genetic factors, non-genetic factors such as environmental exposure, life style, diet

may play at least as great a role as genetic divergence in modulating gene expression variation in humans (Idaghdour et al., 2008).

During the past decade, epigenetic mechanisms (e.g., DNA methylation, histone modifications) have begun to be appreciated as playing critical roles in regulating gene expression, and affecting complex traits including risks for common diseases. Recent process in biomedical research emphasizes the need to move beyond protein-coding genes and highlights the fact that continued investigation of non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs) will be necessary for a comprehensive understanding of human traits and diseases (Taft et al., 2010; Kaikkonen et al., 2011). Notably, microR-NAs (miRNAs), a family of small, ncRNAs molecules, have been demonstrated to be an important class of gene regulators that mostly downregulate gene expression at the post-transcriptional level (Ambros, 2001; Bartel, 2004). Dysregulation of miRNAs and some other ncRNAs is being found to have relevance to tumorigenesis, neurological, cardiovascular, developmental, respiratory, and other diseases, as well as individual response to drugs (Zhang and Dolan, 2010; Esteller, 2011; Zhou et al., 2011). For example, dysregulation of miRNAs in brains has been observed after exposure to addictive drugs like cocaine (Eipper-Mains et al., 2011), while upregulation of some miRNAs have been identified in human alcoholics (Lewohl et al., 2011). In addition, pharmacogenomic studies have related miRNAs as an important mechanism for regulating genes responsible for drug response (Zhang and Dolan, 2010; Huang et al., 2011). A comprehensive understanding of miRNAs and other functional ncRNAs will be necessary for future integration of various "omics" data for elucidating the underpinning mechanisms of complex diseases, phenotypes, and traits including the fundamental problem of gene expression regulation.

Given the critical roles of miRNAs in gene regulation and human diseases, it is imperative to have a comprehensive and reliable catalog of miRNA sequences (e.g., mature miRNAs, pre-, and pri-miRNAs) and miRNA gene targets. In addition to experimental approaches, computational algorithms have been developed for predicting miRNA sequences and their potential gene targets. To allow user-friendly queries, there are publicly available, web-based resources for miRNA sequences and gene targets. The current bioinformatic resources of miRNAs provide miRNA sequences and their gene targets from both experimental approaches and computational algorithms (in silico predictions). Furthermore, SNPs within the sequences of human miRNAs and their gene targets have been shown to have impact on various phenotypes and diseases such as cancer, blood pressure, and drug resistance (Mishra et al., 2007; Sethupathy et al., 2007; Landi et al., 2008). The polymorphisms in miRNA (miRSNPs) appear to have a differing effect on gene and protein expression, thus representing a novel type of genetic variation that may influence complex traits such as the risks of certain human diseases (Chen et al., 2008). With the advances in genotyping and sequencing technologies, genetic variation data on miRSNPs have become available for analyses in elucidating the mechanisms of miRNAs and complex phenotypes/traits. Therefore, we reviewed several publicly available miRNA-related (particularly, in humans) bioinformatic resources that accommodate miRNA sequences, miRNA gene targets, and miRSNPs (Table 1). Prospectively, these bioinformatic resources of miRNAs will need to address the challenges raised by the emerging applications of novel technologies (e.g., next-generation sequencing) in miRNA research.

miRBASE – A DATABASE OF miRNA SEQUENCES

Since its launch as the MicroRNA Registry (Griffiths-Jones, 2004), the miRBase database¹ (Griffiths-Jones, 2004; Griffiths-Jones et al., 2006, 2008; Kozomara and Griffiths-Jones, 2011) has evolved into a central portal for miRNA sequences and other relevant information. The miRBase is a searchable database of published mature miRNA sequences, together with their predicted source hairpin precursors and annotations relating to their discovery, structure, and function (Griffiths-Jones et al., 2006). The miRBase contains miRNA sequence information from two fundamentally different sources: (1) experimentally verified mature miRNAs; and (2) miRNA sequences that are predicted homologs of miRNAs verified in a related organism (Griffiths-Jones et al., 2006). Each entry

¹http://www.mirbase.org/

Contents	Database	Data source/type of evidence	URL
MicroRNA sequences	miRBase	Computational prediction, sequencing, and experimental verification	http://www.mirbase.org/
	Ensemble	Comprehensive genome browser	http://www.ensembl.org/
	UCSC genome browser	Comprehensive genome browser	http://genome.ucsc.edu/
MicroRNA targets	MicroCosm	Computational prediction	http://www.ebi.ac.uk/enright-srv/microcosm/
	TargetScan		http://www.targetscan.org/
	PicTar		http://pictar.mdc-berlin.de/
	ExprTarget	Computational prediction and microarray	http://www.scandb.org/apps/microrna/
	miRDB		http://mirdb.org/
	microRNA.org		http://www.microrna.org/
	TarBase	Experimental validation	http://diana.cslab.ece.ntua.gr/tarbase/
	miRecords	Comprehensive database	http://mirecords.biolead.org/
MicroRNA variation	miRvar	Literature	http://genome.igib.res.in/mirlovd/

Table 1 | Some widely used bioinformatic resources of microRNA sequences, gene targets and genetic variation.

in the miRBase database represents a predicted hairpin portion of a miRNA transcript (termed "mir" in the database), with information on the location and sequence of the mature miRNA sequence (termed "miR"; Ambros et al., 2003).

The current miRBase Release 18 (November, 2011) contains 18,226 entries representing hairpin precursor miRNAs, expressing 21,643 mature miRNA products, in 168 species. Particularly, there are 1,527 human miRNA sequences provided bythe miR-Base (accessed on December 1, 2011). The miRBase also provides links of miRNAs to potential gene targets predicted by Micro-Cosm, TargetScan (Lewis et al., 2003), and PicTar (Krek et al., 2005), which are described in the following section. Both hairpin and mature sequences are available for searching and browsing, and entries can also be retrieved by name (e.g., "let-7" or "miR-36"), keyword (e.g. "human"), references, and annotation. Queries can also be performed by genomic location, tissue expression (e.g., adenosquamous cell, embryonic stem cell for humans) and sequence. For searches by sequence, users can perform either BLASTN or SSEARCH to search against the intact precursor sequences or just the mature miRNAs. All sequence and annotation data served at the miRBase are also available for bulk download. In addition, novel miRNA sequences can be submitted to miRBase by researchers, therefore, the miRBase acts as a central depository of miRNA sequences. Besides the miRBase website, other major genome databases such as the Ensemble² and UCSC Genome Browser³ (Kent et al., 2002) also provide access to miRNA sequences and annotations. For example, the Ensemble Genome Browser can be used to obtain miRNA sequences that have been predicted by BLASTN of genomic sequence slices against miRBase sequences (Guttman et al., 2009).

RESOURCES OF miRNA GENE TARGETS

Given the critical roles of miRNAs in regulating gene expression and cellular functions, a comprehensive and reliable catalog of miRNA gene targets will benefit the biomedical research community, for example, by enabling the construction of gene regulatory networks, as well as gene-set or pathway-based analyses. Though molecular biology approaches may be used to experimentally determine gene targets for miRNAs, the lack of high throughput techniques and the relatively high cost associated with experimental approaches limit their use in identifying all of miRNA gene targets. Therefore, to date, only some gene targets of a small number of the potential >1000 human miRNAs have been confirmed experimentally. Another major challenge with miRNA gene target identification is that an individual miRNA may regulate multiple mRNAs, and in contrast, an individual gene may also be regulated by multiple miRNAs, thus representing a complex network of miRNA-mRNA interactions. In lieu of experimental approaches, several computational approaches have been developed for genome-wide prediction of miRNA gene targets by taking advantage of the properties of miRNAs' binding to gene targets. In animals, miRNAs typically bind to the 3'-UTRs (untranslated regions) of their target mRNAs to form miRNA-mRNA duplexes, leading to regulatory repression of translation (Lai et al., 2004),

³http://genome.ucsc.edu/

although the exact mechanism is not completely clear. Therefore, these approaches commonly depend on either miRNA-mRNA complementarity: e.g., miRanda (Enright et al., 2003; Griffiths-Jones et al., 2008), TargetScan (Lewis et al., 2003), or miRNAmRNA duplex thermodynamics: e.g., PicTar (Krek et al., 2005). Notably, pair-wise comparisons of the miRanda scores (Enright et al., 2003; Griffiths-Jones et al., 2008), PicTar scores (Krek et al., 2005), and TargetScan scores (Lewis et al., 2003) were performed to evaluate the correlations between these computational algorithms (Gamazon et al., 2010). In general, these computational algorithms appeared to generate a significant number of overlapping miRNA gene targets between each pair of algorithms (Gamazon et al., 2010): 21,590 between miRanda (Enright et al., 2003; Griffiths-Jones et al., 2008) and TargetScan (Lewis et al., 2003), 2,465 between miRanda (Enright et al., 2003; Griffiths-Jones et al., 2008) and PicTar (Krek et al., 2005), as well as 8,707 between TargetScan (Lewis et al., 2003) and PicTar (Krek et al., 2005). Using TarBase (Papadopoulos et al., 2009), a database of experimentally supported miRNA targets, as gold standard, an receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analysis on each of the above-mentioned computational algorithms would seem to suggest that TargetScan (Lewis et al., 2003) may yield slightly better performance than the other computational methods (Gamazon et al., 2010). Recently, with the availability of whole-genome microarray data, approaches that aim to integrate both microarray data and sequence-based evidence have also been proposed to predict miRNA targets (e.g., ExprTarget; Gamazon et al., 2010). However, caution must be exercised in the interpretation of these results, given each prediction approach may be biased toward particular characteristics of miRNA-mRNA interactions, possibly a reason why some of these approaches may not provide consistent predictions. For example, since gene expression can be tissue-specific, results from integrative approaches utilizing both sequence-based evidence and microarray data, therefore, could be biased toward genes expressed in a particular tissue (e.g., the LCLs). Regarding bioinformatic resources, there are several widely used web-based databases that provide access to those computationally predicted miRNA gene targets, experimentally supported miRNA gene targets and miRNA gene targets derived from integrated approaches.

MICROCOSM TARGETS

The MicroCosm Targets is a web resource (formerly the miRBase Targets)⁴ containing computationally predicted targets for miR-NAs across many species including humans. The current Version 5 database contains detected relationships for 851 human miR-NAs and ~35,000 transcripts (accessed on December 1, 2011). The miRNA sequences were from the miRBase; Griffiths-Jones, 2004; Griffiths-Jones et al., 2006, 2008; Kozomara and Griffiths-Jones, 2011) and most genomic sequences from Ensembl (see text footnote 2). The miRanda algorithm (Enright et al., 2003; Griffiths-Jones et al., 2008) was used to identify potential binding sites for a given miRNA in genomic sequences. Particularly, the current Version 5 of the MicroCosm Targets database used dynamic programming alignment to identify highly complementary miRNA–mRNA pairs which are scored between 0 (i.e., no

²http://www.ensembl.org/

⁴http://www.ebi.ac.uk/enright-srv/microcosm/

complementarity) and 100 (i.e., complete complementarity). The miRanda algorithm (Enright et al., 2003; Griffiths-Jones et al., 2008) uses a weighted scoring system and rewards complementarity at the 5' end of miRNA. P-values are also calculated following statistical model proposed by Rehmsmeier et al. (2004). Since miRanda requires strict complementarity at the seed region (i.e., the 5' end of miRNA) of miRNA-mRNA pairs, this algorithm does not allow alignments where more than one base in the seed region is not complementary to a target mRNA. Furthermore, gene targets selected by miRanda (Enright et al., 2003; Griffiths-Jones et al., 2008) were passed through the Vienna RNA folding routines (Hofacker, 2003; Gruber et al., 2008) for evaluating the property of thermodynamic stability. MicroCosm Targets supports queries for individual miRNAs, individual genes, gene ontology (GO; Ashburner et al., 2000) classes (e.g., cellular component, biological process) in a selected genome (e.g., the human genome), as well as batch queries. The MicroCosm Targets supports bulk download of the complete dataset.

TARGETSCAN

TargetScan⁵ (Lewis et al., 2003) is a web resource that provided computationally predicted miRNA gene targets by searching for the presence of conserved 8 and 7 mer sites that match the seed region of each miRNA for a variety of species. TargetScanHuman (Release 6.0, November, 2011) is a sub-database for predicting human miRNA gene targets based on the TargetScan approach (Lewis et al., 2003). The current TargetScanHuman Release 6.0 contains ~18,000 mRNAs, corresponding to ~30,000 transcripts (accessed on December 1, 2011). As an option, TargetScanHuman also provides non-conserved sites and sites with mismatches in the seed region that are compensated by conserved 3' pairing (i.e., conserved 3'-compensatory sites; Friedman et al., 2009). The TargetScan predictions are ranked based on the predicted efficacy of targeting (Grimson et al., 2007; Garcia et al., 2011) and by their probability of conserved targeting (i.e., P_{CT} ; Friedman et al., 2009), which reflects the Bayesian estimate of the probability that a site is conserved due to selective maintenance of miRNA targeting rather than by chance or any other reason not pertinent to miRNA targeting. TargetScan supports bulk download of the complete dataset.

PICTAR

PicTar⁶ (Krek et al., 2005), a searchable website provides details (e.g., 3'-UTR alignments with computationally predicted sites, links to various public databases) of human miRNA targets that are not conserved but co-expressed (i.e., the miRNA and mRNA expressed in the same tissue; Chen and Rajewsky, 2006), as well as miRNA target predictions in vertebrates (Krek et al., 2005), *Drosophila* (Grun et al., 2005), and nematode species (Lall et al., 2006). PicTar (Krek et al., 2005) uses a probabilistic model to compute the likelihood that sequences are miRNA target sites when compared to the 3'-UTR background. *In vivo* experimental validation suggests a high degree of accuracy and sensitivity for the PicTar algorithm in flies (Stark et al., 2005). PicTar (Krek et al.,

⁶http://pictar.mdc-berlin.de/

2005) supports queries and bulk download for more than 13,000 co-expressed human microRNA target predictions (Chen and Rajewsky, 2006) between 31 unique human miRNAs and \sim 5,000 transcripts in multiple tissues (accessed on December 1, 2011).

TARBASE

In contrast to those databases for computationally predicted miRNA gene targets, TarBase⁷ (Papadopoulos et al., 2009) v5.0 (accessed on December 1, 2011) houses a manually curated collection of more than 1,300 experimentally supported miRNA target interactions in a variety of species including human, mouse, and several other model organisms. TarBase (Papadopoulos et al., 2009) supports queries for individual miRNAs and genes in a selected organism. For humans, the current v5.0 database contains 1,094 miRNA–mRNA relationships (>100 miRNAs and ~900 transcripts) that are supported by experimental evidence. For each miRNA–mRNA relationship, TarBase (Papadopoulos et al., 2009) provides the type of experimental support (e.g., microarray, pSI-LAC – pulsed stable isotope labeling by amino acids), detailed information on miRNA and mRNA target, as well as the scientific references.

EXPRTARGET

The efficacy of computational approaches to locate and rank potential genomic binding sites is supported by the relatively high degree of miRNA complementarity to experimentally determined binding sites (Maziere and Enright, 2007). In contrast, ExprTarget⁸ (Gamazon et al., 2010) provides a comprehensive catalog of miRNA targets supported by both sequence-based evidence and microarray gene expression association. Particularly, ExprTarget (Gamazon et al., 2010) combines miRNA (Huang et al., 2011) and exon array expression data (Zhang et al., 2009; mRNA-level) on 117 unrelated HapMap CEU (Caucasians from Utah, USA) and YRI (Yoruba people from Ibadan, Nigeria) LCL samples, thus providing an expression-corroborated catalog of miRNA targets (225 expressed miRNAs in LCLs and ~9,000 transcripts) that were also predicted using the miRanda algorithm (Ambros, 2001; Enright et al., 2003; Griffiths-Jones et al., 2008). ExprTarget (Gamazon et al., 2010) will be expanded to accommodate miRNA target predictions in other human tissues such as liver.

miRDB

miRDB⁹ (Wang, 2008; Wang and El Naqa, 2008), is an online database for predicted miRNA targets in animals using an algorithm called MirTarget2, which was developed by analyzing thousands of genes impacted by miRNAs with an support vector machine (SVM) algorithm and a microarray training dataset. Particularly, by systematically analyzing public microarray data, statistically significant features that are important to gene target downregulation were identified (Wang and El Naqa, 2008). For human miRNAs, the current miRDB v4.0 (accessed on January 10, 2012) contains 1,919 miRNAs and more than >16,000 unique gene targets. About half of the predicted human miRNA target sites are not conserved in

⁵http://www.targetscan.org/

⁷http://diana.cslab.ece.ntua.gr/tarbase/

⁸http://www.scandb.org/apps/microrna/

⁹http://mirdb.org/

other organisms (Wang, 2008; Wang and El Naqa, 2008). MirTarget2 has been validated with independent experimental data for its improved performance on predicting miRNA downregulated gene targets (Wang and El Naqa, 2008). miRDB (Wang, 2008; Wang and El Naqa, 2008) supports queries for individual targets or miRNAs, as well as bulk download of the complete dataset.

microRNA.org

The microRNA.org website¹⁰ (John et al., 2004; Landgraf et al., 2007; Betel et al., 2008) is a comprehensive resource of miRNA target predictions, target downregulation scores, and experimentally observed expression patterns. Particularly, the microRNA.org target predictions are based on a development of the miRanda algorithm (Enright et al., 2003; Griffiths-Jones et al., 2008), which incorporates current biological knowledge on target rules and on the use of a compendium of mammalian miRNAs. The miRNA expression profiles were derived from a comprehensive sequencing project of mammalian tissues and cell lines of normal and disease origin (John et al., 2004; Landgraf et al., 2007; Betel et al., 2008). The current version of the microRNA.org database (released in August, 2010) contains predicted interactions between 249 human miRNAs and more than 19,000 human genes (accessed on December 1, 2011). The microRNA.org miRNA target predictions and expression data (John et al., 2004; Landgraf et al., 2007; Betel et al., 2008) are also available as tab-delimited files for bulk downloads.

miRECORDS

miRecords¹¹ (Xiao et al., 2009) is a comprehensive resource for animal miRNA-mRNA interactions from some of the abovementioned algorithms and experimental approaches. miRecords (Xiao et al., 2009) consists of two components: (1) Validated Targets component - a large, high-quality database of experimentally validated miRNA targets resulting from manual literature curation; and (2) The Predicted Targets component - an integration of predicted miRNA targets produced by some established miRNA target prediction programs: e.g., miRanda (Enright et al., 2003; Griffiths-Jones et al., 2008) and TargetScan (Lewis et al., 2003). miRecords (Xiao et al., 2009) allows queries of individual miR-NAs in a selected organism. The search results provide detailed evidence for miRNA-mRNA interactions from a variety of algorithms and databases. The current Validated Targets component of miRecords (Xiao et al., 2009; released in November, 2010) hosts the interactions between 384 miRNAs and more than 1,000 target genes in nine animal species. miRecords (Xiao et al., 2009) supports bulk download of the complete list of validated gene targets collected in the database.

MiRSNPs – NOVEL PLAYERS IN COMPLEX TRAITS

Genomic variations including germ line or somatic mutations may count for miRNA abnormal expression by altering their biogenesis and/or affect the ability of miRNAs to bind to their target mRNAs. For example, aberrant allele frequencies of the SNPs located in miRNA target sites were found to be potentially associated with human diseases (e.g., cancer; Yu et al., 2007; Landi

¹⁰http://www.microrna.org/

11 http://mirecords.biolead.org/

et al., 2008). With the availability of comprehensive genetic variation data: e.g., the International HapMap Project (HapMap, 2003, 2005) and the 1000 Genomes Project (1000 Genomes Consortium, 2010) genotypic data, studies of miRSNPs or miRpolymorphisms have begun to shed novel light to the distribution and potential biological/clinical implication of these polymorphisms. For example, using the HapMap Phase 1/2 genotypic data (HapMap, 2003, 2005) on the CEU and YRI, a genomescale search for the regulatory polymorphisms in the loci of pre-miRNAs and their gene targets demonstrated 187 SNPs in the pre-miRNAs, 497 consensus SNPs in the seed-matching 3-UTR of target genes, 385 CNVs harboring pre-miRNA precursors and 9 CNVs covering important miRNA processing genes (Duan et al., 2009), indicating potential roles of miR-polymorphisms in regulating miRNAs and their gene targets. Future studies that take advantage of more comprehensive genotypic data such as those from the 1000 Genomes Project (1000 Genomes Consortium, 2010) and other sequencing efforts will help generate a more comprehensive list of miR-polymorphisms, thus facilitating future association studies between the genetic polymorphisms in miRNA targets/pre-miRNAs and disease susceptibility or therapeutic outcome.

Since the research of miRSNPs is a relatively new field in miRNA research, especially relative to the research of miRNA gene targets, currently there are few bioinformatic tools or resources that specifically devote to miRSNPs. Efforts such as the miRvar database (Bhartiya et al., 2011) may prove valuable to the miRNA research community for integrating this important type of genetic variation in biomedical research.

miRVAR - A DATABASE FOR GENOMIC VARIATIONS IN miRNAs

miRvar¹² (Bhartiya et al., 2011) is a comprehensive database for genomic variations in miRNAs. This database contains curated genetic variations in miRNA loci in the human genome. Particularly, the miRNA genetic variation data is made available on the Leiden Open (source) Variation Database (LOVD) platform to provide ease of aggregation and analysis. For each genetic variant in a particular miRNA, miRvar (Bhartiya et al., 2011) provides detailed information and links to other publicly available resources such as miRBase (Griffiths-Jones, 2004; Griffiths-Jones et al., 2006, 2008; Kozomara and Griffiths-Jones, 2011), miRecords (Xiao et al., 2009), UCSC Genome Browser (Kent et al., 2002). In addition, miRvar (Bhartiya et al., 2011) is open for community curation efforts.

CONCLUSION

Since the discovery of miRNAs a decade ago, significant progress has been made in identifying both miRNAs and their gene targets. A number of bioinformatic resources of miRNAs have emerged to accommodate the needs for the miRNA research community. Given the unique properties of these small ncRNA molecules, in addition to experimental approaches, the identification of miRNAs and their gene targets have substantially relied upon computational and systems biology approaches. The current bioinformatic resources of miRNAs have greatly facilitated

¹² http://genome.igib.res.in/mirlovd/

the research of miRNAs and their gene targets, as well as the integration of miRNAs into other "omics" (e.g., transcriptomics, proteomics, metabolomics) studies in elucidating the networks of complex phenotypes (e.g., gene expression, individual response to drugs) as well as the pathogenesis of human diseases. However, a big challenge facing these current bioinformatic resources is the integration of various resources, not only with the miRNA resources (e.g., the miRNA gene target prediction databases/approaches), but also with other relevant resources to facilitate the next stage of systems biomedicine research. For example, the integration of miRNA prediction databases with the PharmGKB¹³ (McDonagh et al., 2011), which provides the published genetic variants implicated in drug response, may help elucidate the role of the interactions between genetic and non-genetic factors (e.g., epigenetic factors including miRNAs) in determining individual drug response, thus facilitating the realization of personalized medical care.

The current knowledge of miRNA and their interactions with gene targets have been largely uncovered by experimental approaches, microarray-based studies, and computational algorithms. During the past several years, with the advancement of the next-generation sequencing technologies (e.g., the Illumina HiSeq Sequencing System, Roche 454 GS System; Mardis, 2008), it is now possible to perform RNA-sequencing to comprehensively catalog miRNAs in cells under various phenotypic contexts or disease statuses, thus enhancing our knowledge of the distribution, abundance and roles of miRNAs in real-time cellular environments. For example, deep sequencing platforms have revealed unexpected complexity in relation to miRNAs, including 5' and 3'-end-length heterogeneity and RNA editing (Vaz et al., 2012). Notably, the majority of the evidence supporting miRNA annotations are now coming from deep sequencing experiments, as recorded in the miRbase (Kozomara and Griffiths-Jones, 2011). Though analysis

¹³http://www.pharmgkb.org/

REFERENCES

- 1000 Genomes Consortium. (2010). A map of human genome variation from population-scale sequencing. *Nature* 467, 1061–1073.
- Ambros, V. (2001). microRNAs: tiny regulators with great potential. *Cell* 107, 823–826.
- Ambros, V., Bartel, B., Bartel, D. P., Burge, C. B., Carrington, J. C., Chen, X., Dreyfuss, G., Eddy, S. R., Griffiths-Jones, S., Marshall, M., Matzke, M., Ruvkun, G., and Tuschl, T. (2003). A uniform system for microRNA annotation. *RNA* 9, 277–279.
- Amin, N., Byrne, E., Johnson, J., Chenevix-Trench, G., Walter, S., Nolte, I. M., Vink, J. M., Rawal, R., Mangino, M., Teumer, A., Keers, J. C., Verwoert, G., Baumeister, S., Biffar, R., Petersmann, A., Dahmen, N., Doering, A., Isaacs, A., Broer, L., Wray, N. R., Montgomery, G. W., Levy, D., Psaty,

B. M., Gudnason, V., Chakravarti, A., Sulem, P., Gudbjartsson, D. F., Kiemeney, L. A., Thorsteinsdottir, U., Stefansson, K., Van Rooij, F. J., Aulchenko, Y. S., Hottenga, J. J., Rivadeneira, F. R., Hofman, A., Uitterlinden, A. G., Hammond, C. J., Shin, S. Y., Ikram, A., Witteman, J. C., Janssens, A. C., Snieder, H., Tiemeier, H., Wolfenbuttel, B. H., Oostra, B. A., Heath, A. C., Wichmann, E., Spector, T. D., Grabe, H. J., Boomsma, D. I., Martin, N. G., and Van Duijn, C. M. (2011). Genome-wide association analysis of coffee drinking suggests association with CYP1A1/CYP1A2 and NRCAM. Mol. Psychiatry, doi: 10.1038/mp.2011.101. [Epub ahead of print].

Ashburner, M., Ball, C. A., Blake, J. A., Botstein, D., Butler, H., Cherry, J. M., Davis, A. P., Dolinski, K., Dwight, S. S., Eppig, J. T., Harris, M. A., Hill, D. P., Issel-Tarver, L., Kasarskis, A., Lewis, S., Matese, J. C., Richardson, tools such as miRDeep (Friedlander et al., 2008) have facilitated the current miRNA-targeted sequencing studies (Dhahbi et al., 2011), however, challenges remain to be addressed for properly analyzing these data, particularly the difficulties in aligning short reads from RNA-sequencing projects to profile miRNAs in various cellular environments, as well as distinguishing true miRNAs from fragments of other transcripts (Kozomara and Griffiths-Jones, 2011). The availability of these large-scale sequencing data, therefore, underscores the importance of data analysis tools and bioinformatic resources that enable users to efficiently analyze the unprecedented amounts of RNA-sequencing data. Notably, bioinformatic tools such as deepBase¹⁴ (Yang et al., 2010) have begun to emerge with the ambitious attempt to provide a universal platform for mapping, storage, retrieval, analysis, integration, annotation, mining and visualization of next-generation sequencing data on small and long ncRNAs including miRNAs. In addition, new research resources such as the Sanger Institute mirKO (Prosser et al., 2011), a library of mouse embryonic stem cell clones with deletions for the "majority" of known miRNAs may prove to be invaluable for the rigorous investigation of miRNA function. Furthermore, data from sequencing efforts such as the 1000 Genomes Project (1000 Genomes Consortium, 2010) may greatly improve our understanding of miRSNPs and their potential contribution to complex phenotypes/traits. Given the fast-evolving technologies in the general biomedical research, future development of bioinformatic resources of miRNAs would need to address significant challenges that remain to be met for better integration and utilization of these tremendous resources for the benefit of the miRNA research community.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported, in part, by a grant from the NHGRI/NIH (R21HG006367).

- J. E., Ringwald, M., Rubin, G. M., and Sherlock, G. (2000). Gene ontology: tool for the unification of biology. The Gene Ontology Consortium. *Nat. Genet.* 25, 25–29.
- Bartel, D. P. (2004). MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. *Cell* 116, 281–297.
- Betel, D., Wilson, M., Gabow, A., Marks, D. S., and Sander, C. (2008). The microRNA.org resource: targets and expression. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 36, D149–D153.
- Bhartiya, D., Laddha, S. V., Mukhopadhyay, A., and Scaria, V. (2011). miRvar: a comprehensive database for genomic variations in microRNAs. *Hum. Mutat.* 32, E2226–E2245.
- Chen, K., and Rajewsky, N. (2006). Natural selection on human microRNA binding sites inferred from SNP data. *Nat. Genet.* 38, 1452–1456.
- Chen, K., Song, F., Calin, G. A., Wei, Q., Hao, X., and Zhang, W. (2008).

Polymorphisms in microRNA targets: a gold mine for molecular epidemiology. *Carcinogenesis* 29, 1306–1311.

- Cheung, V. G., Conlin, L. K., Weber, T. M., Arcaro, M., Jen, K. Y., Morley, M., and Spielman, R. S. (2003a). Natural variation in human gene expression assessed in lymphoblastoid cells. *Nat. Genet.* 33, 422–425.
- Cheung, V. G., Jen, K. Y., Weber, T., Morley, M., Devlin, J. L., Ewens, K. G., and Spielman, R. S. (2003b). Genetics of quantitative variation in human gene expression. *Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol.* 68, 403–407.
- Dhahbi, J. M., Atamna, H., Boffelli, D., Magis, W., Spindler, S. R., and Martin, D. I. (2011). Deep sequencing reveals novel microRNAs and regulation of microRNA expression during cell senescence. *PLoS ONE* 6, e20509. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0020509

¹⁴http://deepbase.sysu.edu.cn/

- Duan, S., Huang, R. S., Zhang, W., Bleibel, W. K., Roe, C. A., Clark, T. A., Chen, T. X., Schweitzer, A. C., Blume, J. E., Cox, N. J., and Dolan, M. E. (2008). Genetic architecture of transcript-level variation in humans. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 82, 1101–1113.
- Duan, S., Mi, S., Zhang, W., and Dolan, M. E. (2009). Comprehensive analysis of the impact of SNPs and CNVs on human microRNAs and their regulatory genes. *RNA Biol.* 6, 412–425.
- Eipper-Mains, J. E., Kiraly, D. D., Palakodeti, D., Mains, R. E., Eipper, B. A., and Graveley, B. R. (2011). microRNA-Seq reveals cocaineregulated expression of striatal microRNAs. RNA 17, 1529–1543.
- Enright, A. J., John, B., Gaul, U., Tuschl, T., Sander, C., and Marks, D. S. (2003). MicroRNA targets in Drosophila. Genome Biol. 5, R1.
- Esteller, M. (2011). Non-coding RNAs in human disease. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 12, 861–874.
- Friedlander, M. R., Chen, W., Adamidi, C., Maaskola, J., Einspanier, R., Knespel, S., and Rajewsky, N. (2008). Discovering microRNAs from deep sequencing data using miRDeep. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 26, 407–415.
- Friedman, R. C., Farh, K. K., Burge, C. B., and Bartel, D. P. (2009). Most mammalian mRNAs are conserved targets of microRNAs. *Genome Res.* 19, 92–105.
- Gamazon, E. R., Im, H. K., Duan, S., Lussier, Y. A., Cox, N. J., Dolan, M. E., and Zhang, W. (2010). Exprtarget: an integrative approach to predicting human microRNA targets. *PLoS ONE* 5, e13534. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0013534
- Garcia, D. M., Baek, D., Shin, C., Bell, G. W., Grimson, A., and Bartel, D. P. (2011). Weak seed-pairing stability and high target-site abundance decrease the proficiency of lsy-6 and other microRNAs. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 18, 1139–1146.
- Griffiths-Jones, S. (2004). The microRNA registry. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 32, D109–D111.
- Griffiths-Jones, S., Grocock, R. J., Van Dongen, S., Bateman, A., and Enright, A. J. (2006). miRBase: microRNA sequences, targets and gene nomenclature. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 34, D140–D144.
- Griffiths-Jones, S., Saini, H. K., Van Dongen, S., and Enright, A. J. (2008). miRBase: tools for microRNA genomics. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 36, D154–D158.
- Grimson, A., Farh, K. K., Johnston, W. K., Garrett-Engele, P., Lim, L. P., and

Bartel, D. P. (2007). MicroRNA targeting specificity in mammals: determinants beyond seed pairing. *Mol. Cell* 27, 91–105.

- Gruber, A. R., Lorenz, R., Bernhart, S. H., Neubock, R., and Hofacker, I. L. (2008). The Vienna RNA websuite. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 36, W70–W74.
- Grun, D., Wang, Y. L., Langenberger, D., Gunsalus, K. C., and Rajewsky, N. (2005). microRNA target predictions across seven *Drosophila* species and comparison to mammalian targets. *PLoS Comput. Biol.* 1, e13. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.0010013
- Guttman, M., Amit, I., Garber, M., French, C., Lin, M. F., Feldser, D., Huarte, M., Zuk, O., Carey, B. W., Cassady, J. P., Cabili, M. N., Jaenisch, R., Mikkelsen, T. S., Jacks, T., Hacohen, N., Bernstein, B. E., Kellis, M., Regev, A., Rinn, J. L., and Lander, E. S. (2009). Chromatin signature reveals over a thousand highly conserved large non-coding RNAs in mammals. *Nature* 458, 223–227.
- HapMap. (2003). The International HapMap Project. *Nature* 426, 789–796.
- HapMap. (2005). A haplotype map of the human genome. *Nature* 437, 1299–1320.
- Hartford, C. M., Duan, S., Delaney, S. M., Mi, S., Kistner, E. O., Lamba, J. K., Huang, R. S., and Dolan, M. E. (2009). Population-specific genetic variants important in susceptibility to cytarabine arabinoside cytotoxicity. *Blood* 113, 2145–2153.
- Hofacker, I. L. (2003). Vienna RNA secondary structure server. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 31, 3429–3431.
- Huang, R. S., Duan, S., Bleibel, W. K., Kistner, E. O., Zhang, W., Clark, T. A., Chen, T. X., Schweitzer, A. C., Blume, J. E., Cox, N. J., and Dolan, M. E. (2007a). A genome-wide approach to identify genetic variants that contribute to etoposide-induced cytotoxicity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 9758–9763.
- Huang, R. S., Duan, S., Shukla, S. J., Kistner, E. O., Clark, T. A., Chen, T. X., Schweitzer, A. C., Blume, J. E., and Dolan, M. E. (2007b). Identification of genetic variants contributing to cisplatin-induced cytotoxicity by use of a genomewide approach. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 81, 427–437.
- Huang, R. S., Duan, S., Kistner, E. O., Bleibel, W. K., Delaney, S. M., Fackenthal, D. L., Das, S., and Dolan, M. E. (2008a). Genetic variants contributing to daunorubicininduced cytotoxicity. *Cancer Res.* 68, 3161–3168.
- Huang, R. S., Duan, S., Kistner, E. O., Hartford, C. M., and Dolan, M. E.

(2008b). Genetic variants associated with carboplatin-induced cytotoxicity in cell lines derived from Africans. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* 7, 3038–3046.

- Huang, R. S., Gamazon, E. R., Ziliak, D., Wen, Y., Im, H. K., Zhang, W., Wing, C., Duan, S., Bleibel, W. K., Cox, N. J., and Dolan, M. E. (2011). Population differences in microRNA expression and biological implications. *RNA Biol.* 8, 692–701.
- Idaghdour, Y., Storey, J. D., Jadallah, S. J., and Gibson, G. (2008). A genome-wide gene expression signature of environmental geography in leukocytes of Moroccan Amazighs. *PLoS Genet.* 4, e1000052. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1000052
- John, B., Enright, A. J., Aravin, A., Tuschl, T., Sander, C., and Marks, D. S. (2004). Human microRNA targets. *PLoS Biol.* 2, e363. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0020363
- Kaikkonen, M. U., Lam, M. T., and Glass, C. K. (2011). Non-coding RNAs as regulators of gene expression and epigenetics. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 90, 430–440.
- Kent, W. J., Sugnet, C. W., Furey, T. S., Roskin, K. M., Pringle, T. H., Zahler, A. M., and Haussler, D. (2002). The human genome browser at UCSC. *Genome Res.* 12, 996–1006.
- Kozomara, A., and Griffiths-Jones, S. (2011). miRBase: integrating microRNA annotation and deepsequencing data. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39, D152–D157.
- Krek, A., Grun, D., Poy, M. N., Wolf, R., Rosenberg, L., Epstein, E. J., Macmenamin, P., Da Piedade, I., Gunsalus, K. C., Stoffel, M., and Rajewsky, N. (2005). Combinatorial microRNA target predictions. *Nat. Genet.* 37, 495–500.
- Lai, E. C., Wiel, C., and Rubin, G. M. (2004). Complementary miRNA pairs suggest a regulatory role for miRNA:miRNA duplexes. *RNA* 10, 171–175.
- Lall, S., Grun, D., Krek, A., Chen, K., Wang, Y. L., Dewey, C. N., Sood, P., Colombo, T., Bray, N., Macmenamin, P., Kao, H. L., Gunsalus, K. C., Pachter, L., Piano, F., and Rajewsky, N. (2006). A genome-wide map of conserved microRNA targets in *C. elegans. Curr. Biol.* 16, 460–471.
- Landgraf, P., Rusu, M., Sheridan, R., Sewer, A., Iovino, N., Aravin, A., Pfeffer, S., Rice, A., Kamphorst, A. O., Landthaler, M., Lin, C., Socci, N. D., Hermida, L., Fulci, V., Chiaretti, S., Foa, R., Schliwka, J., Fuchs, U., Novosel, A., Muller, R. U., Schermer, B., Bissels, U., Inman, J., Phan, Q., Chien, M., Weir, D. B., Choksi, R., De Vita, G., Frezzetti, D., Trompeter,

H. I., Hornung, V., Teng, G., Hartmann, G., Palkovits, M., Di Lauro, R., Wernet, P., Macino, G., Rogler, C. E., Nagle, J. W., Ju, J., Papavasiliou, F. N., Benzing, T., Lichter, P., Tam, W., Brownstein, M. J., Bosio, A., Borkhardt, A., Russo, J. J., Sander, C., Zavolan, M., and Tuschl, T. (2007). A mammalian microRNA expression atlas based on small RNA library sequencing. *Cell* 129, 1401–1414.

- Landi, D., Gemignani, F., Barale, R., and Landi, S. (2008). A catalog of polymorphisms falling in microRNAbinding regions of cancer genes. DNA Cell Biol. 27, 35–43.
- Lewis, B. P., Shih, I. H., Jones-Rhoades, M. W., Bartel, D. P., and Burge, C. B. (2003). Prediction of mammalian microRNA targets. *Cell* 115, 787–798.
- Lewohl, J. M., Nunez, Y. O., Dodd, P. R., Tiwari, G. R., Harris, R. A., and Mayfield, R. D. (2011). Up-regulation of MicroRNAs in brain of human alcoholics. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 35, 1928–1937.
- Mardis, E. R. (2008). Next-generation DNA sequencing methods. Annu. Rev. Genomics Hum. Genet. 9, 387–402.
- Maziere, P., and Enright, A. J. (2007). Prediction of microRNA targets. *Drug Discov. Today* 12, 452–458.
- McDonagh, E. M., Whirl-Carrillo, M., Garten, Y., Altman, R. B., and Klein, T. E. (2011). From pharmacogenomic knowledge acquisition to clinical applications: the PharmGKB as a clinical pharmacogenomic biomarker resource. *Biomark. Med.* 5, 795–806.
- Mishra, P. J., Humeniuk, R., Mishra, P. J., Longo-Sorbello, G. S., Banerjee, D., and Bertino, J. R. (2007). A miR-24 microRNA binding-site polymorphism in dihydrofolate reductase gene leads to methotrexate resistance. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 13513–13518.
- Papadopoulos, G. L., Reczko, M., Simossis, V. A., Sethupathy, P., and Hatzigeorgiou, A. G. (2009). The database of experimentally supported targets: a functional update of TarBase. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 37, D155–D158.
- Prosser, H. M., Koike-Yusa, H., Cooper, J. D., Law, F. C., and Bradley, A. (2011). A resource of vectors and ES cells for targeted deletion of microR-NAs in mice. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 29, 840–845.
- Rehmsmeier, M., Steffen, P., Hochsmann, M., and Giegerich, R. (2004). Fast and effective prediction of microRNA/target duplexes. *RNA* 10, 1507–1517.

- Sethupathy, P., Borel, C., Gagnebin, M., Grant, G. R., Deutsch, S., Elton, T. S., Hatzigeorgiou, A. G., and Antonarakis, S. E. (2007). Human microRNA-155 on chromosome 21 differentially interacts with its polymorphic target in the AGTR1 3' untranslated region: a mechanism for functional singlenucleotide polymorphisms related to phenotypes. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 81, 405–413.
- Spielman, R. S., Bastone, L. A., Burdick, J. T., Morley, M., Ewens, W. J., and Cheung, V. G. (2007). Common genetic variants account for differences in gene expression among ethnic groups. *Nat. Genet.* 39, 226–231.
- Stark, A., Brennecke, J., Bushati, N., Russell, R. B., and Cohen, S. M. (2005). Animal MicroRNAs confer robustness to gene expression and have a significant impact on 3'UTR evolution. *Cell* 123, 1133–1146.
- Storey, J. D., Madeoy, J., Strout, J. L., Wurfel, M., Ronald, J., and Akey, J. M. (2007). Gene-expression variation within and among human populations. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 80, 502–509.
- Stranger, B. E., Forrest, M. S., Clark, A. G., Minichiello, M. J., Deutsch, S., Lyle, R., Hunt, S., Kahl, B., Antonarakis, S. E., Tavare, S., Deloukas, P., and Dermitzakis, E. T. (2005). Genome-wide associations of gene expression variation in humans. *PLoS Genet.* 1, e78. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.0010078

- Stranger, B. E., Forrest, M. S., Dunning, M., Ingle, C. E., Beazley, C., Thorne, N., Redon, R., Bird, C. P., De Grassi, A., Lee, C., Tyler-Smith, C., Carter, N., Scherer, S. W., Tavare, S., Deloukas, P., Hurles, M. E., and Dermitzakis, E. T. (2007a). Relative impact of nucleotide and copy number variation on gene expression phenotypes. *Science* 315, 848–853.
- Stranger, B. E., Nica, A. C., Forrest, M. S., Dimas, A., Bird, C. P., Beazley, C., Ingle, C. E., Dunning, M., Flicek, P., Koller, D., Montgomery, S., Tavare, S., Deloukas, P., and Dermitzakis, E. T. (2007b). Population genomics of human gene expression. *Nat. Genet.* 39, 1217–1224.
- Taft, R. J., Pang, K. C., Mercer, T. R., Dinger, M., and Mattick, J. S. (2010). Non-coding RNAs: regulators of disease. *J. Pathol.* 220, 126–139.
- Vaz, C., Ahmad, H. M., Sharma, P., Gupta, R., Kumar, L., Kulshreshtha, R., and Bhattacharya, A. (2012). Analysis of microRNA transcriptome by deep sequencing of small RNA libraries of peripheral blood. *BMC Genomics* 11, 288. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-11-288
- Wang, X. (2008). miRDB: a microRNA target prediction and functional annotation database with a wiki interface. RNA 14, 1012–1017.
- Wang, X., and El Naqa, I. M. (2008). Prediction of both conserved and nonconserved microRNA targets in animals. *Bioinformatics* 24, 325–332.

- Xiao, F., Zuo, Z., Cai, G., Kang, S., Gao, X., and Li, T. (2009). miRecords: an integrated resource for microRNAtarget interactions. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 37, D105–D110.
- Yang, J. H., Shao, P., Zhou, H., Chen, Y. Q., and Qu, L. H. (2010). deepBase: a database for deeply annotating and mining deep sequencing data. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 38, D123–D130.
- Yu, Z., Li, Z., Jolicoeur, N., Zhang, L., Fortin, Y., Wang, E., Wu, M., and Shen, S. H. (2007). Aberrant allele frequencies of the SNPs located in microRNA target sites are potentially associated with human cancers. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 35, 4535–4541.
- Zhang, W., and Dolan, M. E. (2009). Use of cell lines in the investigation of pharmacogenetic loci. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 15, 3782–3795.
- Zhang, W., and Dolan, M. E. (2010). The emerging role of microRNAs in drug responses. *Curr. Opin. Mol. Ther.* 12, 695–702.
- Zhang, W., Duan, S., Bleibel, W. K., Wisel, S. A., Huang, R. S., Wu, X., He, L., Clark, T. A., Chen, T. X., Schweitzer, A. C., Blume, J. E., Dolan, M. E., and Cox, N. J. (2009). Identification of common genetic variants that account for transcript isoform variation between human populations. *Hum. Genet.* 125, 81–93.
- Zhang, W., Duan, S., Kistner, E. O., Bleibel, W. K., Huang, R. S., Clark, T. A., Chen, T. X., Schweitzer, A. C.,

Blume, J. E., Cox, N. J., and Dolan, M. E. (2008). Evaluation of genetic variation contributing to differences in gene expression between populations. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 82, 631–640.

Zhou, T., Garcia, J. G., and Zhang, W. (2011). Integrating microRNAs into a system biology approach to acute lung injury. *Transl. Res.* 157, 180–190.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 15 January 2012; paper pending published: 02 February 2012; accepted: 20 February 2012; published online: 05 March 2012.

Citation: Mu W and Zhang W (2012) Bioinformatic resources of microRNA sequences, gene targets, and genetic variation. Front. Gene. **3**:31. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00031

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Non-Coding RNA, a specialty of Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2012 Mu and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.

REVIEW ARTICLE published: 22 June 2012 doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00106



Gregory C. Sartor¹, Georges St. Laurent III^{2,3} and Claes Wahlestedt¹*

¹ Hussman Institute for Human Genomics, University of Miami Miller School of Medicine, Miami, FL, USA

² St. Laurent Institute, Cambridge, MA, USA

³ Immunovirology – Biogenisis Group, University of Antioquia, Medellin, Colombia

Edited by:

Leonard Lipovich, Wayne State University, USA

Reviewed by:

Hongyan Xu, Georgia Health Sciences University, USA Melanie Carless, Texas Biomedical Research Institute, USA

*Correspondence:

Claes Wahlestedt, Hussman Institute for Human Genomics, University of Miami Miller School of Medicine, 1501 Northwest 10th Avenue BRB 407, Miami, FL 33136, USA. e-mail: cwahlestedt@med.miami.edu Prolonged drug use causes long-lasting neuroadaptations in reward-related brain areas that contribute to addiction. Despite significant amount of research dedicated to understanding the underlying mechanisms of addiction, the molecular underpinnings remain unclear. At the same time, much of the pervasive transcription that encompasses the human genome occurs in the nervous system and contributes to its heterogeneity and complexity. Recent evidence suggests that non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs) play an important and dynamic role in transcriptional regulation, epigenetic signaling, stress response, and plasticity in the nervous system. Dysregulation of ncRNAs are thought to contribute to many, and perhaps all, neurological disorders, including addiction. Here, we review recent insights in the functional relevance of ncRNAs, including both microRNAs (miRNAs), and long non-coding RNAs, and then illustrate specific examples of ncRNA regulation in the context of drug addiction. We conclude that ncRNAs are importantly involved in the persistent neuroadaptations associated with addiction-related behaviors, and that therapies that target specific ncRNAs may represent new avenues for the treatment of drug addiction.

Keywords: addiction, long non-coding RNA, microRNA, epigenetic, IncRNA, miRNA

INTRODUCTION

Evolutionary processes in the human lineage have coupled expanding genome complexity with the acquisition, processing, and distribution of ever increasing amounts of information (Sempere et al., 2006; Mattick, 2007; Berezikov, 2011). Non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs) occupy the center stage of this expanding genome complexity, with the ratio of non-coding genomic sequence to protein coding sequence growing more than 10-fold as primates evolved from simple multicellular organisms (Taft et al., 2007). ncRNAs occupy critical nodes and edges in a majority of physiological networks, frequently participating in feedback loops, stability, and fined-tuned regulatory control. The unique information processing features of ncRNAs permit them to transduce information through heterogeneous molecular machineries with relatively less energy cost than protein networks alone, making them particularly useful in the limited and thermally constrained real estate of the human central nervous system.

In light of these observations, it is not surprising that nonexonic transcripts (those mapping to regions of the genome outside annotated protein coding genes) comprise 2/3 of the total, non-ribosomal, non-mitochondrial RNA in the human brain (Kapranov et al., 2010). Highly articulated nervous system expression of miRNAs (Lagos-Quintana et al., 2002; Schratt et al., 2006; Makeyev et al., 2007) and long non-coding RNAs (lncRNAs; Mercer et al., 2008; Ponjavic et al., 2009) point to the involvement of ncRNAs in key aspects of nervous system homeostasis and plasticity. The ability of addictive stimuli to perturb and disrupt these functions suggests a broad based involvement of ncRNAs in the loss of functional coherence associated with chronic drug use (Chandrasekar and Dreyer, 2009; Hollander et al., 2010). In this review, we consider the participation of ncRNAs in the key nervous system molecular machineries affected by addiction, and the potential mechanisms of their involvement in the dimensions of this complex disorder.

INVOLVEMENT OF ncRNAs IN NEUROPLASTICITY AND LEARNING

Emerging evidence suggests that miRNAs and their processing machinery play a critical role in neuroplasticity by regulating protein dynamics in the synapse (Edbauer et al., 2010; Lippi et al., 2011; Siegel et al., 2011; Saba et al., 2012). Given that addiction is considered a maladaptive form of neuroplasticity, identifying miRNAs important in such neuroadaptations may lead to novel insights in addiction research. Demonstrating a role for miR-NAs in neuroplasticity, Schratt et al. (2006) showed that miR-134 expression in the dendrites of developing hippocampal neurons is critically involved in dendritic spine formation and plasticity by inhibiting Lim domain-containing protein kinase 1, an important regulator of actin filament dynamics. Following this seminal report, other studies revealed that miR-138, miR-132, and miR-125b play an essential role in dendritic spine formation (Siegel et al., 2009; Edbauer et al., 2010). The role of miRNAs in synapse are not restricted to the those listed above, as recent reports have identified numerous dendritic- and synaptic-enriched miRNAs (Lugli et al., 2008; Eipper-Mains et al., 2011; Saba et al., 2012). Although most of the research thus far has focused on miRNAs, there is some evidence that suggests lncRNAs are also involved in synaptic plasticity. For instance, BC1 and BC200 are lncRNAs that are localized in post-synaptic dendritic compartments where they regulate local gene expression by controlling the activity of specific transcription factors (Lin et al., 2008). Other lncRNAs are

also localized in the synapse and neurite extensions (French et al., 2001; Mercer et al., 2008), but their functional role in plasticity remains poorly understood.

In neurons, activity-dependent regulation of miRNAs also contributes extensively to neuroplasticity. Using the marine snail Aplysia, Rajasethupathy et al. (2009) demonstrated that serotonininduced activation of sensory neurons caused a significant decrease in miR-124, leading to increased cAMP response elementbinding (CREB) expression and induction of long-term facilitation. Knockdown of miR-124 also robustly increased serotonininduced synaptic plasticity and CREB expression, revealing a functional association between miR-124 activity and CREB expression. Additional in vivo studies have demonstrated activity-dependent up regulation of miR-132 and miR-212 following induction of LTP in hippocampal neurons, an increase that was dependent on metabotropic glutamate receptor activation (Wibrand et al., 2010). Consistent with the role of miR-132 in neuronal activation, enhanced expression of miR-132 was observed in a number of behavioral paradigms, such as contextual fear conditioning, odorant exposure, and acute cocaine treatment (Nudelman et al., 2010). In addition, over expressing miR-132 enhances neuronal activity in cortical and hippocampal neurons (Cheng et al., 2007), possibly through miR-132-mediated inhibition of p250GAP, a protein associated with dendritic plasticity (Wayman et al., 2008).

The ability of ncRNAs to regulate transcription factors and chromatin remodeling proteins represent additional mechanisms to influence long-term neuroadaptations involved in memory formation. For example, miR-324 and miR-369, two miRNAs implicated in cocaine-induced neuroplasticity (Schaefer et al., 2010), have been shown to modulate transcription factors (MEF2 and FosB) important in reward-related learning and memory (Hiroi et al., 1997; Pulipparacharuvil et al., 2008). Additionally, miR-132 regulation of chromatin remodeling factors methyl CpG binding protein 2 (MeCP2), p300, and Jumonji and ARID domain protein 1 A (JARID1A) in the suprachiasmatic nucleus is important in neuroadaptations associated with circadian rhythm (Alvarez-Saavedra et al., 2011). Although no study to date has examined lncRNAs in learning and memory paradigms, lncRNAs could potentially be involved in long-term neuroadaptations, as they have been shown to regulate transcriptional factors, DNA methylation, and histone modifications (Rinn et al., 2007; Houseley et al., 2008; Yu et al., 2008; Khalil et al., 2009).

The studies reviewed above clearly show the importance of miRNAs (and potentially lncRNAs) in synaptic plasticity and learning and memory. However, many questions remain for future studies to better understand the role of ncRNAs in neuroplasticity. For example, the relationship between ncRNA-mediated plasticity and psychiatric disorders, such as addiction, has raised a number of intriguing questions: Are the same ncRNAs that are involved in plasticity also involved in addiction, or are other addiction-related ncRNAs involved, whose functions have yet to be determined? What are the specific targets of ncRNAs and how do these interactions contribute to the neuroadaptations associated with addiction? These are just a few questions that are currently being addressed to understand the complex relationship between ncRNA-mediated plasticity and addiction.

EMERGING ROLE FOR miRNAs IN ADDICTION

Drugs of abuse induce persistent changes in neuroplasticity by usurping gene regulatory mechanisms, in turn leading to addiction. Given the role of miRNAs in gene regulation and synaptic plasticity, recent studies have begun to examine the involvement of miRNAs in response to drugs of abuse (**Table 1**). Here, we highlight some of the recent findings that illustrate the importance of miR-NAs in drug-induced synaptic plasticity, drug-seeking behaviors, and tolerance to several abused drugs.

COCAINE AND AMPHETAMINE

To investigate the role of miRNAs in cocaine addiction, Chandrasekar and Dreyer (2009) utilized in silico prediction models to identify miRNAs that potentially regulate cocaine-associated genes and discovered a strong prediction for miR-124, let-7d, and miR-181a. Further in vivo studies showed that expression of miR-181a is increased and miR-124 and let-7d are decreased in striatum of rats with a history of chronic cocaine exposure. Subsequent behavioral studies revealed that over expression of miR-124 and let-7d in the nucleus accumbens reduced cocaine conditioned place preference (CPP), whereas over expression of miR-181a enhanced cocaine preference (Chandrasekar and Dreyer, 2011). These effects on cocaine CPP were inversed when expression of the aforementioned miRNAs were inhibited. Interestingly, it was found that altering expression of these miRNAs in the nucleus accumbens modulated the expression of many addiction-related genes (Chandrasekar and Dreyer, 2009). For example, overexpression of miR-124 and let-7d increased dopamine transporter, whereas miR-181a over expression decreased it. Because the dopamine transporter is the primary target of cocaine and is importantly involved in cocaine CPP (Tilley et al., 2009), the observed behavioral changes are likely reflected, in part, by miRNA-regulation of the dopamine transporter. Notably, the expression of several other addictionrelated genes, such as Brain-derived neurotrophic (BDNF), CREB, MeCP2, and Δ FosB were also regulated by these miRNAs, thus illustrating the widespread effects on addiction-related gene networks in response to changes in miRNA levels.

Using an extended access model of cocaine self-administration, Hollander et al. (2010) examined the role of miRNAs in regulating compulsive-like cocaine intake. In this study, dorsal striatal miR-212 levels were found to be significantly elevated in rats with a history of extended access to cocaine, but not in rats with short-access to cocaine or in rats receiving non-contingent cocaine exposure (voked control). Further investigation showed that over expression or knockdown of miR-212 in the dorsal striatum decreased or enhanced cocaine self-administration under extended access conditions, respectively, suggesting that striatal miR-212 is involved in an adaptive response to inhibit escalation of cocaine intake. Reduced motivation to consume cocaine was attributed in part by miR-212-mediated upregulation of CREB, a known antagonistic regulator of cocaine reward (Carlezon et al., 1998). Subsequent studies from the same laboratory revealed that MeCP2 regulates cocaine intake via a homeostatic interaction with miR-212 to influence cocaine-mediated effects on striatal BDNF (Im et al., 2010). By revealing an important miRNA-mediated epigenetic mechanism involved in drug-seeking behaviors, this study raises a number of interesting possibilities because epigenetic

Table 1 | ncRNAs regulated by drugs of abuse (green = upregulation, red = downregulation).

Drug	ncRNAs	Mechanism(s) involved	Reference
miRNAs			
Cocaine	miR-212	Elevated following extended access to cocaine; targets CREB; interaction with MeCP2 and influences BDNF expression	Hollander et al. (2010), Im et al. (2010)
	mi <mark>R-124, let-7d</mark> , miR-181a	Targets BDNF, DAT, CREB, mGluR5, FosB; involved in cocaine CPP	Chandrasekar and Dreyer (2009, 2011
	miR-181a	Enriched in NAc synapse, regulates GluA2 expression	Saba et al. (2012)
	Ago2	Ago2 knockout in striatal D2R neurons reduces cocaine self-administration.	Schaefer et al. (2010)
	miR-8, miR-7, miR-142, and let-7 families	Upregulated in striatal PSD	Eipper-Mains et al. (2011)
	miR-200c, miR125a-5p, miR-429, miR-370, miR-183, miR-200b, miR-770-5p, miR200a	Downregulated in striatal PSD	Eipper-Mains et al. (2011)
Nicotine	miR-140	Regulates dynamin-1 expression	Huang and Li (2009b)
	miR-504	Regulates DRD1 expression	Huang and Li (2009a)
		Upregulated in hippocampus	Lippi et al. (2011)
Alcohol	miR-9	Downregulates BK channels	Pietrzykowski et al. (2008)
	miR-497, miR-302b	Involved in ethanol-induced neuronal death; targets BCL2 and cyclin D2	Yadav et al. (2011)
Opioids	miR-23b	Regulates mOR expression	Wu et al. (2009)
	let-7	Regulates mOR expression	He et al. (2010)
	miR-190	Downregulated by mOR activation via ERK signaling; targets NeuroD	Zheng et al. (2010)
	miR-133b	Morphine-induced downregulation causes enhanced Pitx3 expression	Sanchez-Simon et al. (2010)
IncRNAs			
Heroin	MIAT, MEG3, NEAT1, NEAT2	Upregulated in NAc of heroin abusers Michelhaugh et al. (2011)	
Cocaine	MIAT, MEG3, NEAT2, EMX2O	Upregulated in NAc of cocaine abusers	Michelhaugh et al. (2011)

BCL2, B-cell lymphoma 2; BDNF, brain-derived neurotrophic factor; CREB, cAMP response element-binding; CPP, conditioned place preference; DAT, dopamine transporter; DRD1, Dopamine receptor D1; D2R, dopamine receptor D2; ERK, Extracellular signal-regulated kinase; FosB, FBJ murine osteosarcoma viral oncogene homolog B; mGluR5, Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5; mOR, mu opioid receptor; NAc, nucleus accumbens; Pitx3, Pituitary homeobox 3; PSD, post-synaptic density.

factors associated with addiction have recently been the focus of intense investigation (Robison and Nestler, 2011).

Recent studies have examined synaptic expression of miRNAs in response to cocaine. By isolating striatal post-synaptic densities (PSD), Eipper-Mains et al. (2011) identified more than two dozen miRNAs that were significantly altered following chronic cocaine treatment. Interestingly, many of the PSD miRNAs affected by cocaine were found to be members of one of four families (miR-8, miR-7, miR-142, and let-7 families), suggesting that cocaine influences the expression of similar miRNAs with shared synaptic targets. In a similar study, Saba et al. (2012) utilized microarray screening to identify nine enriched and seven depleted miRNAs in the synaptodendritic compartment of the nucleus accumbens. They also revealed that miR-181a, one of the synaptically enriched miRNAs, is increased in reward-related brain regions following cocaine and amphetamine exposure, and miR-181a regulates synaptic plasticity by altering AMPA receptor subunit (GluA2) expression (Saba et al., 2012). Additional reports examining the role of miRNAs in drug-induced synaptic plasticity determined that miR-29a/b was significantly upregulated in addiction-related brain regions in mice with a history of cocaine or amphetamine exposure and plays an pivotal role in synaptic structure and function *in vitro* (Lippi et al., 2011).

Enzymes that regulate miRNA processing also appear to play a functional role in cocaine addiction. A study by Schaefer et al. (2010) revealed that knockout of argonaute 2 (Ago2, a protein important in miRNA processing) in accumbal dopamine 2 receptor expressing neurons significantly attenuated cocaine self-administration. Further investigation revealed that Ago2 regulates expression of numerous miRNAs in the striatum, and many of the Ago2-dependent miRNAs were predicted to target genes important in cocaine addiction. Consistent with the role of Ago2 in cocaine addiction, Eipper-Mains et al. (2011) showed that chronic cocaine exposure elevates Ago2 expression in the striatum. Dicer,

an enzyme responsible for producing mature miRNAs, may also be necessary in cocaine addiction, as previous studies have shown that manipulation of this enzyme affects learning and memory (Konopka et al., 2010) and miRNA expression in striatum (Cuellar et al., 2008).

NICOTINE

Utilizing miRNA microarray approach, Huang and Li identified 25 miRNAs that were altered in PC12 cells following nicotine exposure. They also found that miR-140 binds and reduces expression of dynamin-1 (Huang and Li, 2009b), a GTPase that has previously been shown to be important in nicotine dependence (Hwang and Li, 2006). The same research group showed that miR-504 targets a specific dopamine receptor D1 gene containing a single nucleotide polymorphism that has been associated with nicotine dependence (Huang and Li, 2009a). Interestingly, by increasing D1 receptor expression, miR-504 may promote nicotine intake by enhancing dopamine signaling. Finally, chronic injections of nicotine increased several miRNAs in mouse hippocampus, prefrontal cortex, limbic forebrain, and midbrain (Lippi et al., 2011), indicating that nicotine has broad effects on miRNA expression in several addiction-related brain areas, though the implications are not yet clear.

ALCOHOL

In a seminal set of studies, Pietrzykowski et al. (2008) revealed that alcohol upregulates miR-9 in rat striatum and supraoptic nucleus, two regions important in alcohol tolerance. The increase in miR-9 was found to contribute to alcohol tolerance by preferentially targeting BK channel mRNA isoforms that are sensitive to alcohol. BK channels, large conductance calcium, and voltage-activated potassium channels, are important in neuronal excitability, firing frequency, and neurotransmitter release and have been one of the best described targets for alcohol tolerance (for review see Treistman and Martin, 2009). Thus, miR-9-induced destabilization of alcohol sensitive BK channels likely contributes to alcohol tolerance and addiction by promoting the expression of more tolerant BK channel isoforms. Interestingly, the role of miR-9 in alcohol dependence may not be limited to tolerance, as miR-9 was also found to target other genes that have been implicated in addiction, such as dopamine receptor D2 and histone deacetylase 5 (Pietrzykowski et al., 2008).

Other alcohol-related studies have identified miRNAs involved in ethanol dependence. Guo et al. reported differential miRNA expression patterns following chronic ethanol exposure and ethanol removal in primary cortical neuron cultures. These results may indicate that different stages of alcohol addiction (maintenance, withdrawal, etc.) have distinct miRNA expression profiles (Guo et al., 2011), information that could be important for the development of new therapeutics to treat alcohol addiction. In another study, miR-497 and miR-302b were found to be involved in ethanol-induced neuronal cell death following chronic ethanol exposure, thereby providing a possible link between miRNAs and neuronal loss associated with chronic alcohol abuse (Yadav et al., 2011). In addition, recent studies using human post-mortem tissue, revealed that 35 miRNAs were significantly upregulated in the prefrontal cortex in alcoholics (Lewohl et al., 2011), again suggesting that chronic alcohol has widespread affects on miRNA expression reward-related brain areas. The development of artificial miRNAs may be a novel approach to treating alcoholism and other forms of addiction, as one recent study showed that targeting neurokinin-1 receptor gene with an artificial miRNA significantly reduced alcohol consumption in mice (Baek et al., 2010).

OPIOIDS

Similar to alcohol, specific miRNAs have been implicated in opioid tolerance and addiction. miRNAs, let-7, and miR-23b suppress mu opioid receptor mRNA expression following long-term morphine treatment (Wu et al., 2009; He et al., 2010), demonstrating a new mechanism that might play an important role in morphine tolerance. In addition, the mu opioid receptor agonist, fentanyl, but not morphine, downregulates miR-190 expression via extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) signaling (Zheng et al., 2010), indicating that specific mu opioid receptor agonists have differential influence on miRNA expression.

SUMMARY

The studies highlighted in this section illustrate a wide range of miRNA-mediated mechanisms involved in addiction. With their ability to regulate addiction-related gene networks, drug-induced plasticity, drug-seeking behaviors, and drug tolerance, miRNAs are ideal therapeutic targets for the treatment of addiction. However, much more research in this nascent field is needed to reveal miRNA targets and mechanisms that contribute importantly to the addicted state. Thus, it seems clear that future studies will reveal ever more complex and intriguing properties of these key ncRNAs in addiction.

POTENTIAL ROLE FOR LONG NON-CODING RNAs IN ADDICTION

Recent large-scale genomic studies have revealed that lncRNAs are one of the most abundant classes of ncRNAs (Jia et al., 2010; Kapranov et al., 2010). Additionally, lncRNAs have been implicated in a number of important cellular processes including gene transcription, RNA processing, and chromatin modifications (Wang and Chang, 2011). Although lncRNAs are highly expressed in the brain (Mercer et al., 2008; Belgard et al., 2011), they remain poorly characterized in this context and their role in addiction is unclear. In an attempt to determine whether lncRNAs are differently expressed in response to chronic drug use, a recent study by Michelhaugh et al. (2011) identified lncRNAs that were altered in heroin abusers by mining existing Affymetrix datasets. Of the 23 lncRNAs identified, MIAT, MEG3, NEAT1, and NEAT2 were upregulated in the nucleus accumbens of heroin abusers compared to control subjects. Preliminary reports from the same research group also found that NEAT2, MIAT, MEG3, and EMX2OS are elevated in the nucleus accumbens of cocaine abusers (Michelhaugh et al., 2011), suggesting similar aberrations in lncRNA expression in response to different drugs of abuse. The lncRNAs listed above have been implicated in a range of cellular processes including cAMP signaling (Zhao et al., 2006), GABA neuron neurogenesis (Mercer et al., 2010), and regulation of genes associated with synaptic plasticity (Bernard et al., 2010), but the functional role of these lncRNAs in addiction remains unknown. Although these initial findings are

intriguing, only a small number of lncRNAs were examined, suggesting the need for more comprehensive analysis of transcriptome changes during these critical events, with emphasis on specific cell types and locus specific complexity of lncRNA expression during these changes.

Natural antisense transcripts (NATs), a subset of lncRNAs, are transcripts derived from the opposite strand of many protein coding (sense) genes. NATs bind to sense RNA and/or proteins to regulate transcription and translation. Recently, we demonstrated that BDNF, a gene known to be involved in addiction, is controlled by a conserved long non-coding antisense RNA transcript (BDNF-AS; Modarresi et al., 2012). BDNF-AS suppresses BDNF mRNA expression by altering chromatin structure at the BDNF gene locus. Inhibiting BDNF-AS by siRNA or other methods robustly increased BDNF mRNA and protein expression and enhanced neuronal outgrowth. Given the important role of BDNF in cocaine addiction (for review see Ghitza et al., 2010), it would be interesting to determine if BDNF-AS is dysregulated in response to chronic drug use and contributes to drug-seeking behaviors. Other addiction-related NATs have also been identified (Zhang et al., 2007), but their role in addiction-related neuroadaptations and behaviors merits further research.

Although initial studies have identified a potential involvement of lncRNAs in addiction, many additional questions remain – whether specific lncRNAs are necessary for drug-seeking behaviors, whether different drugs of abuse affect different lncRNAs, whether specific lncRNAs are preferentially expressed in rewardrelated brain areas, and whether differences across species exist (mice vs. rats vs. humans). Thus, a major research goal is to address these important unanswered questions in order to understand the underlying mechanisms of abused drugs and to identify useful targets for the treatment of addiction.

EPIGENETIC-ncRNA INTERACTIONS: POTENTIAL INVOLVEMENT IN DRUG-INDUCED NEUROADAPTATIONS

The epigenome consists of DNA methylation and several modifications (acetylation, methylation, phosphorylation, etc.) to specific amino acid residues on histone proteins. Chromatinmodifying complexes play an important role in transcriptional regulation by adding or removing covalent modifications to histone proteins. Several key chromatin-modifying proteins have recently been implicated in neuroadaptations associated with addiction. For example, specific enzymes responsible for histone acetylation, methylation, and DNA methylation in reward-related brain areas are critically involved in cocaine addiction (LaPlant et al., 2010; Maze et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2010). However, it has been largely unclear how these proteins target specific regions of the genome, given that the majority of chromatin-modifying proteins lack DNA binding capacity.

Increasing evidence now indicates that chromatin-modifying complexes are directed to their sites of action by lncRNAs. Therefore, it is possible that lncRNAs play an important role in addiction by regulating epigenetic processes. Although no study has examined lncRNA-mediated epigenetic mechanisms in the context of addiction, we speculate that such interactions are important (**Figure 1**), given that several addiction-related epigenetic factors associate with lncRNAs in tissues outside of the brain



(Khalil et al., 2009). For example, in the placenta, lncRNAs Air, and Kcnq1ot1 regulate histone methylation by interacting with the histone methyltransferase G9a (Nagano et al., 2008; Pandey et al., 2008), an epigenetic enzyme that is downregulated in the accumbens following chronic cocaine exposure and is important in cocaine-related behaviors (Maze et al., 2010). Additionally, IncRNA-mediated regulation of histone acetylation, methylation, or DNA methylation, key modifications important in cocaine addiction (for review see, Maze and Nestler, 2011), have also been reported (Rinn et al., 2007; Houseley et al., 2008; Yu et al., 2008; Yap et al., 2010). Interestingly, not only can lncRNAs influence the activity of chromatin-modifying complexes, but evidence now indicates that alterations in epigenetic processes can alter the expression of lncRNAs (Johnson et al., 2009). Whether these specific interactions are important in the brain during drug-seeking behaviors, however, remains to be investigated.

MicroRNAs also interact with epigenetic factors important in addiction. As previously described, Im et al. (2010) found that miR-212 influences cocaine seeking by inhibiting MeCP2 in the dorsal striatum. Other epigenetic enzymes that have been implicated in addiction, such as DNA methyltransferase 3A, histone deacetylases 4, and sirtuin 1, are also regulated by specific miRNAs (Chen et al., 2006; Fabbri et al., 2007; Gao et al., 2010), but the significance of these associations in addiction-related behaviors is unknown.

Although the full spectrum of ncRNA-epigenetic associations in the CNS has yet to be seen, these interactions appear to play an essential role in fine-tuning gene expression and proper brain functioning. In drug addiction, it is possible that chronic drug use leads to long-lasting aberrations in ncRNA-mediated epigenetic mechanisms that lead to persistent drug-seeking behaviors. However, additional research is needed to determine the molecular underpinnings involved in ncRNA-epigenetic interactions in the brain and if these interactions contribute importantly to the addicted state.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Although a growing number of reports have implicated miRNAs in addiction-related neuroadaptations, future studies are needed to determine if lncRNAs also play a critical role in drug-seeking behaviors. Given that lncRNAs are the most abundant ncRNA in the brain and critically involved in an array of cellular processes, identifying specific lncRNAs that are regulated by drugs of abuse is likely to be a valuable approach for revealing the underlying mechanisms of addiction. With the recent development of new technologies, such as capture hybridization analysis of RNA targets (CHART) and Chromatin Isolation by RNA Purification (ChIRP; Chu et al., 2011; Simon et al., 2011), it is now possible to identify novel lncRNA-DNA or lncRNA-protein interactions involved in addiction, and future studies using these techniques will determine if these interactions are altered following prolonged drug use. In addition, as recent studies indicate that lncRNAs are differentially expressed in certain brain regions (Mercer et al., 2008; Belgard et al., 2011), identifying preferential expression of specific IncRNAs in reward-related brain areas might lead to new targets for the treatment of addiction. Finally, new therapeutic strategies and delivery approaches that target RNAs are now being explored (Bitko and Barik, 2007; Wood et al., 2007; Hung et al., 2011). Thus, using these new techniques to target ncRNAs holds great potential for treating several psychiatric disorders, including addiction.

CONCLUSION

Studies over the last several years have established a broad functional context for ncRNAs in the computational matrix of the nervous system. At the cellular level, nervous system signaling networks involve small RNAs at the synapse, where they regulate activity-dependent mRNA translation, and in turn, learning and memory-related plasticity. At the same time, in the nucleus, long RNAs function to provide temporal and spatial information to an array of epigenetic signaling systems. Chronic drug use likely perturbs these networks during the process of addiction in ways

REFERENCES

- Alvarez-Saavedra, M., Antoun, G., Yanagiya, A., Oliva-Hernandez, R., Cornejo-Palma, D., Perez-Iratxeta, C., Sonenberg, N., and Cheng, H. Y. (2011). miRNA-132 orchestrates chromatin remodeling and translational control of the circadian clock. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 20, 731–751.
- Baek, M. N., Jung, K. H., Halder, D., Choi, M. R., Lee, B. H., Lee, B. C., Jung, M. H., Choi, I. G., Chung, M. K., Oh, D. Y., and Chai, Y. G. (2010). Artificial microRNA-based neurokinin-1 receptor gene silencing reduces alcohol consumption in mice. *Neurosci. Lett.* 475, 124–128.
- Belgard, T. G., Marques, A. C., Oliver, P. L., Abaan, H. O., Sirey, T. M., Hoerder-Suabedissen, A., Garcia-Moreno, F., Molnar, Z., Margulies, E. H., and Ponting, C. P. (2011). A transcriptomic atlas of mouse neocortical layers. *Neuron* 71, 605–616.

- Berezikov, E. (2011). Evolution of microRNA diversity and regulation in animals. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 12, 846–860.
- Bernard, D., Prasanth, K. V., Tripathi, V., Colasse, S., Nakamura, T., Xuan, Z., Zhang, M. Q., Sedel, F., Jourdren, L., Coulpier, F., Triller, A., Spector, D. L., and Bessis, A. (2010). A long nuclear-retained non-coding RNA regulates synaptogenesis by modulating gene expression. *EMBO J.* 29, 3082–3093
- Bitko, V., and Barik, S. (2007). Intranasal antisense therapy: preclinical models with a clinical future? *Curr. Opin. Mol. Ther.* 9, 119–125.
- Carlezon, W. A. Jr., Thome, J., Olson, V. G., Lane-Ladd, S. B., Brodkin, E. S., Hiroi, N., Duman, R. S., Neve, R. L., and Nestler, E. J. (1998). Regulation of cocaine reward by CREB. *Science* 282, 2272–2275.

that cause a loss of plasticity and in turn establish barriers to the return to homeostasis.

Yet, the complexity of the nervous system suggests that additional layers of ncRNA-mediated events likely occur during the process of addiction. For example, recent evidence suggests that lncRNAs can serve as decoys or storage locations for small RNAs (Tay et al., 2011), in effect competing with targets for the occupancy of effector small RNAs and modulating their downstream effects (Salmena et al., 2011). In neurons this process could function together with anterograde and retrograde transport of RNA– protein vesicles, providing the potential for a link between small RNA mediated translational control at the synapse, and lncRNAmediated chromatin signaling in the nucleus. Stresses such as repeated increases in intracellular Ca⁺⁺ levels could reduce the performance of vesicle trafficking and lead to the progressive decoupling of such ncRNA-mediated systems relatively early in the process of addictive maladaptations.

Non-coding RNAs may also play a role in signaling between cells. Circulating exosomes and microvesicles contain many RNA species, and have the ability to traffic these RNAs from one cell type to another (Smalheiser, 2007; Dinger et al., 2008), even supporting the metastatic environment of the soma in some types of cancer. While not yet documented in the context of the nervous system, vesicle based transfer of ncRNAs could offer an additional dimension of intercellular communication in the nervous system. Such vesicles could mediate signaling between neurons and glia, for example, in response to impending cytotoxicity or other stress events. Thus, the versatility of ncRNA-based information processing provides many still unexplored avenues for function in the nervous system and involvement in the stress responses that lead to addictive maladaptations.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Preparation of this review was supported by NIH grants R01 MH083733 and R01 NS063974.

- Chandrasekar, V., and Dreyer, J. L. (2009). microRNAs miR-124, let-7d and miR-181a regulate cocaineinduced plasticity. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 42, 350–362.
- Chandrasekar, V., and Dreyer, J. L. (2011). Regulation of MiR-124, Let-7d, and MiR-181a in the accumbens affects the expression, extinction, and reinstatement of cocaineinduced conditioned place preference. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 36, 1149–1164.
- Chen, J. F., Mandel, E. M., Thomson, J. M., Wu, Q., Callis, T. E., Hammond, S. M., Conlon, F. L., and Wang, D. Z. (2006). The role of microRNA-1 and microRNA-133 in skeletal muscle proliferation and differentiation. *Nat. Genet.* 38, 228–233.
- Cheng, H. Y., Papp, J. W., Varlamova, O., Dziema, H., Russell, B., Curfman, J. P., Nakazawa, T., Shimizu, K.,

Okamura, H., Impey, S., and Obrietan, K. (2007). microRNA modulation of circadian-clock period and entrainment. *Neuron* 54, 813–829.

- Chu, C., Qu, K., Zhong, F. L., Artandi, S. E., and Chang, H. Y. (2011). Genomic maps of long noncoding RNA occupancy reveal principles of RNA-chromatin interactions. *Mol. Cell* 44, 667–678.
- Cuellar, T. L., Davis, T. H., Nelson, P. T., Loeb, G. B., Harfe, B. D., Ullian, E., and McManus, M. T. (2008). Dicer loss in striatal neurons produces behavioral and neuroanatomical phenotypes in the absence of neurodegeneration. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 5614–5619.
- Dinger, M. E., Mercer, T. R., and Mattick, J. S. (2008). RNAs as extracellular signaling molecules. J. Mol. Endocrinol. 40, 151–159.

- Edbauer, D., Neilson, J. R., Foster, K. A., Wang, C. F., Seeburg, D. P., Batterton, M. N., Tada, T., Dolan, B. M., Sharp, P. A., and Sheng, M. (2010). Regulation of synaptic structure and function by FMRP-associated microR-NAs miR-125b and miR-132. *Neuron* 65, 373–384.
- Eipper-Mains, J. E., Kiraly, D. D., Palakodeti, D., Mains, R. E., Eipper, B. A., and Graveley, B. R. (2011). microRNA-Seq reveals cocaineregulated expression of striatal microRNAs. RNA 17, 1529–1543.
- Fabbri, M., Garzon, R., Cimmino, A., Liu, Z., Zanesi, N., Callegari, E., Liu, S., Alder, H., Costinean, S., Fernandez-Cymering, C., Volinia, S., Guler, G., Morrison, C. D., Chan, K. K., Marcucci, G., Calin, G. A., Huebner, K., and Croce, C. M. (2007). MicroRNA-29 family reverts aberrant methylation in lung cancer by targeting DNA methyltransferases 3A and 3B. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104, 15805–15810.
- French, P. J., Bliss, T. V., and O'Connor, V. (2001). Ntab, a novel noncoding RNA abundantly expressed in rat brain. *Neuroscience* 108, 207–215.
- Gao, J., Wang, W. Y., Mao, Y. W., Graff, J., Guan, J. S., Pan, L., Mak, G., Kim, D., Su, S. C., and Tsai, L. H. (2010). A novel pathway regulates memory and plasticity via SIRT1 and miR-134. *Nature* 466, 1105–1109.
- Ghitza, U. E., Zhai, H., Wu, P., Airavaara, M., Shaham, Y., and Lu, L. (2010). Role of BDNF and GDNF in drug reward and relapse: a review. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 35, 157–171.
- Guo, Y., Chen, Y., Carreon, S., and Qiang, M. (2011). Chronic intermittent ethanol exposure and its removal induce a different mirna expression pattern in primary cortical neuronal cultures. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2011.01689.x. [Epub ahead of print].
- He, Y., Yang, C., Kirkmire, C. M., and Wang, Z. J. (2010). Regulation of opioid tolerance by let-7 family microRNA targeting the mu opioid receptor. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 10251–10258.
- Hiroi, N., Brown, J. R., Haile, C. N., Ye, H., Greenberg, M. E., and Nestler, E. J. (1997). FosB mutant mice: loss of chronic cocaine induction of Fos-related proteins and heightened sensitivity to cocaine's psychomotor and rewarding effects. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 94, 10397–10402.
- Hollander, J. A., Im, H. I., Amelio, A. L., Kocerha, J., Bali, P., Lu,

Q., Willoughby, D., Wahlestedt, C., Conkright, M. D., and Kenny, P. J. (2010). Striatal microRNA controls cocaine intake through CREB signalling. *Nature* 466, 197–202.

- Houseley, J., Rubbi, L., Grunstein, M., Tollervey, D., and Vogelauer, M. (2008). A ncRNA modulates histone modification and mRNA induction in the yeast GAL gene cluster. *Mol. Cell* 32, 685–695.
- Huang, W., and Li, M. D. (2009a). Differential allelic expression of dopamine D1 receptor gene (DRD1) is modulated by microRNA miR-504. *Biol. Psychiatry* 65, 702–705.
- Huang, W., and Li, M. D. (2009b). Nicotine modulates expression of miR-140*, which targets the 3'untranslated region of dynamin 1 gene (Dnm1). *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 12, 537–546.
- Hung, G., Mazur, C., Wancewicz, E., Norris, D., and Bennet, F. (2011). Second Generation Oligonucleotide CNS Delivery via IT Administration in Mice, Rats and Monkey. Society for Neuroscience, Washington, 557.06.
- Hwang, Y. Y., and Li, M. D. (2006). Proteins differentially expressed in response to nicotine in five rat brain regions: identification using a 2-DE/MS-based proteomics approach. *Proteomics* 6, 3138–3153.
- Im, H. I., Hollander, J. A., Bali, P., and Kenny, P. J. (2010). MeCP2 controls BDNF expression and cocaine intake through homeostatic interactions with microRNA-212. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13, 1120–1127.
- Jia, H., Osak, M., Bogu, G. K., Stanton, L. W., Johnson, R., and Lipovich, L. (2010). Genome-wide computational identification and manual annotation of human long noncoding RNA genes. *RNA* 16, 1478–1487.
- Johnson, R., Teh, C. H., Jia, H., Vanisri, R. R., Pandey, T., Lu, Z. H., Buckley, N. J., Stanton, L. W., and Lipovich, L. (2009). Regulation of neural macroRNAs by the transcriptional repressor REST. RNA 15, 85–96.
- Kapranov, P., St Laurent, G., Raz, T., Ozsolak, F., Reynolds, C. P., Sorensen, P. H., Reaman, G., Milos, P., Arceci, R. J., Thompson, J. F., and Triche, T. J. (2010). The majority of total nuclearencoded non-ribosomal RNA in a human cell is "dark matter" unannotated RNA. BMC Biol. 8, 149. doi:10.1186/1741-7007-8-149
- Khalil, A. M., Guttman, M., Huarte, M., Garber, M., Raj, A., Rivea Morales, D., Thomas, K., Presser, A., Bernstein, B. E., van Oudenaarden, A., Regev, A., Lander, E. S., and Rinn, J.

L. (2009). Many human large intergenic noncoding RNAs associate with chromatin-modifying complexes and affect gene expression. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 11667–11672.

- Konopka, W., Kiryk, A., Novak, M., Herwerth, M., Parkitna, J. R., Wawrzyniak, M., Kowarsch, A., Michaluk, P., Dzwonek, J., Arnsperger, T., Wilczynski, G., Merkenschlager, M., Theis, F. J., Kohr, G., Kaczmarek, L., and Schutz, G. (2010). MicroRNA loss enhances learning and memory in mice. J. Neurosci. 30, 14835–14842.
- Lagos-Quintana, M., Rauhut, R., Yalcin, A., Meyer, J., Lendeckel, W., and Tuschl, T. (2002). Identification of tissue-specific microRNAs from mouse. *Curr. Biol.* 12, 735–739.
- LaPlant, Q., Vialou, V., Covington, H. E. III, Dumitriu, D., Feng, J., Warren, B. L., Maze, I., Dietz, D. M., Watts, E. L., Iñiguez, S. D., Koo, J. W., Mouzon, E., Renthal, W., Hollis, F., Wang, H., Noonan, M. A., Ren, Y., Eisch, A. J., Bolaños, C. A., Kabbaj, M., Xiao, G., Neve, R. L., Hurd, Y. L., Oosting, R. S., Fan, G., Morrison, J. H., and Nestler, E. J. (2010). Dnmt3a regulates emotional behavior and spine plasticity in the nucleus accumbens. Nat. Neurosci. 13, 1137–1143.
- Lewohl, J. M., Nunez, Y. O., Dodd, P. R., Tiwari, G. R., Harris, R. A., and Mayfield, R. D. (2011). Up-regulation of MicroRNAs in brain of human alcoholics. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 35, 1928–1937.
- Lin, D., Pestova, T. V., Hellen, C. U., and Tiedge, H. (2008). Translational control by a small RNA: dendritic BC1 RNA targets the eukaryotic initiation factor 4A helicase mechanism. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 28, 3008–3019.
- Lippi, G., Steinert, J. R., Marczyło, E. L., D'Oro, S., Fiore, R., Forsythe, I. D., Schratt, G., Zoli, M., Nicotera, P., and Young, K. W. (2011). Targeting of the Arpc3 actin nucleation factor by miR-29a/b regulates dendritic spine morphology. J. Cell Biol. 194, 889–904.
- Lugli, G., Torvik, V. I., Larson, J., and Smalheiser, N. R. (2008). Expression of microRNAs and their precursors in synaptic fractions of adult mouse forebrain. *J. Neurochem.* 106, 650–661.
- Makeyev, E. V., Zhang, J., Carrasco, M. A., and Maniatis, T. (2007). The MicroRNA miR-124 promotes neuronal differentiation by triggering brain-specific alternative pre-mRNA splicing. *Mol. Cell* 27, 435–448.

- Mattick, J. S. (2007). A new paradigm for developmental biology. J. Exp. Biol. 210, 1526–1547.
- Maze, I., Covington, H. E. III, Dietz, D. M., LaPlant, Q., Renthal, W., Russo, S. J., Mechanic, M., Mouzon, E., Neve, R. L., Haggarty, S. J., Ren, Y., Sampath, S. C., Hurd, Y. L., Greengard, P., Tarakhovsky, A., Schaefer, A., and Nestler, E. J. (2010). Essential role of the histone methyltransferase G9a in cocaine-induced plasticity. *Science* 327, 213–216.
- Maze, I., and Nestler, E. J. (2011). The epigenetic landscape of addiction. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1216, 99–113.
- Mercer, T. R., Dinger, M. E., Sunkin, S. M., Mehler, M. F., and Mattick, J. S. (2008). Specific expression of long noncoding RNAs in the mouse brain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 716–721.
- Mercer, T. R., Qureshi, I. A., Gokhan, S., Dinger, M. E., Li, G., Mattick, J. S., and Mehler, M. F. (2010). Long noncoding RNAs in neuronalglial fate specification and oligodendrocyte lineage maturation. *BMC Neurosci.* 11, 14. doi:10.1186/1471-2202-11-14
- Michelhaugh, S. K., Lipovich, L., Blythe, J., Jia, H., Kapatos, G., and Bannon, M. J. (2011). Mining Affymetrix microarray data for long noncoding RNAs: altered expression in the nucleus accumbens of heroin abusers. J. Neurochem. 116, 459–466.
- Modarresi, F., Faghihi, M. A., Lopez-Toledano, M. A., Fatemi, R. P., Magistri, M., Brothers, S. P., van der Brug, M. P., and Wahlestedt, C. (2012). Inhibition of natural antisense transcripts in vivo results in gene-specific transcriptional upregulation. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 30, 453–459.
- Nagano, T., Mitchell, J. A., Sanz, L. A., Pauler, F. M., Ferguson-Smith, A. C., Feil, R., and Fraser, P. (2008). The Air noncoding RNA epigenetically silences transcription by targeting G9a to chromatin. *Science* 322, 1717–1720.
- Nudelman, A. S., DiRocco, D. P., Lambert, T. J., Garelick, M. G., Le, J., Nathanson, N. M., and Storm, D. R. (2010). Neuronal activity rapidly induces transcription of the CREBregulated microRNA-132, in vivo. *Hippocampus* 20, 492–498.
- Pandey, R. R., Mondal, T., Mohammad, F., Enroth, S., Redrup, L., Komorowski, J., Nagano, T., Mancini-Dinardo, D., and Kanduri, C. (2008). Kcnq1ot1 antisense noncoding RNA mediates lineagespecific transcriptional silencing through chromatin-level regulation. *Mol. Cell* 32, 232–246.

- Pietrzykowski, A. Z., Friesen, R. M., Martin, G. E., Puig, S. I., Nowak, C. L., Wynne, P. M., Siegelmann, H. T., and Treistman, S. N. (2008). Posttranscriptional regulation of BK channel splice variant stability by miR-9 underlies neuroadaptation to alcohol. *Neuron* 59, 274–287.
- Ponjavic, J., Oliver, P. L., Lunter, G., and Ponting, C. P. (2009). Genomic and transcriptional co-localization of protein-coding and long noncoding RNA pairs in the developing brain. *PLoS Genet.* 5, e1000617. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1000617
- Pulipparacharuvil, S., Renthal, W., Hale, C. F., Taniguchi, M., Xiao, G., Kumar, A., Russo, S. J., Sikder, D., Dewey, C. M., Davis, M. M., Greengard, P., Nairn, A. C., Nestler, E. J., and Cowan, C. W. (2008). Cocaine regulates MEF2 to control synaptic and behavioral plasticity. *Neuron* 59, 621–633.
- Rajasethupathy, P., Fiumara, F., Sheridan, R., Betel, D., Puthanveettil, S. V., Russo, J. J., Sander, C., Tuschl, T., and Kandel, E. (2009). Characterization of small RNAs in Aplysia reveals a role for miR-124 in constraining synaptic plasticity through CREB. *Neuron* 63, 803–817.
- Rinn, J. L., Kertesz, M., Wang, J. K., Squazzo, S. L., Xu, X., Brugmann, S. A., Goodnough, L. H., Helms, J. A., Farnham, P. J., Segal, E., and Chang, H. Y. (2007). Functional demarcation of active and silent chromatin domains in human HOX loci by noncoding RNAs. *Cell* 129, 1311–1323.
- Robison, A. J., and Nestler, E. J. (2011). Transcriptional and epigenetic mechanisms of addiction. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 12, 623–637.
- Saba, R., Storchel, P. H., Aksoy-Aksel, A., Kepura, F., Lippi, G., Plant, T. D., and Schratt, G. M. (2012). Dopamineregulated MicroRNA MiR-181a controls GluA2 surface expression in hippocampal neurons. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 32, 619–632.
- Salmena, L., Poliseno, L., Tay, Y., Kats, L., and Pandolfi, P. P. (2011). A ceRNA hypothesis: the Rosetta Stone of a hidden RNA language? *Cell* 146, 353–358.
- Sanchez-Simon, F. M., Zhang, X. X., Loh, H. H., Law, P. Y., and Rodriguez, R. E. (2010). Morphine regulates dopaminergic

neuron differentiation via miR-133b. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 78, 935–942.

- Schaefer, A., Im, H. I., Veno, M. T., Fowler, C. D., Min, A., Intrator, A., Kjems, J., Kenny, P. J., O'Carroll, D., and Greengard, P. (2010). Argonaute 2 in dopamine 2 receptorexpressing neurons regulates cocaine addiction. *J. Exp. Med.* 207, 1843–1851.
- Schratt, G. M., Tuebing, F., Nigh, E. A., Kane, C. G., Sabatini, M. E., Kiebler, M., and Greenberg, M. E. (2006). A brain-specific microRNA regulates dendritic spine development. *Nature* 439, 283–289.
- Sempere, L. F., Cole, C. N., McPeek, M. A., and Peterson, K. J. (2006). The phylogenetic distribution of metazoan microRNAs: insights into evolutionary complexity and constraint. J. Exp. Zool. B Mol. Dev. Evol. 306, 575–588.
- Siegel, G., Obernosterer, G., Fiore, R., Oehmen, M., Bicker, S., Christensen, M., Khudayberdiev, S., Leuschner, P. F., Busch, C. J., Kane, C., Hübel, K., Dekker, F., Hedberg, C., Rengarajan, B., Drepper, C., Waldmann, H., Kauppinen, S., Greenberg, M. E., Draguhn, A., Rehmsmeier, M., Martinez, J., and Schratt, G. M. (2009). A functional screen implimicroRNA-138-dependent cates regulation of the depalmitoylation enzyme APT1 in dendritic spine morphogenesis. Nat. Cell Biol. 11, 705-716.
- Siegel, G., Saba, R., and Schratt, G. (2011). microRNAs in neurons: manifold regulatory roles at the synapse. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* 21, 491–497.
- Simon, M. D., Wang, C. I., Kharchenko, P. V., West, J. A., Chapman, B. A., Alekseyenko, A. A., Borowsky, M. L., Kuroda, M. I., and Kingston, R. E. (2011). The genomic binding sites of a noncoding RNA. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 20497–20502.
- Smalheiser, N. R. (2007). Exosomal transfer of proteins and RNAs at synapses in the nervous system. *Biol. Direct* 2, 35.
- Taft, R. J., Pheasant, M., and Mattick, J. S. (2007). The relationship between non-protein-coding DNA and eukaryotic complexity. *Bioessays* 29, 288–299.
- Tay, Y., Kats, L., Salmena, L., Weiss, D., Tan, S. M., Ala, U., Karreth, F., Poliseno, L., Provero, P., Di

Cunto, F., Lieberman, J., Rigoutsos, I., and Pandolfi, P. P. (2011). Coding-independent regulation of the tumor suppressor PTEN by competing endogenous mRNAs. *Cell* 147, 344–357.

- Tilley, M. R., O'Neill, B., Han, D. D., and Gu, H. H. (2009). Cocaine does not produce reward in absence of dopamine transporter inhibition. *Neuroreport* 20, 9–12.
- Treistman, S. N., and Martin, G. E. (2009). BK Channels: mediators and models for alcohol tolerance. *Trends Neurosci.* 32, 629–637.
- Wang, K. C., and Chang, H. Y. (2011). Molecular mechanisms of long noncoding RNAs. *Mol. Cell* 43, 904–914.
- Wang, L., Lv, Z., Hu, Z., Sheng, J., Hui, B., Sun, J., and Ma, L. (2010). Chronic cocaine-induced H3 acetylation and transcriptional activation of CaMKIIalpha in the nucleus accumbens is critical for motivation for drug reinforcement. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 35, 913–928.
- Wayman, G. A., Davare, M., Ando, H., Fortin, D., Varlamova, O., Cheng, H. Y., Marks, D., Obrietan, K., Soderling, T. R., Goodman, R. H., and Impey, S. (2008). An activityregulated microRNA controls dendritic plasticity by down-regulating p250GAP. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 105, 9093–9098.
- Wibrand, K., Panja, D., Tiron, A., Ofte, M. L., Skaftnesmo, K. O., Lee, C. S., Pena, J. T., Tuschl, T., and Bramham, C. R. (2010). Differential regulation of mature and precursor microRNA expression by NMDA and metabotropic glutamate receptor activation during LTP in the adult dentate gyrus in vivo. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 31, 636–645.
- Wood, M., Yin, H., and McClorey, G. (2007). Modulating the expression of disease genes with RNAbased therapy. *PLoS Genet.* 3, e109. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.0030109
- Wu, Q., Zhang, L., Law, P. Y., Wei, L. N., and Loh, H. H. (2009). Longterm morphine treatment decreases the association of mu-opioid receptor (MOR1) mRNA with polysomes through miRNA23b. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 75, 744–750.
- Yadav, S., Pandey, A., Shukla, A., Talwelkar, S. S., Kumar, A., Pant, A. B., and Parmar, D. (2011). miR-497 and miR-302b regulate ethanol-induced neuronal cell death through BCL2

protein and cyclin D2. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 37347–37357.

- Yap, K. L., Li, S., Munoz-Cabello, A. M., Raguz, S., Zeng, L., Mujtaba, S., Gil, J., Walsh, M. J., and Zhou, M. M. (2010). Molecular interplay of the noncoding RNA ANRIL and methylated histone H3 lysine 27 by polycomb CBX7 in transcriptional silencing of INK4a. *Mol. Cell* 38, 662–674.
- Yu, W., Gius, D., Onyango, P., Muldoon-Jacobs, K., Karp, J., Feinberg, A. P., and Cui, H. (2008). Epigenetic silencing of tumour suppressor gene p15 by its antisense RNA. *Nature* 451, 202–206.
- Zhang, Y., Li, J., Kong, L., Gao, G., Liu, Q. R., and Wei, L. (2007). NATsDB: natural antisense transcripts DataBase. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 35, D156–D161.
- Zhao, J., Zhang, X., Zhou, Y., Ansell, P. J., and Klibanski, A. (2006). Cyclic AMP stimulates MEG3 gene expression in cells through a cAMPresponse element (CRE) in the MEG3 proximal promoter region. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 38, 1808–1820.
- Zheng, H., Zeng, Y., Zhang, X., Chu, J., Loh, H. H., and Law, P. Y. (2010). mu-Opioid receptor agonists differentially regulate the expression of miR-190 and NeuroD. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 77, 102–109.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 28 February 2012; accepted: 23 May 2012; published online: 22 June 2012.

Citation: Sartor GC, St. Laurent G III and Wahlestedt C (2012) The emerging role of non-coding RNAs in drug addiction. Front. Gene. **3**:106. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00106

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Non-Coding RNA, a specialty of Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2012 Sartor, St. Laurent III and Wahlestedt. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.